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About The Hanover

The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc., (THG) based in Worcester, Mass., is the holding 
company for several property and casualty insurance companies, which together  
constitute one of the largest insurance businesses in the United States. For more than 
160 years, The Hanover has provided a wide range of property and casualty products 
and services to businesses, individuals, and families. The Hanover distributes its  
products through a select group of independent agents and brokers. Together with its 
agents, the company offers specialized coverages for small and mid-sized businesses, 
as well as insurance protection for homes, automobiles, and other personal items. 
Through its international member company, Chaucer, The Hanover also underwrites 
business at Lloyd’s of London in several major insurance and reinsurance classes,  
including marine, property and energy. For more information, please visit hanover.com.

Different The Hanover is a different kind of company. 

We are driven by our vision to become a world 

class property and casualty insurance company — one that generates top returns 

through the cycle, delivers top-quartile products and services, and is a place 

where outstanding professionals want to work. To achieve our goal, we developed 

a business strategy enabled by a unique value proposition for independent agents, 

and a distributed operating model that provides us deep market insights into 

business opportunities. 

Common Stock
The common stock of The Hanover 
Insurance Group, Inc. is traded on  
the New York Stock Exchange under 
the symbol “THG.” As of the close  
of business on February 20, 2015,  
the company had 20,496 shareholders 
of record. On the same date, the  
closing price of the company’s 
common stock was $71.48 per share.

  The Hanover Insurance Group 
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Comparison of Cumulative Total Return10

Among The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc., the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Property & Casualty Insurance Index
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2014 High Low

First Quarter $61.51 $52.86

Second Quarter $64.36 $56.88

Third Quarter $64.42 $57.80

Fourth Quarter $73.59 $59.73

2013 High Low

First Quarter $49.85 $38.88

Second Quarter $52.55 $45.81

Third Quarter $56.80 $48.24

Fourth Quarter $61.72 $54.54

Common Stock Prices

Annual Meeting of Shareholders

The management and Board of Directors of The Hanover Insurance 
Group, Inc. invite you to attend the company’s Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders. The meeting will be held on May 19, 2015, at 9:00 a.m.  
at The Hanover, 440 Lincoln Street, Worcester, Massachusetts.

Corporate Governance
Our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Board Committee Charters, 
Code of Conduct, and other information are available on our website  
at www.hanover.com under “About Us.” For a printed copy of any of 
these documents, shareholders may contact the company’s secretary  
at our corporate offices.

The company has filed its CEO and CFO Section 302 certifications  
as exhibits to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended  
December 31, 2014. The company also has submitted its annual  
CEO certification to the New York Stock Exchange, a copy of which  
is available on the company’s website, www.hanover.com, under  
“About Us – Corporate Governance.”

10  The graph to the left compares the performance of 
the company’s common stock since December 31, 
2009 with the performance of the S&P 500 Index 
and the S&P Property & Casualty Insurance Index.

Assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2009 in  
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.’s common stock 
or applicable index — including reinvestment of 
dividends. Fiscal year ended December 31.

Copyright © 2015, SNL Financial LC, Charlottesville, 
VA. All rights reserved. www.snl.com.
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2014 Financial Highlights

1  Operating income after taxes is a non-GAAP measure. A definition and reconciliation to the closest GAAP measure, 
income from continuing operations, can be found on page 44 of the enclosed Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31 
($ in millions, except per share amounts)

2014 2013

Revenues $5,068 $4,794

Net Income 282 251

Operating Income after Taxes1  233 227

Total Assets 13,760 13,379

Shareholders’ Equity 2,844 2,595

Per Share Data

Net Income Per Share — Diluted $6.28 $5.59

Operating Income after Taxes Per Share — Diluted $5.19 $5.06

Book Value Per Share $64.85 $59.43

2014 was a strong year for our  

company, marked by progress across 

our organization. Along with solid 

financial performance, we realized 

the impact of our improving market 

position, as we advanced our strategic 

priorities and our journey to build  

a world class property and  

casualty company. 

Over the last few years, we have focused our efforts on creating  

a different kind of property and casualty company and one that  

consistently performs at a high level through the cycle. Our strategy  

is enabled by a unique value proposition for independent agents  

and brokers, a broad and distinctive product set, a national operating 

model with strong, distributed underwriting expertise, and extensive 

market insight into business opportunities.

In 2014, all of the components of our strategy came together to  

accelerate our momentum, as we delivered on our financial goals,  

and set the stage for continued success. 
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Delivering Strong and Improving  
Financial Results

In 2014, we generated net income of $282 million and operating  

income of $233 million for the year, resulting in a competitive operating 

return on shareholders’ equity of 9%. Our underlying performance  

was strong, as we increased operating income before taxes, excluding  

catastrophes2, by 18% year-over-year, to $629 million, underscoring 

the growing earnings power inherent in our organization.

We continued to improve our position in the market, growing  

premiums by approximately 6%, with solid momentum in each business. 

This level of growth is even more impressive given our work to reduce 

volatility and improve our business mix in the U.S., including actions  

to non-renew more than $400 million of premium associated with  

catastrophe concentrations and lower performing business over the 

last three years.

We generated solid and improving underwriting results in 2014.  

In line with our expectations, we delivered a 92% combined ratio,  

excluding catastrophe losses3. This represents approximately  

a two-point improvement over 2013, and a four-point improvement 

since 2012, placing us among the best in the industry.

Strong underwriting profits and improved earnings’ resiliency helped 

enhance our balance sheet and financial strength indicators during 

2014. We closed the year with all financial measures at or better than 

targeted levels and with a book value of $64.85 per share, up 9%  

compared to 2013, and up 7% when net unrealized investment gains 

are excluded. In addition, our robust underlying earnings power was 

reflected in our board’s decision to increase the quarterly shareholder 

dividend by 11% this past December. In total, we paid $67 million  

in shareholder dividends, which, along with our strong stock price 

appreciation, placed us among the top companies in the property  

and casualty industry for total shareholder return in 2014. 

2014 NET PREMIUMS 
WRITTEN (NPW)

$4.8B
Broad Product 

Mix

  19% Personal Auto

  16% U.S. Specialty Lines

  16% International Specialty Lines

  14% Small Commercial  

  14% Middle Market  

  11% Homeowners

  6% U.K. Motor

  4%  Property, Treaty and  
Facultative

2  Pre-tax operating income, excluding catastrophes, is a non-GAAP measure. It is calculated by adding the 
impact of catastrophe losses of $223.0 million back into the pre-tax operating income of $406.2 million as 
indicated on page 48 of the enclosed Annual Report on the Form 10-K.

3  Combined ratio, excluding catastrophes, is a non-GAAP measure. The combined ratio (which includes  
catastrophe losses) is the closest GAAP measure. The reconciliation can be found on page 46 of the  
enclosed Annual Report on the Form 10-K.

22%
2014 TOTAL 

SHAREHOLDER 
RETURN
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The Hanover Insurance Group

Improving Our Distinctive Market Position

In 2014, we continued to make progress on all of our strategic priorities:

•   Strengthening our position with partner agents through a unique  
value proposition 

•  Building a broad and distinctive product portfolio

•   Continuing to build and strengthen our national underwriting platform 

Strengthening our position with partner agents through  
a unique value proposition

Our strategy is enabled by a differentiated distribution approach  

that is made up of a selective network of partners with whom we have 

established very strong relationships. Our value proposition of more 

exclusivity, and access to a broad and distinctive portfolio and a network 

of local underwriting expertise, put us in a position of strength with 

some of the best independent agents in the market.

In 2014, we made broad-based market share gains with our focus 

agents, growing 8-10% on average. Importantly, the number of  

products and coverages we wrote with them expanded significantly,  

as we gained a larger share of our partners’ customers with specialty- 

oriented needs. We also made important strides in penetrating their 

most desirable small commercial business. As these agents and brokers 

grow, organically or through acquisitions of other agents, we gain 

even greater access to business opportunities. Finally, we advanced 

even further the depth and quality of our planning process with our  

2,200 agents.

Consistent and targeted interactions with our distributors give  

us insight into future opportunities, which are critical for  

partnership momentum. 

Building a broad and distinctive product portfolio

We made great progress during the year in expanding our distinctive 

product portfolio. We continued to develop our Specialty businesses 

and our many tailored solutions for small and middle market customers, 

as well as our new Hanover Platinum account offering in Personal Lines.

Hanover Platinum bundles personal lines coverages and services for 

value-oriented customers. It is built on the success of our total account 

business philosophy that has been in place for many years. Account 

business represents 78% of our total policies in force, which is among 

0%
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15%
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25%
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  The Hanover Insurance Group4

  Industry5 

4  All Hanover data includes Chaucer results since  
July 1, 2011.

5  Source for industry statistics: A.M. Best P&C Review  
and Preview Feb. 9, 2015; Ratios and growth percentages  
for 2014 are forecasted industry estimates.
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the highest in the industry. This approach allows us to gain access to 

customers who value higher levels of protection and service options. 

We believe Hanover Platinum is the best offering of its kind in the 

independent agent marketplace.

In Commercial Lines, we continued to implement innovative eldercare 

and medical facilities coverages to take advantage of opportunities in 

the rapidly growing healthcare sector. We also enhanced our technology 

offering for small and mid-sized businesses, strengthening our position 

in this dynamic market sector.

At the same time, we continued to build on our expertise in international 

markets. Through Chaucer, we broadened our specialty line capabilities, 

including casualty, where reception for our new U.S. casualty team  

was very positive. We also advanced our expertise in certain marine 

classes. These, and other portfolio developments underway, are  

successfully increasing the range and number of promising underwriting 

opportunities available to us.  

Continuing to build and strengthen our national  
underwriting platform

Among our most important strengths are our distributed operating 

model and our network of underwriting talent, which is closely aligned 

to our partners. With nearly half of our professionals working in our 

local offices — business insurance and specialty underwriters, sales  

and claims experts — we have the most locally focused team, with  

professionals working closely with our agents and customers.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return6

Among The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc., the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Property & Casualty Insurance Index

TEN-YEAR TOTAL RETURN PERFORMANCE
  The Hanover Insurance Group 
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 S&P P&C Insurance Index
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  The Hanover Insurance Group

  Industry 

6  The graph to the right compares the performance 
of the company’s common stock since December 
31, 2004 with the performance of the S&P 500 Index 
and the S&P Property & Casualty Insurance Index.

Assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2004 in  
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.’s common stock 
or applicable index — including reinvestment of 
dividends. Fiscal year ended December 31.

Copyright © 2015, SNL Financial LC, Charlottesville, 
VA. All rights reserved. www.snl.com.
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The Hanover Insurance Group

Over the last several years, we have assembled one of the best  

underwriting teams in the industry, building a robust national network 

of highly skilled professionals. The combination of strong talent and 

this distributed operating model allows us to provide responsive  

service and underwriting expertise to our partners. It also allows us 

to build important market insight through our focused and streamlined 

agency planning process. Through this approach, we match our  

capabilities to those of our partners, finding attractive business  

opportunities for both, and ensuring the successful execution of  

business plans, developed in collaboration with agents.

In 2014, we saw a steady increase in business opportunities and  

we increased our ability to proactively target the opportunities that  

create future profitable growth. 

Looking ahead

We have achieved a great deal in recent years, building a very  

different kind of insurance company — one focused on helping our 

partners grow successful businesses by providing a strong and  

relevant product offering and the expertise of the best professionals  

in the industry. In 2014, we delivered strong financial results, and  

we advanced our strategic priorities, giving us even greater  

confidence in future earnings and growth momentum.

We have set ambitious goals of delivering top-quartile returns  

through the cycle, while growing more than the industry. As we have  

in the past, we will work toward our goals, balancing disciplined  

underwriting with our focus to deliver the best products and service  

to our partners and their customers, and leveraging the energy  

and talent of our more than 5,000 dedicated employees.

Sincerely,

 

 

Frederick H. Eppinger 

President and Chief Executive Officer

DECEMBER 31, 2014 

$8.6B
Total Invested 

Assets and 
Cash

  45% Corporate  

  17% CMBS/MBS/ABS  

  12% Municipals (Taxable)  

  10% Equity Securities & Other  

  6% U.S. Government & Agencies

  4% Cash & Cash Equivalents

  4% Foreign Government  

  2% Municipals (Tax Exempt) 

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

Loss Ratio, Ex-Catastrophes7

’10 ’11 ’12 ’13 ’14

  The Hanover Insurance Group

  Industry 

7  Loss ratio, excluding catastrophes, is a non-GAAP measure.  
It is defined as total loss ratio, excluding the impact of  
catastrophes. Total loss ratios and catastrophe ratios for THG 
can be found on page 46 of the enclosed Annual Report  
on the Form 10-K.



Our value proposition is driven by a promise to be the 

best partner for independent agents. We deliver on this 

promise every day, focusing on product breadth and innovation, creating franchise value 

by partnering with a select group of the best agents in the business, and offering 

unparalleled underwriting expertise and local market knowledge. The combination of  

these capabilities makes our value proposition a very attractive and powerful one.

A unique value proposit ion for 
our agents: 

Our value proposition is driven by a promise to be the 

best partner for independent agents. We deliver on this 

promise every day, focusing on product breadth and innovation, creating franchise value 

by partnering with a select group of the best agents in the business, and offering 

unparalleled underwriting expertise and local market knowledge. The combination of  

these capabilities makes our value proposition a very attractive and powerful one.
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Our unique value proposition to our distribution  
channel provides us with a distinct and hard to replicate  
competitive advantage.

True Commitment  
to Partnership

We create franchise value  
by limiting the availability  
of our products to the best  
independent agents in  
the industry.

Our products cover the full 
range of our customers’ 
needs, which enables our 
agents to offer full account 
solutions and provide the 
best protection.

2,200 
 INDEPENDENT 

AGENTS  
MOST SELECTIVE 

DISTRIBUTION NETWORK 
FOR A NATIONAL  

INSURER

50+
NEW PRODUCTS  
AND PRODUCT 

UPGRADES 
IN THE LAST 

3 YEARS 41
U.S.  

OFFICES

Local Expertise  
and Market  
Knowledge

Broad and  
Relevant 

Product Set

Franchise Value 
through Limited 

Distribution

Intense Focus on  
Product Innovation

We have created a broad 

and diverse set of products 

that is relevant to the best 

agents in the country.

We are an organization  

keenly focused on and  

committed to constant  

innovation of our products 

and service offerings —  

acting quickly and creatively.

Unparalleled  
Responsiveness 

We enable incredible  
responsiveness by organizing 
our teams into integrated, 
local networks of resources 
placed close to our agents  
and customers.

We empower our people  

with underwriting authority  

and provide them with the  

necessary technology and 

tools to support efficient and 

effective decision making.

As a result, we have  
extensive market knowledge  
and deep insight on local  
business opportunities that  
we act upon jointly with our 
distribution partners.

Our unique and comprehensive 
agency planning approach 
helps us better understand our 
agents’ needs and better match 
the market opportunities with 
our capabilities.

Nearly 
Half 

OF ALL  
EMPLOYEES  

BASED IN LOCAL 
MARKETS



With a very broad product portfolio 

and segmentation in most businesses, 

we successfully compete in the market with a differentiated offering. We believe that 

every risk — like every family and every business we insure — is unique. We take 

the opportunity to provide tailored solutions and services to customers who seek 

value-added coverage, not just the lowest price.

A distinctive approach in every 
business segment:

With a very broad product portfolio 

and segmentation in most businesses, 

we successfully compete in the market with a differentiated offering. We believe that 

every risk — like every family and every business we insure — is unique. We take 

the opportunity to provide tailored solutions and services to customers who seek 

value-added coverage, not just the lowest price.
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Commercial Lines
With more than $2 billion in net premiums written, we run  
a highly diversified product portfolio with a broad geographic 
spread, making our portfolio relevant to the top distributors  
in the U.S.

Small Commercial and  
Middle Market Core Products

• Business Owner’s Policy

• Commercial Automobile

• Commercial Package

• General Liability

• Property

• Umbrella

• Workers’ Compensation

Specialty Products

• AIX Specialty Programs

• Excess & Surplus (Merit Specialty)

• Healthcare Professional Liability

• Industrial Property Risk

• Management Liability

• Marine (Inland and Ocean)

• Professional Liability

• Surety (Contract and Commercial)

• Technology

  33% Commercial Package

  14% Commercial Auto

  11% Workers’ Comp

  11% Other Products

  11% AIX Programs

  10% Inland Marine

  7% Management and 
 Professional Liability

  3% Surety and Bonds  

2014 NPW

$2.2B
Commercial 

Lines

We drive industry segmentation 

and specialization, which  

enables profitable growth  

for us and our partners.

TECHNOLOGY

HEALTHCARE

WE FOCUS ON 
U.S. INDUSTRY  
SECTORS WITH  
SOLID GROWTH  

PROSPECTS

Small Commercial

Our business model 
combines straight-
through processing 
with dedicated  
local underwriting  
capabilities.

This allows us to  
effectively capture 
profitable market 
opportunities, while 
addressing agency 
account needs. 

$686M 
IN NPW

Middle Market

Our Middle Market 
business delivers  
a broad portfolio of 
industry solutions. 

Our products are 
specialized and forms 
are customizable, 
helping The Hanover 
consistently hit high 
quote ratios and 
produce strong 
retention.

$693M 
IN NPW

Specialty

Our Specialty  
capabilities target 
some of the most 
attractive yet often  
highly fragmented  
segments of the  
insurance market.

We provide our  
partner agents 
and brokers direct 
access to market 
leading capabilities.

$777M 
IN NPW

2014 
GROWTH

17%
2014 

GROWTH 28%
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The Hanover Platinum Experience is a market-leading 

personal lines package offering that bundles auto, 

home and other coverages and aligns them on  

a common effective date.

Personal Lines
Our focus on customers who bundle their home and auto 
policies allows us to provide sophisticated, customizable  
coverages and enhanced services, thus improving our  
economics and those of our agents.

Auto and Home Insurance 

• Accident Forgiveness

• Deductible Dividends

• Roadside Assistance

• Full Glass Coverage

• New Car Replacement

• Guaranteed Dwelling 
Replacement Cost

• Identity Protection

• Roofing and/or  
Siding Restoration

Companion Products 

• Umbrella

• Watercraft

• Valuable Items

• Dwelling Fire

• Recreational Vehicles

2014 NPW

$1.4B
Personal Lines

  62% Auto  

  35% Homeowners  

  3% Other Products 

Personal Lines Account Business
AS A % OF TOTAL POLICIES IN FORCE

68
% 71

%

75
% 78

%

66
%

’12 ’13 ’14’11’10

HIGHER  
LEVEL OF  

COVERAGES 
FOR  

CUSTOMERS

3 TO 4  
POINTS 
HIGHER 

RETENTION

APPROXIMATELY 

70% 
NEW BUSINESS

IS WRITTEN AS 
HANOVER PLATINUM

The Hanover Platinum Experience offers:

•  Coverage options that fit unique needs 

•   Dedicated claims services and enhanced 
customer experience

•   Convenient online service capabilities 
with distinct tools and resources on 
myhanoverpolicy.com
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The Hanover Insurance Group

Chaucer
A specialty underwriter with more than $1 billion in net premiums 
written, Chaucer is one of the largest syndicates at Lloyd’s.

Chaucer aims to be a Lloyd’s market leader in selected specialty 
segments, with strong and distinctive underwriting capabilities 
in key lines, including marine, energy and casualty.

Marine and Aviation

• Cargo and Specie

• Marine Hull and Liability

• Ports and Terminals

• Satellite

• Political Violence and Political Risk

• Aviation Hull and Liability

U.K. Motor

• Private Car

• Specialist Motor

• Fleet

Casualty and Other

• Professional and General Liability

• Financial Risks

• Medical Liability

• Institutional Healthcare

• Casualty Treaty

Property

• Property Treaty

• Facultative Property

Energy

• Energy Exploration and Production,  
Construction and Liability

• Onshore Energy for Midstream,  
Downstream and Renewables

• Nuclear Property and Liability

2014 NPW

$1.2B
Chaucer

  25% Marine and Aviation

  24% U.K. Motor

  22% Casualty and Other

  15% Property

  14% Energy

Chaucer’s broad product range provides 

good opportunities for business and  

geographic development, and supports 

active portfolio management and capital 

efficiency to drive stronger profitability.

Chaucer offers wide “cross class” coverage 
capabilities, an important differentiator for clients 
looking to place all of their business with only  
a select number of specialty insurers.

This approach complements The Hanover’s  
strategic focus on specialty capabilities.

Chaucer has over 
100 talented specialty 
underwriters in more 
than 40 major classes, 
who together provide 
a proven ability to 
profitably manage 
the insurance cycle.

Chaucer  
Operating Income 

before taxes

9 From date of acquisition 
(July 1, 2011)

’12 ’13

$3
2.

9

$1
36

.8

$1
77

.6

’14’119

$1
50

.4

Percent of Chaucer 2014 
Premiums Written 

in a lead position 8
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The success of 

The Hanover 

emanates from years of experience and market-leading talent. We are committed 

to inspiring and empowering our employees to reach their full professional potential, 

while fostering a company culture that supports our community. We invest in our people 

and take pride in making The Hanover a great place to work.

A distinguished company where 
the best professionals work:

The success of 

The Hanover 

emanates from years of experience and market-leading talent. We are committed 

to inspiring and empowering our employees to reach their full professional potential, 

while fostering a company culture that supports our community. We invest in our people 

and take pride in making The Hanover a great place to work.
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Our employees are our most valuable asset
Our team of talented and dedicated professionals makes a difference every day, in our business  
and in our home communities. 

Our employees are aligned in our desire  
to help the community, supporting public 
education, the United Way and many  
other organizations.  

Our employees also volunteer countless 
hours working within our respective  
communities, committed to civic  
improvements.

The quality of leadership within The Hanover 
stands out in the industry. Our team has the 
skills to help achieve the company’s growth 
and profitability goals.

More than 5,000 employees are aligned in 
support of our strategy and working towards 
a single vision of becoming a world class 
property and casualty insurance company.

RANKED 
AMONG 

BEST PLACES 
TO WORK 

IN 2014 BY  
BUSINESS 

INSURANCE

28 
YEARS 

OF INDUSTRY  
EXPERIENCE AMONG  

LEADERSHIP

A V E R A G E

2014 
ENERGY STAR 

CERTIFIED

35% LESS ENERGY 
CONSUMED

$10+ 
MILLION 
PLEDGED 
OVER 10 YEARS

87% 
EMPLOYEES 

PARTICIPATED  
IN THE 2014 
UNITED WAY 
CAMPAIGN
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Executive Leadership Team
Frederick H. Eppinger
President and Chief Executive Officer

David B. Greenfield
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Bruce P. Bartell
Chief Underwriting Officer of Chaucer

Mark L. Berthiaume
Senior Vice President and Chief Administration Officer

Christine Bilotti-Peterson
Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resource Officer

J. Kendall Huber
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and  
Assistant Secretary

Richard W. Lavey
Executive Vice President, President, Personal Lines  
and Chief Marketing Officer

Andrew Robinson
Executive Vice President, Corporate Development  
and President, Specialty Insurance

John C. Roche
Executive Vice President, President, Business Insurance  
and Field Operations

Robert A. Stuchbery
President, International Operations and 
Chief Executive Officer of Chaucer

Mark Welzenbach
Senior Vice President and Chief Claims Officer

Other Senior Officers

Ann K. Tripp
Senior Vice President, Chief Investment Officer and 
President, Opus Investment Management, Inc.

Board of Directors
Michael P. Angelini (N)
Chairman of the Board 
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 
Chairman and Partner 
Bowditch & Dewey, LLP

Richard H. Booth (A)
Retired Vice Chairman 
Guy Carpenter & Company LLC 
Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  
HSB Group, Inc.

P. Kevin Condron (C)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
The Granite Group LLC

Frederick H. Eppinger
President and Chief Executive Officer 
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.

Neal F. Finnegan (N)
Retired Chairman 
Citizens Bank of Massachusetts 
Former President and Chief Executive Officer 
UST Corporation

Karen C. Francis (A)
Executive Chairman 
AcademixDirect, Inc.

Daniel T. Henry (A)
Retired Chief Financial Officer 
American Express Company

Wendell J. Knox (C)
Retired President and Chief Executive Officer 
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PART I
Item 1 — Business

ORGANIZATION

The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. (“THG”) is a holding
company organized as a Delaware corporation in 1995. We
trace our roots to as early as 1852, when the Hanover Fire
Insurance Company was founded. Our primary business
operations are property and casualty insurance products
and services. We market our domestic products and servic-
es through independent agents and brokers in the United
States (“U.S.”) and conduct business internationally
through a wholly-owned subsidiary, Chaucer Holdings
Limited (“Chaucer”), which operates through the Society
and Corporation of Lloyd’s (“Lloyd’s”) and is domiciled in
the United Kingdom (“U.K.”). Our consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of THG; The Hanover
Insurance Company (“Hanover Insurance”) and Citizens
Insurance Company of America (“Citizens”), which are our
principal U.S. domiciled property and casualty sub-
sidiaries; Chaucer; and certain other insurance and non-
insurance subsidiaries. Our results of operations also
include the results of our discontinued operations, consist-
ing primarily of our former life insurance and accident and
health businesses.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT 
OPERATING SEGMENTS

We conduct our business operations through four operat-
ing segments. These segments are Commercial Lines,
Personal Lines, Chaucer and Other. We report interest
expense related to our corporate debt separately from the
earnings of our operating segments.

Information with respect to each of our segments is
included in “Results of Operations - Segments” in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations and in Note 14 –
“Segment Information” in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K.

Information with respect to geographic concentrations
is included in the “Description of Business by Segment” in
Part 1 – Item 1 and in Note 14 – “Segment Information”
in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
of this Form 10-K.

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS BY SEGMENT

Following is a discussion of each of our operating segments.

GENERAL

We manage our operations principally through four oper-
ating segments, including three in which we provide insur-
ance products and services: Commercial Lines, Personal
Lines, and Chaucer. We underwrite commercial and per-
sonal property and casualty insurance through Hanover
Insurance, Citizens and other THG subsidiaries, through
an independent agent and broker network concentrated in
the Northeast, Midwest and Southeast U.S. We also con-
tinue to actively grow our Commercial Lines’ presence in
the Western region of the U.S. Our Chaucer segment is a
specialist insurance underwriting group which operates
through Lloyd’s and writes business internationally.
Included in our fourth operating segment, Other, are Opus
Investment Management, Inc. (“Opus”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of THG, which provides investment manage-
ment services to our insurance and non-insurance compa-
nies, as well as to unaffiliated institutions, pension funds
and other organizations; earnings on holding company
assets; and a discontinued voluntary pools business.

Our business strategy focuses on providing our agents
and customers stability, financial strength, and competitive
insurance products while prudently growing and diversify-
ing our product and geographical business mix. We con-
duct our U.S. business with an emphasis on agency
relationships and active agency management, disciplined
underwriting, pricing, quality claim handling, and cus-
tomer service. Our Lloyd’s business is focused on disci-
plined and specialized underwriting in selected markets.
Annually, we write over $5 billion in premiums, including
over $3.5 billion domestically. Based on direct U.S. premi-
ums written, we rank among the top 30 property and casu-
alty insurers in the United States.

RISKS

The industry’s profitability and cash flow can be, and his-
torically has been, significantly affected by numerous fac-
tors, including price; competition; volatile and
unpredictable developments such as extreme weather con-
ditions, catastrophes and other disasters; legal and regula-
tory developments affecting pricing, underwriting, policy
coverage and other aspects of doing business, as well as
insurer and insureds’ liability; extra-contractual liability;
size of jury awards; acts of terrorism; fluctuations in inter-
est and currency rates or the value of investments; and
other general economic conditions and trends, such as
inflationary pressure or unemployment, that may affect the
adequacy of reserves or the demand for insurance prod-
ucts. Our investment portfolio and its future returns may
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be further impacted by the capital markets and current
economic conditions, which could affect our liquidity, the
amount of realized losses and impairments that will be rec-
ognized, credit default levels, our ability to hold such
investments until recovery and other factors. Additionally,
the economic conditions in geographic locations where we
conduct business, especially those locations where our
business is concentrated, may affect the growth and prof-
itability of our business. The regulatory environments in
those locations, including any pricing, underwriting or
product controls, shared market mechanisms or mandato-
ry pooling arrangements, and other conditions, such as our
agency relationships, affect the growth and profitability of
our business. Our loss and loss adjustment expense
(“LAE”) reserves are based on estimates, principally involv-
ing actuarial projections, at a given time, of what we expect
the ultimate settlement and administration of claims will
cost based on facts and circumstances then known, predic-
tions of future events, estimates of future trends in claims
frequency and severity and judicial theories of liability,
costs of repairs and replacement, legislative activity and
other factors. We expect to regularly reassess our estimate
of loss reserves and LAE, both for current and past years,
and any resulting changes will affect our reported prof-
itability and financial position.

Reference is also made to “Risk Factors” in Part 1 –
Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

LINES OF BUSINESS

We underwrite commercial and personal property and
casualty insurance coverage through our Commercial
Lines, Personal Lines and Chaucer operating segments.

Commercial Lines
Our Commercial Lines segment generated $2.2 billion, or
44.6%, of consolidated operating revenues and $2.2 bil-
lion, or 44.8%, of net premiums written, for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

The following table provides net premiums written by
line of business for our Commercial Lines segment.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions, except ratios)
Net Premiums % of

Written Total

Commercial multiple peril $ 705.1 32.7%
Commercial automobile 302.6 14.0
Workers’ compensation 247.8 11.5
Other commercial lines:

AIX program business 232.9 10.8
Inland marine 209.0 9.7
Management and professional liability 148.9 6.9
Surety 71.4 3.3
Other 238.2 11.1

Total $2,155.9 100.0%

Our Commercial Lines product suite provides agents
and customers with products designed for small, middle
and specialized markets.

Commercial Lines coverages include:
Commercial multiple peril coverage insures businesses

against third party general liability from accidents occur-
ring on their premises or arising out of their operations,
such as injuries sustained from products sold. It also
insures business property for damage, such as that caused
by fire, wind, hail, water damage (which may exclude
flood), theft and vandalism.

Commercial automobile coverage insures businesses
against losses incurred from personal bodily injury, bodily
injury to third parties, property damage to an insured’s vehi-
cle and property damage to other vehicles and property.

Workers’ compensation coverage insures employers
against employee medical and indemnity claims resulting
from injuries related to work. Workers’ compensation poli-
cies are often written in conjunction with other commer-
cial policies.

Other commercial lines is comprised of:
• AIX program business provides coverage to under-served

markets where there are specialty coverage or risk man-
agement needs, including commercial multiple peril,
workers’ compensation, commercial automobile, gener-
al liability and other commercial coverages;

• inland marine coverage insures businesses against phys-
ical losses to property, such as contractor’s equipment,
builders’ risk and goods in transit, and also covers jew-
elers block, fine art and other valuables;

• management and professional liability coverage provides
protection for directors and officers of companies that
may be sued in connection with their performance,
errors and omissions protection to companies and indi-
viduals against negligence or bad faith, as well as pro-
tection for employment practices liability and fidelity
and crime;

• surety provides businesses with contract surety coverage
in the event of performance or non-payment claims, and
commercial surety coverage related to fiduciary or regu-
latory obligations; and

• other commercial lines coverages include umbrella,
monoline general liability, specialty property and miscel-
laneous commercial property.

Our strategy in Commercial Lines focuses on building
deep relationships with partner agents through differenti-
ated product offerings, industry segmentation, and fran-
chise value through limited distribution. We have made a
number of enhancements to our products and technology
platforms that are intended to drive more total account
placements in our small commercial and middle market
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business, while delivering enhanced margins in our spe-
cialty businesses. This aligns with our focus of improving
and expanding our partnerships with a limited number of
agents.

Our small commercial, middle market and specialty
businesses each constitute approximately one-third of our
total Commercial Lines business. Small commercial offer-
ings, which generally include premiums of $50,000 or less,
deliver value through product expertise, local presence,
and ease of doing business. Middle market accounts
require greater claim and underwriting expertise, as well as
a focus on industry segments where we can deliver differ-
entiation in the market and value to agents and customers.
Small and middle market accounts comprise $1.4 billion of
the Commercial Lines segment. Our specialty lines of
business generally include program business, inland
marine, management and professional liability, surety and
specialty property.

In our small commercial and middle market businesses,
we have developed several niche insurance programs,
including for schools, human services organizations, such
as non-profit youth and community service organizations,
and religious institutions. We have added additional seg-
mentation to our core middle market commercial prod-
ucts, including real estate, hospitality and wholesale
distributors and introduced products focused on manage-
ment liability, specifically non-profit and private company
directors and officers liability and employment practices
liability.

Part of our strategy is to expand our specialty lines offer-
ings in order to provide our agents and policyholders with
a broader product portfolio and to increase our market
penetration. As part of our strategy, we have over time
acquired various specialized businesses aimed at further
diversifying and growing our specialty lines. We used these
acquisitions as platforms to expand our product offerings
and grow through our existing agency and broker distribu-
tion network.

We believe our small commercial capabilities, distinc-
tiveness in the middle market, and continued development
of specialty business provides us with a more diversified
portfolio of products and enables us to deliver significant
value to our agents and policyholders. We believe these
efforts will enable us to continue to improve the overall
mix of our business and ultimately our underwriting
 profitability.

Personal Lines
Our Personal Lines segment generated $1.5 billion, or
29.7%, of consolidated operating revenues and $1.4 bil-
lion, or 29.6%, of net premiums written, for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

The following table provides net premiums written by
line of business for our Personal Lines segment.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions, except ratios)
Net Premiums % of

Written Total

Personal automobile $ 884.1 62.1%
Homeowners 499.0 35.1
Other 39.7 2.8

Total $1,422.8 100.0%

Personal Lines coverages include:
Personal automobile coverage insures individuals against

losses incurred from personal bodily injury, bodily injury to
third parties, property damage to an insured’s vehicle, and
property damage to other vehicles and other property.

Homeowners coverage insures individuals for losses to
their residences and personal property, such as those
caused by fire, wind, hail, water damage (excluding flood),
theft and vandalism, and against third party liability
claims.

Other personal lines are comprised of personal inland
marine (jewelry, art, etc.), umbrella, fire, personal water-
craft, earthquake and other miscellaneous coverages.

Our strategy in Personal Lines is to build account–ori-
ented business through our partner agencies, with a focus
on greater geographic diversification. The market for our
Personal Lines business continues to be very competitive,
with continued pressure on independent agents from
direct writers, as well as from the increased usage of real
time comparative rating tools and increasingly sophisticat-
ed rating and pricing tools. We maintain a focus on part-
nering with high quality, value added agencies that stress
the importance of consultative selling and account round-
ing (the conversion of single policy customers to accounts
with multiple policies and/or additional coverages). We are
focused on making investments that are intended to help
us maintain profitability, build a distinctive position in the
market, and provide us with profitable growth opportuni-
ties. We continue to refine our products and to work close-
ly with these high potential agents to increase the
percentage of business they place with us and to ensure
that it is consistent with our preferred mix of business.
Additionally, we remain focused on further diversifying our
state mix beyond the historical core states of Michigan,
Massachusetts, New York and New Jersey. We expect these
efforts to decrease our risk concentrations and our depend-
ency on these four states, as well as to contribute to
improved profitability over time.
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Chaucer
Our Chaucer segment generated $1.3 billion, or 25.5%, of
consolidated operating revenues and $1.2 billion, or
25.6%, of net premiums written, for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

The following table provides net premiums written by
line of business for our Chaucer segment.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions, except ratios)
Net Premiums % of

Written Total

Marine and aviation $ 304.8 24.8%
U.K. motor 297.7 24.2
Property 179.2 14.5
Energy 173.0 14.0
Casualty and other 276.7 22.5

Total $1,231.4 100.0%

The Chaucer segment is comprised of international
business written through Lloyd’s, and includes:

Marine and aviation includes worldwide direct, faculta-
tive and treaty business. The marine account provides
cover for hull, liability, war, terrorism, aviation war, cargo,
political risk, specie, fine art, satellite and ports and termi-
nals. The aviation account insures airline hull and liability,
general aviation, refuellers and aviation products.

Energy encompasses exploration and production, con-
struction, downstream, operational power and renewables,
insuring against physical damage, business interruption,
control of well, seepage and pollution and liabilities.
Energy also includes a nuclear account, which provides
coverage across the nuclear fuel cycle from raw uranium
and nuclear fuel to the shipment and storage of waste, with
the majority of the exposure relating to power generation
at nuclear power stations. In addition to providing cover-
age for physical damage to civil nuclear power stations,
nuclear also provides limited liability coverage.

Property includes treaty business, as well as direct and
facultative coverage for commercial and industrial risks
against physical damage and business interruption. The
treaty account covers cedants on a global basis, predomi-
nantly on an “excess of loss” basis for both per risk and
catastrophe coverage, with a limited amount of proportion-
al treaty and reinsurance assumed business.

U.K. motor provides primary insurance coverage to U.K.
motor policyholders. Chaucer writes personal automobile,
commercial and fleet polices, as well as specialist classes,
including motorcycles, motor trade, and classic and spe-
cialist vehicles. In addition, the U.K. motor line includes a
small amount of commercial property damage and liability
polices protecting small/medium-sized enterprises.

Casualty and other provides liability coverage interna-
tionally, including our expanded U.S. casualty business, for
professional and commercial risks on a direct and treaty
basis, credit and bond, crime and professional liability cov-
erage for financial institutions, medical malpractice and
excess workers’ compensation. Other lines also encompass
liabilities arising from previous participations on risks
insured by third party Lloyd’s syndicates, principally from
Syndicate 4000, which provided liability coverage to finan-
cial institutions.

Chaucer is a specialist insurance underwriting group
that participates in the Lloyd’s market through the provi-
sion of capital to support the underwriting activities of syn-
dicates at Lloyd’s and the ownership of Chaucer
Syndicates Limited (“CSL”), a managing agent. CSL man-
ages two syndicates currently underwriting at Lloyd’s.

Chaucer provides capital to Syndicate 1084, which
underwrites a range of property, marine, aviation, casualty
and energy products for commercial clients worldwide and
motor business for personal and commercial clients in the
U.K.; and Syndicate 1176, which primarily provides pro-
tection against physical damage and limited liability expo-
sures from power generation at nuclear power stations.
The energy line of business includes $18.9 million of net
premiums written from Syndicate 1176.

We increased our economic interest in Syndicate 1084
to 100% in 2014, from 98% in 2013. Our economic inter-
est in Syndicate 1176 increased to 57% in 2014 from 56%
in 2013.

Chaucer has broad underwriting expertise to support its
diversified underwriting portfolio that, we believe, provides
many benefits, including capital diversification, volatility
management and long-term protection of our underwriting
capabilities. We actively manage our portfolio, transferring
underwriting capital to increase premium volumes during
periods of increased rates, while remaining selective or
reducing our capital and premium volumes in those lines
where rates are under pressure.

Overall, we believe that the strength and depth of our
underwriting teams, together with the broad diversity of
our underwriting portfolio and our membership in the
Lloyd’s market, underpin our ability to manage both the
scale and composition of our business. Moreover, these
strengths, combined with our continued active manage-
ment of our portfolio and the underwriting opportunities
available, provide a sound basis for the profitable develop-
ment of the Chaucer business.

Other
The Other segment consists of: Opus, which provides
investment advisory services to affiliates and also manages
approximately $1.4 billion of assets for unaffiliated institu-
tions such as insurance companies, retirement plans and
foundations; earnings on holding company assets; and our
discontinued voluntary pools business.
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MARKETING AND DISTRIBUTION

We serve a variety of standard, specialty and niche mar-
kets. Consistent with our objective to diversify our under-
writing risks on a geographic and line of business basis, we
currently have a distribution split of approximately one-
third each of domestic standard Commercial Lines, inter-
national and domestic specialty lines, and domestic
standard Personal Lines. Our Commercial and Personal
Lines segments, comprising our principal domestic U.S.
subsidiaries, distribute our products primarily through an
independent agent network. Our Chaucer segment, com-
prising our international business, distributes primarily
through insurance brokers in the Lloyd’s market, as well as
through comparative website aggregators with respect to
the U.K. motor business.

Commercial and Personal Lines
Our Commercial and Personal Lines agency distribution
strategy and field structure are designed to maintain a
strong focus on local markets and the flexibility to respond
to specific market conditions. During 2014, we wrote
20.4% of our Commercial and Personal Lines business in
Michigan and 9.6% in Massachusetts. Our structure is a
key factor in the establishment and maintenance of pro-

ductive, long-term relationships with mid-sized, well-
established independent agencies. We maintain 40 local
offices across 29 states. The majority of processing support
for these locations is provided from Worcester,
Massachusetts; Howell, Michigan; Salem, Virginia; and
Windsor, Connecticut.

Independent agents account for substantially all of the
sales of our Commercial and Personal Lines property and
casualty products. Agencies are appointed based on prof-
itability, track record, financial stability, professionalism,
and business strategy. Once appointed, we monitor their
performance and, subject to legal and regulatory require-
ments, may take actions as necessary to change these busi-
ness relationships, such as discontinuing the authority of
the agent to underwrite certain products or revising com-
missions or bonus opportunities. We compensate agents
primarily through base commissions and bonus plans that
are tied to an agency’s written premium, growth and
 profitability.

We are licensed to sell property and casualty insurance
in all fifty states in the U.S., as well as in the District of
Columbia. We actively market Commercial Lines policies
throughout the U.S. in 37 states and Personal Lines poli-
cies in 17 states.

The following table provides our top Commercial and Personal Lines geographical markets based on total net premi-
ums written in the state in 2014.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions, except ratios)
Total Commercial and

Commercial Lines Personal Lines Personal Lines

Net Premiums % of Net Premiums % of Net Premiums % of 
Written Total Written Total Written Total

Michigan $ 136.2 6.3% $ 595.2 41.8% $ 731.4 20.4%
Massachusetts 155.6 7.2 187.2 13.2 342.8 9.6
New York 226.9 10.5 100.0 7.0 326.9 9.1
California 270.3 12.5 0.1 — 270.4 7.6
New Jersey 119.9 5.6 63.0 4.4 182.9 5.1
Illinois 96.1 4.5 76.7 5.4 172.8 4.8
Texas 164.5 7.6 — — 164.5 4.6
Connecticut 52.3 2.4 62.1 4.4 114.4 3.2
Maine 59.8 2.8 41.3 2.9 101.1 2.8
Virginia 58.3 2.7 34.4 2.4 92.7 2.6
Georgia 55.7 2.6 29.4 2.1 85.1 2.4
Florida 76.6 3.6 — — 76.6 2.1
New Hampshire 38.9 1.8 37.0 2.6 75.9 2.1
Indiana 38.2 1.8 35.1 2.5 73.3 2.0
Louisiana 33.8 1.6 33.7 2.4 67.5 1.9
Wisconsin 33.9 1.6 28.5 2.0 62.4 1.7
Tennessee 33.5 1.5 26.8 1.9 60.3 1.7
Ohio 28.4 1.3 27.9 2.0 56.3 1.6
Oklahoma 32.6 1.5 20.4 1.4 53.0 1.5
Other 444.4 20.6 24.0 1.6 468.4 13.2

Total $2,155.9 100.0% $1,422.8 100.0% $3,578.7 100.0%
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We manage our Commercial Lines portfolio, which
includes our core and specialty businesses, with a focus on
growth from the most profitable industry segments within
our underwriting expertise. Our core business is generally
comprised of several coordinated commercial lines of busi-
ness, including small and middle market accounts, which
include segmented businesses and niches. Such business
is split between small accounts, generally having less than
$50,000 in premium, and middle market accounts, those
with premium over $50,000, with most middle market
accounts having less than $250,000 of premium.
Additionally, we have multiple specialty lines of business,
which include program business, inland marine, manage-
ment and professional liability, surety and specialty proper-
ty. The Commercial Lines segment seeks to maintain
strong agency relationships as a strategy to secure and
retain our agents’ best business. We monitor quality of
business written through ongoing quality review efforts,
accountability for which is shared at the local, regional and
corporate levels.

We manage Personal Lines business with a focus on
acquiring and retaining quality accounts. Currently,
approximately 78% of our policies in force are account
business. Approximately 55% of our Personal Lines net
premium written is generated in the combined states of
Michigan and Massachusetts. In Michigan, based upon
direct premiums written for 2013, we underwrite approxi-
mately 7% of the state’s total market.

Approximately 65% of our Michigan Personal Lines
business is in the personal automobile line and 33% is in
the homeowners line. Michigan business represents
approximately 44% of our total personal automobile net
premiums written and 40% our total homeowners net pre-
miums written. In Michigan, we are a principal market for
many of our appointed agencies with approximately $1.5
million of total direct premiums written per agency in
2014.

Approximately 70% of our Massachusetts Personal
Lines business is in the personal automobile line and 26%
is in the homeowners line. Massachusetts business repre-
sents approximately 15% of our total personal automobile
net premiums written and approximately 10% of our total
homeowners net premiums written.

We sponsor local and national agent advisory councils
to gain the benefit of our agents’ insight and enhance our
relationships. These councils provide feedback, input on
the development of products and services, guidance on
marketing efforts, support for our strategies, and assist us
in enhancing our local market presence.

Chaucer
Chaucer underwrites business from two main sources:
approximately 79% from Lloyd’s brokers and underwriting
agencies, placed in the open market, and 21% from retail
brokers and comparative website aggregators for U.K.
motor business. We primarily compensate brokers, under-
writing agencies and aggregators through commission
 payments.

In the Lloyd’s open market, brokers approach Chaucer
with individual insurance and reinsurance risk opportuni-
ties for underwriter consideration. Brokers also gain access
to Chaucer’s products through selected underwriting agen-
cies (also referred to as coverholders), to which Chaucer
has granted limited authority to make underwriting deci-
sions on individual risks. In general, risks written through
underwriting agencies are smaller in terms of both expo-
sure and premium. Risks are placed in Lloyd’s through a
subscription placement process whereby generally several
syndicates take a share of a contract rather than one insur-
er taking 100% on a direct basis. This facilitates the
spreading of large and complex risks across a number of
insurers, while limiting the counterparty risk of each  insurer.

We have an international network of offices to improve
our access to high quality risks worldwide. This is expect-
ed to improve the diversification of our underwriting and
our ability to manage our portfolio. We have offices in
Singapore and Copenhagen, Denmark to capitalize upon
specific class of business opportunities in these regions.
From January 2015, our underwriting representation for
Latin American business has relocated to Miami, Florida
from Buenos Aires, Argentina. We also have an office in
Oslo, Norway, to provide access to the Norwegian and
regional North Sea energy sector.

The following table provides a geographical breakdown
of Chaucer’s total gross premiums written (“GPW”) based
on the location of risk:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

% of Total GPW in Chaucer Segment

United Kingdom(1) 20.6%
United States 19.8
Americas, excluding the United States 10.1
Asia Pacific 5.0
Middle East and Africa 4.5
Europe 3.3
Worldwide and other(2) 36.7

Total 100.0%

(1) Primarily U.K. motor.

(2) “Worldwide and other” comprises insured risks that move across multiple
geographic areas due to their mobile nature or insured risks that are fixed in
locations that span more than one geographic area. These contracts include, for
example, marine and aviation hull, satellite and offshore energy exploration and
production risks that can move across multiple geographic areas and assumed risks
where the cedant insures risks in two or more geographic zones.
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Other
With respect to our Other segment business, we market
our investment advisory services directly through Opus.

PRICING AND COMPETITION

The property and casualty industry is a very competitive
market. Our competitors include national, international,
regional and local companies that sell insurance through
various distribution channels, including independent agen-
cies, captive agency forces, brokers and direct to con-
sumers through the internet or otherwise. They also
include mutual insurance companies, reciprocals and
exchanges. In the Commercial and Personal Lines seg-
ments, we market through independent agents and brokers
and compete for business on the basis of product, price,
agency and customer service, local relationships, ratings,
and effective claims handling, among other things. We
believe that an emphasis on maintaining strong agency
relationships and a local presence in our markets, coupled
with investments in products, operating efficiency, tech-
nology and effective claims handling, will enable us to
compete effectively. Our broad product offerings in
Commercial Lines and total account strategy in Personal
Lines are instrumental to our strategy to capitalize on
these relationships and improve profitability.

We seek to achieve targeted combined ratios in each of
our product lines. Targets vary by product and geography
and change with market conditions. The targeted com-
bined ratios reflect competitive market conditions, invest-
ment yield expectations, our loss payout patterns, and
target returns on equity. This strategy is intended to enable
us to achieve measured growth and consistent profitability.

For all major product lines, we employ pricing teams
which produce exposure and experience-based rating mod-
els to support underwriting and pricing decisions. In addi-
tion, in the Commercial and Personal Lines segments, we
seek to utilize our understanding of local markets to
achieve superior underwriting results. We rely on market
information provided by our local agents and on the knowl-
edge of staff in the local branch offices. Since we maintain
a strong regional focus and a significant market share in a
number of states, we can better apply our knowledge and
experience in making underwriting and rate setting deci-
sions. Also, we seek to gather objective and verifiable infor-
mation at a policy level during the underwriting process,
including prior loss experience, past driving records and,
where permitted, credit histories.

The Commercial and Personal Lines segments are not
dependent on a single customer or even a few customers,
for which the loss of any one or more would have an
adverse effect upon the insurance operations for these
segments.

Although we conduct some business on a direct basis
through the Chaucer segment, we market the majority of
Chaucer product offerings through insurance brokers in
the Lloyd’s specialty and the U.K. motor markets, which
provide access to business from clients and coverholders.
We are able to attract business through our recognized
capability to serve as the lead underwriter in most classes
we write, particularly in classes where such lead ability is
sought by clients and recognized by following underwrit-
ers. This requires significant underwriting and claims han-
dling expertise in very specialized lines of business. Our
competitors include large international insurance compa-
nies and other Lloyd’s managing underwriters. In the U.K.
motor lines, our competitors include large U.K. personal
lines insurers. Broker relationships that are ten percent or
more of total Chaucer 2014 gross premiums written are
with Marsh & McLennan Companies (14%), Aon Benfield
(14%) and Willis Group (10%).

CLAIMS MANAGEMENT

Claims management includes the receipt of initial loss
notifications, generation of appropriate responses to claim
reports, loss appraisals, identification and handling of cov-
erage issues, determination of whether further investiga-
tion is required, retention of legal representation where
appropriate, establishment of case reserves, approval of
loss payments and notification to reinsurers. Part of our
strategy focuses on efficient, timely, and fair claim settle-
ments to meet customer service expectations and maintain
valuable independent agent relationships. Additionally,
effective claims management is important to our business
as claim payments and related loss adjustment expenses
are our single largest expenditures.

Commercial and Personal Lines
We utilize experienced claims adjusters, appraisers, med-
ical specialists, managers and attorneys to manage our
claims. Our U.S. property and casualty operations have
field claims adjusters located throughout the states and
regions in which we do business. Claims field staff mem-
bers work closely with the independent agents who bound
the policies under which coverage is claimed. Claims office
adjusting staff is supported by general adjusters for large
property and large casualty losses, by automobile and
heavy equipment damage appraisers for automobile mate-
rial damage losses, and by medical specialists whose prin-
cipal concentration is on workers’ compensation and
automobile injury cases. Additionally, the claims offices are
supported by staff attorneys, both in the home office and
in regional locations, who specialize in litigation defense
and claim settlements. We have a catastrophe response
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team to assist policyholders impacted by severe weather
events. This team mobilizes quickly to impacted regions,
often in advance for a large tracked storm, to support our
local claims adjusters and facilitate a timely response to
resulting claims. We also maintain a special unit that
investigates suspected insurance fraud and abuse. We uti-
lize claims processing technology which allows most of the
smaller and more routine Personal Lines claims to be
processed at centralized locations.

Chaucer
For international risks, the Chaucer claims team generally
is responsible for establishing case reserves, loss and LAE
cost management, exposure mitigation and litigation man-
agement. Chaucer has engaged a third party administrator
to handle aviation claims and authorizes selected agencies
to manage claims under risks which they have bound on
Chaucer’s behalf.

For claims under our direct claims team management,
where Chaucer is the lead syndicate or designated claims
manager, our appointed claims adjusters work with the
broker representing the insured. This may involve appoint-
ing attorneys, loss adjusters or other third party experts.
Where Chaucer is not the lead underwriter or designated
claims manager, the lead underwriter and designated
claims manager together establish case reserves in con-
junction with professional third party adjusters, and then
advise all other syndicates participating on the risk of the
loss reserve requirements. In such cases, the Chaucer
claims team reviews material claims and developments.
Chaucer also engages automobile body and repair shops to
assist in managing claims for its U.K. motor business.

CATASTROPHES

We are subject to claims arising out of catastrophes, which
historically have had a significant impact on our results of
operations and financial condition. Coverage for such
events is a core part of our business and we expect to expe-
rience catastrophe losses in the future, which could have a
material adverse impact on us. Catastrophes can be caused
by various events, including, among others, hurricanes,
tornadoes and other windstorms, earthquakes, hail, severe
winter weather, fire, explosions, and terrorism. The inci-
dence and severity of catastrophes are inherently unpre-
dictable.

Commercial and Personal Lines
We endeavor to manage our catastrophe risks through
underwriting procedures, including the use of deductibles
and specific exclusions for floods and earthquakes, subject
to regulatory restrictions and competitive pressures, and
through geographic exposure management and reinsur-
ance. The catastrophe reinsurance program is structured
to protect us on a per-occurrence basis. We monitor geo-
graphic location and coverage concentrations in order to
manage corporate exposure to catastrophic events.
Although catastrophes can cause losses in a variety of
property and casualty lines, commercial multiple peril and
homeowners property coverages have, in the past, generat-
ed the majority of catastrophe-related claims.

Chaucer
Individual commercial and industrial risks within our prop-
erty, marine and aviation, and energy lines include protec-
tion against natural or man-made catastrophes worldwide.
We accept these risks on direct, facultative, and propor-
tional and excess of loss treaty bases. Such risks are man-
aged through limiting the proportion of any individual risk
or class of risk we assume and managing geographic con-
centration, and through the purchase of reinsurance.

We purchase reinsurance to limit our exposure to indi-
vidual risks and catastrophic events. This includes faculta-
tive reinsurance, to limit the exposure on a specified risk;
specific excess and proportional treaty, to limit exposure to
individual contracts or risks within specified classes of
business; and catastrophe excess of loss reinsurance, to
limit exposure to any one event that might affect more
than one individual contract.

The level of reinsurance that Chaucer purchases is
dependent on a number of factors, including our under-
writing risk appetite for catastrophe risk, the specific risks
inherent in each line or class of business risk written and
the pricing, coverage and terms and conditions available
from the reinsurance market.

TERRORISM

As a result of the tragic events of September 11, 2001, the
insurance industry has had heightened concern about the
potential for losses caused by terrorist acts. These losses
may encompass people, property and business operations
covered under workers’ compensation, commercial multi-
ple peril and other Commercial Lines policies. In certain
cases, we are not able to exclude coverage for these losses,
either because of regulatory requirements or competitive
pressures. We continually evaluate the potential effect of
these low frequency, but potentially high severity events in
our overall pricing and underwriting plans, especially for
policies written in major metropolitan areas.
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Private sector catastrophe reinsurance is limited and
generally unavailable for losses attributed to acts of terror-
ism, particularly those involving nuclear, biological, chem-
ical and/or radiological events. As a result, the industry’s
primary reinsurance protection against large-scale terrorist
attacks in the U.S. is provided through a Federal program
that provides compensation for insured losses resulting
from acts of terrorism. Additionally, certain terrorism-relat-
ed risks embedded in our Commercial and Personal Lines
are covered under the existing Catastrophe, Property per
Risk and Casualty Excess of Loss corporate reinsurance
treaties (see “Reinsurance” for additional information).

The Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 established
the Terrorism Risk Insurance Program (the “U.S.
Program”). Coverage under the U.S. Program applies to
workers’ compensation, commercial multiple peril and cer-
tain other Commercial Lines policies for U.S. direct writ-
ten policies. The Terrorism Risk Insurance Program
Reauthorization Act of 2015 (“TRIPRA”) extended the
U.S. Program through December 31, 2020. All commer-
cial property and casualty insurers licensed in the U.S. par-
ticipate in the program. Under the program, a participating
issuer, in exchange for making terrorism insurance avail-
able, may be entitled to be reimbursed by the Federal
Government for a portion of its aggregate losses. The U.S.
Program does not cover losses in surety, Personal Lines or
certain other lines of insurance. Losses caused by terrorist
acts are not excluded from homeowners or personal auto-
mobile policies.

As required by the current U.S. Program, we offer poli-
cyholders in specific lines of commercial insurance the
option to elect terrorism coverage. In order for a loss to be
covered under the U.S. Program, the loss must meet aggre-
gate industry loss minimums and must be the result of an
act of terrorism as certified by the Secretary of the
Treasury in consultation with the Secretary of Homeland
Security and the U.S. Attorney General. Losses from acts
which do not qualify or are not so certified will not receive
the benefit of the U.S. Program and in fact, may be
deemed covered losses whether or not terrorism coverage
was purchased. The current U.S. Program requires insur-
ance carriers to retain 15% of any claims from a certified
terrorist event in excess of the federally mandated
deductible in 2015 subject to an annual industry-wide cap
of $100 billion. This retention will increase, beginning on
January 1, 2016, by 1% each calendar year until it reaches
20% in 2020. The federally mandated deductible repre-
sents 20% of direct earned premium for the covered lines
of business of the prior year. In 2014, our deductible was
$350.4 million, which represents 19.1% of year-end 2013

statutory policyholder surplus of our U.S. domestic insur-
ers, and is estimated to be $355.9 million in 2015, repre-
senting 17.3% of 2014 year-end statutory policyholder
surplus.

Given the unpredictability of terrorism losses, future
losses from acts of terrorism could be material to our oper-
ating results, financial position, and/or liquidity. We
attempt to manage our exposures on an individual line of
business basis and in the aggregate by one-half square mile
grids.

Chaucer’s direct written U.S. policies are also covered
under the provisions of TRIPRA. A limited portion of
Chaucer’s business outside of the U.S. is exposed to terror-
ism with respect to certain commercial property classes
that are written on a standalone basis. We manage this
exposure through policy limits, monitoring of risk aggrega-
tion and reinsurance. Generally, terrorism coverage is
excluded from most commercial property classes and cov-
erages that Chaucer writes. For our nuclear energy busi-
ness, most of our liability coverage does not exclude losses
resulting from acts of terrorism. Where terrorism exposure
is accepted, Chaucer normally ensures that the net liabili-
ty involved does not exceed 50% of the full exposure,
whether property, liability or combined.

REGULATION

Commercial and Personal Lines
Our U.S. property and casualty insurance subsidiaries are
subject to extensive regulation in the various states in
which they transact business and are supervised by the
individual state insurance departments. Numerous aspects
of our business are subject to regulation, including premi-
um rates, mandatory covered risks, limitations on the abil-
ity to non-renew or reject business, prohibited exclusions,
licensing and appointment of agents, investments, restric-
tions on the size of risks that may be insured under a sin-
gle policy, reserves and provisions for unearned premiums,
losses and other obligations, deposits of securities for the
benefit of policyholders, investments and capital, policy
forms and coverages, advertising, and other conduct,
including restrictions on the use of credit information and
other factors in underwriting, as well as other underwriting
and claims practices. States also regulate various aspects
of the contractual relationships between insurers and inde-
pendent agents.

Such laws, rules and regulations are usually overseen
and enforced by the various state insurance departments,
as well as through private rights of action and increasingly,
by state attorneys general. Such regulations or enforce-
ment actions are often responsive to current consumer and
political sensitivities such as automobile and homeowners
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insurance rates and coverage forms, or which may arise
after a major event. Such rules and regulations may result
in rate suppression, limit our ability to manage our expo-
sure to unprofitable or volatile risks, or lead to fines, pre-
mium refunds or other adverse consequences. The federal
government also may regulate aspects of our businesses
such as the use of insurance (credit) scores in underwrit-
ing and the protection of confidential information.

In addition, as a condition to writing business in certain
states, insurers are required to participate in various pools
or risk sharing mechanisms or to accept certain classes of
risk, regardless of whether such risks meet its underwriting
requirements for voluntary business. Some states also limit
or impose restrictions on the ability of an insurer to with-
draw from certain classes of business. For example,
Massachusetts, New Jersey, New York, and California each
impose material restrictions on a company’s ability to
materially reduce its exposures or to withdraw from certain
lines of business in their respective states. The state insur-
ance departments can impose significant charges on an
insurer in connection with a market withdrawal or refuse
to approve withdrawal plans on the grounds that they
could lead to market disruption. Laws and regulations that
limit cancellation and non-renewal of policies or that
 subject withdrawal plans to prior approval requirements
may significantly restrict our ability to exit unprofitable
markets.

Over the past several years, other state-sponsored insur-
ers, reinsurers or involuntary pools have increased, partic-
ularly in those states which have Atlantic or Gulf Coast
storm exposures. As a result, the potential assessment
exposure of insurers doing business in such states and the
attendant collection risks have increased. Such actions and
related regulatory restrictions may limit our ability to
reduce our potential exposure to hurricane-related losses.

The insurance laws of many states subject property and
casualty insurers doing business in those states to statuto-
ry property and casualty guaranty fund assessments. The
purpose of a guaranty fund is to protect policyholders by
requiring that solvent property and casualty insurers pay
insurance claims of insolvent insurers. These guaranty
associations generally pay these claims by assessing solvent
insurers proportionately based on the insurer’s share of
voluntary premiums written in the state. While most guar-
anty associations provide for recovery of assessments
through subsequent rate increases, surcharges or premium
tax credits, there is no assurance that insurers will ulti-
mately recover these assessments, which could be materi-

al, particularly following a large catastrophe or in markets
which become disrupted.

We are subject to periodic financial and market conduct
examinations conducted by state insurance departments.
We are also required to file annual and other reports with
state insurance departments relating to the financial con-
dition of our insurance subsidiaries and other matters. The
National Association of Insurance Commissioners
(“NAIC”) and the Federal Insurance Office are each
actively engaged in reviewing and considering proposed
insurer risk-based capital standards, risk analysis, solvency
assessments and other regulatory initiatives.

Chaucer
Chaucer is regulated by both the Prudential Regulation
Authority (“PRA”) and the Financial Conduct Authority
(“FCA”), who together have responsibility for the U.K.
financial services industry, including insurers, insurance
intermediaries and Lloyd’s. The PRA is responsible for the
prudential supervision of, among other financial institu-
tions, Lloyd’s insurers, with a particular focus on financial
stability. The FCA focuses on conduct of business issues,
with a particular focus on consumer protection and market
integrity. In addition, Chaucer is supervised by the Council
of Lloyd’s, which is the franchisor for all Lloyd’s operations.

The PRA, FCA and Council of Lloyd’s have common
objectives in ensuring the appropriate regulation of the
Lloyd’s market and, to minimize duplication, the PRA and
FCA have arrangements with Lloyd’s for co-operation on
supervision and enforcement. Lloyd’s, which is regulated
by both the PRA and FCA, has responsibility under the
Lloyd’s Act 1982 (“the Lloyd’s Act”) for the implementation
of certain PRA and FCA prescribed rules relating to the
operation of the Lloyd’s market. Lloyd’s prescribes, in
respect of its managing agents and corporate members,
minimum standards relating to their management and con-
trol, solvency and various other requirements. The PRA
and FCA directly monitor compliance of Lloyd’s managing
agents with the systems and controls that Lloyd’s prescribes.

The Council of Lloyd’s has wide discretionary powers to
regulate Lloyd’s underwriting. For example, it may change
the basis of allocation for syndicate expenses or the capital
requirements for syndicate participations. Exercising any
of these powers might affect the return on an investment
of the corporate member, such as Chaucer, in a given
underwriting year. In addition, the annual business plans
of each syndicate are subject to the review and approval of
the Lloyd’s Franchise Board, which is responsible for busi-
ness planning and monitoring for all syndicates.
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We participate in the Lloyd’s market through our own-
ership of Chaucer Syndicates Limited, which we refer to as
CSL, a managing agent with responsibility for the manage-
ment of Syndicates 1084 and 1176, for which we provide
capital to support their underwriting activities. Our mem-
bership in Lloyd’s requires us to comply with its bylaws and
regulations, the Lloyd’s Act and the applicable provisions
of the Financial Services and Markets Act of 2000. These
include the requirement to provide capital (referred to as
“Funds at Lloyd’s”) in the form of cash, securities or letters
of credit in an amount agreed with by Lloyd’s under the
capital setting regime of the PRA. The completion of an
annual capital adequacy exercise enables each corporate
member to calculate the capital required. These require-
ments allow Lloyd’s to evaluate whether each corporate
member has sufficient assets to meet its underwriting lia-
bilities plus a required solvency margin.

If a corporate member of Lloyd’s is unable to meets its
policyholder obligations, such obligations may be payable
by the Lloyd’s Central Fund, which acts similar to a state
guaranty fund in the U.S. If Lloyd’s determines that the
Central Fund needs to be increased, it has the power to
assess premium levies on all current Lloyd’s members. The
Council of Lloyd’s has discretion to call or assess up to 3%
of a member’s underwriting capacity as a Central Fund
contribution.

Solvency II

In 2009, the European Union (“E.U.”) adopted a directive
covering capital requirements, risk management and regu-
latory reporting for insurance organizations. The directive,
known as Solvency II, imposes economic risk-based sol-
vency requirements across all E.U. member states that
comprise three “pillars”. First, there are quantitative capi-
tal requirements, based on a valuation of the entire bal-
ance sheet of an insurance organization. Second, Solvency
II requires insurance organizations to undertake a qualita-
tive regulatory review, including governance, internal con-
trols, enterprise risk management and the supervisory
review process. Third, to enhance market discipline, insur-
ance organizations must report their financial conditions
to regulators. The commencement date for the new regu-
latory regime is January 1, 2016. Chaucer continues to
work to ensure compliance with the requirements in accor-
dance with the timetable set out by Lloyd’s.

Other

In addition to the U.K. and E.U. regulations, Chaucer is
subject to regulation in the U.S through the Lloyd’s mar-
ket. The Lloyd’s market has licenses to engage in insurance
business in Illinois, Kentucky and the U.S. Virgin Islands
and operates as an eligible excess and surplus lines insur-
er in all other states and territories. Lloyd’s is also an
accredited reinsurer in all states and territories. Lloyd’s
maintains various trust funds in the state of New York to
protect its U.S. business and is subject to regulation by the
New York Insurance Department, which acts as the domi-
ciliary department for Lloyd’s U.S. trust funds. There are
also deposit trust funds in other U.S. states to support
Lloyd’s excess and surplus lines insurance and reinsurance
business.

See also to Note 18 — “Commitments and Contingencies”
in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements includ-
ed in Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of
this Form 10-K.

INVOLUNTARY RESIDUAL MARKETS

As a condition of our license to write business in various
domestic states and international jurisdictions, we are
required to participate in mandatory property and casualty
residual market mechanisms which provide insurance cov-
erages where such coverage may not otherwise be available
at rates deemed reasonable. Such mechanisms provide
coverage primarily for personal and commercial property,
personal and commercial automobile, and workers’ com-
pensation, and include assigned risk plans, reinsurance
facilities and involuntary pools, joint underwriting associa-
tions, fair access to insurance requirements (“FAIR”)
plans, and commercial automobile insurance plans.

For example, since most states compel the purchase of
a minimal level of automobile liability insurance, states
have developed shared market mechanisms to provide the
required coverages and in many cases, optional coverages,
to those drivers who, because of their driving records or
other factors, cannot find insurers who will insure them
voluntarily. Also, FAIR plans and other similar property
insurance shared market mechanisms increase the avail-
ability of property insurance in circumstances where
homeowners are unable to obtain insurance at rates
deemed reasonable, such as in coastal areas or in areas
subject to other hazards. Licensed insurers writing busi-
ness in such states are often required to pay assessments
to cover reserve deficiencies generated by such plans.
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With respect to FAIR plans and other similar property
insurance shared market mechanisms that have significant
exposures, it is difficult to accurately estimate our poten-
tial financial exposure for future events. Assessments fol-
lowing a large coastal event, particularly affecting
Massachusetts, Florida, Louisiana or New York, could be
material to our results of operations. Our participation in
such shared markets or pooling mechanisms is generally
proportional to our direct writings for the type of coverage
written by the specific pooling mechanism in the applica-
ble state or other jurisdiction. For example, we are subject
to mandatory participation in the Michigan Assigned
Claims (“MAC”) facility. MAC is an assigned claim plan
covering people injured in uninsured motor vehicle acci-
dents. Our participation in the MAC facility is based on
our share of personal and commercial automobile direct
written premium in the state and resulted in underwriting
losses of $11.7 million in 2014 and $15.0 million in 2013
and 2012. Additionally, Chaucer’s U.K. motor line is sub-
ject to similar mandatory assessments from the U.K. Motor
Insurance Bureau (“MIB”) and these assessments were
$4.0 million in 2014, $4.3 million in 2013 and not signif-
icant to our results of operation in 2012. There were no
other mandatory residual market mechanisms that were
significant to our 2014, 2013 or 2012 results of operations.

RESERVE FOR UNPAID LOSSES AND LOSS 
ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES

Reference is made to “Results of Operations - Segments –
Reserve for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses” of
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations of this Form 10-K.

The following table reconciles reserves determined in
accordance with accounting practices prescribed or per-
mitted by U.S. insurance statutory authorities (“U.S.
Statutory”) and the U.K. financial services regulatory
authorities (“U.K. Statutory”) for our domestic and
Chaucer operations, respectively, to reserves determined in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The pri-
mary difference between the U.S. Statutory reserves and
our U.S. GAAP reserves is the requirement, on a U.S.
GAAP basis, to present reinsurance recoverables as an

asset, whereas U.S. Statutory guidance provides that
reserves are reflected net of the corresponding reinsurance
recoverables. There are no significant differences between
U.K. Statutory reserves and our U.S. GAAP reserves. We
do not use discounting techniques in establishing U.S.
GAAP reserves for losses and LAE, nor have we partici -
pated in any loss portfolio transfers or other similar
 transactions.

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

U.S. Statutory reserve for losses 
and LAE $2,819.0 $2,725.0 $2,646.7

U.K. Statutory reserve for losses 
and LAE 2,421.0 2,373.9 2,397.7

Total Statutory reserve for 
losses and LAE 5,240.0 5,098.9 5,044.4

U.S. GAAP adjustments:
Reinsurance recoverables on 

unpaid losses of our U.S.
insurance subsidiaries 1,256.3 1,242.2 1,265.0

Reserves for discontinued 
operations (114.7) (121.3) (126.8)

Other 10.1 11.7 14.4

U.S. GAAP reserve for losses 
and LAE $6,391.7 $6,231.5 $6,197.0

Reserves for discontinued operations of our U.S. insur-
ance subsidiaries are included in liabilities of discontinued
operations for U.S. GAAP and loss and loss adjustment
expenses for Statutory reporting.

ANALYSIS OF LOSS AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSE
RESERVE DEVELOPMENT

The following table sets forth the development of our U.S.
GAAP reserves (net of reinsurance recoverables) for
unpaid losses and LAE from 2004 through 2014. This
table includes our Chaucer segment U.S. GAAP reserves
beginning December 31, 2011. Conditions and trends that
have affected reserve development in the past will not nec-
essarily recur in the future. It is not appropriate to extrap-
olate future favorable or unfavorable development based
on amounts experienced in prior periods.
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DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

(in millions)

Net reserve for losses 
and LAE(1) $4,408.7 $4,201.1 $4,122.7 $3,828.5 $2,162.2 $2,093.7 $2,214.9 $2,227.2 $2,276.5 $2,354.1 $2,166.3

Cumulative amount 
paid as of:(2)

One year later 1,398.9 1,469.8 1,396.5 840.7 738.6 788.5 711.1 689.9 729.5 622.0
Two years later 2,264.0 2,172.6 1,277.9 1,120.3 1,126.8 1,050.5 1,061.8 1,121.9 967.0
Three years later 2,650.0 1,543.6 1,355.8 1,362.8 1,222.7 1,268.4 1,368.3 1,175.4
Four years later 1,726.0 1,487.2 1,500.5 1,346.8 1,364.7 1,499.6 1,312.9
Five years later 1,591.3 1,577.6 1,426.6 1,438.8 1,555.7 1,384.4
Six years later 1,644.5 1,473.9 1,493.9 1,606.3 1,416.2
Seven years later 1,518.4 1,527.5 1,647.8 1,456.3
Eight years later 1,561.4 1,676.7 1,489.9
Nine years later 1,706.0 1,515.3
Ten years later 1,541.0

Net reserve 
re-estimated as of:(3)

End of year 4,408.7 4,201.1 4,122.7 3,828.5 2,162.2 2,093.7 2,214.9 2,227.2 2,276.5 2,354.1 2,166.3
One year later 4,066.1 4,052.0 3,841.6 2,094.4 1,982.6 2,059.6 2,075.6 2,140.1 2,274.1 2,086.8
Two years later 4,038.9 3,843.2 2,090.5 1,916.4 1,973.3 1,865.7 2,011.0 2,158.8 1,994.4
Three years later 3,819.8 2,124.2 1,902.7 1,930.8 1,793.7 1,852.7 2,075.0 1,904.4
Four years later 2,163.7 1,923.4 1,922.6 1,770.6 1,810.9 1,965.3 1,858.0
Five years later 1,950.5 1,939.7 1,773.2 1,793.9 1,936.4 1,780.8
Six years later 1,961.1 1,779.4 1,798.0 1,922.4 1,761.2
Seven years later 1,793.4 1,802.4 1,924.6 1,749.0
Eight years later 1,814.7 1,929.1 1,749.0
Nine years later 1,939.6 1,754.7
Ten years later 1,764.5

Cumulative net 
redundancy
(deficiency)(4) $ — $ 135.0 $ 83.8 $ 8.7 $ (1.5) $ 143.2 $ 253.8 $ 433.8 $ 461.8 $ 414.5 $ 401.8

Adjustment for 
foreign currency
exchange(3) — (35.9) (17.0) 14.7 — — — — — — —

Cumulative net 
redundancy
(deficiency) 
excluding foreign 
currency exchange(3)(4) $ — $ 99.1 $ 66.8 $ 23.4 $ (1.5) $ 143.2 $ 253.8 $ 433.8 $ 461.8 $ 414.5 $ 401.8

Gross reserves for 
losses and LAE $6,391.7 $6,231.5 $6,197.0 $5,760.3 $3,277.7 $3,153.9 $3,203.1 $3,167.7 $3,166.0 $3,461.7 $3,073.4

Reinsurance 
recoverables 1,983.0 2,030.4 2,074.3 1,931.8 1,115.5 1,060.2 988.2 940.5 889.5 1,107.6 907.1

Net liability $4,408.7 $4,201.1 $4,122.7 $3,828.5 $2,162.2 $2,093.7 $2,214.9 $2,227.2 $2,276.5 $2,354.1 $2,166.3

Re-estimated gross 
reserve for
losses and LAE $ — $6,029.7 $6,004.3 $5,696.0 $3,417.1 $3,239.0 $3,231.9 $3,047.2 $3,038.5 $3,423.6 $3,051.6

Re-estimated 
reinsurance
recoverables — 1,963.6 2,015.0 1,876.7 1,253.4 1,288.5 1,270.8 1,253.8 1,223.8 1,484.0 1,287.1

Re-estimated net 
liability $ — $4,066.1 $3,989.3 $3,819.3 $2,163.7 $1,950.5 $1,961.1 $1,793.4 $1,814.7 $1,939.6 $1,764.5

Cumulative gross 
redundancy
(deficiency)(4) $ — $ 201.8 $ 192.7 $ 64.3 $ (139.4) $ (85.1) $ (28.8) $ 120.5 $ 127.5 $ 38.1 $ 21.8
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(1) Sets forth the estimated net liability for unpaid losses and LAE recorded at the balance sheet date at the end of each of the indicated years; represents the estimated amount of
net losses and LAE for claims arising in the current and all prior years that are unpaid at the balance sheet date, including incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) reserves.

(2) Cumulative loss and LAE payments made in succeeding years for losses incurred prior to the balance sheet date. Chaucer claims payments denominated in foreign currencies
are converted to U.S. dollars at the average foreign exchange rates during the year of payment and are not revalued at the current year foreign exchange rates. Because claims
paid in prior years are not revalued at the current year’s foreign exchange rates, the difference between the cumulative claims paid at the end of any given year and the
immediately previous year represents the claims paid during the year.

(3) Re-estimated amount of the previously recorded liability based on experience for each succeeding year; increased or decreased as payments are made and more information
becomes known about the severity of remaining unpaid claims. Chaucer unpaid losses and LAE denominated in foreign currencies are re-estimated using the foreign exchange
rates in effect as of each respective re-estimation date. For example, 2012 reserves re-estimated one year later are re-estimated using the December 31, 2013 rates and two
years later are re-estimated using December 31, 2014 rates. The resulting cumulative foreign exchange translation effect is shown as an adjustment to the cumulative net
redundancy (deficiency) based on the rates in effect as of December 31, 2014.

(4) Cumulative redundancy or deficiency at December 31, 2014 of the net and gross reserve amounts shown in the corresponding column. A redundancy in reserves means the
reserves established in prior years exceeded actual losses and LAE or were re-evaluated at less than the original reserved amount. A deficiency in reserves means the reserves
established in prior years were less than actual losses and LAE or were re-evaluated at more than the original reserved amount.

required to provide this coverage in our workers’ compen-
sation policies. We have workers’ compensation reinsur-
ance coverage under our casualty reinsurance treaty of
approximately $10 million for losses that result from
nuclear, chemical or biological events and approximately
$80 million for terrorism losses excluding those that result
from nuclear, chemical or biological events. All other U.S.-
based exposure or treaties exclude such coverage. Further,
under TRIPRA, our retention of U.S. domestic losses in
2015 from such events, if deemed certified terrorist events,
is limited to 15% of losses in excess of an approximate
$369 million deductible, up to a combined annual aggre-
gate limit for the federal government and all insurers of
$100 billion. Such events could be material to our finan-
cial position or results of operations. See “Terrorism” for
additional information.

Reference is made to Note 16 — “Reinsurance” in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this
Form 10-K. Reference is also made to “Involuntary
Residual Markets”.

Commercial and Personal Lines
Our 2015 reinsurance program for our Commercial Lines
and Personal Lines segments is substantially consistent
with our 2014 program design. In light of the favorable
reinsurance market conditions at January 1, 2015, we
expanded our reinsurance coverage in some treaties and
increased our limit in others. The following discussion
summarizes both our 2014 and 2015 reinsurance pro-
grams for our Commercial Lines and Personal Lines seg-
ments (excluding coverage available under the U.S. federal
terrorism program which is described under “Terrorism”),
but does not purport to be a complete description of the
program or the various restrictions or limitations which
may apply:
• Our Commercial Lines and Personal Lines segments

were primarily protected by a property catastrophe
occurrence treaty, a property per risk excess of loss
treaty, as well as a casualty excess of loss treaty, with
retentions of $200 million, $2 million, and $2 million,
respectively.

REINSURANCE

Reinsurance Program Overview
We maintain ceded reinsurance programs designed to pro-
tect against large or unusual loss and LAE activity. We uti-
lize a variety of reinsurance agreements, which are
intended to control our individual policy and aggregate
exposure to large property and casualty losses, stabilize
earnings and protect capital resources. These programs
include facultative reinsurance (to limit exposure on a
specified policy); specific excess and proportional treaty
reinsurance (to limit exposure on individual policies or
risks within specified classes of business); and catastrophe
excess of loss reinsurance (to limit exposure to any one
event that might impact more than one individual con-
tract). Catastrophe reinsurance protects us, as the ceding
insurer, from significant losses arising from a single event
including, among others, hurricanes, tornadoes and other
windstorms, earthquakes, hail, severe winter weather, fire,
explosions and terrorism. We determine the appropriate
amount of reinsurance based upon our evaluation of the
risks insured, exposure analyses prepared by consultants,
our risk appetite and on market conditions, including the
availability and pricing of reinsurance.

We cede to reinsurers a portion of our risk based upon
insurance policies subject to such reinsurance.
Reinsurance contracts do not relieve us from our obliga-
tions to policyholders. Failure of reinsurers to honor their
obligations could result in losses to us. We believe that the
terms of our reinsurance contracts are consistent with
industry practice in that they contain standard terms with
respect to lines of business covered, limit and retention,
arbitration and occurrence. We believe our reinsurers are
financially sound, based upon our ongoing review of their
financial statements, financial strength ratings assigned to
them by rating agencies, their reputations in the reinsur-
ance marketplace, our collections history, advice from
third parties, and the analysis and guidance of our reinsur-
ance advisors.

Although we exclude coverage of nuclear, chemical or
biological events from the Personal Lines and Commercial
Lines policies we write in the U.S., we are statutorily
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• The property catastrophe occurrence treaty provides
coverage, on an occurrence basis, up to $1.1 billion
countrywide (previously it provided $700 million of cov-
erage countrywide, with an additional $400 million of
coverage for the Northeast only, i.e., up to $1.1 billion
for the Northeast only), less a $200 million retention,
with no co-participation, for all defined perils. Roughly
two-fifths of the program is effective through July 1,
2016 with the remainder expected to be renewed by July
2015. For 2014 and 2015, the property per risk excess
of loss treaty provides coverage, on a per risk basis, up
to $100 million, less a $2 million retention, with co-par-
ticipations for 2014 and 2015 of up to 10% for reinsur-
ance placed in the $2 million to $3 million layer and no
co-participation for reinsurance placed in the $3 million
to $100 million layer.

• The casualty excess of loss treaty provides coverage, on
a per occurrence basis for each loss, up to $75 million
less a $2 million retention, with no co-participation.
Umbrella and excess liability lines share coverage with
casualty lines within the $2 million to $10 million lay-
ers, with the maximum umbrella limit of $5 million sub-
ject to the casualty treaty. There is also separate umbrel-
la and excess liability only coverage that provides pro-
tection in both 2014 and 2015 for the $5 million to $25
million layer. Management liability and professional lia-
bility lines have been covered in a $1 million to $2 mil-
lion layer within the casualty program, meant only for
these risks. That layer also includes healthcare in 2015,
which previously had been covered in its own separate
treaty.

• For 2014 and 2015, Commercial Lines segments are
further protected by excess of loss treaty agreements for
specific lines of business such as surety and fidelity
bond liability, and for 2014, healthcare liability. Surety
and fidelity bond excess of loss treaty provides coverage,
on a per principal basis, up to $35 million, less a $5 mil-
lion retention, with co-participations ranging from 5%
to 15% for individual layers placed within the treaty.

• In addition to certain layers of coverage from our
Commercial and Personal Lines segment reinsurance
program as described above, the Commercial Lines AIX
Holdings, Inc. (“AIX”) program business also includes
surplus share, quota share, excess of loss, facultative
and other forms of reinsurance that cover the writings
from AIX specialty and proprietary programs. There are
approximately 44 different AIX programs, and the rein-
surance structure is customized to fit the exposure pro-
file for each program.

Our intention is to renew the surety and fidelity bond
treaty, the property per risk excess of loss treaty and three-
fifths of the property catastrophe treaty in July 2015 with
the same or similar terms and conditions, but there can be
no assurance that we will be able to maintain our current

levels of reinsurance, pricing and terms and conditions.
For our 2015 reinsurance program, all other treaties
described above were effective January 1, 2015 for a twelve
month period.

Chaucer
Chaucer’s 2015 reinsurance program is substantially con-
sistent with the 2014 program design. The 2014 and 2015
Chaucer reinsurance programs contain a combination of
reinsurance treaties that either provide coverage across
several lines or are specific to individual lines of business
or classes of business within certain lines. Generally, for
each line or class of Chaucer’s business, there are a variety
of proportional, excess of loss (mainly occurrence basis),
facultative and other treaty forms, which work in conjunc-
tion to manage against severity, and to a certain extent, fre-
quency. For 2014, Chaucer increased its net retentions for
certain lines and classes predominantly through various
co-participation levels within certain treaty layers. For
2015, Chaucer’s net retentions are either consistent with
the 2014 levels or lower.

The Chaucer programs described below are substantial-
ly in place as of February 1, 2015 and we expect to imple-
ment throughout the year any remaining parts of the
program as described; however, there can be no assurances
that we will be successful in placing reinsurance for each
line as planned. The following discussion summarizes both
our 2014 and 2015 reinsurance programs for the Chaucer
segment, but does not purport to be a complete description
of the program or the various restrictions or limitations
which may apply. The limit figures below are presented net
of treaty co-participation.

We purchase proportional and non-proportional rein-
surance which is intended to provide sufficient underwrit-
ing capacity to effectively conduct business in the Lloyd’s
market and to protect against frequency and severity of
losses.

For the property lines reinsurance coverage in 2014 and
2015:
• The direct property catastrophe occurrence reinsurance

for selected international territories provides coverage
up to approximately $37 million and $38 million, less
retentions of approximately $8 million for both years.

• The assumed property catastrophe reinsurance for
selected international territories provides coverage up to
approximately $115 million and $104 million, less reten-
tions of approximately $24 million and $19 million,
respectively. Additionally, the assumed property catastro-
phe occurrence reinsurance for the United States and
the Caribbean provides coverage up to approximately
$133 million and $110 million, less retentions of approx-
imately $30 million and $25 million, respectively. For 
the 2014 and 2015 reinsurance programs, our assumed
property catastrophe coverage is placed partially on an
occurrence, and partially on an aggregate basis.
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• The direct property per risk excess of loss reinsurance
provides coverage up to approximately $10 million for
both years, less retentions of approximately $3 million
for both years.

The majority of the casualty direct and facultative port-
folio has reinsurance coverage in 2014 and 2015 of
approximately $30 million, less a retention of approximate-
ly $2 million. A stop loss contract was purchased in 2014,
and is expected to renew in 2015, protecting the US casu-
alty treaty portfolio, and providing cover up to a loss ratio
of 115%.

For the energy, marine and aviation lines reinsurance
coverage in 2014 and 2015:
• The nuclear energy lines occurrence reinsurance pro-

vides coverage up to approximately $165 million and
$174 million, less retentions of approximately $55 mil-
lion for both years.

• The non-nuclear energy lines occurrence reinsurance
provides coverage up to approximately $154 million and
$140 million, respectively, less retentions of approxi-
mately $20 million for both years.

• The marine lines excess of loss reinsurance provides
coverage, on a per occurrence basis, up to approximate-
ly $70 million and $101 million, respectively, less reten-
tions of approximately $5 million for both years.

• The aviation lines reinsurance provides coverage, on a
per occurrence basis, up to approximately $52 million
and $48 million, respectively, less retentions of approx-
imately $3 million for both years.

The U.K. motor line has protection from a reinsurance
program placed on a losses occurring basis, which is
unlimited in excess of $1.6 million, both in terms of the
amount and the number of losses sustained. For 2013,
2014 and 2015, there is co-participation on the $1.6 mil-
lion in excess of $1.6 million layer of 30%, 15% and 9.5%
for each year, respectively.

For Chaucer’s 2014 U.S. casualty treaty lines, we have
entered into a whole account aggregate excess of loss rein-
surance contract. The reinsurance contract covers the
U.S. casualty treaty lines exposures, except workers’ com-
pensation clash, and provides coverage up to a 115% loss
ratio less retention of a 45% loss ratio.

Chaucer had a capital provision reinsurance treaty with
Flagstone Re to provide additional gross underwriting
capacity to Syndicate 1084 for the years 2009 through 2012.
The treaty was commuted in 2014, therefore, increasing
Chaucer’s economic interest in Syndicate 1084 by 8.0%,
11.6%, 12.0% and 12.0% for those years, respectively.

Reinsurance Recoverables
Other than our investment portfolio, the single largest
asset class is our reinsurance receivables, which consist of
our estimate of amounts recoverable from reinsurers with
respect to losses incurred to date (including losses
incurred but not reported) and unearned premiums, net of
amounts estimated to be uncollectible. This estimate
depends upon a number of factors, including an estimate
of the amount of reserves attributable to business written
in various lines and in various years. This estimate is
expected to be revised at each reporting period and such
revisions, which could be material, affect our results of
operations and financial position. Reinsurance recover-
ables include amounts due from both United States and
state mandatory reinsurance or other risk sharing mecha-
nisms, and private reinsurers to whom we have voluntarily
ceded business.

We are subject to concentration of risk with respect to
reinsurance ceded to various mandatory residual markets,
facilities and pooling mechanisms. As a condition to con-
duct business in various states, we are required to partici-
pate in residual market mechanisms, facilities and pooling
arrangements which usually are designed to provide insur-
ance coverages to individuals or other entities that are oth-
erwise unable to purchase such coverage voluntarily or at
rates deemed reasonable. These market mechanisms, facil-
ities and pooling arrangements comprise $917.2 million of
our total reinsurance recoverables on paid and unpaid loss-
es and unearned premiums at December 31, 2014 and
include, among others, the Michigan Catastrophic Claims
Association (“MCCA”).

The MCCA is a mandatory reinsurance association
which reinsures claims under Michigan’s unlimited per-
sonal injury protection coverage which is required under
all Michigan automobile insurance policies. The MCCA
reinsures all such claims in excess of a statutorily estab-
lished company retention, currently $530,000. Funding
for MCCA comes from assessments against automobile
insurers based upon their share of insured automobiles in
the state. Insurers are allowed to pass along this cost to
Michigan automobile policyholders. This recoverable
accounted for 64% and 61% of our total personal automo-
bile gross reserves at December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. Reinsurance recoverables related to MCCA
were $899.5 million and $867.0 million at December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively. Because the MCCA is sup-
ported by assessments permitted by statute, and there have
been no significant uncollectible balances from MCCA
identified during the three years ending December 31,
2014, we believe that we have no significant exposure to
uncollectible reinsurance balances from this entity.

In addition to the reinsurance ceded to various residual
market mechanisms, facilities and pooling arrangements
we have $1,351.0 million of reinsurance assets due from
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traditional reinsurers as of December 31, 2014. These
amounts are due principally from highly-rated reinsurers,
defined as rated A- or higher by A.M. Best Rating Agency
or other equivalent rating. The following table displays bal-
ances recoverable from our ten largest reinsurance groups
at December 31, 2014, along with the group’s rating from
the indicated rating agency. The contractual obligations
under reinsurance agreements are typically with individual
subsidiaries of the group or syndicates at Lloyd’s and are
not typically guaranteed by other group members or syndi-
cates at Lloyd’s. Reinsurance recoverables are comprised
of paid losses recoverable, outstanding losses recoverable,
incurred but not reported losses recoverable, and ceded
unearned premium.

(in millions)
A.M. Best Reinsurance

Reinsurers Rating Recoverable

Lloyd’s Syndicates A $ 280.9
Munich Reinsurance Companies A+ 148.1
HDI Group A 123.4
Alleghany Corporation A 89.9
Partner Re Ltd. Companies A+ 85.6
XL Group PLC A 59.6
Swiss Re Ltd. A+ 50.2
Toa Reinsurance Company Ltd. A+ 44.6
Aspen Insurance Holdings Ltd. A 34.3
Berkshire Hathaway Inc. A+ 29.4

Subtotal 946.0
All other reinsurers 405.0
Residual markets, facilities and 

pooling arrangements 917.2

Total $2,268.2

Reinsurance recoverable balances in the table above are
shown before consideration of balances owed to reinsurers
and any potential rights of offset, including collateral held
by us and, are net of an allowance for uncollectible recov-
erables. Reinsurance treaties are generally purchased on
an annual basis. Treaties typically contain provisions that
allow us to demand that a reinsurer post letters of credit or
assets as security if a reinsurer is an unauthorized reinsur-
er under applicable regulations or if its rating falls below a
predetermined contractual level. In regards to reinsurance
recoverables due from Lloyd’s Syndicates, as part of the
Lloyd’s “chain of security” afforded to all of its policyhold-
ers, recourse is available to the Lloyd’s Central Fund in the
event of the failure of an individual syndicate and its capi-
tal providers.

Although reinsurance makes the reinsurer liable to us to
the extent the risk is transferred or ceded to the reinsurer,
ceded reinsurance arrangements do not eliminate our obli-
gation to pay claims to our policyholders. Accordingly, we
bear credit risk with respect to our reinsurers. Specifically,
our reinsurers may not pay claims made by us on a timely

basis, or they may not pay some or all of these claims. In
addition, from time to time insurers and reinsurers may
disagree on the scope of the reinsurance or on the under-
lying insured risks. Any of these events would increase our
costs and could have a material adverse effect on our
 business.

We have established a reserve for uncollectible reinsur-
ance of $15.9 million as of December 31, 2014, which was
determined by considering reinsurer specific default risk
on paid and unpaid recoverables as indicated by their
financial strength ratings, any current risk of dispute on
paid recoverables, our collection experience and the devel-
opment of our ceded loss reserves. There have been no sig-
nificant balances determined to be uncollectible and thus
no significant charges recorded during 2014 for uncol-
lectible reinsurance recoverables.

Our exposure to credit risk from any one reinsurer is
managed through diversification by reinsuring with a num-
ber of different reinsurers, principally in the United States
and European reinsurance markets. When reinsurance for
our Commercial and Personal Lines segments is placed,
our standards of acceptability generally require that a rein-
surer must have a minimum policyholder surplus of $500
million, a rating from A.M. Best and/or S&P of “A” or bet-
ter, or an equivalent financial strength if not rated.
Similarly, the Chaucer segment generally requires all rein-
surers to have a rating from S&P of “A-” or better and min-
imum level of net assets of $500 million. In addition, for
lower rated reinsurers, certain reinsurers for our United
States insurance operations that have not been granted
authorized status by an insurance company’s state of domi-
cile, and in certain other circumstances deemed appropri-
ate by Chaucer’s security committee, reinsurers must
generally provide collateral equal to 100% of estimated
reinsurance recoverables. The collateral can serve to miti-
gate credit risk.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Discontinued operations primarily include our former life
insurance businesses, which were sold prior to 2009, and
our discontinued accident and health business.

Our former life insurance businesses include indemnity
obligations for which we have established reserves.

The discontinued accident and health business includes
interests in 25 accident and health reinsurance pools and
arrangements that we retained subsequent to the sale of
First Allmerica Financial Life Insurance Company
(“FAFLIC”); all of which were assumed by Hanover
Insurance. We ceased writing new premiums in this busi-
ness in 1999, subject to certain contractual obligations.
The reinsurance pool business consists primarily of the
medical and disability portions of workers’ compensation
risks, long-term care, assumed personal accident, individ-
ual medical, long-term disability, and special risk business.
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This business includes residual health insurance policies.
Total claim reserves for the assumed accident and health
business were $113.6 million at December 31, 2014. The
total amount recoverable from third party reinsurers was
$1.2 million at December 31, 2014. Total net reserves
were $112.4 million at December 31, 2014. We will con-
tinue to account for this business as discontinued opera-
tions. Assets and liabilities related to the discontinued
accident and health business are reflected as assets and
liabilities of discontinued operations.

Loss estimates associated with substantially all of the
discontinued accident and health business are provided by
managers of each pool. We adopt reserve estimates for this
business that consider this information, expected returns
on assets assigned to this business and other facts. We
update these reserves as new information becomes avail-
able and further events occur that may affect the ultimate
resolution of unsettled claims. We believe that the reserves
recorded related to this business are adequate. However,
since reserve and loss cost estimates related to the discon-
tinued accident and health business are dependent on sev-
eral assumptions, including, but not limited to, future
health care costs, persistency of medical care inflation,
investment performance, claims, particularly in the long-
term care business, morbidity and mortality assumptions,
and these assumptions can be impacted by technical devel-
opments and advancements in the medical field and other
factors, there can be no assurance that the reserves estab-
lished for this business will prove sufficient. Revisions to
these reserves could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations for a particular quarterly or annual
period or on our financial position.

Discontinued operations, in total, generated a net loss
of $0.3 million during 2014 and primarily related to our
former life insurance businesses. Reference is made to
“Discontinued Operations” in Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations of this Form 10-K.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

We held $8.6 billion of investment assets, including cash
and cash equivalents, at December 31, 2014. Approximately
86% of our investment assets were comprised of fixed
maturities, which included both investment grade and
below investment grade public and private debt securities;
7% consisted of equity securities; 4% were comprised of
cash and cash equivalents; and the remaining 3% included
overseas deposits and other investments. These invest-
ments are generally of high quality and our fixed maturities
are broadly diversified across sectors of the fixed income
market.

Opus manages our investment portfolio, including the
selection and monitoring of external asset managers for
our non-U.S. dollar portfolios. Our overall investment
strategy is intended to balance investment income with
credit and interest rate risk, while maintaining sufficient
liquidity and the opportunity for capital growth. The asset
allocation process takes into consideration the types of
business written and the level of surplus required to sup-
port our different businesses and the risk return profiles of
the underlying asset classes. We look to balance the goals
of capital preservation, net investment income stability, liq-
uidity and total return. For certain portfolios in which fixed
maturities are denominated in U.K. pound sterling and
Euro, we employ two external asset managers with interna-
tional market expertise to manage these portfolios. Assets
managed by these asset managers totaled approximately
$715 million at December 31, 2014. We select and moni-
tor managers based on investment style, performance and
corporate governance.

The majority of our assets are invested in the fixed
income markets. Through fundamental research and cred-
it analysis, with a focus on value investing, we seek to iden-
tify a portfolio of stable income-producing higher quality
U.S. government, foreign government, municipal, corpo-
rate, residential and commercial mortgage-backed securi-
ties and asset-backed securities. We have a general policy
of diversifying investments both within and across major
investment and industry sectors to mitigate credit and
interest rate risk. We monitor the credit quality of our
investments and our exposure to individual markets, bor-
rowers, industries, sectors and, in the case of direct com-
mercial mortgages and commercial mortgage-backed
securities, property types and geographic locations.

Investments held by our insurance subsidiaries are sub-
ject to diversification requirements under state insurance
laws and other regulatory requirements. The investment
portfolio duration is approximately 4.2 years and is gener-
ally maintained in the range of 1 to 2 times the duration of
our insurance liabilities. We seek to maintain sufficient liq-
uidity to support our cash flow requirements by monitor-
ing the cash requirements associated with our insurance
and corporate liabilities, laddering the maturities within
the portfolio, closely monitoring our investment durations,
holding high quality liquid public securities and managing
the purchases and sales of assets.

Reference is made to “Investments” in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of the Financial Condition and
Results of Operations of this Form 10-K.

RATING AGENCIES

Insurance companies are rated by rating agencies to pro-
vide both industry participants and insurance consumers
information on specific insurance companies. Higher rat-
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ings generally indicate the rating agencies’ opinion regard-
ing financial stability and a stronger ability to pay claims.

We believe that strong ratings are important factors in
marketing our products to our agents and customers, since
rating information is broadly disseminated and generally
used throughout the industry. We believe that a rating of
“A-” or higher from A.M. Best Co. is particularly important
for our business. Insurance company financial strength
ratings are assigned to an insurer based upon factors
deemed by the rating agencies to be relevant to policyhold-
ers and are not directed toward protection of investors.
Such ratings are neither a rating of securities nor a recom-
mendation to buy, hold or sell any security.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2014, we have approximately 5,100
employees, with approximately 4,300 located in the United
States, and 800 internationally, almost all of whom are
located in the United Kingdom. We believe our relations
with employees are good.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Reference is made to “Directors and Executive Officers of
the Registrant” in Part III - Item 10 of this Form 10-K.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We file our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q, periodic information on Form 8-K, our
proxy statement, and other required information with the
Securities Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Shareholders
may read and copy any materials on file with the SEC at
the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE,
Washington, DC 20549. Shareholders may obtain infor-
mation on the operation of the Public Reference Room by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC
maintains an Internet website, http://www.sec.gov, which
contains reports, proxy and information statements and
other information with respect to our filings.

Our website address is http://www.hanover.com. We
make available free of charge on or through our website,
our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form
10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as soon
as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Additionally, our
Code of Conduct is available, free of charge, on our web-
site. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines and the char-
ters of our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee,
Committee of Independent Directors and Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee, are available on our
website. All documents are also available in print to any
shareholder who requests them.

Item 1A — Risk Factors

RISK FACTORS AND FORWARD LOOKING
STATEMENTS

We wish to caution readers that the following important fac-
tors, among others, in some cases have affected, and in the
future could affect, our actual results and could cause our
actual results to differ materially from historical results and
from those expressed in any forward-looking statements
made from time to time by us on the basis of our then-cur-
rent expectations. When used in this Form 10-K, the words
“believes”, “anticipates”, “expects”, “projections”, “outlook”,
“should”, “could”, “plan”, “guidance”, “likely”, “on track to”,
“targeted” and similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements. Our businesses are in rapidly
changing and competitive markets and involve a high degree
of risk and unpredictability. Forward-looking projections are
subject to these risks and unpredictability.

Our results may fluctuate as a result of cyclical or non-
cyclical changes in the property and casualty insurance
industry.

The property and casualty insurance industry historical-
ly has been subject to significant fluctuations and uncer-
tainties. Our profitability is affected significantly by the
following items:
• increases in costs, particularly increases occurring after

the time our insurance products are priced including
construction, automobile repair, and medical and reha-
bilitation costs. This includes “cost shifting” from
health insurers to casualty and liability insurers
(whether as a result of an increasing number of injured
parties without health insurance, coverage changes in
health policies to make such coverage secondary to
casualty policies, the implementation of national
healthcare legislation, lower reimbursement rates for
the same procedure by health insurers or government-
sponsored insurance, or the implementation of the
Medicare Secondary Payer Act, which imposes report-
ing and other requirements with respect to medical and
related claims paid for Medicare eligible individuals). As
it relates to construction, there are often temporary
increases in the cost of building supplies and construc-
tion labor after a significant event (for example, so
called “demand surge” that causes the cost of labor,
construction materials and other items to increase in a
geographic area affected by a catastrophe). In addition,
we are limited in our ability to negotiate and manage
reimbursable expenses incurred by our policyholders;

• competitive and regulatory pressures, which affect the
prices of our products and the nature of the risks
 covered;
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• volatile and unpredictable developments, including
severe weather, catastrophes and terrorist actions;

• legal, regulatory and socio-economic developments,
such as new theories of insured and insurer liability and
related claims and extra-contractual awards such as
punitive damages, and increases in the size of jury
awards or changes in applicable laws and regulations
(such as changes in the thresholds affecting “no fault”
liability or when non-economic damages are recoverable
for bodily injury claims or coverage requirements);

• fluctuations in interest rates, inflationary pressures,
default rates and other factors that affect investment
returns; and

• other general economic conditions and trends that may
affect the adequacy of reserves.

The demand for property and casualty insurance can
also vary significantly based on general economic condi-
tions (either nationally or regionally and, with respect to
our Chaucer segment, internationally), rising as the over-
all level of economic activity increases and falling as such
activity decreases. Loss patterns also tend to vary inversely
with local economic conditions, increasing during difficult
economic times and moderating during economic
upswings or periods of stability. The fluctuations in
demand and competition could produce unpredictable
underwriting results.

Actual losses from claims against our property and casualty
insurance subsidiaries may exceed their reserves for claims.

Our property and casualty insurance subsidiaries main-
tain reserves to cover their estimated ultimate liability for
losses and loss adjustment expenses with respect to report-
ed and unreported claims incurred as of the end of each
accounting period. Reserves do not represent an exact cal-
culation of liability. Rather, reserves represent estimates,
involving actuarial projections and judgments at a given
time, of what we expect the ultimate settlement and
administration of incurred claims will cost based on facts
and circumstances then known, predictions of future
events, estimates of future trends in claims frequency and
severity and judicial theories of liability, costs of repair and
replacement, legislative activity and myriad other factors.

The inherent uncertainties of estimating reserves are
greater for certain types of property and casualty insurance
lines. These include automobile bodily injury, personal
automobile personal injury protection, and workers’ com-
pensation, where a longer period of time may elapse before
a definitive determination of ultimate liability may be
made, environmental liability, where the technological,
judicial and political climates involving these types of
claims are continuously evolving, and casualty coverages
such as professional liability. There is also greater uncer-

tainty in establishing reserves with respect to new busi-
ness, particularly new business that is generated with
respect to newly introduced product lines, such as our pro-
fessional liability and healthcare lines, by newly appointed
agents or in geographies where we have less experience in
conducting business. In these cases, there is less historical
experience or knowledge and less data upon which the
actuaries can rely. Estimating reserves is further complicat-
ed by unexpected claims or unintended coverage that
emerge due to changing conditions. These emerging issues
may increase the size or number of claims beyond our
underwriting intent and may not become apparent for
many years after a contract is issued.

Additionally, the introduction of new Commercial Lines
products, including through several acquired subsidiaries,
the development of new niche and specialty lines and the
introduction of new lines of business at Chaucer, present
new risks. Certain new specialty products, such as the
human services program, non-profit directors and officers
liability and employment practices liability policies,
lawyers and other professional liability policies, healthcare
lines and private company directors and officers coverage
may also require a longer period of time (the so-called
“tail”) to determine the ultimate liability associated with
the claims and may produce more volatility in our results
and less certainty in our accident year reserves. Some lines
of business, such as commercial surety, are less susceptible
to establishing reserves based on actuarial or historical
experience and losses may be episodic, depending on eco-
nomic and other factors.

We regularly review our reserving techniques, reinsur-
ance and the overall adequacy of our reserves based upon,
among other things:
• our review of historical data, legislative enactments,

judicial decisions, legal developments in imposition of
damages, changes in political attitudes and trends in
general economic conditions;

• our review of per claim information;

• historical loss experience of our property and casualty
insurance subsidiaries and the industry as a whole; and

• the terms of our property and casualty insurance policies.

Underwriting results and operating income could be
adversely affected by further changes in our net loss and
LAE estimates related to significant events or emerging
risks, such as risks related to breaches of computer net-
work systems (“cyber-risks”), privacy regulations or disrup-
tions caused by solar flares.

Estimating losses following any major catastrophe or
with respect to emerging claims is an inherently uncertain
process. Factors that add to the complexity in these events
include the legal and regulatory uncertainty, the complexi-
ty of factors contributing to the losses, delays in claim
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reporting and with respect to areas with significant proper-
ty damage, the impact of “demand surge” and a slower
pace of recovery resulting from the extent of damage sus-
tained in the affected areas due, in part, to the availability
and cost of resources to effect repairs. Emerging claims
issues may involve complex coverage, liability and other
costs which could significantly affect LAE. As a result,
there can be no assurance that our ultimate costs associat-
ed with these events or issues will not be substantially dif-
ferent from current estimates (for example, actual losses
arising from an event like Superstorm Sandy may vary
widely depending on the interpretation of various policy
provisions). Investors should consider the risks and uncer-
tainties in our business that may affect net loss and LAE
reserve estimates and future performance, including the
difficulties in arriving at such estimates.

Anticipated losses associated with business interruption
exposure, the impact of wind versus water as the cause of
loss, supplemental payments on previously closed claims
caused by the development of latent damages or new the-
ories of liability and inflationary pressures could also have
a negative impact on future loss reserve development.

Because of the inherent uncertainties involved in set-
ting reserves and establishing current and prior-year “loss
picks”, including those related to catastrophes, we cannot
provide assurance that the existing reserves or future
reserves established by our property and casualty insurance
subsidiaries will prove adequate in light of subsequent
events. Our results of operations and financial condition
could therefore be materially affected by adverse loss
development for events that we insured in prior periods.

Due to geographical concentration in our U.S. property
and casualty business, changes in economic, regulatory
and other conditions in the regions where we operate could
have a significant negative impact on our business as a
whole. Geographic concentrations also expose us to losses
that are potentially disproportionate to our market share in
the event of natural or other catastrophes.

We generate a significant portion of our U.S. property
and casualty insurance net premiums written and earnings
in Michigan, Massachusetts and other states in the
Northeast, including New Jersey and New York. For the
year ended December 31, 2014, approximately 20% and
10% of our net premiums written in our U.S. property and
casualty business were generated in the states of Michigan
and Massachusetts, respectively. Many states in which we
do business impose significant rate control and residual
market charges, and restrict an insurer’s ability to exit such
markets. The revenues and profitability of our property and
casualty insurance subsidiaries are subject to prevailing
economic, regulatory, demographic and other conditions,
including adverse weather in Michigan and the Northeast.

Because of our geographic concentration in certain
regions, our business as a whole could be significantly
affected by changes in the economic, regulatory and other
conditions in such areas.

Further, certain new catastrophe models assume an
increase in frequency and severity of certain weather
events, whether as a result of potential global climate
change or otherwise. Financial strength rating agencies are
placing increased emphasis on capital and reinsurance
adequacy for insurers with certain geographic concentra-
tions of risk which may be subject to disproportionate risk
of loss. These factors also may result in insurers seeking to
diversify their geographic exposure, which could result in
increased regulatory restrictions in those markets where
insurers seek to exit or reduce coverage, as well as an
increase in competitive pressures in less weather-exposed
markets.

Our profitability may be adversely affected if our pricing
models differ materially from actual results.

The profitability of our business depends on the extent
to which our actual claims experience is consistent with
the assumptions we use in pricing our policies. We price
our business in a manner that is intended to be consistent,
over time, with actual results and return objectives. Our
estimates and models, and/or the assumptions behind
them, may differ materially from actual results.

If we fail to appropriately price the risks we insure, or
fail to change our pricing model to appropriately reflect
our current experience, or if our claims experience is more
frequent or severe than our underlying risk assumptions,
our profit margins may be negatively affected. If we under-
estimate the frequency and/or severity of extreme adverse
events occurring, our financial condition may be adversely
affected. If we overestimate the risks we are exposed to, we
may overprice our products, and new business growth and
retention of our existing business may be adversely
 affected.

Limitations on the ability to predict the potential impact of
weather events and catastrophes may impact our future
profits and cash flows.

Our business is subject to claims arising out of catastro-
phes that may have a significant impact on our results of
operations and financial condition. We may experience
catastrophe losses that could have a material adverse
impact on our business. Catastrophes can be caused by
various events, including hurricanes, floods, earthquakes,
tornadoes, wind, hail, fires, drought, severe winter weath-
er, volcanic eruptions, tropical storms, tsunamis, sabotage,
terrorist actions, explosions, nuclear accidents, solar flares,
and power outages. The frequency and severity of catastro-
phes are inherently unpredictable.
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The extent of gross losses from a catastrophe is a func-
tion of the total amount of insured exposure in the area
affected by the event and the severity of the event. The
extent of net losses depends on the amount and collectabil-
ity of reinsurance.

Additionally, the severity of certain catastrophes could
be so significant that it impacts the ability of certain loca-
tions to recover their economic viability in the near term,
which could also have a significant negative impact on our
business.

Although catastrophes can cause losses in a variety of
property and casualty lines, homeowners and commercial
multiple peril property insurance have, in the past, gener-
ated the vast majority of our catastrophe-related claims.
Our catastrophe losses have historically been principally
weather-related, particularly from hurricanes, as well as
snow and ice damage from winter storms. However,
Chaucer’s international operations subject us to greater
diversity in the types and geographic distribution of poten-
tial catastrophe losses. For example, Chaucer incurred
catastrophe losses in 2014 from snowstorms in Japan, a
hurricane in Mexico and tornado and hail storms in the
U.S., in 2013 from floods in Europe and hurricanes in
Mexico, and in 2012 from both Superstorm Sandy and
drought conditions in the U.S., as well as from an earth-
quake in Italy.

Although the insurance industry and rating agencies
have developed various models intended to help estimate
potential insured losses under thousands of scenarios,
there is no reliable way of predicting the probability of
such events or the magnitude of such losses before a spe-
cific event occurs. We utilize various models and other
techniques in an attempt to measure and manage potential
catastrophe losses within various income and capital risk
appetites. However, such models and techniques have
many limitations. In addition, due to historical concentra-
tions of business, regulatory restrictions and other factors,
our ability to manage such concentrations is limited, par-
ticularly in the Northeast and in the state of Michigan.

We purchase catastrophe reinsurance as protection
against catastrophe losses. Based upon an ongoing review
of our reinsurers’ financial statements, financial strength
ratings assigned to them by rating agencies, their reputa-
tions in the reinsurance marketplace, our collections histo-
ry with them and the analysis and guidance of our
reinsurance advisors, we believe that the financial condi-
tion of our reinsurers is sound. However, reinsurance is
subject to counterparty risks, including those resulting
from over-concentration of exposures within the industry.
In setting our retention levels and coverage limits, we also
consider our level of statutory surplus and exposures, as

well as the current reinsurance pricing environment. There
can be no assurance that our reinsurance program will pro-
vide adequate coverage levels should we experience losses
from one significant or several large catastrophes.

Our business is dependent on our ability to manage risk,
and the failure of the risk mitigation strategies we utilize
could have a material adverse effect on our financial con-
dition or results of operations.

Our business performance is highly dependent on our
ability to manage operational risks that arise from a large
number of day-to-day business activities, including insur-
ance underwriting, claims processing, servicing, invest-
ment, financial and tax reporting, compliance with
regulatory requirements and other activities. We utilize a
number of strategies to mitigate our insurance risk expo-
sure, including: engaging in thorough underwriting, utiliz-
ing limits, deductibles and exclusions to mitigate policy
risk, reviewing the terms and conditions of our policies,
focusing on our risk aggregation by product line, geogra-
phy, industry type, credit exposure and other bases, and
ceding insurance risk. We seek to monitor and control our
exposure to risks arising out of these activities through an
enterprise-wide risk management framework. However,
there are inherent limitations in all of these tactics, and no
assurance can be given that these processes and proce-
dures will effectively control all known risks or effectively
identify unforeseen risks or that an event or series of
events will not result in loss levels in excess of our proba-
ble maximum loss models, which could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition or results of oper-
ations. It is also possible that losses could manifest them-
selves in ways that we do not anticipate and that our risk
mitigation strategies are not designed to address. Such a
manifestation of losses could have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition or results of operations. These
risks may be heightened during challenging economic con-
ditions such as those recently experienced in the U.S. and
elsewhere.

We cannot guarantee the adequacy of or ability to main-
tain our current level of reinsurance coverage.

Similar to insurance companies, reinsurance companies
can also be adversely impacted when catastrophes occur.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain
our current levels of reinsurance coverage. In particular,
and as discussed under “Reinsurance Program Overview”
of this Form 10-K, not all of our 2015 reinsurance pro-
grams for the Commercial and Personal Lines and
Chaucer business are fully placed. Future catastrophic
events and other changes in the reinsurance marketplace,
including as a result of investment losses or disruptions
due to challenges in the financial markets that have
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occurred or could occur in the future, may adversely affect
our ability to obtain such coverages, as well as adversely
affect the cost of obtaining that coverage.

Additionally, the availability, scope of coverage, cost,
and creditworthiness of reinsurance could continue to be
adversely affected as a result of not only new catastrophes,
but also terrorist attacks and the perceived risks associated
with future terrorist activities, global conflicts, and the
changing legal and regulatory environment (including
changes which could create new insured risks). Federal
reinsurance for terrorism risks coverage offered by insurers
is available under TRIPRA, but it only applies to certified
events of terrorism (as defined in TRIPRA) and contains
certain caps and deductibles. Although TRIPRA coverage
is in effect through December 31, 2020, should this pro-
gram not be renewed or should it be modified unfavorably
by the government in the future, private reinsurance for
events of terrorism may not be available to us or available
at reasonable or acceptable rates.

Although we monitor their financial soundness, we cannot
be sure that our reinsurers will pay in a timely fashion, if
at all.

We purchase reinsurance by transferring part of the risk
that we have assumed (known as ceding) to reinsurance
companies in exchange for part of the premium we receive
in connection with the risk. As of December 31, 2014, our
reinsurance receivable (including from the MCCA)
amounted to approximately $2.3 billion. Although reinsur-
ance makes the reinsurer liable to us to the extent the risk
is transferred or ceded to the reinsurer, it does not relieve
us (the reinsured) of our liability to our policyholders or, in
cases where we are a reinsurer, to our reinsureds.
Accordingly, we bear counterparty risk with respect to our
reinsurers. Although we monitor the credit quality of our
reinsurers, we cannot be sure that they will pay the rein-
surance recoverables owed to us currently or in the future
or that they will pay such recoverables on a timely basis.

Climate change may adversely impact our results of
 operations.

There are concerns that the higher level of weather-
related catastrophes and other losses incurred by the
industry in prior years is indicative of changing weather
patterns, whether as a result of changing climate (“global
climate change”) or otherwise, which could cause such
events to persist. This would lead to higher overall losses
which we may not be able to recoup, particularly in the
current economic and competitive environment, and high-
er reinsurance costs. As noted above, certain catastrophe
models assume an increase in frequency and severity of
certain weather events which could result in a dispropor-
tionate impact on insurers with certain geographic concen-

trations of risk. This would also likely increase the risks of
writing property insurance in coastal areas, particularly in
jurisdictions which restrict pricing and underwriting
 flexibility.

In addition, global climate change could have an impact
on assets in which we invest, resulting in realized and
unrealized losses in future periods which could have a
material adverse impact on our results of operations and/or
financial position. It is not possible to foresee which, if any,
assets, industries or markets will be materially and adverse-
ly affected, nor is it possible to foresee the magnitude of
such effect.

We may incur financial losses resulting from our partici-
pation in shared market mechanisms, mandatory reinsur-
ance programs and mandatory and voluntary pooling
arrangements.

In most of the U.S. jurisdictions in which we operate,
our property and casualty insurance subsidiaries are
required to participate in mandatory property and casualty
shared market mechanisms, government-sponsored rein-
surance programs or pooling arrangements. These arrange-
ments are designed to provide various insurance coverages
to individuals or other entities that otherwise are unable to
purchase such coverage or to support the costs of unin-
sured motorist claims in a particular state or region. We
cannot predict whether our participation in these shared
market mechanisms or pooling arrangements will provide
underwriting profits or losses to us. For the year ended
December 31, 2014, we experienced an underwriting loss
of $15.1 million from participation in these mechanisms
and pooling arrangements, compared to underwriting loss-
es of $14.5 million and $15.3 million in 2013 and 2012,
respectively. We may face similar or even more dramatic
earnings fluctuations in the future.

Additionally, increases in the number of participants or
insureds in state-sponsored reinsurance pools, FAIR Plans
or other residual market mechanisms, particularly in the
states of Louisiana, Massachusetts and Florida, combined
with regulatory restrictions on the ability to adequately
price, underwrite, or non-renew business, as well as new
legislation, or changes in existing case law, could expose us
to significant exposures and risks of increased assessments
from these residual market mechanisms. There could also
be significant adverse impact as a result of losses incurred
in those states due to hurricane exposure, as well as the
declining number of carriers providing coverage in those
regions. We are unable to predict the likelihood or impact
of such potential assessments or other actions.

We also have credit risk associated with certain manda-
tory reinsurance programs such as the MCCA. The MCCA
was created to fund Michigan’s unique unlimited personal
injury protection benefit. As of December 31, 2014, our
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estimated reinsurance recoverable from the MCCA was
$899.5 million. In most years, the MCCA operates with a
deficit which may fluctuate significantly based on invest-
ment returns, discount rates, incurred claims, annual
assessments and other factors.

In addition, we may be adversely affected by liabilities
resulting from our previous participation in certain volun-
tary property and casualty assumed reinsurance pools. We
have terminated participation in virtually all property and
casualty voluntary pools, but remain subject to claims
related to periods in which we participated. The property
and casualty assumed reinsurance businesses have suf-
fered substantial losses during the past several years, par-
ticularly related to environmental and asbestos exposure
for property and casualty coverages, in some cases result-
ing from incidents alleged to have occurred decades ago.
Due to the inherent volatility in these businesses, possible
issues related to the enforceability of reinsurance treaties
in the industry and the recent history of increased losses,
we cannot provide assurance that our current reserves are
adequate or that we will not incur losses in the future.
Although we have discontinued participation in these rein-
surance pools, we are subject to claims related to prior
years or from pools we could not exit entirely. Our operat-
ing results and financial position may be adversely affect-
ed by liabilities resulting from any such claims in excess of
our loss estimates. As of December 31, 2014, our reserves
for these pools totaled $36.3 million.

Our businesses are heavily regulated and changes in regu-
lation may reduce our profitability.

Our U.S. insurance businesses are subject to supervi-
sion and regulation by the state insurance authority in
each state in which we transact business. This system of
supervision and regulation relates to numerous aspects of
an insurance company’s business and financial condition,
including limitations on the authorization of lines of busi-
ness, underwriting limitations, the ability to utilize credit-
based insurance scores in underwriting, the ability to
terminate agents, supervisory and liability responsibilities
for agents, the setting of premium rates, the requirement
to write certain classes of business which we might other-
wise avoid or charge different premium rates, restrictions
on the ability to withdraw from certain lines of business,
the establishment of standards of solvency, the licensing of
insurers and agents, compensation of agents, concentra-
tion of investments, levels of reserves, the payment of div-
idends, transactions with affiliates, changes of control,
protection of private information of our agents, policyhold-
ers, claimants and others (which may include highly sensi-
tive financial or medical information or other private
information such as social security numbers, driving
records, drivers license numbers, etc.) and the approval of

policy forms. From time to time, various states and
Congress have proposed to prohibit or otherwise restrict
the use of credit-based insurance scores in underwriting or
rating our Personal Lines business. The elimination of the
use of credit-based insurance scores could cause signifi-
cant disruption to our business and our confidence in our
pricing and underwriting. Most insurance regulations are
designed to protect the interests of policyholders rather
than stockholders and other investors.

Legislative and regulatory restrictions are constantly
evolving and are subject to then current political pressures.
For example, following Superstorm Sandy, the states of
New Jersey and New York were considering proposals such
as homeowners’ “Bill of Rights”, restrictions on storm
deductibles and additional mandatory claim handling
guidelines. Such actions also occur at the federal level,
such as the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development’s proposal that may increase the legal risk of
providing homeowners and commercial residential proper-
ty insurance by imposing liability for discrimination on the
basis of a disparate-impact theory even without any evi-
dence of discriminatory intent. Some states are also con-
sidering mandating owners of firearms to purchase liability
insurance.

In addition, The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act provides for enhanced regulation
for the financial services industry through initiatives
including, but not limited to, the creation of a Federal
Insurance Office and several federal oversight agencies,
the requiring of more transparency, accountability and
focus in protecting investors and businesses, input of
shareholders regarding executive compensation, and
enhanced empowerment of regulators to pursue those who
engage in financial fraud and unethical business practices.
The Securities and Exchange Commission adopted regula-
tions designed to encourage, reward, and protect “whistle-
blowers”, whether or not they first report the potential
infraction to the company for correction or remedial
action.

Also, the federal Medicare, Medicaid and SCHIP
Extension Act mandates reporting and other requirements
applicable to property and casualty insurance companies
which make payments to or on behalf of claimants who are
eligible for Medicare benefits. These requirements have
made bodily injury claim resolutions more difficult, partic-
ularly for complex matters or for injuries requiring treat-
ment over an extended period, and impose significant
penalties for non-compliance and reporting errors. These
requirements also have increased the circumstances under
which the federal government may seek to recover from
insurers amounts paid to claimants in circumstances
where the government had previously paid benefits. In
January 2013, the Strengthening Medicare and Repaying
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Taxpayers Act was signed into law and provided for imple-
mentation over a staggered period of time. We are contin-
uing to monitor the effect of this law on our ability to settle
cases and our exposure to federal recoupment claims.

With respect to our U.S. insurance business, state reg-
ulatory oversight and various proposals at the federal level
may in the future adversely affect our ability to sustain
adequate returns in certain lines of business or in some
cases, operate the line profitably. In recent years, the state
insurance regulatory framework has come under increased
federal scrutiny, and certain state legislatures have consid-
ered or enacted laws that alter and, in many cases, increase
state authority to regulate insurance companies and insur-
ance holding company systems.

Our business could be negatively impacted by adverse
state, federal and foreign legislation or regulation, or judi-
cial developments, including those resulting in:
• decreases in rates;

• limitations on premium levels;

• coverage and benefit mandates;

• limitations on the ability to manage care and utilization
or other claim costs;

• requirements to write certain classes of business or in
certain geographies;

• restrictions on underwriting, on methods of compensat-
ing independent producers, or on our ability to cancel or
renew certain business (which negatively affects our
ability to reduce concentrations of property risks);

• higher liability exposures for our insureds;

• increased assessments or higher premium or other
taxes; and

• enhanced ability to pierce “no fault” thresholds or recover
non-economic damages (such as “pain and suffering”).

These regulations serve to protect the customers and
other third parties who deal with us and are heavily influ-
enced by the then current political environment. If we are
found to have violated an applicable regulation, adminis-
trative or judicial proceedings may be initiated against us
which could result in censures, fines, civil penalties
(including punitive damages), the issuance of cease-and-
desist orders, premium refunds or the reopening of closed
claim files, among other consequences. These actions
could have a material adverse effect on our financial posi-
tion and results of operations.

Congress, as well as state, local and foreign govern-
ments, also consider from time to time legislation that
could increase our tax costs. In 2014, the Organization for
Economic Cooperation and Development published pro-
posals that, if enacted, may impact our income tax provi-
sion. In particular, the proposals reduce the amount of

deduction for interest expense attributable to certain
finance transactions. These provisions are proposed to be
effective January 1, 2017, with no grand-fathering of exist-
ing arrangements beyond this date. If these or other pro-
posals or legislation are enacted, our income tax expense
may increase, with a corresponding decrease to consolidat-
ed net income.

In addition, we are reliant upon independent agents and
brokers to market our products. Changes in regulations
related to insurance agents and brokers that materially
impact the profitability of the agent and broker business or
that restrict the ability of agents and brokers to market and
sell insurance products would have a material adverse
effect on our business.

With respect to our U.K. insurance business, Chaucer’s
regulated subsidiaries are subject to the U.K.’s PRA and
FCA regulations and are subject to limitations and
approval requirements with respect to payments of divi-
dends, return of capital and becoming a borrower, guaran-
tor or provider of security interest on any financial
obligations and other aspects of its operations.

The PRA and FCA have substantial powers of interven-
tion in relation to the Lloyd’s managing agents, such as
Chaucer, which they regulate, including the power to
remove their authorization to manage Lloyd’s syndicates.
In addition, each year the PRA requires Lloyd’s to satisfy
an annual solvency test that measures whether Lloyd’s has
sufficient assets in the aggregate to meet all outstanding
liabilities of its members, both current and run-off. If
Lloyd’s fails this test, the PRA may require Lloyd’s to cease
trading and/or its members to cease or reduce underwrit-
ing. The FCA focuses on conduct of business issues with a
particular focus on consumer protection and market
integrity. Future regulatory changes or rulings by the PRA
and FCA could interfere with our business strategy or
financial assumptions, possibly resulting in a material
adverse effect on our profitability.

There are a number of regulatory and legal changes that
are aimed at reducing the cost of motor insurance to con-
sumers which will have an impact on Chaucer’s U.K.
Division, including the Legal Aid and Sentencing of
Offenders Act (“LASPO”) of 2012, the Competition
Commission inquiry in the U.K. Private Motor Insurance
market and the Department for Transport consultation on
whiplash claims. Of these three initiatives only, LASPO is
currently in effect, and the U.K. Division has endeavored
to ensure that compliance with the requirements of the Act
is achieved without commercial disadvantages to the divi-
sion. We do not yet know the impact of the Competition
Commission inquiry in the U.K. Private Motor Insurance
market and the Department for Transport consultation on
whiplash claims on Chaucer’s business operations or the
U.K. insurance industry.
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Additionally, the Lloyd’s worldwide insurance and rein-
surance business is subject to various regulations, laws,
treaties and other applicable policies of the European
Union, as well as each nation, state and locality in which
it operates. Material changes in governmental require-
ments and laws could have an adverse effect on Lloyd’s and
its member companies, including Chaucer.

The E.U. is phasing in a new composite E.U. directive
(known as Solvency II) covering the prudential supervision
of all insurance and reinsurance companies that is being
developed to replace the existing life insurance, non-life
insurance and reinsurance directives that govern the insur-
ance business in the U.K. (among various other obliga-
tions, Solvency II will impose new capital requirements on
Chaucer). The implementation of Solvency II will take
effect on January 1, 2016, with certain transitional meas-
ures. We could be impacted by the implementation of
Solvency II, depending on the costs associated with imple-
mentation by each E.U. country, any increased capital
requirements applicable to us, and any costs associated
with adjustments to our operations. We are also subject to
risks and uncertainties relating to changes to the regulato-
ry framework in the U.K. with further requirements from
the PRA and FCA. New conduct requirements are now
reflected in the Lloyd’s Minimum Standards and the con-
sultation on a new Senior Insurance Manager Regime for
U.K. insurers will hold individuals to account for failures
in authorized firms.

From time to time, we are also involved in investigations
and proceedings by U.S., U.K., state and other governmen-
tal and self-regulatory agencies. We cannot provide assur-
ance that these investigations, proceedings and inquiries
will not result in actions that would adversely affect our
results of operations or financial condition.

As a specialist in Lloyd’s insurance group, Chaucer is
 subject to a number of risks which could materially and
adversely affect us.

As a specialist in Lloyd’s insurance group, Chaucer is
subject to a number of specific risk factors and uncertain-
ties, including without limitation:
• its reliance on insurance and reinsurance brokers and

distribution channels to distribute and market its prod-
ucts (so called “coverholders”);

• its obligations to maintain funds at Lloyd’s to support its
underwriting activities;

• its risk-based capital requirement being assessed period-
ically by Lloyd’s and being subject to variation;

• its reliance on ongoing approvals from Lloyd’s, the PRA
and FCA and other regulators to conduct its business,
including a requirement that its Annual Business Plan
be approved by Lloyd’s before the start of underwriting
for each account year;

• its obligations to contribute to the Lloyd’s Central Fund
and pay levies to Lloyd’s;

• its financial strength rating is derived from the rating
assigned to Lloyd’s, and Chaucer has very limited abili-
ty to directly affect the overall Lloyd’s rating;

• its ongoing ability to utilize Lloyd’s trading licenses in
order to underwrite business outside the United
Kingdom;

• its ongoing exposure to levies and charges in order to
underwrite at Lloyd’s; and

• the requirement to maintain deposits in the United
States for U.S. site risks it underwrites.

Whenever a member of Lloyd’s is unable to pay its pol-
icyholder obligations, such obligations may be payable by
the Lloyd’s Central Fund. If Lloyd’s determines that the
Central Fund needs to be increased, it has the power to
assess premium levies on current Lloyd’s members up to
3% of a member’s underwriting capacity in any one year.
We do not believe that any assessment is likely in the fore-
seeable future and have not provided allowance for such
an assessment. However, based on our 2015 estimated
underwriting capacity at Lloyd’s of £778.0 million, the
December 31, 2014 exchange rate of 1.56 dollars per GBP
and assuming the maximum 3% assessment, we could be
assessed up to approximately $36.4 million in 2015.

We are subject to litigation risks, including risks relating to
the application and interpretation of contracts, and adverse
outcomes in litigation and legal proceedings could adverse-
ly affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to litigation risks, including risks relating
to the application and interpretation of insurance and rein-
surance contracts, and are routinely involved in litigation
that challenges specific terms and language incorporated
into property and casualty contracts, such as claims reim-
bursements, covered perils and exclusion clauses, among
others, or the interpretation or administration of such con-
tracts. We are also involved in legal actions that do not
arise in the ordinary course of business, some of which
assert claims for substantial amounts. Adverse outcomes,
including with respect to the matter captioned “Durand
Litigation” under “Commitments and Contingencies –
Legal Proceedings” in Note 18 in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K,
could materially affect our results of operations and finan-
cial condition.
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We are subject to mandatory assessments by state guaranty
funds; an increase in these assessments could adversely
affect our results of operations and financial condition.

All fifty states of the United States and the District of
Columbia have insurance guaranty fund laws requiring
property and casualty insurance companies doing business
within the state to participate in guaranty associations.
These associations are organized to pay contractual obliga-
tions under insurance policies issued by impaired or insol-
vent insurance companies. The associations levy
assessments, up to prescribed limits, on all member insur-
ers in a particular state on the basis of the proportionate
share of the premiums written by member insurers in the
lines of business in which the impaired or insolvent insur-
er is engaged. Although mandatory assessments by state
guaranty funds that are used to cover losses to policyhold-
ers of insolvent or rehabilitated companies can be substan-
tially recovered through policyholder surcharges or a
reduction in future premium taxes in many states (provid-
ed the collecting insurer continues to write business in
such state), there can be no assurance that all funds will
be recoupable in the future. During 2014, we had a total
assessment of $4.5 million levied against us, with refunds
of $0.4 million received in 2014 for a total net assessment
of $4.1 million. As of December 31, 2014, we have $0.6
million of reserves related to guaranty fund assessments.
In the future, these assessments may increase above levels
experienced in the current and prior years. Future increas-
es in these assessments depend upon the rate of insolven-
cies of insurance companies. An increase in assessments
could adversely affect our results of operations and finan-
cial condition.

If we are unable to attract and retain qualified personnel,
or if we experience the loss or retirement of key executives
or other key employees, we may not be able to compete
effectively and our operations could be impacted
 significantly.

Our future success will be affected by our continued
ability to attract and retain qualified executives and other
key employees, particularly those experienced in the prop-
erty and casualty industry and the Lloyd’s market.

Our profitability could be adversely affected by periodic
changes to our relationships with our agencies.

We periodically review agencies, including managing
general agencies, with which we do business to identify
those that do not meet our profitability standards or are
not strategically aligned with our business. Following these
periodic reviews, we may restrict such agencies’ access to
certain types of policies or terminate our relationship with
them, subject to applicable contractual and regulatory

requirements which limit our ability to terminate agents or
which require us to renew policies. We may not achieve
the desired results from these measures, and our failure to
do so could negatively affect our operating results and
financial position.

We may be affected by disruptions caused by the introduc-
tion of new products, related technology changes, and new
operating models in Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and
Chaucer businesses and recent or future acquisitions, and
expansion into new geographic areas. We could also be
affected by an inability to retain profitable policies in force
and attract profitable policies in our Commercial Lines,
Personal Lines and Chaucer segments, particularly in light
of a competitive product pricing environment and the
adoption by competitors of strategies to increase agency
appointments and commissions and increased advertising.

There are increased underwriting risks associated with
premium growth and the introduction of new products or
programs in our Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and
Chaucer businesses. Additionally, we have increased
underwriting risks associated with the appointment of new
agencies and managing general agencies and with the
expansion into new geographical areas, including interna-
tional expansion.

The introduction of new Commercial Lines products,
including through our acquired subsidiaries and the devel-
opment of new niche and specialty lines, presents new
risks. Certain new specialty products may present longer
“tail” risks and increased volatility in profitability. Our
expansion into western states, including California, pres-
ents additional underwriting risks since the regulatory, geo-
graphic, natural risk, legal environment, demographic,
business, economic and other characteristics of these
states present challenges different from those in the states
in which we historically have conducted business.

Our Personal Lines production and earnings may be
unfavorably affected by the continued introduction of new
products and our focus on account business (i.e., policy-
holders who have both automobile and homeowner insur-
ance with us) which we believe, despite pricing discounts,
will ultimately be more profitable business. We may also
experience adverse selection, which occurs when insureds
with larger risks purchase our products because of favor-
able pricing, under-pricing, operational difficulties or
implementation impediments with independent agents or
the inability to grow new markets after the introduction of
new products or the appointment of new agents.

There can be no assurance that as we enter new states
or regions or grow business in our identified growth states,
we won’t experience higher loss trends than anticipated.
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Integration of acquired businesses involves a number of
risks, and there can be no assurance that we will be suc-
cessful integrating recent and future acquisitions.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to suc-
cessfully integrate recent and any future acquisitions or
that we will not assume unknown liabilities and reserve
deficiencies in connection with such acquisitions. If we
are unable to successfully integrate new businesses, then
we could be impeded from realizing the benefits of an
acquisition. The integration process could disrupt our
business, and a failure to successfully integrate newer
businesses could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. The
difficulties of integrating an acquisition and risks to our
business include, among others:
• unanticipated issues in integrating information, com-

munications and other systems;

• unanticipated incompatibility of logistics, marketing
and administration methods;

• maintaining employee morale and retaining key
 employees;

• integrating the business cultures of different companies;

• preserving important strategic, reinsurance and other
relationships;

• integrating legal and financial controls in multiple
 jurisdictions;

• consolidating corporate and administrative infrastruc-
tures and eliminating duplicative operations;

• the diversion of management’s attention from ongoing
business concerns;

• integrating geographically separate organizations;

• unexpected or overlapping concentrations of risk where
one event or series of events can affect many insured
parties;

• significant transaction costs, including the effect of
exchange rate fluctuations;

• risks and uncertainties in our ability to increase the
investment yield on the investment portfolio;

• uncertainties in our ability to decrease leverage as a
result of adding future earnings to our capital base;

• risks and uncertainties regarding the volatility of under-
writing results in a combined entity;

• an ability to more efficiently manage capital;

• an ability to improve renewal rates and increase new
property and casualty policy counts;

• an ability to increase or maintain certain property and
casualty insurance rates;

• complying with laws, rules and regulations in multiple
jurisdictions, including new and multiple employment
regulations, regulations relating to the conduct of busi-
ness activities such as the U.K. Bribery Act, sanctions
imposed by the U.S. or U.K. on doing business with cer-
tain foreign countries or other persons, privacy, infor-
mation security, and environmental-related laws; and

• the impact of new product or line of business introduc-
tions and our ability to meet projected return on capital
targets.

In addition, even if we are able to integrate successful-
ly recent and future acquisitions, we may not realize the
full benefits of such acquisitions, including the synergies,
cost savings or underwriting or growth opportunities that
we expect. It is possible that these benefits may not be
achieved within the anticipated time frame, or at all.

Our international operations expose us to additional risks
which could cause a material adverse effect on our busi-
ness, financial position and results of operations.

Our operations extend to countries outside the U.S.,
and operating globally increases the scope of our risks and
exposes us to certain additional risks including but not
 limited to:
• an expansion in the scope of the risks to which our U.S.

operations are subject as an insurance company, such as
risk of adverse loss development, litigation, investment
risks and the possibility of significant catastrophe losses
(as a result of natural disasters, nuclear accidents,
severe weather and terrorism) occurring outside the
U.S.;

• compliance with a variety of national and local laws,
regulations and practices of the countries in which we
do business and adherence to any changes in such laws,
regulations and practices affecting the insurance indus-
try in such countries;

• adverse changes in the economies in which we operate;
and

• requirements, such as those enforced by Her Majesty’s
Treasury, Asset Freezing Unit (U.K.) and the U.S.
Treasury’s Office of Foreign Asset Controls, to comply
with various U.K., U.S., E.U. or other sanctions
imposed on doing business with, or affecting, certain
countries, their citizens, specially designated nationals
or other persons doing business with any such countries
or persons.

Intense competition could negatively affect our ability to
maintain or increase our profitability.

We compete, and will continue to compete, with a large
number of companies, including international, national
and regional insurers, mutual companies, specialty insur-
ance companies, so called “off-shore” companies which
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enjoy certain tax advantages, underwriting agencies and
financial services institutions. We also compete with mutu-
al insurance companies, reciprocal and exchange compa-
nies which may not have shareholders and may have
different profitability targets than publicly or privately
owned companies. Chaucer competes with numerous
other Lloyd’s syndicates and managing agents, domestic
and international insurers and government or government-
sponsored insurance or reinsurance mechanisms. In
recent years, there has been substantial consolidation and
convergence among companies in the financial services
industry, resulting in increased competition from large,
well-capitalized financial services firms. Many of our com-
petitors have greater financial, technical and operating
resources than we do and may be able to offer a wider
range of, or more sophisticated, commercial and personal
line products. Some of our competitors also have different
marketing and sales strategies than we do and market and
sell their products to consumers directly. Some companies
are seeking to protect new products with patents or other
legal protections, which may create new legal exposures or
limit our ability to develop competing products. In addi-
tion, competition in the U.S. and international property
and casualty insurance markets has intensified over the
past several years. This competition has had and may con-
tinue to have an adverse impact on our revenues and
 profitability.

A number of new, proposed or potential legislative or
industry developments could further increase competition
in our industry. These developments include:
• the implementation of commercial lines deregulation in

several states;

• programs in which state-sponsored entities provide
property insurance in catastrophe-prone areas or other
alternative markets types of coverage;

• increased competition from off-shore tax advantaged
insurance companies; and

• changing practices caused by the internet and the
increased usage of real time comparative rating tools,
which have led to greater competition in the insurance
business in general, particularly on the basis of price.

We could face heightened competition resulting from
the entry of new competitors and the introduction of new
products by new and existing competitors. Additionally,
recent entries into the property and casualty marketplace
by large technology companies, retail companies and other
non-traditional insurance providers, who aim to leverage
their information about and direct access to customers,
may increase competition. Increased competition could
make it difficult for us to obtain new customers, retain
existing customers or maintain policies in force by existing
customers. It could also result in increasing our service,
administrative, policy acquisition or general expense due to

the need for additional advertising and marketing of our
products. In addition, our administrative, technology and
management information systems expenditures could
increase substantially as we try to maintain or improve our
competitive position.

We compete for business not just on the basis of price,
but also on the basis of product coverages, reputation,
financial strength, quality of service (including claims
adjustment service), experience and breadth of product
offering. We cannot provide assurance that we will be able
to maintain a competitive position in the markets in which
we operate, or that we will be able to expand our opera-
tions into new markets. If we fail to do so, our business
could be materially adversely affected.

We are rated by several rating agencies, and changes to our
ratings could adversely affect our operations.

Our ratings are important in establishing our competi-
tive position and marketing the products of our insurance
companies to our agents and customers, since rating infor-
mation is broadly disseminated and generally used
throughout the industry.

Our insurance company subsidiaries are rated by A.M.
Best, Moody’s, and Standard & Poor’s. These ratings
reflect a rating agency’s opinion of our insurance sub-
sidiaries’ financial strength, operating performance, strate-
gic position and ability to meet their obligations to
policyholders. These ratings are not evaluations directed to
investors, and are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold
our securities. Our ratings are subject to periodic review by
the rating agencies and we cannot guarantee the continued
retention or improvement of our current ratings. This is
particularly true in the current economic environment
where rating agencies may increase their capital require-
ments or other criteria for various rating levels. In addi-
tion, Chaucer’s rating is derived from the rating assigned to
Lloyd’s, and Chaucer has very limited ability to directly
affect the overall Lloyd’s rating.

A downgrade in one or more of our or any of our sub-
sidiaries’ claims-paying ratings could negatively impact our
business and competitive position, particularly in lines
where customers require us to maintain minimum ratings.
Additionally, a downgrade in one or more of our debt rat-
ings could adversely impact our ability to access the capi-
tal markets and other sources of funds, increase the cost of
current credit facilities, and/or adversely affect pricing of
new debt sought in the capital markets in the future.

Negative changes in our level of statutory surplus could
adversely affect our ratings and profitability.

The capacity for a U.S. insurance company’s growth in
premiums is in part a function of its statutory surplus.
Maintaining appropriate levels of statutory surplus, as
measured by state insurance regulators, is considered
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important by state insurance regulatory authorities and by
rating agencies that rate insurers’ claims-paying abilities
and financial strength. As our business grows, or due to
other factors, regulators may require that additional capi-
tal be contributed to increase the level of statutory surplus.
Failure to maintain certain levels of statutory surplus could
result in increased regulatory scrutiny, action by state reg-
ulatory authorities or a downgrade by private rating agen-
cies. Our surplus is affected by, among other things, results
of operations and investment gains, losses, impairments,
and dividends from the insurance operating company to its
parent company. A number of these factors affecting our
level of statutory surplus are, in turn, influenced by factors
that are out of our control, including the frequency and
severity of catastrophes, changes in policyholder behavior,
changes in rating agency models and economic factors
such as changes in equity markets, credit markets, interest
rates or foreign currency exchange rates.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners,
or NAIC, uses a system for assessing the adequacy of statu-
tory capital for U.S. property and casualty insurers. The
system, known as risk-based capital, is in addition to the
states’ fixed dollar minimum capital and other require-
ments. The system is based on risk-based formulas that
apply prescribed factors to the various risk elements in an
insurer’s business and investments to report a minimum
capital requirement proportional to the amount of risk
assumed by the insurer. We believe that any failure to
maintain appropriate levels of statutory surplus would have
an adverse impact on our ability to grow our business
 profitably.

We may not be able to grow as quickly or as profitably as
we intend, which is important to our current strategy.

Over the past several years, we have made and our cur-
rent plans are to continue to make, significant investments
in our Commercial and Personal Lines of business, and we
have increased expenses and made acquisitions in order to,
among other things, strengthen our product offerings and
service capabilities, expand into new geographic areas,
improve technology and our operating models, build
expertise in our personnel, and expand our distribution
capabilities, with the ultimate goal of achieving significant,
sustained growth. The ability to achieve significant prof-
itable premium growth in order to earn adequate returns
on such investments and expenses, and to grow further
without proportionate increases in expenses, is an impor-
tant part of our current strategy. There can be no assur-
ance that we will be successful at profitably growing our
business, or that we will not alter our current strategy due
to changes in our markets or an inability to successfully

maintain acceptable margins on new business or for other
reasons, in which case premiums written and earned,
 operating income and net book value could be adversely
affected.

An impairment in the carrying value of goodwill and
intangible assets could negatively impact our consolidated
results of operations and shareholders’ equity.

Upon an acquisition of a business, we record goodwill
and intangible assets at fair value. Goodwill and intangible
assets determined to have indefinite useful lives are not
amortized, while other intangible assets are amortized over
their estimated useful lives. Goodwill and intangible assets
that are not amortized are reviewed for impairment at least
annually. Evaluating the recoverability of such assets
requires us to rely on estimates and assumptions related to
return on equity, margin, growth rates, discount rates, and
other data. There are inherent uncertainties related to
these factors, and significant judgment is required in
applying these factors. Goodwill and intangible asset
impairment charges can result from declines in operating
results, divestitures or sustained market declines and other
factors. As of December 31, 2014, goodwill and intangible
assets represented 10.7% of shareholders’ equity. Although
we believe these assets are recoverable, we cannot provide
assurance that future market or business conditions would
not result in the impairment of a portion of these assets.
Impairment charges could materially affect our financial
position and our financial results in the quarter or annual
period in which they are recognized.

We could be subject to additional losses related to the sale
of our Discontinued FAFLIC and variable life insurance
and annuity businesses.

On January 2, 2009, we sold our remaining life insur-
ance subsidiary, FAFLIC, to Commonwealth Annuity and
Life Insurance Company. Coincident with the sale transac-
tion, Hanover Insurance and FAFLIC entered into a rein-
surance contract whereby Hanover Insurance assumed
FAFLIC’s discontinued accident and health insurance
business. We previously owned Commonwealth Annuity,
but sold it in 2005 in conjuction with our disposal of our
variable life insurance and annuity business.

In connection with these transactions, we have agreed
to indemnify Commonwealth Annuity for certain contin-
gent liabilities, including litigation and other regulatory
matters. We have established a reserve related to these
contractual indemnifications. Although we believe that
this reserve is adequate, we cannot provide assurance that
costs related to these indemnifications when they ulti-
mately settle, will not exceed our current reserve.
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We may incur financial losses related to our discontinued
assumed accident and health reinsurance pools and
arrangements.

We previously participated, through FAFLIC, in approx-
imately 40 assumed accident and health reinsurance pools
and arrangements. The business was retained in the sale of
FAFLIC and assumed by Hanover Insurance through a
reinsurance agreement. During 1999, we ceased writing
new premiums in this business, subject to certain contrac-
tual obligations. The reinsurance pool business consisted
primarily of the medical and disability portions of workers’
compensation risks, long-term care pools, assumed person-
al accident, individual medical, long-term disability and
special risk business. We are currently monitoring and
managing the run-off of our related participation in the 25
pools with remaining liabilities.

Under these arrangements, we variously acted as a rein-
surer, a reinsured or both. In some instances, we ceded sig-
nificant exposures to other reinsurers in the marketplace.
The potential risk to us as a participant in these pools is
primarily that other companies that reinsured this business
from us may seek to avoid or fail to timely pay their rein-
surance obligations (especially in light of the fact that his-
torically these pools sometimes involved multiple layers of
overlapping reinsurers, or so-called “spirals”) or may
become insolvent. Thus, we are exposed to both assumed
losses and to credit risk related to these pools. We are not
currently engaged in any significant disputes in respect to
this business. At this time, we do not anticipate that any
significant portion of recorded reinsurance recoverables
will be uncollectible. However, we cannot provide assur-
ance that all recoverables are collectible and should these
recoverables prove to be uncollectible, our results of oper-
ations and financial position may be negatively affected.

We believe our reserves for the accident and health
assumed and ceded reinsurance business appropriately
reflect current claims, unreported losses and likely invest-
ment returns on related assets supporting these reserves.
However, due to the inherent volatility in this business and
the reporting lag of losses that tend to develop over time
and which ultimately affect excess covers, there can be no
assurance that current reserves are adequate or that we
will not have additional losses in the future. Although we
have discontinued participation in these reinsurance
arrangements, unreported claims related to the years in
which we were a participant may be reported and previous-
ly reported claims may develop unfavorably. If any such
unreported claims or unfavorable development is reported
to us, our results of operations and financial position may
be negatively impacted. In addition, the passage of the
Federal Healthcare Act has caused us to have to expand
our benefits for a portion of the residual healthcare poli-
cies with limited ability to increase premiums.

Other market fluctuations and general economic, market
and political conditions may also negatively affect our
business, profitability and investment portfolio.

It is difficult to predict the impact of a challenging eco-
nomic environment on our business. In Commercial Lines,
a difficult economy has resulted in reductions in demand
for insurance products and services as there are more com-
panies ceasing to do business and there are fewer business
start-ups, particularly as small businesses are affected by a
decline in overall consumer and business spending.
Additionally, claims frequency could increase as policy-
holders submit and pursue claims more aggressively than
in the past, fraud incidences may increase, or we may expe-
rience higher incidents of abandoned properties or poorer
maintenance, which may also result in more claims activi-
ty. We have experienced higher workers’ compensation
claims as injured employees take longer to return to work,
increased surety losses as construction companies experi-
ence financial pressures and higher retroactive premium
returns as audit results reflect lower payrolls. Our business
could also be affected by an ensuing consolidation of inde-
pendent insurance agencies. Our ability to increase pricing
has been impacted as agents and policyholders have been
more price sensitive, customers shop for policies more fre-
quently or aggressively, utilize comparative rating models
or, in Personal Lines in particular, turn to direct sales
channels rather than independent agents. We have also
experienced decreased new business premium levels,
retention and renewal rates, and renewal premiums.
Specifically in Personal Lines, policyholders may reduce
coverages or change deductibles to reduce premiums,
experience declining home values, or be subject to
increased foreclosures, and policyholders may retain older
or less expensive automobiles and purchase or insure fewer
ancillary items such as boats, trailers and motor homes for
which we provide coverages. Additionally, if as a result of a
difficult economic environment, drivers continue to elimi-
nate automobile insurance coverage or to reduce their bod-
ily injury limit, we may be exposed to more uninsured and
underinsured motorist coverage losses.

Chaucer’s business is similarly subject to risks related to
the economy, both in its traditional Lloyd’s business, and
its U.K. motor business. In addition to the risks noted
above, adverse economic conditions could negatively affect
our ability to obtain letters of credit utilized by Chaucer to
underwrite business through Lloyd’s.

At December 31, 2014, we held approximately $9 bil-
lion of investment assets in categories such as fixed matu-
rities, equity securities, cash and short-term investments,
and other long-term investments. Our investments are pri-
marily concentrated in the U.S. domestic market; however,
we have exposure to international markets as well, with
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approximately 24% of our cash and investment assets
invested in foreign markets. Our investment returns, and
thus our profitability, statutory surplus and shareholders’
equity, may be adversely affected from time to time by con-
ditions affecting our specific investments and, more gener-
ally, by bond, stock, real estate and other market
fluctuations and general economic, market and political
conditions, including concerns regarding sub-prime and
prime mortgages, as well as residential and commercial
mortgage-backed or other debt securities, increasing con-
cerns relating to the municipal bond markets and
European sovereign debt, and developments that negative-
ly impact our investment in real estate such as increased
development costs. Many of these broader market condi-
tions are out of our control. Our ability to make a profit on
insurance products depends in part on the returns on
investments supporting our obligations under these prod-
ucts, and the value of specific investments may fluctuate
substantially depending on the foregoing conditions. We
may use a variety of strategies to hedge our exposure to
interest and currency rates and other market risks.
However, hedging strategies are not always available and
carry certain credit risks, and our hedging could be ineffec-
tive. Moreover, increased government regulation of certain
derivative transactions used to hedge certain market risks
has served to prevent (or otherwise substantially increase
the cost associated with) hedging such risks.

Additionally, the aggregate performance of our invest-
ment portfolio depends to a significant extent on the abili-
ty of our investment managers to select and manage
appropriate investments. As a result, we are also exposed to
operational risks which may include, but are not limited to,
a failure to follow our investment guidelines, technological
and staffing deficiencies and inadequate disaster recovery
plans. The failure of these investment managers to perform
their services in a manner consistent with our expectations
and investment objectives could adversely affect our abili-
ty to conduct our business.

Debt securities comprise a material portion of our
investment portfolio. The concentration of our investment
portfolio in any one type of investment, industry or geogra-
phy could have a disproportionately adverse effect on our
investment portfolio. The issuers of debt securities, as well
as borrowers under the loans we make, customers, trading
counterparties, counterparties under swaps and other
derivative contracts, banks which have commitments
under our various borrowing arrangements, and reinsurers,
may be affected by declining market conditions or credit
weaknesses. These parties may default on their obligations
to us due to lack of liquidity, downturns in the economy or
real estate values, operational failure, bankruptcy or other
reasons. Future increases in interest rates from current
near-historic lows could result in increased defaults as bor-

rowers are unable to pay the additional borrowing costs on
variable rate securities or obtain refinancing. We cannot
assure you that further impairment charges will not be
necessary in the future. In addition, evaluation of avail-
able-for-sale securities for other-than- temporary impair-
ment includes inherent uncertainty and subjective
determinations. We cannot be certain that such impair-
ments are adequate as of any stated date. Our ability to ful-
fill our debt and other obligations could be adversely
affected by the default of third parties on their obligations
owed to us.

Deterioration in the global financial markets may
adversely affect our investment portfolio and have a relat-
ed impact on our other comprehensive income, sharehold-
ers’ equity and overall investment performance. In recent
years, global financial markets experienced unprecedented
and challenging conditions, including a tightening in the
availability of credit, the failure of several large financial
institutions and concerns about the creditworthiness of
the sovereign debt of several European and other coun-
tries. As a result, certain government bodies and central
banks worldwide, including the U.S. Treasury Department
and the U.S. Federal Reserve, provided for unprecedented
intervention programs, the efficacy of which remain
 uncertain.

In addition, our current borrowings from the Federal
Home Loan Bank of Boston (“FHLBB”) are secured by col-
lateral. If the fair value of pledged collateral falls below
specific levels, we would be required to pledge additional
collateral or repay any outstanding FHLBB borrowings.

Market conditions also affect the value of assets under
our employee pension plans, including our U.S. Cash
Balance Plan and Chaucer pension plan. The expense or
benefit related to our employee pension plans results from
several factors, including, but not limited to, changes in
the market value of plan assets, interest rates, regulatory
requirements or judicial interpretation of benefits. At
December 31, 2014, our U.S. plan assets included approx-
imately 85% of fixed maturities and 15% of equity securi-
ties and other assets. At December 31, 2014, our Chaucer
pension plan assets included approximately 57% of equi-
ties, 32% of fixed maturities, and 11% of real estate funds.
The Chaucer pension plan had net liabilities that exceed-
ed assets by approximately $6 million as of December 31,
2014. Additionally, our net liabilities exceed assets by
approximately $41 million and $25 million for our U.S.
non-qualified (which is an unfunded plan) and U.S. quali-
fied pension plans, respectively, at December 31, 2014.
Declines in the market value of plan assets and interest
rates from levels at December 31, 2014, among other fac-
tors, could impact our funding estimates and negatively
affect our results of operations. Deterioration in market
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conditions and differences between our assumptions and
actual occurrences, and behaviors, including judicial
determinations of ultimate benefit obligations pursuant to
the Durand case discussed elsewhere, or otherwise, could
result in a need to fund more into the qualified plans to
maintain an appropriate funding level.

We may experience unrealized losses on our investments,
especially during a period of heightened volatility, which
could have a material adverse effect on our results of oper-
ations or financial condition.

Our investment portfolio and shareholders’ equity can
be, and in the past have been, significantly impacted by the
changes in the market values of our securities. U.S. and
global financial markets and economies remain uncertain.
This could result in unrealized and realized losses in future
periods, and adversely affect the liquidity of our invest-
ments, which could have a material adverse impact on our
results of operations and our financial position. At
December 31, 2014, our financial position is benefited by
$315.8 million as a result of unrealized gains, largely driv-
en by the low interest rate environment. Information with
respect to interest rate sensitivity is included in
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures” in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations of this Form 10-K.
Valuation of financial instruments (i.e. Level 1, 2, or 3)
include methodologies, estimates, assumptions and judg-
ments that are subject to different interpretations and
could result in changes to investment valuations or the
ability to receive such valuations on sale. During periods of
market disruption it may be difficult to value certain of our
securities if trading becomes less frequent and/or market
data becomes less observable. In addition, in times of
financial market disruption, certain asset classes that were
in active markets with significant observable data may
become illiquid. In those cases, the valuation process
includes inputs that are less observable and require more
subjectivity and judgment by management.

If, following such declines, we are unable to hold our
investment assets until they recover in value, or if such
asset value never recovers, we would incur other-than-tem-
porary impairments which would be recognized as realized
losses in our results of operations, reduce net income and
earnings per share and adversely affect our liquidity.
Temporary declines in market value are recorded as unre-
alized losses, which do not affect net income and earnings
per share, but reduce other comprehensive income, which
is reflected on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We can-
not provide assurance that we will not have additional
other-than-temporary impairments and/or unrealized
investment losses in the future. Likewise, there can be no
assurance that our investment portfolio will retain the net

unrealized gains reflected on the balance sheet as of
December 31, 2014, since such gains are dependent on
prevailing interest rates, credit ratings and creditworthi-
ness and general economic and other factors.

We invest a portion of our portfolio in common stock or
preferred stocks. The value of these assets fluctuates with
the equity markets. Particularly in times of economic
weakness, the market value and liquidity of these assets
may decline, and may impact net income, capital and cash
flows.

We are exposed to significant capital market risks related
to changes in interest rates, credit spreads, equity prices
and foreign exchange rates, which may adversely affect our
results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

We are exposed to significant capital markets risk relat-
ed to changes in interest rates, credit spreads, equity prices
and foreign currency exchange rates. If significant,
declines in equity prices, changes in interest rates, changes
in credit spreads and the strengthening or weakening of
foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar could have a
material adverse effect on our results, financial position or
cash flows. Our exposure to interest rate risk relates prima-
rily to the market price and cash flow variability associated
with changes in interest rates. Our investment portfolio
contains interest rate sensitive instruments, such as fixed
income securities, which may be adversely affected by
changes in interest rates from governmental monetary poli-
cies, domestic and international economic and political
conditions and other factors beyond our control. A rise in
interest rates would reduce the fair value of our investment
portfolio, but provide the opportunity to earn higher rates
of return on funds reinvested. A further decline in interest
rates, on the other hand, would increase the fair value of
our investment portfolio, but we would earn lower rates of
return on reinvested assets. We may be forced to liquidate
investments prior to maturity at a loss in order to cover lia-
bilities, and such liquidation could be accelerated in the
event of significant loss events, such as catastrophes.
Although we take measures to manage the economic risks
of investing in a changing interest rate environment, we
may not be able to mitigate the interest rate risk of our
assets relative to our liabilities.

Our fixed income portfolio is invested primarily in high
quality, investment-grade securities. However, we also
invest in alternative investments such as non-investment-
grade high yield fixed income securities. These securities,
which pay a higher rate of interest, also have a higher
degree of credit or default risk. These securities may also
be less liquid in times of economic weakness or market dis-
ruptions. Additionally, the reported value of our invest-
ments do not necessarily reflect the lowest current market
price for the asset, and if we require significant amounts of
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cash on short notice, we may have difficulty selling our
investments in a timely manner, be forced to sell them for
less than we otherwise would have been able to realize, or
both. While we have procedures to monitor the credit risk
and liquidity of our invested assets, we expect from time to
time, and particularly in periods of economic weakness, to
experience default losses in our portfolio. This would
result in a corresponding reduction of net income, capital
and cash flows.

Inflationary pressures may negatively impact expenses,
reserves and the value of investments.

Inflationary pressures in the geographies in which we
operate may negatively impact reserves and the value of
investments. In particular, inflationary pressures in the
U.S. with respect to medical and health care, automobile
repair and construction costs, all of which are significant
components of our indemnity liabilities under policies we
issue to our customers, and which could also impact the
adequacy of reserves we have set aside for prior accident
years, may have a negative effect on our results of opera-
tions. Inflationary pressures also cause or contribute to, or
are the result of, increases in interest rates, which would
reduce the fair value of our investment portfolio.

Our operations may be adversely impacted by foreign cur-
rency fluctuations.

Our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. The function-
al currencies of our Chaucer segment are the U.S. dollar,
U.K. pound sterling and the Canadian dollar. Exchange
rate fluctuations relative to the functional currencies may
materially impact our financial position. Further, our
Chaucer segment transacts business and maintains assets
and liabilities in currencies different than its functional
currency, which exposes us to changes in currency
exchange rates. In addition, locally required capital levels
are invested in local currencies in order to satisfy regulato-
ry requirements and to support local insurance operations
regardless of currency fluctuations. We attempt to manage
our foreign currency exposure through matching of assets
and liabilities, as well as through the use of derivatives.
Despite our mitigation efforts, exposure to foreign
exchange loss could have a material adverse effect on our
reported earnings and book value.

We are a holding company and rely on our insurance com-
pany subsidiaries for cash flow; we may not be able to
receive dividends from our subsidiaries in needed amounts
and may be required to provide capital to support their
operations.

We are a holding company for a diversified group of
insurance companies, and our principal assets are the
shares of capital stock of these subsidiaries. Our ability to
make required interest payments on our debt, as well as

our ability to pay operating expenses and pay dividends to
shareholders depends upon the receipt of sufficient funds
from our subsidiaries. The payment of dividends by our
insurance company subsidiaries is subject to regulatory
restrictions and will depend on the surplus and future
earnings of these subsidiaries, as well as these regulatory
restrictions. We are required to notify insurance regulators
prior to paying any dividends from our U.S. insurance sub-
sidiaries, pre-approval is required with respect to “extraor-
dinary dividends” and distributions from Chaucer are
subject to various requirements imposed by Lloyd’s and the
PRA and FCA.

Because of the regulatory limitations on the payment of
dividends from our insurance company subsidiaries, we
may not always be able to receive dividends from these
subsidiaries at times and in amounts necessary to meet our
debt and other obligations. The inability of our subsidiaries
to pay dividends to us in an amount sufficient to meet our
debt interest and funding obligations would have a materi-
al adverse effect on us. These regulatory dividend restric-
tions also impede our ability to transfer cash and other
capital resources among our subsidiaries.

Similarly, our insurance subsidiaries may require capital
from the holding company to support their operations. For
example, our holding company has provided a guaranty for
the benefit of our Chaucer segment to support the letter of
credit agreement supplied to support Chaucer’s Funds at
Lloyd’s requirements.

Our dependence on our insurance subsidiaries for cash
flow, and their potential need for capital support, exposes
us to the risk of changes in their ability to generate suffi-
cient cash inflows from new or existing customers or from
increased cash outflows. Cash outflows may result from
claims activity, expense payments or investment losses.
Because of the nature of our business, claims activity can
arise suddenly and in amounts which could outstrip our
capital or liquidity resources. Reductions in cash flow or
capital demands from our subsidiaries could have a
 material adverse effect on our business and results of
 operations.

We may require additional capital or credit in the future,
which may not be available or only available on unfavor-
able terms.

We monitor our capital adequacy on a regular basis.
Our future capital and liquidity requirements depend on
many factors, including our premiums written, loss
reserves and claim payments, investment portfolio compo-
sition and risk exposures, the availability of letters and
lines of credit, as well as regulatory and rating agency cap-
ital requirements. In addition, our capital strength can
affect our ratings, and therefore is important to our ability
to underwrite. The quality of our claims paying and finan-
cial strength ratings are evaluated by independent rating
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agencies. Such ratings affect our ability to write quality
business, our borrowing expenses and our ability to raise
capital.

Our Chaucer business is required to satisfy Lloyd’s min-
imum capital standards. We satisfy Lloyd’s “member
deposit funds” requirement (referred to as Funds at Lloyd’s
or “FAL”), in part, through a standby letter of credit. If the
letters of credit were drawn, we would expect to use a syn-
dicated credit facility to pay such obligation, which would
increase our debt borrowings. Our ability to borrow under
this facility is conditioned upon the satisfaction of
covenants and other requirements contained in the facili-
ty. If the syndicated credit facility was not available to
repay this letter of credit facility, we would need to obtain
capital elsewhere, and face the risk that alternative financ-
ing, such as through cash or other borrowings, would not
be available at acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, no
assurance can be given as to how much business Lloyd’s
will permit Chaucer to underwrite in any single year nor as
to the viability and cost of change to our current capital
structure.

To the extent that our existing capital is insufficient or
unavailable to fund our future operating requirements
and/or cover claim losses, we may need to raise additional
funds through financings or limit our growth. Any equity or
debt financing, if available, may be on terms that are unfa-
vorable to us. In the case of equity financings, dilution to
our shareholders could result and, in any case, such secu-
rities may have rights, preferences, and privileges that are
senior to our common stock. If we are not able to obtain
additional capital as necessary, our business, results of
operations and financial condition could be adversely
affected.

Errors or omissions in connection with the administration
of any of our products may cause our business and prof-
itability to be negatively impacted.

We are responsible to our policyholders for administer-
ing their policies, premiums and claims and ensuring that
appropriate records are maintained which reflect their
transactions. We are subject to risks that errors or omis-
sions of information occurred with respect to the adminis-
tration of our products. We are also subject to misconduct
and fraud on the part of our employees and agents. As a
result, we are subject to risks of liabilities associated with
“bad faith”, unfair claims practices, unfair trade practices
or similar allegations. Such risks may stem from allega-
tions of agents, vendors, policyholders, claimants, mem-
bers of Lloyd’s syndicates, reinsurers, regulators, states’
attorneys general, Lloyd’s, the PRA and FCA, or other
international regulators, or others. We may incur charges
associated with any errors and omissions previously made
or which are made in future periods. These charges may

result from our obligation to policyholders to correct any
errors or omissions or refund premiums, non-compliance
with regulatory requirements, from fines imposed by regu-
latory authorities, or from other items, which may affect
our financial position or results of operations.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act,
the U.K. Bribery Act and similar worldwide anti-bribery
laws, which impose restrictions and may carry substantial
penalties. Violations of these laws or allegations of such
violations could cause a material adverse effect on our
business, financial position and results of operations.

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and anti-bribery
laws in other jurisdictions, including anti-bribery legisla-
tion in the U.K. that took effect in 2011, generally prohib-
it companies and their intermediaries from making
improper payments for the purpose of obtaining or retain-
ing business or other commercial advantage. Our policies
mandate compliance with these anti-bribery laws, which
often carry substantial penalties. We cannot assure you
that our internal control policies and procedures always
will protect us from reckless or other inappropriate acts
committed by our affiliates, employees, agents or cover-
holders. Violations of these laws, or allegations of such vio-
lations, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial position and results of operations.

We may experience difficulties with technology, data secu-
rity and/or outsourcing relationships, which could have a
negative impact on our ability to conduct our business.

We use computer systems to store, retrieve, evaluate
and utilize customer and company data and information.
Our computer, information technology and telecommuni-
cations systems, in turn, interface with and rely upon
third-party systems. Our business is highly dependent on
our ability, and the ability of certain third parties, to access
these systems to perform necessary business functions,
including, without limitation, providing insurance quotes,
processing premium payments, making changes to existing
policies, filing and paying claims, providing customer sup-
port and managing our investment portfolios. Systems fail-
ures or outages could compromise our ability to perform
these functions in a timely manner, which could harm our
ability to conduct business and hurt our relationships with
our business partners and customers. In the event of a dis-
aster such as a natural catastrophe, an industrial accident,
a blackout, a computer virus, a terrorist attack or war, or
interference from solar flares, our systems may be inacces-
sible to our employees, customers or business partners for
an extended period of time. Even if our employees are able
to report to work, they may be unable to perform their
duties for an extended period of time if our data or systems
are disabled or destroyed or if our disaster recovery plans
are inadequate or suffer from unforeseen consequences.
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This could result in a materially adverse effect on our busi-
ness results and liquidity.

In addition, we routinely transmit and receive personal,
confidential and proprietary information by e-mail and
other electronic means. While we attempt to develop
secure transmission capabilities with third-party vendors
and others with whom we do business, we may be unable
to put in place secure capabilities with all of such vendors
and third parties and, in addition, these third parties may
not have appropriate controls in place to protect the confi-
dentiality of the information.

Our systems, like others in the financial services indus-
try, are potentially vulnerable to cyber security risks, and
we are subject to potential disruption caused by such activ-
ities. Large corporations such as ours are subject to near
daily attacks on their systems. Such attacks may have var-
ious goals, from seeking confidential information to caus-
ing operational disruption. Although to date such activities
have not resulted in material disruptions to our operations
or, to our knowledge, breach of any security or confidential
information, no assurance can be provided that such dis-
ruptions or breach will not occur in the future. As cyber
attacks become more prevalent and the methods used to
perpetrate them change, we may be required to devote
additional personnel or systems resources to protecting our
data security or investigating or remediating any perceived
vulnerabilities. Such resources could be costly in time and
expenses and could detract from resources spent on our
core property and casualty insurance operations.

Additionally, we could be subject to liability if confiden-
tial customer information is misappropriated from our
computer systems, those of our vendors or others with
whom we do business, or otherwise. Despite whatever
security measures may be in place, any such systems may
be vulnerable to physical break-ins, computer viruses, pro-
gramming errors, attacks by third parties or similar disrup-
tive problems. Any well-publicized compromise of security
could deter people from entering into transactions that
involve transmitting confidential information, or damage
our reputation, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business.

We outsource certain technology and business process
functions to third parties and may do so increasingly in the
future. If we do not effectively develop, implement and
monitor our outsourcing strategy, third-party providers do
not perform as anticipated or we experience technological

or other problems with a transition, we may not realize pro-
ductivity improvements or cost efficiencies and may expe-
rience operational difficulties, increased costs and a loss of
business. Our outsourcing of certain technology and busi-
ness process functions to third parties may expose us to
enhanced risk related to data security, which could result
in monetary and reputational damages. In addition, our
ability to receive services from third-party providers out-
side of the United States might be impacted by cultural
differences, political instability, unanticipated regulatory
requirements or policies inside or outside of the United
States. As a result, our ability to conduct our business
might be adversely affected.

Item 1B — Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2 — Properties
We own our headquarters, located at 440 Lincoln Street,
Worcester, Massachusetts, with approximately 919,000
square feet.

We also own office space located in a three-building
complex located at 808 North Highlander Way, Howell,
Michigan, with approximately 176,000 square feet, where
various business operations are conducted, and office
space located at Thanet Way, Whitstable, United Kingdom,
with approximately 40,000 square feet, where we operate
our U.K. motor line of business. Certain of our properties
have been leased to unrelated third parties or are available
for lease.

We lease office space located at 30 Fenchurch Street,
London, United Kingdom. We also lease offices through-
out the United States and in select locations worldwide for
branch sales, underwriting and claims processing func-
tions, and the operations of acquired subsidiaries.

We believe that our facilities are adequate for our pres-
ent needs in all material respects.

Item 3 — Legal Proceedings
Reference is made to the litigation matter captioned
“Durand Litigation” under “Commitments and
Contingencies – Legal Proceedings” in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K.

Item 4 — Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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Item 5 — Market for Registrant’s Common
Equity, Related Stockholder
Matters and Issuer Purchases 
of Equity Securities

COMMON STOCK AND STOCKHOLDER OWNERSHIP

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol “THG”. On February 20,
2015, we had approximately 20,496 shareholders of record
and 44,302,074 shares outstanding. On the same date, the
trading price of our common stock was $71.48 per share.

COMMON STOCK PRICES

The following tables set forth the high and low sales prices
of our common stock for the periods indicated:

HIGH(1) LOW(1)

2014

First Quarter $ 61.51 $52.86
Second Quarter $ 64.36 $56.88
Third Quarter $ 64.42 $57.80
Fourth Quarter $ 73.59 $59.73

2013

First Quarter $ 49.85 $ 38.88
Second Quarter $ 52.55 $ 45.81
Third Quarter $ 56.80 $ 48.24
Fourth Quarter $ 61.72 $ 54.54

(1) Common stock prices were obtained from a third party service provider.

DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors declared dividends in 2014 and
2013 as follows:

PER SHARE AMOUNT 2014 2013

First Quarter $ 0.37 $ 0.33
Second Quarter $ 0.37 $ 0.33
Third Quarter $ 0.37 $ 0.33
Fourth Quarter $ 0.41 $ 0.37

We currently expect that comparable cash dividends will
be paid in the future; however, the payment of future divi-
dends on our common stock will be determined by the
Board of Directors from time to time based upon cash
available at our holding company, our results of operations
and financial condition and such other factors as the
Board of Directors considers relevant.

Dividends to shareholders may be funded from divi-
dends paid to us from our subsidiaries. Dividends from
insurance subsidiaries are subject to restrictions imposed
by state insurance laws and regulations and for our foreign
subsidiaries, to restrictions imposed by the Prudential
Regulation Authority and Lloyd’s. See “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
and Note 13 – “Dividend Restrictions” in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Board of Directors has authorized a stock repurchase
program which provides for aggregate repurchases of up to
$600 million, including a $100 million increase in the pro-
gram in May 2013. Under the repurchase authorizations,
we may repurchase our common stock from time to time,
in amounts and prices and at such times as deemed appro-
priate, subject to market conditions and other considera-
tions. Our repurchases may be executed using open market
purchases, privately negotiated transactions, accelerated
repurchase programs or other transactions. We are not
required to purchase any specific number of shares or to
make purchases by any certain date under this program.
Total repurchases under this program as of December 31,
2014 were 11.1 million shares at a cost of $483.5 million.

Shares purchased in the fourth quarter of 2014 are as
follows:

PART II

Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar Value
Purchased as Part of of Shares That May Yet be 

Total Number of Average Price Publicly Announced Purchased Under the Plans
Period Shares Purchased Paid per Share Plans or Programs or Programs (in millions)

October 1 – 31, 2014 13,624 $ 66.82 — $ 117
November 1 – 30, 2014 4,973 71.36 — 117
December 1 – 31, 2014 1,536 68.53 — 117

Total 20,133 $ 68.08 — $ 117

Shares purchased reflect shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding amounts due from employees related to the receipt
of stock which resulted from the exercise or vesting of equity awards.
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Item 6 — Selected Financial Data

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS(1)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(in millions, except per share data)

Statements of Income
Revenues

Premiums $ 4,710.3 $ 4,450.5 $ 4,239.1 $ 3,598.6 $2,841.0
Net investment income 270.3 269.0 276.6 258.2 247.2
Net realized investment gains 50.1 33.5 23.6 28.1 29.7
Fees and other income 36.9 40.7 51.4 46.7 34.3

Total revenues 5,067.6 4,793.7 4,590.7 3,931.6 3,152.2

Losses and Expenses
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 2,927.5 2,761.1 2,974.4 2,550.8 1,856.3
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs 1,040.0 971.0 938.1 778.9 600.8
Net loss from repayment of debt 0.1 27.7 5.1 2.3 2.0
Other operating expenses 722.0 704.8 644.4 578.0 487.5

Total losses and expenses 4,689.6 4,464.6 4,562.0 3,910.0 2,946.6

Income before income taxes 378.0 329.1 28.7 21.6 205.6
Income tax expense (benefit) 95.7 83.4 (17.4) (9.9) 56.0

Income from continuing operations 282.3 245.7 46.1 31.5 149.6
Discontinued operations (0.3) 5.3 9.8 5.2 1.6

Net income $ 282.0 $ 251.0 $ 55.9 $ 36.7 $ 151.2

Net income per common share (diluted) $ 6.28 $ 5.59 $ 1.23 $ 0.80 $ 3.27

Dividends declared per common share $ 1.52 $ 1.36 $ 1.23 $ 1.13 $ 1.00

Balance Sheets (at December 31)
Total assets $13,759.7 $13,378.7 $13,484.9 $12,598.6 $8,546.8
Debt 903.5 903.9 849.4 911.1 605.9
Total liabilities 10,915.7 10,784.2 10,889.5 10,114.6 6,109.4
Shareholders’ equity 2,844.0 2,594.5 2,595.4 2,484.0 2,437.4

(1) Includes results of Chaucer Holdings Limited since the July 1, 2011 acquisition date.
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Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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INTRODUCTION 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations is intended
to assist readers in understanding the consolidated results
of operations and financial condition of The Hanover
Insurance Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“THG”).
Consolidated results of operations and financial condition
are prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America
(“U.S. GAAP”). This discussion should be read in conjunc-
tion with the Consolidated Financial Statements and relat-
ed footnotes included elsewhere herein. 

Results of operations include the accounts of The
Hanover Insurance Company (“Hanover Insurance”) and
Citizens Insurance Company of America (“Citizens”), our
principal U.S. domiciled property and casualty companies;
Chaucer Holdings Limited (“Chaucer”), our United
Kingdom (U.K.) domiciled specialist insurance underwrit-
ing group which operates through the Society and
Corporation of Lloyd’s (“Lloyd’s”); and certain other insur-
ance and non-insurance subsidiaries. Results of operations
include our discontinued operations, consisting primarily
of our former life insurance businesses, and our accident
and health business. 

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW 

Business operations consist of four operating segments:
Commercial Lines, Personal Lines, Chaucer and Other. 

Operating income before interest expense and income
taxes was $406.2 million in 2014 compared to $393.4 mil-
lion in 2013, an increase of $12.8 million. This increase is
due to improved current accident year results, primarily in
Commercial Lines, and from higher favorable development
on prior years’ loss and loss adjustment expense (“LAE”)
reserves (“prior years’ loss reserves”), in both our Personal
Lines and Chaucer segments. These increases in operating
income were partially offset by higher catastrophe losses in
our domestic operations. Pre-tax catastrophe losses were
$223.0 million, compared to $140.0 million during 2013.
Favorable development on prior years’ loss reserves was
$99.1 million in 2014, compared to $76.3 million in 2013. 

Pricing in our Commercial and Personal Lines remains
strong as we continue to respond to increased weather-
related losses over recent years, as well as to the earnings
impact of reduced investment income as a result of low
interest rates, and other factors. We are continuing efforts
to improve our underwriting results in both our
Commercial and Personal Lines, through rate increases
and improvements to our mix of business. 

COMMERCIAL LINES 

We believe our unique approach to the small commercial
market, distinctiveness in the middle market, and contin-
ued development of specialty lines provides us with a diver-
sified portfolio of products and delivers significant value to
agents and policyholders. The small commercial and mid-
dle market businesses are expected to contribute to premi-
um growth in Commercial Lines over the next several years
as we continue to pursue our core strategy of developing
strong partnerships with agents, distinctive products, fran-
chise value through limited distribution, and industry seg-
mentation. Growth in our specialty lines continues to be
an important part of our strategy.

We believe these efforts have driven, and will continue
to drive, improvement in our overall mix of business and
ultimately our underwriting profitability. Commercial
Lines net premiums written grew by 7.4% in 2014, driven
by both our core commercial and specialty businesses.
This growth is primarily due to rate increases, increased
retention and targeted new business expansion. 

Underwriting results improved slightly in 2014, as com-
pared to 2013, primarily due to improved current accident
year results excluding catastrophe losses, substantially off-
set by higher catastrophe losses. The competitive nature of
the Commercial Lines market requires us to be highly dis-
ciplined in our underwriting process to ensure that we
write business at acceptable margins and we continue to
seek rate increases across our lines of business. 

PERSONAL LINES 

Personal Lines focuses on partnering with high quality,
value-oriented agencies that deliver consultative selling
and stress the importance of account rounding (the con-
version of single policy customers to accounts with multi-
ple policies and additional coverages). Approximately 78%
of our policies in force are account business. We are
focused on making investments that help maintain prof-
itability, build a distinctive position in the market, help
diversify us geographically from our historical core states
of Michigan, Massachusetts, New York and New Jersey,
and provide us with profitable growth opportunities. 

Underwriting results declined in 2014, as compared to
2013. Higher catastrophe losses and lower earned premi-
ums were partially offset by favorable development on prior
years’ loss reserves and improved current accident year
results, excluding catastrophes. We continue to seek rate
increases in excess of underlying loss cost trends, subject
to regulatory and competitive considerations. 
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CHAUCER 

Chaucer deploys specialist underwriters in over 30 major
insurance and reinsurance classes, including energy,
marine and aviation, U.K. motor, property, and casualty
and other coverages. We obtain business through Lloyd’s,
the leading international insurance and reinsurance mar-
ket, which provides us with access to specialist business in
over 200 countries and territories worldwide through its
international licenses, brand reputation and strong securi-
ty rating. Our underwriting strength, diverse portfolio and
Lloyd’s membership underpin our ability to actively man-
age the scale, composition and profitable development of
this business. 

Underwriting results improved in 2014, as compared to
2013, primarily due to higher earned premiums, favorable
development on prior years’ loss reserves, and lower catas-
trophe losses, partially offset by lower current accident
year underwriting results. Chaucer net premiums written
grew by 10.2% in 2014, principally related to growth in our
casualty line, primarily due to expanded underwriting
capabilities, and growth in the marine line, as well as an
increase in Chaucer’s economic interests in Syndicate
1084 to 100% for 2014, up from 98% in 2013 and 84% in
2012, and the favorable impact of foreign exchange rate
movements. 

Chaucer also has continued to experience overall down-
ward pressure on rates in 2014. Rates in the marine, ener-
gy and property markets remained under pressure in 2014
due to a continued absence of major losses, to new capital
from a variety of sources and high levels of competition.
Casualty markets remained weak after several years of rate
decreases resulting from low loss activity and high industry
capacity, while U.K. motor market rates were flat after sev-
eral years of decline following significant increases in 2010
and 2011. In response to these challenging market condi-
tions, we continue to actively manage Chaucer’s under-
writing portfolio, using our expertise, distinctive
underwriting capabilities and market knowledge to target
specific attractive underwriting opportunities. We will seek
rate increases in the U.K. motor market in 2015 and
expect modest rate increases for certain classes of business
in the casualty markets.

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATING SEGMENTS 

Primary business operations include insurance products
and services currently provided through four operating seg-
ments. Our domestic operating segments are Commercial
Lines, Personal Lines, and Other. Our international oper-
ating segment is Chaucer. Commercial Lines includes
commercial multiple peril, commercial automobile, work-
ers’ compensation and other commercial coverages, such
as specialty program business, inland marine, management
and professional liability and surety. Personal Lines
includes personal automobile, homeowners and other per-
sonal coverages. Chaucer includes marine and aviation,
energy, property, U.K. motor, and casualty and other cover-
ages (which includes international liability, specialist cov-
erages, and syndicate participations). Included in Other
are Opus Investment Management, Inc., which markets
investment management services to institutions, pension
funds and other organizations; earnings on holding compa-
ny assets; and, a discontinued voluntary pools business.
We present the separate financial information of each seg-
ment consistent with the manner in which our chief oper-
ating decision maker evaluates results in deciding how to
allocate resources and in assessing performance. 

We report interest expense on debt separately from the
earnings of our operating segments. This consists of inter-
est on our senior debentures, subordinated debentures,
collateralized borrowings with the Federal Home Loan
Bank of Boston (“FHLBB”), and letter of credit facility. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – CONSOLIDATED 

2014 Compared to 2013
Consolidated net income was $282.0 million in 2014,
compared to $251.0 million in 2013, an increase of $31.0
million. Operating income increased slightly in 2014 as a
result of an improvement from current accident year
results, primarily in Commercial Lines, and from higher
favorable development in both the Personal Lines and
Chaucer segments. These increases in operating income
were substantially offset by higher catastrophe losses in
our domestic operations. The year ended December 31,
2013 included losses from the repayment of debt totaling
$18.0 million, net of tax, which did not recur in 2014.
Additionally, the year ended December 31, 2014 included
higher realized investment gains from the sale of securi-
ties, partially offset by after-tax losses of $7.9 million from
the settlement of a portion of the defined benefit pension
plan obligation. 
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2013 Compared to 2012 
Consolidated net income was $251.0 million in 2013,
compared to $55.9 million in 2012. The $195.1 million
increase is primarily due to improved operating results
after taxes, which was principally attributable to a decrease
in catastrophe losses, higher favorable development on
prior years’ loss reserves and an improvement in non-catas-
trophe current accident year results. In addition, net
income increased in 2013 as a result of higher realized
gains from the sale of securities, partially offset by losses
resulting from the repayment of debt. 

In addition to consolidated net income, we assess our
financial performance based upon pre-tax “operating
income,” and we assess the operating performance of each
of our four operating segments based upon the pre-tax
operating income (loss) generated by each segment.
Operating income before taxes excludes interest expense
on debt and certain other items which we believe are not
indicative of our core operations, such as net realized
investment gains and losses (including net gains and loss-
es on certain derivative instruments). Such gains and loss-
es are excluded since they are determined by interest rates,
financial markets and the timing of sales. Also, operating
income before taxes excludes net gains and losses on dis-
posals of businesses and real estate assets, gains and loss-
es related to the repayment of debt, discontinued
operations, costs to acquire businesses, restructuring
costs, the cumulative effect of accounting changes and
certain other items. Although the items excluded from
operating income before taxes may be important compo-
nents in understanding and assessing our overall financial
performance, we believe a discussion of operating income
before taxes enhances an investor’s understanding of our
results of operations by highlighting net income attributa-
ble to the core operations of the business. However, oper-
ating income before taxes should not be construed as a
substitute for income before income taxes and operating
income should not be construed as a substitute for net
income.

Catastrophe losses and prior years’ reserve development
are significant components in understanding and assessing
the financial performance of our business. Management
reviews and evaluates catastrophes and prior years’ reserve
development separately from the other components of
earnings. Catastrophes and prior years’ reserve develop-

ment are not predictable as to timing or the amount that
will affect the results of our operations and have affected
our results in the past few years. Management believes
that providing certain financial metrics and trends exclud-
ing the effects of catastrophes and prior years’ reserve
development helps investors to understand the variability
in periodic earnings and to evaluate the underlying per-
formance of our operations.

The following table reflects operating income for each
operating segment and a reconciliation of operating
income to consolidated net income.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Operating income (loss) before 
interest expense and income taxes:

Commercial Lines $139.9 $132.4 $ (80.3)
Personal Lines 99.0 118.6 25.5
Chaucer 177.6 150.4 136.8
Other (10.3) (8.0) (6.9)

Operating income before interest 
expense and income taxes 406.2 393.4 75.1

Interest expense on debt (65.2) (65.3) (61.9)

Operating income before income taxes 341.0 328.1 13.2
Income tax (expense) benefit 

on operating income (108.3) (100.9) 1.9

Operating income 232.7 227.2 15.1

Net realized investment gains 50.1 33.5 23.6
Loss from settlement of 

pension obligation (12.1) — —
Net loss from repayment of debt (0.1) (27.7) (5.1)
Loss from disposal of real estate — (4.7) —
Other non-operating items (0.9) (0.1) (3.0)
Income tax benefit on 

non-operating items 12.6 17.5 15.5

Income from continuing 
operations, net of taxes 282.3 245.7 46.1

Net (loss) gain from discontinued 
operations, net of taxes (0.3) 5.3 9.8

Net income $282.0 $251.0 $ 55.9

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – SEGMENTS

The following is our discussion and analysis of the results
of operations by business segment. The operating results
are presented before interest expense, taxes and other
items which management believes are not indicative of our
core operations, including realized gains and losses. 
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The following table summarizes the results of opera-
tions for the periods indicated:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Operating revenues

Net premiums written $4,810.1 $4,552.7 $4,368.4

Net premiums earned $4,710.3 $4,450.5 $4,239.1
Net investment income 270.3 269.0 276.3
Other income 36.9 40.7 58.2

Total operating revenues 5,017.5 4,760.2 4,573.6

Losses and operating expenses
Losses and LAE 2,927.5 2,761.1 2,974.4
Amortization of deferred 

acquisition costs 1,040.0 971.0 938.1
Other operating expenses 643.8 634.7 586.0

Total losses and operating 
expenses 4,611.3 4,366.8 4,498.5

Operating income before interest 
expense and income taxes $ 406.2 $ 393.4 $ 75.1

2014 Compared to 2013
Operating income before interest expense and income
taxes was $406.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2014, compared to $393.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013, an increase of $12.8 million. This
increase in the operating income is primarily due to
improved current accident year results, primarily in
Commercial Lines, and from higher favorable reserve
development in both the Personal Lines and Chaucer seg-
ments. These increases were substantially offset by higher
catastrophe losses in our domestic operations.

Our consolidated catastrophe related activity for the
year ended December 31, 2014 was $223.0 million, com-
pared to $140.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2013, an increase of $83.0 million. Excluding the impact
of catastrophe related activity, operating income increased
by $95.8 million. This increase was primarily due to
improved current accident year results in our domestic
segments. 

Favorable development on prior years’ loss reserves was
$99.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, com-
pared to $76.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2013, an increase of $22.8 million. For 2014, $104.6 mil-
lion of favorable development related to our Chaucer seg-
ment was partially offset by $5.5 million of unfavorable
development related to our domestic operations. For the
year ended December 31, 2013, $94.6 million of favorable
development related to our Chaucer segment was partially
offset by $18.3 million of unfavorable development related
to our domestic operations. 

Net premiums written grew by $257.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2014, compared to the year
ended December 31, 2013, and net premiums earned grew
by $259.8 million. Chaucer accounted for $113.9 million
of the net premiums written increase and $183.9 million
of the net premiums earned increase, primarily due to
growth in the casualty and marine lines, the increase in
Chaucer’s economic interests in Syndicate 1084 to 100%
in 2014, from 98% in 2013, and the favorable impact of
foreign exchange movements. Additionally, growth in our
Commercial Lines resulting from rate increases, increased
retention and targeted new business expansion, was par-
tially offset by a decrease in our Personal Lines net premi-
ums written. 

2013 Compared to 2012 
Operating income before interest expense and income
taxes was $393.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2013, compared to $75.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012, an increase of $318.3 million reflect-
ing improvements in each of our insurance segments. This
increase in operating income was primarily due to lower
catastrophe and non-catastrophe related losses and higher
favorable development. 

Our consolidated catastrophe related activity for the
year ended December 31, 2013 was $140.0 million, com-
pared to $369.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2012, a decrease of $229.9 million. Our 2012 catastrophe
losses included $198.1 million of pre-tax losses related to
Superstorm Sandy. 

Favorable development on prior years’ loss reserves was
$76.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, com-
pared to $15.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2012, an increase of $60.5 million. For 2013, $94.6 mil-
lion of favorable development related to our Chaucer seg-
ment was partially offset by $18.3 million of unfavorable
development related to our domestic operations. For the
year ended December 31, 2012, $72.6 million of favorable
development related to our Chaucer segment was partially
offset by $56.8 million of unfavorable development related
to our domestic operations.

Net premiums written grew by $184.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2013, compared to the year
ended December 31, 2012, and net premiums earned grew
by $211.4 million. Chaucer accounted for $127.0 million
of the net premiums written increase and $71.1 million of
the net premiums earned increase, primarily due to the
increase in Chaucer’s economic interests in Syndicate
1084 to 98% in 2013, from 84% in 2012. Additionally,
growth in our core commercial businesses, resulting from
rate increases, strong retention and targeted new business
expansion, was partially offset by a decrease in our
Personal Lines net premiums written.
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PRODUCTION AND UNDERWRITING RESULTS

The following table summarizes premiums written on a gross and net basis, net premiums earned and loss, LAE, expense
and combined ratios for the Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and Chaucer segments. Loss, LAE, catastrophe loss and
combined ratios shown below include prior year reserve development. These items are not meaningful for our Other seg-
ment.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

(dollars in millions)
Gross Premiums Net Premiums Net Premiums Catastrophe Loss & LAE Expense Combined

Written Written Earned Loss Ratios Ratios Ratios Ratios

Commercial Lines $2,442.5 $2,155.9 $2,081.4 4.2 63.1 37.1 100.2
Personal Lines 1,517.3 1,422.8 1,407.1 7.6 69.6 28.1 97.7
Chaucer 1,505.6 1,231.4 1,221.8 2.4 51.9 38.1 90.0

Total $5,465.4 $4,810.1 $4,710.3 4.7 62.2 34.7 96.9

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

(dollars in millions)
Gross Premiums Net Premiums Net Premiums Catastrophe Loss & LAE Expense Combined

Written Written Earned Loss Ratios Ratios Ratios Ratios

Commercial Lines $ 2,295.9 $ 2,007.2 $ 1,958.4 2.0 62.4 38.0 100.4
Personal Lines 1,531.6 1,428.0 1,454.2 4.6 68.8 27.9 96.7
Chaucer 1,374.2 1,117.5 1,037.9 3.3 51.8 37.8 89.6

Total $ 5,201.7 $ 4,552.7 $ 4,450.5 3.1 62.0 34.7 96.7

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012

(dollars in millions)
Gross Premiums Net Premiums Net Premiums Catastrophe Loss & LAE Expense Combined

Written Written Earned Loss Ratios Ratios Ratios Ratios

Commercial Lines $ 2,182.4 $ 1,902.0 $ 1,811.5 10.7 74.5 37.7 112.2
Personal Lines 1,611.7 1,475.6 1,459.9 9.2 76.5 27.3 103.8
Chaucer 1,409.8 990.5 966.8 4.3 52.4 37.9 90.3

Total $ 5,203.9 $ 4,368.1 $ 4,238.2 8.7 70.2 34.2 104.4

The following table summarizes net premiums written,
and loss and LAE and catastrophe loss ratios by line of
business for the Commercial Lines and Personal Lines seg-
ments. Loss and LAE and catastrophe loss ratios include
prior year reserve development.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

(dollars in millions)
Net Catastrophe

Premiums Loss & LAE Loss
Written Ratios Ratios

Commercial Lines:
Commercial multiple peril $ 705.1 62.2 10.4
Commercial automobile 302.6 76.6 0.4
Workers’ compensation 247.8 68.0 —
Other commercial 900.4 57.7 1.8

Total Commercial Lines 2,155.9 63.1 4.2

Personal Lines:
Personal automobile 884.1 72.5 1.0
Homeowners 499.0 67.1 19.5
Other personal 39.7 38.3 2.5

Total Personal Lines 1,422.8 69.6 7.6

Total $3,578.7 65.8 5.6
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

(dollars in millions)
Net Catastrophe

Premiums Loss & LAE Loss
Written Ratios Ratios

Commercial Lines:
Commercial multiple peril $ 651.7 57.4 4.6
Commercial automobile 304.7 74.4 0.2
Workers’ compensation 229.6 62.1 —
Other commercial 821.2 62.1 1.1

Total Commercial Lines 2,007.2 62.4 2.0

Personal Lines:
Personal automobile 890.3 75.9 0.4
Homeowners 496.7 58.0 12.0
Other personal 41.0 43.7 5.0

Total Personal Lines 1,428.0 68.8 4.6

Total $ 3,435.2 65.1 3.1

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012

(dollars in millions)
Net Catastrophe

Premiums Loss & LAE Loss
Written Ratios Ratios

Commercial Lines:
Commercial multiple peril $ 612.9 72.9 19.2
Commercial automobile 276.5 79.0 3.7
Workers’ compensation 201.4 69.9 —
Other commercial 811.2 75.2 9.3

Total Commercial Lines 1,902.0 74.5 10.7

Personal Lines:
Personal automobile 922.7 79.6 2.3
Homeowners 510.2 73.3 21.8
Other personal 42.7 48.4 7.7

Total Personal Lines 1,475.6 76.5 9.2

Total $ 3,377.6 75.4 10.0

The following table summarizes premiums written on a
gross and net basis and net premiums earned by line of
business for the Chaucer segment.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions)
Gross Net Net

Premiums Premiums Premiums
Written Written Earned

Chaucer:
Marine and aviation $ 374.6 $ 304.8 $ 284.1
U.K. motor 319.1 297.7 305.9
Energy 247.2 173.0 200.0
Property 245.4 179.2 187.6
Casualty and other 319.3 276.7 244.2

Total Chaucer $1,505.6 $1,231.4 $1,221.8

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

(in millions)
Gross Net Net

Premiums Premiums Premiums
Written Written Earned

Chaucer:
Marine and aviation $ 348.0 $ 277.1 $ 250.0
U.K. motor 319.4 300.5 284.2
Energy 233.3 174.2 169.6
Property 254.6 191.9 183.6
Casualty and other 218.9 173.8 150.5

Total Chaucer $ 1,374.2 $ 1,117.5 $ 1,037.9

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012

(in millions)
Gross Net Net

Premiums Premiums Premiums
Written Written Earned

Chaucer:
Marine and aviation $ 338.9 $ 234.3 $ 227.2
U.K. motor 311.6 259.8 247.0
Energy 303.8 195.1 181.8
Property 248.6 161.3 180.9
Casualty and other 206.9 140.0 129.9

Total Chaucer $ 1,409.8 $ 990.5 $ 966.8
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The following table summarizes GAAP underwriting results for the Commercial Lines, Personal Lines, Chaucer and
Other segments and reconciles it to operating income.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions)
Commercial Lines Personal Lines Chaucer Other Total

Underwriting profit (loss), excluding prior year
reserve development and catastrophes $ 88.7 $ 123.4 $ 46.7 $ (1.7) $ 257.1

Prior year favorable (unfavorable) loss and LAE
reserve development (9.2) 5.1 104.6 (1.4) 99.1

Pre-tax catastrophe effect (87.8) (106.4) (28.8) — (223.0)

Underwriting profit (loss) (8.3) 22.1 122.5 (3.1) 133.2
Net investment income 149.4 71.9 44.2 4.8 270.3
Fees and other income 8.2 12.0 13.7 3.0 36.9
Other operating expenses (9.4) (7.0) (2.8) (15.0) (34.2)

Operating income (loss) before interest expense 
and income taxes $ 139.9 $ 99.0 $ 177.6 $ (10.3) $ 406.2

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

(in millions)
Commercial Lines Personal Lines Chaucer Other Total

Underwriting profit (loss), excluding prior year
reserve development and catastrophes $ 31.0 $ 118.2 $ 47.5 $ (2.1) $ 194.6

Prior year favorable (unfavorable) loss and LAE 
reserve development (3.3) (13.7) 94.6 (1.3) 76.3

Pre-tax catastrophe effect (38.7) (66.9) (34.4) — (140.0)

Underwriting profit (loss) (11.0) 37.6 107.7 (3.4) 130.9
Net investment income 143.5 75.8 42.7 7.0 269.0
Fees and other income 7.6 12.5 17.6 3.0 40.7
Other operating expenses (7.7) (7.3) (17.6) (14.6) (47.2)

Operating income (loss) before interest expense 
and income taxes $ 132.4 $ 118.6 $ 150.4 $ (8.0) $ 393.4

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012

(in millions)
Commercial Lines Personal Lines Chaucer Other Total

Underwriting profit (loss), excluding prior year
reserve development and catastrophes $ (1.8) $ 94.0 $ 62.6 $ (2.2) $ 152.6

Prior year favorable (unfavorable) loss and LAE 
reserve development (29.0) (26.5) 72.6 (1.3) 15.8

Pre-tax catastrophe effect (193.4) (134.8) (41.7) — (369.9)

Underwriting profit (loss) (224.2) (67.3) 93.5 (3.5) (201.5)
Net investment income 142.4 86.5 40.2 7.2 276.3
Fees and other income 12.3 13.6 23.0 9.3 58.2
Other operating expenses (10.8) (7.3) (19.9) (19.9) (57.9)

Operating income (loss) before interest expense 
and income taxes $ (80.3) $ 25.5 $ 136.8 $ (6.9) $ 75.1
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2014 Compared to 2013
Commercial Lines

Commercial Lines net premiums written were $2,155.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared
to $2,007.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.
This $148.7 million increase was primarily driven by rate
increases, increased retention, and targeted new business
expansion, partially offset by exposure and portfolio man-
agement actions that focus on reducing volatility from
weather-related events and driving profit improvement. 

Commercial Lines underwriting loss for the year ended
December 31, 2014 was $8.3 million, compared to an
underwriting loss of $11.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013, a change of $2.7 million. Catastrophe
related losses for the year ended December 31, 2014 were
$87.8 million, compared to $38.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013, an increase of $49.1 million.
Unfavorable development on prior years’ loss reserves for
the year ended December 31, 2014 was $9.2 million com-
pared to $3.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2013, an increase of $5.9 million. 

Commercial Lines current accident year underwriting
profit, excluding catastrophes, was $88.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2014, compared to $31.0 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2013. This $57.7
million improvement was primarily due to lower losses in
our surety, commercial multiple peril, inland marine, and
specialty property lines. In addition, results benefited from
growth in earned premium and underwriting expense
 efficiencies.

Pricing in Commercial Lines continued to be favorable
in 2014 as we and the industry reacted to reduced invest-
ment income as a result of low interest rates, elevated loss
trends in commercial automobile liability lines, recent
weather-related losses, and other factors. We are continu-
ing efforts to improve our underwriting results, including
through increased rates; however, our ability to increase
Commercial Lines net premiums written while maintain-
ing or improving underwriting results may be affected by
price competition and the challenging economic environ-
ment. Also, in the past several years, weather-related catas-
trophe and non-catastrophe losses have been in excess of
longer term averages. We continue to monitor these trends
and consider them in our rate actions.

Personal Lines

Personal Lines net premiums written were $1,422.8 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to
$1,428.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, a
decrease of $5.2 million. The primary factors contributing
to this decrease were our continued property-focused

exposure management actions and actions to improve
underwriting results in all lines of business. These decreas-
es were partially offset by higher rates in both our home-
owners and personal automobile lines, and increased new
business volume. 

Net premiums written in the personal automobile line
of business for the year ended December 31, 2014 were
$884.1 million compared to $890.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013, a decrease of $6.2 million.
This decrease was primarily due to a decline in policies in
force of 3.5%, primarily from ongoing exposure manage-
ment actions and actions to improve underwriting results,
partially offset by rate increases. Net premiums written in
the homeowners line of business for the year ended
December 31, 2014 were $499.0 million, compared to
$496.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, an
increase of $2.3 million. This is primarily due to rate
increases, partially offset by decline in policies in force of
5.3%, principally as a result of the aforementioned expo-
sure management actions. 

Personal Lines underwriting profit for the year ended
December 31, 2014 was $22.1 million, compared to $37.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2013, a decrease
of $15.5 million. Catastrophe losses for the year ended
December 31, 2014 were $106.4 million, compared to
$66.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, an
increase of $39.5 million. Favorable development on prior
years’ loss reserves for the year ended December 31, 2014
was $5.1 million, compared to unfavorable development of
$13.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, a
change of $18.8 million, primarily in the personal automo-
bile line. 

Personal Lines current accident year underwriting prof-
it, excluding catastrophes, was $123.4 million in the year
ended December 31, 2014, compared to $118.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2013. This $5.2 million
increase was attributable to more favorable loss experience
due to rate and underwriting actions, partially offset by
higher non-catastrophe weather-related losses in the
homeowners line.

Although we have been able to obtain rate increases in
our Personal Lines markets and believe that our ability to
obtain these increases will continue, our ability to main-
tain Personal Lines net premiums written and to maintain
and improve underwriting results may be affected by price
competition, recent years’ weather-related losses, our expo-
sure management actions, and regulatory and legal devel-
opments. We monitor these trends and consider them in
our rate actions. 

 Hanover 2014 AR_Layout 1  2/27/15  10:25 AM  Page 49



2014 A N N U A L R E P O R T50

The Hanover Insurance Group •

Chaucer

Chaucer’s net premiums written were $1,231.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to $1,117.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2013, an increase
of $113.9 million, or 10.2%. This growth was principally
related to the casualty line, primarily due to expanded
underwriting capabilities, growth in the marine line, the
aforementioned increase in Chaucer’s economic interests
in Syndicate 1084, and the favorable impact of foreign
exchange rate movements. 

Chaucer’s underwriting profit for the year ended
December 31, 2014 was $122.5 million, compared to
$107.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, an
improvement of $14.8 million. These improved results
were primarily due to higher earned premiums, favorable
development on prior years’ loss reserves, and lower catas-
trophe losses, partially offset by lower current accident
year underwriting results. Favorable development on prior
years’ loss reserves for the year ended December 31, 2014
was $104.6 million, compared to $94.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013, a change of $10.0 million.
Catastrophe losses for the year ended December 31, 2014
were $28.8 million, compared to $34.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013, a decrease of $5.6 million.
Higher current year non-catastrophe losses in our U.K.
motor, and marine and aviation lines were partially offset
by lower losses in our property line.

We continue to experience significant competition
across the international insurance industry. Current pric-
ing conditions in marine, energy and property continue to
be affected by a continued absence of major industry loss-
es, by new capital from a variety of sources and high levels
of competition. Within casualty markets, after several
years of rate decreases as a result of low loss activity and
excess capacity, we expect modest rate increases for certain
classes of business. U.K. motor rates were flat after three
years of decline following significant increases in 2010 and
2011. We will seek rate increases for this business in 2015.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain
adequate rates in light of economic and regulatory condi-
tions in our markets. 

Other

Other operating losses were $10.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2014, compared to $8.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2013. The $2.3 million
increased loss is primarily due to lower net investment
income in our holding company.

2013 Compared to 2012 
Commercial Lines 

Commercial Line net premiums written were $2,007.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared
to $1,902.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2012. This $105.2 million increase was primarily driven by
rate increases, strong retention, and targeted new business
expansion in our core commercial businesses, partially off-
set by exposure management actions that focus on reduc-
ing volatility from weather-related events and driving profit
improvement. 

Commercial Lines underwriting loss for the year ended
December 31, 2013 was $11.0 million, compared to
$224.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, a
decrease of $213.2 million. This improvement reflected
decreased catastrophe losses and lower unfavorable devel-
opment on prior years’ loss reserves. Catastrophe related
losses for the year ended December 31, 2013 were $38.7
million, compared to $193.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012, a decrease of $154.7 million.
Catastrophe losses in 2012 included $124.8 million of pre-
tax losses related to Superstorm Sandy. Unfavorable devel-
opment on prior years’ loss reserves for the year ended
December 31, 2013 was $3.3 million, compared to unfa-
vorable development of $29.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012, a decrease of $25.7 million. 

Commercial Lines current accident year underwriting
profit, excluding catastrophes, was $31.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2013, compared to a loss of $1.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2012. This $32.8
million improvement in current accident year results was
primarily due to lower losses in our commercial multiple
peril, surety and workers’ compensation lines, partially off-
set by higher losses in our commercial automobile line.
The improvement in current accident year losses in our
commercial multiple peril and surety lines was primarily
due to fewer large losses and underwriting actions, while
commercial multiple peril also benefited from price
increases. The improvement in current accident year loss-
es in our workers’ compensation line primarily resulted
from price increases. In our commercial automobile line,
current accident year losses increased in our liability
 coverages. 

Personal Lines 

Personal Lines net premiums written were $1,428.0 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to
$1,475.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, a
decrease of $47.6 million. The primary factors contribut-
ing to this decrease were our continued property-focused
exposure management actions and actions to improve
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underwriting results in all lines of business. These decreas-
es were partially offset by higher rates in both our home-
owners and personal automobile lines. 

Net premiums written in the personal automobile line
of business for the year ended December 31, 2013 were
$890.3 million compared to $922.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012, a decrease of $32.4 million.
This decrease was primarily due to a decline in policies in
force of 11.0%, primarily from ongoing exposure manage-
ment actions and actions to improve underwriting results.
This reduction in policies in force was partially offset by
rate increases. Net premiums written in the homeowners
line of business for the year ended December 31, 2013
were $496.7 million compared to $510.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012, a decrease of $13.5 mil-
lion. This was attributable to a decline in policies in force
of 11.7%, as a result of aforementioned exposure manage-
ment actions, partially offset by rate increases. 

Personal Lines underwriting profit for the year ended
December 31, 2013 was $37.6 million, compared to a loss
of $67.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, an
improvement of $104.9 million. This was primarily due to
decreased catastrophe losses and improved non-catastro-
phe current accident year results. Catastrophe losses for
the year ended December 31, 2013 were $66.9 million,
compared to $134.8 million for the year ended December
31, 2012, a decrease of $67.9 million. Catastrophe losses
in 2012 included $45.2 million of pre-tax losses related to
Superstorm Sandy. Unfavorable development on prior
years’ loss reserves for the year ended December 31, 2013
was $13.7 million, compared to unfavorable development
of $26.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, a
change of $12.8 million. 

Personal Lines current accident year underwriting prof-
it, excluding catastrophes, was $118.2 million in the year
ended December 31, 2013, compared to $94.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2012. This $24.2 million
improvement in non-catastrophe current accident year
results was primarily due to lower losses in our homeown-
ers line. 

Chaucer 

Chaucer’s net premiums written were $1,117.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $990.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase
of $127.0 million, or 12.8%. This growth was primarily due
to the aforementioned increase in Chaucer’s economic
interests in Syndicate 1084. Written premium growth was
also driven by growth in our marine, casualty, and proper-
ty lines, due to favorable pricing and specific underwriting
opportunities in these markets. Partially offsetting this
growth was a reduction in net premiums written in our

energy line, primarily due to a reduction of estimated pre-
miums for the exploration and production coverage class,
specifically control of well business, and the construction
coverage class. This change was based on a reduced vol-
ume in actual well footage drilled, following tighter safety
regulations worldwide and a reduction of offshore gas
exploration in the U.S., and a reduced number and size of
new construction projects worldwide. Additionally, strong
market competition decreased net premiums in our avia-
tion line. 

Chaucer’s underwriting profit for the year ended
December 31, 2013 was $107.7 million, compared to
$93.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, an
improvement of $14.2 million. These improved results
were primarily due to increased favorable development on
prior years’ loss reserves and lower catastrophe losses, par-
tially offset by higher non-catastrophe losses. Favorable
development on prior years’ loss reserves for the year ended
December 31, 2013 was $94.6 million, compared to $72.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2012, a change
of $22.0 million. Catastrophe losses for the year ended
December 31, 2013 were $34.4 million, compared to
$41.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, a
decrease of $7.3 million. Higher non-catastrophe losses
were primarily due to several single large losses in our
energy, U.K. motor and aviation lines. 

Other 

Other operating losses were $8.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013, compared to $6.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2012. The $1.1 million
increased loss was primarily due to higher employee retire-
ment costs. 

RESERVE FOR LOSSES AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES 

Overview of Loss Reserve Estimation Process
We maintain reserves for our property and casualty prod-
ucts to provide for our ultimate liability for losses and loss
adjustment expenses (our “loss reserves”) with respect to
reported and unreported claims incurred as of the end of
each accounting period. These reserves are estimates, tak-
ing into account past loss experience, modified for current
trends, as well as prevailing economic, legal and social
conditions. Loss reserves represent our largest liability.

Management’s process for establishing loss reserves is a
comprehensive process that involves input from multiple
functions throughout our organization, including finance,
actuarial, claims, legal, underwriting, distribution and
business operations management. The process incorpo-
rates facts currently known and the current, and in some
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cases, the anticipated, state of the law and coverage litiga-
tion. Based on information currently available, we believe
that the aggregate loss reserves at December 31, 2014
were adequate to cover claims for losses that had occurred
as of that date, including both those known to us and those
yet to be reported. However, as described below, there are
significant uncertainties inherent in the loss reserving
process. Our estimate of the ultimate liability for losses
that had occurred as of December 31, 2014 is expected to
change in future periods as we obtain further information,
and such changes could have a material effect on our
results of operations and financial condition. 

Our loss reserves include case estimates for claims that
have been reported and estimates for claims that have been
incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) at the balance sheet
date. They also include estimates of the expenses associat-
ed with processing and settling all reported and unreport-
ed claims, less estimates of anticipated salvage and
subrogation recoveries. Our property and casualty loss
reserves are not discounted to present value. 

Case reserves are established by our claim personnel
individually on a claim by claim basis and based on infor-
mation specific to the occurrence and terms of the under-
lying policy. For some classes of business, average case
reserves are used initially. Case reserves are periodically
reviewed and modified based on new or additional infor-
mation pertaining to the claim. 

IBNR reserves are estimated by management and our
reserving actuaries on an aggregate basis for each line of
business or coverage for loss and loss expense liabilities not
reflected within the case reserves. The sum of the case
reserves and the IBNR reserves represents our estimate of
total unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses. 

We regularly review our loss reserves using a variety of
industry accepted analytical techniques. We update the
loss reserves as historical loss experience develops, addi-
tional claims are reported and resolved and new informa-
tion becomes available. Net changes in loss reserves are
reflected in operating results in the period in which the
reserves are changed. 

The IBNR reserve includes a provision for claims that
have occurred but have not yet been reported to us, some
of which may not yet be known to the insured, as well as a
provision for future development on reported claims.
IBNR represents a significant proportion of our total net
loss reserves, particularly for long-tail liability classes. In
fact, approximately 48% of our aggregate net loss reserves
at December 31, 2014 were for IBNR losses and loss
expenses. 

Critical Judgments and Key Assumptions 
We determine the amount of our loss reserves based on an
estimation process that is very complex and uses informa-
tion from both company specific and industry data, as well
as general economic and other information. The estima-
tion process is a combination of objective and subjective
information, the blending of which requires significant
professional judgment. There are various assumptions
required, including future trends in frequency and severity
of claims, operational changes in claim handling, and
trends related to general economic and social conditions.
Informed subjective estimates and judgments as to our
ultimate exposure to losses are an integral component of
our loss reserve estimation process. 

Given the inherent complexity of our loss reserve esti-
mation process and the potential variability of the assump-
tions used, the actual emergence of losses will vary,
perhaps substantially, from the estimate of losses included
in our financial statements, particularly in those instances
where settlements or other claim resolutions do not occur
until well into the future. Our net loss reserves at
December 31, 2014 were $4.5 billion. Therefore, a rela-
tively small percentage change in the estimate of net loss
reserves would have a material effect on our results of
operations. 

There is greater inherent uncertainty in estimating
insurance reserves for certain types of property and casu-
alty insurance lines, particularly liability lines, where a
longer period of time may elapse before a definitive deter-
mination of ultimate liability and losses may be made. In
addition, the technological, judicial, regulatory and politi-
cal climates involving these types of claims are continuous-
ly evolving. There is also greater uncertainty in establishing
reserves with respect to business that is new to us, partic-
ularly new business which is generated with respect to
newly introduced product lines, by newly appointed agents
or in geographies in which we have less experience in con-
ducting business, such as the program business written by
AIX Holdings, Inc. (“AIX”), Chaucer’s U.S. casualty treaty
and international liability lines, our professional liability
specialty lines, and business written in the western part of
the United States. In some of these cases, there is less his-
torical experience or knowledge and less data upon which
we can rely. A combination of business that is both new to
us and has longer development periods, provides even
greater uncertainty in estimating insurance reserves. In
our management and professional liability, we are modest-
ly increasing, and expect to continue to increase, our expo-
sure to longer-tailed liability lines, including directors and
officers liability, errors and omissions liability and product
liability coverages. The Chaucer business acquired in 2011
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contains several international and U.S. liability lines, of
which financial institution and professional liability, U.S.
casualty treaty liability, international liability and energy
liability, contribute the most uncertainty. A significant por-
tion of Chaucer’s growth in 2014 was due to our expanded
underwriting capabilities in our U.S. casualty treaty lines. 

We regularly update our reserve estimates as new infor-
mation becomes available and additional events occur
which may impact the resolution of unsettled claims.
Reserve adjustments are reflected in the results of opera-
tions as adjustments to losses and LAE. Often, these
adjustments are recognized in periods subsequent to the
period in which the underlying policy was written and the
loss event occurred. When these types of subsequent
adjustments affect prior years, they are described separate-
ly as “prior year reserve development”. Such development
can be either favorable or unfavorable to our financial
results and may vary by line of business. As discussed
below, estimated loss and LAE reserves for claims occur-
ring in prior years developed favorably by $99.1 million,
$76.3 million, and $15.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.
However, we have experienced unfavorable development
and there can be no assurance that current loss and LAE
reserves will be sufficient. 

We regularly review our reserving techniques, our over-
all reserving position and our reinsurance. Based on (i) our
review of historical data, legislative enactments, judicial
decisions, legal developments in impositions of damages
and policy coverage, political attitudes and trends in gen-
eral economic conditions, (ii) our review of per claim infor-
mation, (iii) our historical loss experience and that of the
industry, (iv) the nature of policies written by us, and (v)
our internal estimates of required reserves, we believe that
adequate provision has been made for loss reserves.
However, establishment of appropriate reserves is an
inherently uncertain process and there can be no certain-
ty that current established reserves will prove adequate in
light of subsequent actual experience. A significant change
to the estimated reserves could have a material impact on
our results of operations and financial position. An
increase or decrease in reserve estimates would result in a
corresponding decrease or increase in financial results. For
example, each one percentage point change in the aggre-
gate loss and LAE ratio resulting from a change in reserve
estimation is currently projected to have an approximate
$47 million impact on operating income, based on 2014
full year premiums. 

The major causes of material uncertainty relating to
ultimate losses and LAE (“risk factors”) generally vary for
each line of business, as well as for each separately ana-

lyzed component of the line of business. In some cases,
such risk factors are explicit assumptions of the estimation
method and in others, they are implicit. For example, a
method may explicitly assume that a certain percentage of
claims will close each year, but will implicitly assume that
the legal interpretation of existing contract language will
remain unchanged. Actual results will likely vary from
expectations for each of these assumptions, resulting in an
ultimate claim liability that is different from that being
estimated currently. 

Some risk factors affect multiple lines of business.
Examples include changes in claim department practices,
changes in settlement patterns, regulatory and legislative
actions, court actions, timeliness of claim reporting, state
mix of claimants, and degree of claimant fraud.
Additionally, there is also a higher degree of uncertainty
due to growth in our newly acquired businesses, with
respect to which we have less familiarity and, in some
cases, limited historical claims experience. The extent of
the impact of a risk factor will also vary by components
within a line of business. Individual risk factors are subject
to interactions with other risk factors within line of busi-
ness components. Thus, risk factors can have offsetting or
compounding effects on required reserves. 

Inflation generally increases the cost of losses covered
by insurance contracts. The effect of inflation varies by
product. Our property and casualty insurance premiums
are established before the amount of losses and LAE and
the extent to which inflation may affect such expenses are
known. Consequently, we attempt, in establishing rates
and reserves, to anticipate the potential impact of inflation
in the projection of ultimate costs. For example, we have
experienced increasing medical and attendant care costs,
including those associated with automobile personal injury
protection claims, particularly in Michigan, as well as in
our workers’ compensation line in most states. Also, the
U.K. motor business written by Chaucer recently has expe-
rienced high levels of claims inflation and increases in
potential fraud-type claims. Increases are reflected in our
current reserve estimates, but continued increases could
contribute to increased losses and LAE in the future. 

We are also defendants in various litigation matters,
including putative class actions, which may claim punitive
damages, bad faith or extra-contractual damages, legal fees
and interest, or claim a broader scope of policy coverage or
settlement and payment obligations than our interpreta-
tion. Resolution of these cases are often highly unpre-
dictable and could involve material unanticipated damage
awards. 
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Loss and LAE Reserves by Line of Business 
Reserving Process Overview 

Our loss reserves include amounts related to short-tail and
long-tail classes of business. “Tail” refers to the time peri-
od between the occurrence of a loss and the final settle-
ment of the claim. The longer the time span between the
incidence of a loss and the settlement of the claim (i.e. a
longer tail), the more the ultimate settlement amount may
likely vary from our original estimate. 

Short-tail classes consist principally of automobile phys-
ical damage, homeowners property, commercial property
and marine business. The Chaucer business, while having
more longer-tail coverages than our traditional U.S. busi-
ness, contains a substantial book of U.K. motor property
damage, worldwide property insurance and reinsurance
business, including certain high excess property layers,
marine property, aviation property and energy property
business which has relatively short development patterns.
For these property coverages, claims are generally reported
and settled shortly after the loss occurs because the claims
relate to tangible property and are more likely to be discov-
ered shortly after the loss occurs, and property losses are
often more easily valued. Consequently, the estimation of
loss reserves for these classes is generally less complex.
However, this is less true for our Chaucer reinsurance
business and high excess property layers where there is
often a longer period of time between the date a claim is
incurred and the date the claim is reported compared with
our direct insurance operations. Therefore, the risk of
delayed recognition of loss reserve development is higher
for our assumed reinsurance and high excess property lay-
ers than for our direct insurance lines. 

While we estimate that a majority of our written premi-
um is in what we would characterize as shorter-tailed
classes of business, most of our loss reserves relate to
longer-tail liability classes of business. Long-tailed classes
include commercial liability, automobile liability, workers’
compensation and other types of third party coverage.
Chaucer’s longer-tailed lines include aviation liability,
marine liability, energy liability, nuclear liability, U.K.
motor medical and liability, U.S. casualty treaty liability,
international liability, specialist liability, and financial insti-
tutions and professional liability. For many liability claims,
significant periods of time, ranging up to several years or
more, may elapse between the occurrence of the loss, the
discovery and reporting of the loss to us and the settlement
of the claim. As a result, loss experience in the more recent
accident years for long-tailed liability coverage has limited
statistical credibility because a relatively small proportion
of losses in these accident years (the calendar years in
which losses are incurred) are reported claims and an even
smaller proportion are paid losses. Liability claims are also
more susceptible to litigation and can be significantly

affected by changing contract interpretations, the legal
environment and the risk and expense of protracted litiga-
tion. Consequently, the estimation of loss reserves for
these coverages is more complex and typically subject to a
higher degree of variability and uncertainty compared to
short-tailed coverages. 

Most of our indirect business from voluntary and invol-
untary pools is long-tailed casualty reinsurance. Reserve
estimates for this business are therefore subject to the vari-
ability caused by extended loss emergence periods. The
estimation of loss reserves for this business is further com-
plicated by delays between the time the claim is reported
to the ceding insurer and when it is reported by the ceding
insurer to the pool manager and then to us, and by our
dependence on the quality and consistency of the loss
reporting by the ceding company and actuarial estimates
by the pool manager. 

A comprehensive review of loss reserves for each of the
classes of business which we write is conducted regularly,
generally quarterly. This review process takes into consid-
eration a variety of trends that impact the ultimate settle-
ment of claims. Where appropriate, the review includes a
review of overall payment patterns and the emergence of
paid and reported losses relative to expectations. 

The loss reserve estimation process relies on the basic
assumption that past experience, adjusted for the effects of
current developments and likely trends, is an appropriate
basis for predicting future outcomes. As part of this
process, we use a variety of analytical methods that consid-
er experience, trends and other relevant factors. IBNR
reserves are generally calculated by first projecting the ulti-
mate cost of all claims that have been reported or expect-
ed to be reported in the future and then subtracting
reported losses and loss expenses. Reported losses include
cumulative paid losses and loss expenses plus case
reserves. Within the comprehensive loss reserving process,
standard actuarial methods which include: (1) loss devel-
opment factor methods; (2) expected loss methods
(Bornheutter-Ferguson); and (3) adjusted loss methods
(Berquist-Sherman), are given due consideration. These
methods are described below:
• Loss development factor methods generally assume that

the losses yet to emerge for an accident year are propor-
tional to the paid or reported loss amount observed to
date. Historical patterns of the development of paid and
reported losses by accident year can be predictive of the
expected future patterns that are applied to current paid
and reported losses to generate estimated ultimate loss-
es by accident year. 

• Bornheutter-Ferguson methods utilize the product of
the expected ultimate losses times the proportion of
ultimate losses estimated to be unreported or unpaid to
calculate IBNR. The expected ultimate losses are based
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upon current estimates of ultimate losses from prior
accident years, adjusted to reflect expected earned pre-
mium, current rating, claims cost levels and changes in
business mix. The expected losses, and corresponding
loss ratios, are a critical component of Bornheutter-
Ferguson methodologies and provide a general reason-
ability guide.

• Berquist-Sherman methods are used for estimating
reserves in business lines where historical development
patterns may be deemed less reliable for more recent
accident years’ ultimate losses. Under these methods,
patterns of historical paid or reported losses are first
adjusted to reflect current payment settlement patterns
and case reserve adequacy and then evaluated in the
same manner as the loss development factor methods
described above. When the adequacy of case reserves
change, the Berquist-Sherman incurred method may be
deemed more reliable than the reported loss develop-
ment factor method. Likewise, when the settlement pat-
terns change, the Berquist-Sherman paid method may
be deemed more reliable than the paid loss development
factor method.

In addition to the methods described above, various tai-
lored reserving methodologies are used for certain busi-
nesses. For example, for some low volume and high
volatility classes of business, special reserving techniques
are utilized that estimate IBNR by selecting the loss ratio
that balances actual reported losses to expected reported
losses as defined by the estimated underlying reporting
pattern. Also, for some classes with long exposure periods
(e.g. energy construction, engineering and political risks),
earnings patterns plus an estimated reporting lag applied
to the Bornheutter-Ferguson initial expected loss ratio are
used to estimate IBNR. This is done in order to reflect the
changing average exposure periods by policy year (and con-
sequently accident year). 

In completing the loss reserve analysis, a variety of
assumptions must be made for each line of business, cov-
erage and accident year. Each estimation method has its
own pattern, parameter and/or judgmental dependencies,
with no estimation method being better than the others in
all situations. The relative strengths and weaknesses of the
various estimation methods, when applied to a particular
class of business, can also change over time, depending on
the underlying circumstances. In many cases, multiple
estimation methods will be valid for the particular facts
and circumstances of the relevant class of business. The
manner of application and the degree of reliance on a
given method will vary by line of business and coverage,
and by accident year based on an evaluation of the above
dependencies and the potential volatility of the loss fre-
quency and severity patterns. The estimation methods

selected or given weight at a particular valuation date are
those that are believed to produce the most reliable indica-
tion for the loss reserves being evaluated. Selections incor-
porate input from claims personnel, pricing actuaries, and
underwriting management on loss cost trends and other
factors that could affect ultimate losses. 

For most classes of shorter-tailed business in our
Commercial and Personal Lines segments, the emergence
of paid and incurred losses generally exhibits a relatively
stable pattern of loss development from one accident year
to the next. Thus, for these classes, the loss development
factor method is generally appropriate. For many of the
classes of shorter-tailed business in our Chaucer segment,
the emergence of paid and incurred losses may exhibit a
relatively volatile pattern of loss development from one
accident year to the next. In certain cases where there is a
relatively low level of reliability placed on the available paid
and incurred loss data, expected loss methods or adjusted
loss methods are considered appropriate for the most
recent accident year. 

For longer-tailed lines of business, applying the loss
development factor method often requires even more judg-
ment in selecting development factors, as well as more sig-
nificant extrapolation. For those long-tailed lines of
business with high frequency and relatively low per-loss
severity (e.g., personal automobile liability), volatility will
often be sufficiently modest for the loss development fac-
tor method to be given significant weight, even in the most
recent accident years, but expected loss methods and
adjusted loss methods are always considered and frequent-
ly utilized in the selection process. For those long-tailed
lines of business with low frequency and high loss poten-
tial (e.g., commercial liability), anticipated loss experience
is less predictable because of the small number of claims
and erratic claim severity patterns. In these situations, the
loss development factor methods may not produce a reli-
able estimate of ultimate losses in the most recent accident
years since many claims either have not yet been reported
or are only in the early stages of the settlement process.
Therefore, the loss reserve estimates for these accident
years are based on methods less reliant on extrapolation,
such as Bornheutter-Ferguson. Over time, as a greater
number of claims are reported and the statistical credibili-
ty of loss experience increases, loss development factor
methods or adjusted loss methods are given increasing
weight. 

Management endeavors to apply as much available data
as practicable to estimate the loss reserve amount for each
line of business, coverage and accident year, utilizing vary-
ing assumptions, projections and methods. The ultimate
outcome is likely to fall within a range of potential out-
comes around this loss reserve estimated amount. 
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Our carried reserves for each line of business and cov-
erage are determined based on this quarterly loss reserving
process. In making the determination, we consider numer-
ous quantitative and qualitative factors. Quantitative fac-
tors include changes in reserve estimates in the period, the
maturity of the accident year, trends observed over the
recent past, the level of volatility within a particular class
of business, the estimated effects of reinsurance, including
reinstatement premiums, general economic trends, and
other factors. Qualitative factors may include legal and
regulatory developments, changes in claim handling,
recent entry into new markets or products, changes in
underwriting practices, concerns that we do not have suf-
ficient or quality historical reported and paid loss and LAE
information with respect to a particular line or segment of
our business, effects of the economy and political outlook,
perceived anomalies in the historical results, evolving
trends or other factors. In doing so, we must evaluate
whether a change in the data represents credible action-
able information or an anomaly. Such an assessment
requires considerable judgment. Even if a change is deter-
mined to be apparent, it is not always possible to determine
the extent of the change. As a result, there can be a time
lag between the emergence of a change and a determina-
tion that the change should be partially or fully reflected in
the carried loss reserves. In general, changes are made
more quickly to reserves for more mature accident years
and less volatile classes of business. 

Reserving Process Uncertainties 

As stated above, numerous factors (both internal and
external) contribute to the inherent uncertainty in the
process of establishing loss reserves, including changes in
the rate of inflation for goods and services related to
insured damages (e.g., medical care, home repairs, etc.),
changes in the judicial interpretation of policy provisions,
and settlement obligations, changes in the general attitude
of juries in determining damage awards, legislative actions,
changes in the extent of insured injuries, changes in the
trend of expected frequency and/or severity of claims,
changes in our book of business (e.g., change in mix due to
new product offerings, new geographic areas, etc.),
changes in our underwriting practices, and changes in
claim handling procedures and/or systems. Regarding our
indirect business from voluntary and involuntary pools, we
are provided loss estimates by managers of each pool. We
adopt reserve estimates for the pools that consider this
information and other facts. 

In addition, we must consider the uncertain effects of
emerging or potential claims and coverage issues that arise
as legal, judicial, social conditions, political risks, and eco-
nomic conditions change. For example, claims which we

consider closed may be re-opened as additional damages
surface or new liability or damage theories are presented.
These and other issues could have a negative effect on our
loss reserves by either extending coverage beyond the orig-
inal underwriting intent or by increasing the number or
size of claims. 

As part of our loss reserving analysis, we consider the
various factors that contribute to the uncertainty in the
loss reserving process. Those factors that could materially
affect our loss reserve estimates include loss development
patterns and loss cost trends, reporting lags, rate and expo-
sure level changes, the effects of changes in coverage and
policy limits, business mix shifts, the effects of regulatory
and legislative developments, the effects of changes in
judicial interpretations, the effects of emerging claims and
coverage issues and the effects of changes in claim han-
dling practices. In making estimates of reserves, however,
we do not necessarily make an explicit assumption for each
of these factors. Moreover, all estimation methods do not
utilize the same assumptions and typically no single
method is determinative in the reserve analysis for a line of
business and coverage. Consequently, changes in our loss
reserve estimates generally are not the result of changes in
any one assumption. Instead, the variability will be affect-
ed by the interplay of changes in numerous assumptions,
many of which are implicit to the approaches used. 

For each line of business and coverage, we regularly
adjust the assumptions and methods used in the estima-
tion of loss reserves in response to our actual loss experi-
ence, as well as our judgments regarding changes in trends
and/or emerging patterns. In those instances where we pri-
marily utilize analyses of historical patterns of the develop-
ment of paid and reported losses, this may be reflected, for
example, in the selection of revised loss development fac-
tors. In longer-tailed classes of business and for which loss
experience is less predictable due to potential changes in
judicial interpretations, potential legislative actions, the
cost of litigation or determining liability and the ultimate
loss, inflation and potential claims issues, this may be
reflected in a judgmental change in our estimate of ulti-
mate losses for particular accident years. 

The Chaucer segment contains run-off business com-
prised of liability lines, notably financial institutions and
professional liability business written by Lloyd’s Syndicate
4000. There is particular uncertainty around the reserve
estimates in respect of business written in 2007 and 2008
which have been subject to claims arising out of the finan-
cial turmoil in that time period, particularly in the finan-
cial institutions book. These claims are unlikely to be
settled for some time since they contain numerous cover-
age issues and in many cases involve class action lawsuits
that are likely to take several years to resolve. We have uti-
lized substantially all of our available reinsurance with
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respect to losses and LAE related to Syndicate 4000 busi-
ness written in 2008. Effective January 1, 2014, Syndicate
1084 accepted the reinsurance to close of the unpaid lia-
bilities of Syndicate 4000 for the 2008 year of account and
prior. This transaction resulted in the closure of the
Syndicate 4000 and has no impact on a consolidated basis. 

The future impact of the various factors that contribute
to the uncertainty in the loss reserving process is impossi-
ble to predict. There is potential for significant variation in
the development of loss reserves, particularly for long-
tailed classes of business and classes of business that are
more vulnerable to economic or political risks. We do not
derive statistical loss distributions or confidence levels
around our loss reserve estimate, and as a result, we do not
establish reserve range estimates. 

Reserving Process for Catastrophe Events 

The estimation of claims and claims expense reserves for
catastrophes also comprises estimates of losses from
reported claims and IBNR, primarily for damage to proper-
ty. In general, our estimates for catastrophe reserves are
determined on an event basis by considering various
sources of available information, including specific loss
estimates reported to us based on claim adjuster inspec-
tions, overall industry loss estimates, and our internal data
regarding exposures related to the geographical location of
the event. However, depending on the nature of the catas-
trophe, the estimation process can be further complicated
by other impediments. For example, for hurricanes and
other severe wind storms, complications often include the
inability of insureds to promptly report losses, delays in the
ability of claims adjusting staff to inspect losses, difficul-
ties in determining whether losses are covered by our
homeowners policy (generally for damage caused by wind
or wind driven rain) or are specifically excluded from cov-
erage caused by flood, and challenges in estimating addi-
tional living expenses, assessing the impact of demand
surge, exposure to mold damage, and the effects of numer-
ous other considerations. Another example is the compli-
cation of estimating the cost of business interruption
coverage on commercial lines policies. Estimates for catas-
trophes which occur at or near the end of a financial
reporting period may be even less reliable since we will
have less claims data available and little time to complete
our estimation process. In such situations, we may adapt
our practices to accommodate the circumstances. 

For events designated as catastrophes which affect our
Commercial and Personal Lines business segments, we
generally calculate IBNR reserves directly as a result of an
estimated IBNR claim count and an estimated average
claim amount for each event. Such an assessment involves
a comprehensive analysis of the nature of the event, of pol-
icyholder exposures within the affected geographic area

and of available claims intelligence. Depending on the
nature of the event, available claims intelligence could
include surveys of field claims associates within the affect-
ed geographic area, feedback from a catastrophe claims
team sent into the area, as well as data on claims reported
as of the financial statement date. In addition, loss emer-
gence from similar historical events is compared to the
estimated IBNR for our current catastrophe events to help
assess the reasonableness of our estimates. 

For events designated as catastrophes which affect our
Chaucer business segment, we initially calculate IBNR
reserves using a ground up exposure by exposure analysis
based on each cedant or insured. These are supported by
broker supplied information, catastrophe modeling and
industry event estimates. As more specific claim level data
becomes available over time for each catastrophe event,
these initial estimates are revised and updated by looking
at the paid and incurred claim development and by consid-
ering it in comparison to previous catastrophe loss events. 

Reserving Sensitivity Analysis 

The following discussion presents disclosure related to
possible variation in net reserve estimates due to changes
in key assumptions. This information is provided for illus-
trative purposes only. Many other assumptions may also
lead to material reserve adjustments. If any such variations
do occur, they would likely occur over a period of several
years and therefore their impact on our results of opera-
tions would be recognized during the same periods. It is
important to note, however, that there is the potential for
future variations greater than the amounts described below
and for any such variations to be recognized in a single
quarterly or annual period. No consideration has been
given to potential correlation or lack of correlation among
key assumptions or among lines of business and coverage
as described below. As a result and because there are so
many other factors which affect our net reserve estimate,
it would be inappropriate to take the amounts described
below and simply add them together in an attempt to esti-
mate volatility in total. While we believe these are reason-
ably likely scenarios, the reader should not consider the
following sensitivity analysis as illustrative of a reserve
range. 
• Personal and Commercial Automobile Bodily Injury –

reserves recorded for bodily injury on U.S. voluntary
business were $489.8 million as of December 31, 2014.
A key assumption for bodily injury is the inflation rate
underlying the estimated reserve. A five point change
(e.g. 4% changed to 9% or -1%) in the embedded infla-
tion rate would have changed estimated IBNR by
approximately $58 million, either positive or negative,
respectively, at December 31, 2014. 
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• Personal Automobile Personal Injury Protection
Medical Payment – reserves recorded for personal
injury protection medical payment on U.S. voluntary
business were $169.6 million as of December 31, 2014.
A key assumption for this coverage is the inflation rate
underlying the estimated reserve. Given the long report-
ing pattern for this line of business, an additional key
assumption is the amount of additional development
required to reach full maturity, thereby reflecting ulti-
mate costs, as represented by the tail factor. A five point
change in the embedded inflation rate and a one point
change to the tail factor assumption (e.g. 1.02 changed
to 1.01 or 1.03) would have changed estimated IBNR by
approximately $26 million, either positive or negative, at
December 31, 2014. 

• Workers’ Compensation – reserves recorded for workers’
compensation on U.S. voluntary business were $371.7
million as of December 31, 2014. A key assumption for
workers’ compensation is the inflation rate underlying
the estimated reserve. Given the long reporting pattern
for this line of business, an additional key assumption is
the amount of additional development required to reach
full maturity, thereby reflecting ultimate costs, as repre-
sented by the tail factor. A five point change in the
embedded inflation rate and a one point change to the
tail factor assumption would have changed estimated
IBNR by approximately $40 million, either positive or
negative, at December 31, 2014. 

• Monoline and Multi-Peril General Liability – reserves
recorded for general liability on U.S. voluntary business
were $469.0 million as of December 31, 2014. A key
assumption for general liability is the implied adequacy
of the underlying case reserves. A ten point change in
case adequacy (e.g. 10% deficiency changed to 0% or
20% deficiency) would have changed estimated IBNR
by approximately $36 million, either positive or nega-
tive, at December 31, 2014. 

• Specialty Programs – reserves recorded (including allo-
cated LAE) for the AIX Companies were $255.7 million
as of December 31, 2014. Two key assumptions under-
lying the actuarial reserve analysis for specialty pro-
grams are the expected loss and allocated LAE ratio
(“ELR”) and the tail factor selection. A ten point change
to the ELR and a five point change in the tail factor on
AIX would have changed estimated IBNR by approxi-
mately $25 million at December 31, 2014. 

• New classes of business – reserves recorded for new
classes of Chaucer business (primarily within interna-
tional liability, U.S. casualty treaty and engineering
lines) were $245 million as of December 31, 2014. An
increase in the ultimate loss ratio by 5%, 10% and 15%
in the 2012 and prior, 2013, and 2014 years of account,
respectively, on these classes would have increased esti-
mated IBNR by approximately $50 million at December
31, 2014. 

• Casualty classes of business – reserves recorded for
casualty classes of Chaucer business were $369 million
as of December 31, 2014. An increase in the ultimate
loss ratio of 2.5% across all classes and years of account
would have increased estimated IBNR by approximately
$31 million at December 31, 2014. 

Carried Reserves and Reserve Rollforward

The table below provides a reconciliation of the gross
beginning and ending reserve for unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Gross loss and LAE reserves, 
beginning of year $6,231.5 $6,197.0 $ 5,760.3

Reinsurance recoverable 
on unpaid losses 2,030.4 2,074.3 1,931.8

Net loss and LAE reserves, 
beginning of year 4,201.1 4,122.7 3,828.5

Net incurred losses and LAE in 
respect of losses occurring in:

Current year 3,026.6 2,837.4 2,990.2
Prior years (99.1) (76.3) (15.8)

Total incurred losses and LAE 2,927.5 2,761.1 2,974.4

Net payments of losses and LAE 
in respect of losses occurring in:

Current year 1,328.7 1,213.5 1,317.6
Prior years 1,398.9 1,469.8 1,396.5

Total payments 2,727.6 2,683.3 2,714.1

Chaucer Flagstone Reinsurance 
commutation impact 85.7 — —

Effect of foreign exchange 
rate changes (78.0) 0.6 33.9

Net reserve for losses and LAE, 
end of year 4,408.7 4,201.1 4,122.7

Reinsurance recoverable 
on unpaid losses 1,983.0 2,030.4 2,074.3

Gross reserve for losses and 
LAE, end of year $6,391.7 $6,231.5 $ 6,197.0
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The table below summarizes the gross reserve for losses
and LAE by line of business.

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Commercial multiple peril $ 661.5 $ 597.5 $ 629.7
Workers’ compensation 615.2 596.1 571.8
Commercial automobile 307.8 297.9 269.7
AIX 342.9 337.5 321.6
Other 510.1 470.7 454.2

Total Commercial and Other 2,437.5 2,299.7 2,247.0

Personal automobile 1,407.0 1,413.1 1,400.7
Homeowners and other personal 121.4 137.2 141.3

Total Personal 1,528.4 1,550.3 1,542.0

Total Chaucer 2,425.8 2,381.5 2,408.0

Total loss and LAE reserves $6,391.7 $6,231.5 $6,197.0

Other lines are primarily comprised of our general lia-
bility, umbrella, professional and management liability,
marine, voluntary pools, surety, and healthcare lines.
Included in the above table, primarily in other lines, are
$60.6 million, $61.9 million and $60.5 million of asbestos
and environmental reserves as of December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively. Included in the Chaucer seg-
ment in the above table are $203.3 million, $230.6 million
and $272.4 million of reserves as of December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively, related to Chaucer’s financial
and professional liability lines written in 2008 and prior
period. 

Prior Year Development 
Loss and LAE reserves for claims occurring in prior years
developed favorably by $99.1 million, $76.3 million and
$15.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively. The 2014 activity by segment
includes favorable development of $104.6 million for
Chaucer, and $5.1 million in Personal Lines, partially off-
set by unfavorable development of $10.6 for Commercial
Lines and Other. The 2013 activity by segment includes
favorable development of $94.6 million for Chaucer, par-
tially offset by unfavorable development of $18.3 million in
our domestic operations, consisting of $3.3 million, $13.7
million and $1.3 million for Commercial Lines, Personal
Lines and Other, respectively. 

The primary drivers of reserve development for the year
ended December 31, 2014 were as follows:
• Lower than expected losses within Chaucer’s business

as follows: 

• marine and aviation lines, primarily in the 2011
through 2013 accident years, 

• within casualty and other lines, specialist liability
lines, primarily in the 2010 and 2013 accident years, 

• property line, primarily in the 2010 through 2013
accident years, and 

• favorable impact of foreign exchange rate movements
on prior years’ loss reserves. 

• Lower than expected losses within our personal auto-
mobile line, primarily related to accident year 2013.

• Lower than expected losses within our workers’ com-
pensation line, primarily related to accident years 2007
through 2012.

• Lower than expected losses within our commercial mul-
tiple peril line, primarily related to accident years 2012
and 2013. 

Partially offsetting the favorable development discussed
above was the following: 
• Higher than expected large losses within our commer-

cial automobile coverages, which includes our AIX pro-
gram business, primarily related to liability coverage in
accident years 2009 through 2012. 

The primary drivers of reserve development for the year
ended December 31, 2013 were as follows: 
• Lower than expected losses within Chaucer’s business

as follows: 

• energy line, primarily in the 2009 through 2012 acci-
dent years, 

• property line, primarily in the 2011 and 2012 accident
years, 

• within casualty and other lines, specialist liability
lines, primarily in the 2008 accident year, 

• marine and aviation line, primarily in the 2010
through 2012 accident years, and 

• favorable impact of foreign exchange rate movements
on prior years’ loss reserves. 

• Lower than expected losses within our workers’ com-
pensation line, primarily related to accident years 2006
through 2011 and lower involuntary pool losses includ-
ing a $3.2 million benefit from the settlement of a legal
proceeding. 

• Lower than expected losses within our commercial
multi-peril line, primarily related to accident year 2012. 

Partially offsetting the favorable development discussed
above were the following: 
• Higher than expected losses within our personal auto-

mobile line, due to severity in bodily injury coverage for
accident years 2010 through 2012. 

• Higher than expected large losses within our commer-
cial automobile line, primarily related to liability cover-
age in accident years 2009 through 2011. 

• Higher than expected losses within our other commer-
cial lines, primarily related to accident years 2010
through 2012. 
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The primary drivers of reserve development for the year
ended December 31, 2012 were as follows: 
• Favorable development of previously established

reserves in Chaucer’s lines of business as follows: 

• energy line, primarily in the 2008 through 2011 acci-
dent years, 

• marine and aviation lines, primarily in the 2007
through 2011 accident years, 

• within casualty lines, primarily in the 2010 and 2011
accident years, and 

• property line, primarily in the 2009 through 2011
accident years. 

• Favorable development within Commercial Lines was
due to lower than expected losses within our commer-
cial multiple peril line related to the 2008 through 2011
accident years. 

Partially offsetting the favorable development discussed
above were the following: 
• Within other commercial lines, higher than expected

losses in our contract surety line due to the challenging
macroeconomic environment for contractors, and to a
lesser extent, our AIX program business primarily relat-
ed to unexpected severity in commercial automobile lia-
bility, commercial multiple peril and general liability in
a limited number of programs. 

• Within Personal Lines, higher than expected losses
within our personal automobile line, primarily related to
bodily injury severity in the 2010 and 2011 accident
years, and higher than expected homeowners property
losses from non-catastrophe weather related activity in
the 2011 accident year. 

• Higher than expected large losses within our commer-
cial automobile line, primarily related to liability cover-
age in the 2011 accident year. 

It is not possible to know whether the factors that
affected loss reserves in the year ended December 31,
2014 will also occur in future periods. As discussed in
detail in this Form 10-K, there are inherent uncertainties
in estimating reserves for losses and LAE and we encour-
age you to read this Form 10-K for more information about
our reserving process and the judgments, uncertainties and
risks associated therewith. 

Asbestos and Environmental Reserves 
Although we attempt to limit our exposures to asbestos and
environmental damage liability through specific policy
exclusions, we have been and may continue to be subject
to claims related to these exposures. Ending loss and LAE
reserves for all direct business written by our property and
casualty companies related to asbestos and environmental
damage liability were $10.1 million, $11.5 million and
$9.8 million, net of reinsurance of $21.4 million, $20.6
million, and $20.4 million for the years ended December
31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

Activity for our asbestos and environmental reserves was
not significant to our 2014, 2013 or 2012 financial results.
In recent years, average asbestos and environmental pay-
ments have declined modestly. As a result of our historical
direct underwriting mix of Commercial Lines policies
toward smaller and middle market risks, past asbestos and
environmental damage liability loss experience has
remained minimal in relation to our total loss and LAE
incurred experience. 

In addition, we have established gross loss and LAE
reserves for assumed reinsurance pool business with
asbestos and environmental damage liability of $29.1 mil-
lion, $29.8 million and $30.3 million at December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. These reserves relate to
pools in which we have terminated our participation; how-
ever, we continue to be subject to claims related to years in
which we were a participant. Results of operations from
these pools are included in our Other segment. A signifi-
cant part of our pool reserves relates to our participation in
the Excess and Casualty Reinsurance Association
(“ECRA”) voluntary pool from 1950 to 1982. In 1982, the
pool was dissolved and since that time, the business has
been in run-off. Our percentage of the total pool liabilities
varied from 1% to 6% during these years. Our participation
in this pool has resulted in average paid losses of approxi-
mately $2 million annually over the past ten years. 

We estimate our ultimate liability for asbestos, environ-
mental and toxic tort liability claims, whether resulting
from direct business, assumed reinsurance or pool busi-
ness, based upon currently known facts, reasonable
assumptions where the facts are not known, current law
and methodologies currently available. Although these out-
standing claims are not significant, their existence gives
rise to uncertainty and are discussed because of the possi-
bility that they may become significant. We believe that,
notwithstanding the evolution of case law expanding liabil-
ity in asbestos and environmental claims, recorded reserves
related to these claims are adequate. Nevertheless, the
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asbestos, environmental and toxic tort liability reserves
could be revised, and any such revisions could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations for a
particular quarterly or annual period or on our financial
position. 

REINSURANCE 

We maintain a reinsurance program designed to protect
against large or unusual losses and LAE activity. We utilize
a variety of reinsurance agreements that are intended to
control our exposure to large property and casualty losses,
stabilize earnings and protect capital resources, including
facultative reinsurance, excess of loss reinsurance and
catastrophe reinsurance. We determine the appropriate
amount of reinsurance based upon our evaluation of the
risks insured, exposure analyses prepared by consultants,
our capital allocation models and on market conditions,
including the availability and pricing of reinsurance.
Reinsurance contracts do not relieve us from our primary
obligations to policyholders. Failure of reinsurers to honor
their obligations could result in losses to us. We believe
that the terms of our reinsurance contracts are consistent
with industry practice in that they contain standard terms
and conditions with respect to lines of business covered,
limit and retention, arbitration and occurrence. Based on
an ongoing review of our reinsurers’ financial statements,
their history of timely payments to us, reported financial
strength ratings from rating agencies, and the analysis and
guidance of our reinsurance advisors, we believe that our
reinsurers are financially sound. 

Catastrophe reinsurance serves to protect us, as the
ceding insurer, from significant losses arising from a single
event including, among others, hurricanes, tornadoes and
other windstorms, earthquakes, hail, severe winter weath-
er, fire, explosions, and terrorism. Although we believe our
catastrophe reinsurance program, including our retention
and co-participation amounts for 2015, are appropriate
given our surplus level and the current reinsurance pricing
environment, there can be no assurance that our reinsur-
ance program will provide coverage levels that will prove
adequate should we experience losses from one significant
or several large catastrophes during 2015. Additionally, as
a result of the current economic environment, as well as
losses incurred by reinsurers in the past several years, the
availability and pricing of appropriate reinsurance pro-
grams may be adversely affected in future renewal periods.
We may not be able to pass these costs on to policyholders
in the form of higher premiums or assessments. 

See “Reinsurance” in Item 1 – Business of this Form
10-K for further information on our reinsurance programs. 

INVESTMENTS 

INVESTMENT RESULTS 

Net investment income before taxes was $270.3 million,
$269.0 million and $276.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The
increase in net investment income in 2014 compared to
2013 was primarily due to additional income resulting
from the investment of higher operational cash flows, par-
tially offset by the impact of lower new money yields. The
decrease in net investment income in 2013 compared to
2012 was primarily due to the impact of lower new money
yields. This decrease was partially offset by additional
income resulting from our investments in higher yielding
investment grade mortgage-backed securities and the
investment of operational cash flows, lower investment
expenses and the investment of cash balances into fixed
maturities. Average pre-tax earned yields on fixed maturi-
ties were 3.71%, 3.95% and 4.26% for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. We
expect average investment yields to continue to decline as
new money rates remain lower than embedded book yields. 

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

We held cash and investment assets diversified across sev-
eral asset classes, as follows:

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(dollars in millions)
% of Total % of Total 

Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying
Value Value Value Value

Fixed maturities, 
at fair value $7,378.1 85.6% $ 6,970.6 86.3%

Equity securities, 
at fair value 580.8 6.7 430.2 5.3

Cash and cash 
equivalents 373.3 4.3 486.2 6.0

Other investments 291.4 3.4 192.5 2.4

Total cash and 
investments $8,623.6 100.0% $ 8,079.5 100.0%

CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

Total cash and investments increased $544.1 million, or
6.7%, for the year ended December 31, 2014, of which
fixed maturities increased $407.5 million, equity securities
increased $150.6 million, other investments increased
$98.9 million and cash and cash equivalents decreased
$112.9 million. Fixed maturities increased primarily due to
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the investment of positive operational cash flows and mar-
ket value appreciation, partially offset by the impact of
lower foreign currency exchange rates on non-U.S. dollar
denominated bonds. The increase in equity securities is
primarily due to the purchase of equity index exchange
traded funds and dividend yielding common stocks, and
the increase in other invested assets includes our partici-
pations in commercial mortgage loan originations. Cash
and cash equivalents decreased due to funding net invest-
ments and financing activities, primarily the payment of
external dividends and interest on our debt.

Our fixed maturity portfolio is comprised of corporate
securities, taxable and tax-exempt municipal securities,
residential mortgage-backed securities, commercial mort-
gage-backed securities, U.S. governmental securities, for-
eign government securities and asset-backed securities.
Equity securities primarily consist of equity index
exchange traded funds focused on developed and emerging
markets and income-oriented large capitalization common
stocks.

The following table provides information about the
investment types of our fixed maturities portfolio:

DECEMBER 31 2014

(in millions)
Change

Net in Net
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Investment Type Cost Fair Value Gain for the Year 

U.S. Treasury and 
government agencies $ 516.3 $ 520.4 $ 4.1 $ 15.0

Foreign government 349.4 354.0 4.6 4.1
Municipals:

Taxable 952.5 1,007.2 54.7 36.8
Tax exempt 127.1 130.8 3.7 3.3

Corporate 3,746.3 3,880.8 134.5 0.5
Asset-backed:

Residential mortgage-
backed 770.4 789.1 18.7 12.7

Commercial mortgage-
backed 516.7 527.8 11.1 5.4

Asset-backed 167.0 168.0 1.0 (0.8)

Total fixed maturities $7,145.7 $7,378.1 $232.4 $ 77.0

Net unrealized gains on fixed maturities increased
$77.0 million, or 49.5%, to a net unrealized gain of $232.4
million at December 31, 2014, compared to $155.4 mil-
lion at December 31, 2013, primarily due to lower prevail-
ing interest rates and tightening of credit spreads. 

Amortized cost and fair value by rating category were as follows:

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(dollars in millions)

NAIC Rating Agency Amortized Fair % of Total Amortized Fair % of Total
Designation Equivalent Designation Cost Value Fair Value Cost Value Fair Value

1 Aaa/Aa/A $5,197.8 $5,365.7 72.7% $ 4,934.1 $ 5,009.7 71.9%
2 Baa 1,516.7 1,580.9 21.4 1,494.0 1,555.5 22.3
3 Ba 199.2 205.0 2.8 164.7 173.1 2.5
4 B 197.4 194.2 2.6 170.8 178.4 2.5
5 Caa and lower 30.1 27.7 0.4 44.1 46.0 0.7
6 In or near default 4.5 4.6 0.1 7.5 7.9 0.1

Total fixed maturities $7,145.7 $7,378.1 100.0% $ 6,815.2 $ 6,970.6 100.0%

Based on ratings by the National Association of
Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”), approximately 94% of
the fixed maturity portfolio consisted of investment grade
securities at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.
The quality of our fixed maturity portfolio remains strong
based on ratings, capital structure position, support
through guarantees, underlying security, issuer diversifica-
tion and yield curve position. 

We deposit funds with various state and governmental
authorities as well as with Lloyd’s. See Note 3 -
“Investments” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements included in Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for additional
information. 

Our fixed maturity and equity securities are classified as
available-for-sale and are carried at fair value. Financial
instruments whose value was determined using significant
management judgment or estimation constituted less than
1% of the total assets we measured at fair value. (See also
Note 5 - “Fair Value” in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K). 
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Other investments consisted primarily of overseas
deposits, participations in commercial mortgage loan obli-
gations and limited partnerships. Overseas deposits are
U.S. dollar and foreign denominated investments main-
tained in overseas funds and managed exclusively by
Lloyd’s. These funds are required in order to protect poli-
cyholders in overseas markets and enable Chaucer to oper-
ate in those markets. Access to those funds is restricted
and we have no control over the investment strategy.
Commercial mortgage loan participations represent our
interest in commercial mortgage loans originated by a third
party. We share, on a pro-rata basis, in all related cash
flows of the underlying mortgage loans, which are invest-
ment-grade quality and diversified by geographic area and
property type.

Although we expect to invest new funds primarily in
investment grade fixed maturities, we have invested, and
expect to continue to invest, a portion of funds in common
equity securities and below investment grade fixed maturi-
ties and other assets. 

OTHER-THAN-TEMPORARY IMPAIRMENTS

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
we recognized in earnings $5.5 million, $6.0 million, and
$7.8 million, of other-than-temporary impairments
(“OTTI”) on debt and equity securities, respectively. In
2014, OTTI on debt securities consisted of $3.8 million of
municipal securities and $1.7 million on corporate securi-
ties in the industrial sector, all of which we intended to
sell. 

UNREALIZED LOSSES 

The following table provides information about our fixed
maturities and equity securities that were in an unrealized
loss position including the length of time the securities
have been in an unrealized loss position. (See also Note 3
- “Investments” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K).

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)
Gross Gross

Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair
Losses Value Losses Value

Fixed maturities:
Investment grade:

12 months or less $ 9.2 $ 696.8 $ 64.7 $2,102.4
Greater than 12 months 20.5 691.7 21.9 203.7

Total investment grade 
fixed maturities 29.7 1,388.5 86.6 2,306.1

Below investment grade:
12 months or less 12.2 114.9 3.0 73.9
Greater than 12 months 2.5 28.3 1.9 22.9

Total below investment 
grade fixed maturities 14.7 143.2 4.9 96.8

Equity securities:
12 months or less 2.2 130.2 2.8 45.2
Greater than 12 months 0.4 3.9 0.4 0.7

Total equity securities 2.6 134.1 3.2 45.9

Total $ 47.0 $1,665.8 $ 94.7 $2,448.8

Gross unrealized losses on fixed maturities and equity
securities decreased $47.7 million compared to December
31, 2013, primarily attributable to lower prevailing interest
rates and tightening of credit spreads. At December 31,
2014, gross unrealized losses consisted primarily of $31.8
million of corporate fixed maturities, $4.0 million in
municipal securities, $3.5 million of U.S. Treasury and
government agency securities and $3.0 million of residen-
tial mortgage-backed securities. 

We view gross unrealized losses on fixed maturities and
equity securities as temporary since it is our assessment
that these securities will recover in the near term, allowing
us to realize their anticipated long-term economic value.
With respect to gross unrealized losses on fixed maturities,
we do not intend to sell, nor is it more likely than not we
will be required to sell, such debt securities before this
expected recovery of amortized cost (See also “Liquidity
and Capital Resources” in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
of this Form 10-K). With respect to equity securities, we
have the intent and ability to retain such investments for
the period of time anticipated to allow for this expected
recovery in fair value. Inherent in our assessment are the
risks that, subsequent to the balance sheet date, market
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factors may differ from our expectations; the global eco-
nomic recovery is less robust than we expect or reverts to
recessionary trends; we may decide to subsequently sell a
security for unforeseen business needs; or changes in the
credit assessment or equity characteristics from our origi-
nal assessment may lead us to determine that a sale at the
current value would maximize recovery on such invest-
ments. To the extent that there are such adverse changes,
an OTTI would be recognized as a realized loss. Although
unrealized losses are not reflected in the results of finan-
cial operations until they are realized or deemed “other-
than-temporary”, the fair value of the underlying
investment, which does reflect the unrealized loss, is
reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The following table sets forth gross unrealized losses for
fixed maturities by maturity period and for equity securi-
ties at December 31, 2014 and 2013. Actual maturities
may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers
may have the right to call or prepay obligations, with or
without call or prepayment penalties, or we may have the
right to put or sell the obligations back to the issuers.

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)

Due in one year or less $ 1.9 $ 0.5
Due after one year through five years 7.0 8.4
Due after five years through ten years 20.6 36.6
Due after ten years 10.4 26.9

39.9 72.4
Mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities 4.5 19.1

Total fixed maturities 44.4 91.5
Equity securities 2.6 3.2

Total fixed maturities and equity securities $ 47.0 $ 94.7

The carrying values of fixed maturity securities on non-
accrual status at December 31, 2014 and 2013 were not
material. The effects of non-accruals compared with
amounts that would have been recognized in accordance
with the original terms of the fixed maturities, were reduc-
tions in net investment income of $2.1 million, $2.3 mil-
lion and $2.5 million for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Any defaults in the
fixed maturities portfolio in future periods may negatively
affect investment income. 

Our investment portfolio and shareholders’ equity can
be significantly impacted by changes in market values of
our securities. Market volatility could increase and
defaults on fixed income securities could occur. As a result,
we could incur additional realized and unrealized losses in
future periods, which could have a material adverse impact
on our results of operations and/or financial position. 

Monetary policies in the developed economies, particu-
larly in the United States, Europe and Japan, are support-
ive of moderate economic growth, while fiscal policies are
more divergent and subject to change. During 2014 in the
United States, the Federal Reserve (the “Fed”) ceased its
$85 billion of monthly bond purchases, known as quanti-
tative easing. The Fed is expected to continue to provide
forward guidance to keep rates relatively stable even as the
economy strengthens. Geopolitical risks and equity market
volatility can also impact the movement of U.S. Treasury
interest rates. 

While the United States is beginning to reduce its
extraordinary measures, other major central banks, such as
the Bank of England, the European Central Bank and the
Bank of Japan, continue with their stimulus policies as
they seek higher growth, and in the case of the latter two,
prevent deflation. The removal, modification or suggestion
of changes in these policies could have an adverse effect
on prevailing market interest rates and on issuers’ level of
business activity or liquidity, increasing the probability of
future defaults. While we may experience defaults on fixed
income securities, particularly with respect to non-invest-
ment grade securities, it is difficult to foresee which
issuers, industries or markets will be affected. As a result,
the value of our fixed maturity portfolio could change rap-
idly in ways we cannot currently anticipate and we could
incur additional realized and unrealized losses in future
periods. 

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 

We maintain an overall risk management strategy that
incorporates the use of derivative instruments, as neces-
sary, to manage significant unplanned fluctuations in earn-
ings caused by foreign currency and interest rate volatility. 

We did not use derivative instruments in 2014 or 2013.
In 2012, we realized a loss of $5.1 million on futures con-
tracts relating to the release of tax capital loss carryfor-
wards. Additionally, we recognized a gain of $0.7 million
on a foreign currency forward used to mitigate changes in
fair value caused by foreign currency fluctuation in con-
verting U.K. pound sterling denominated securities into
their U.S. dollar denominated equivalent.
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OTHER ITEMS

Net income also included the following items:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

(in millions)
Discontinued

2014 Commercial Lines Personal Lines Chaucer Other Operations Total

Net realized investment gains (losses) $ 20.7 $ 10.0 $ 20.8 $ (1.4) $ — $ 50.1
Loss from settlement of pension obligation (4.8) (2.2) — (5.1) — (12.1)
Net loss from repayment of debt — — — (0.1) — (0.1)
Other non-operating items (0.9) (0.3) 0.3 — — (0.9)
Discontinued operations, net of tax — — — — (0.3) (0.3)

2013

Net realized investment gains (losses) $ 21.3 $ 12.2 $ 0.1 $ (0.1) $ — $ 33.5
Net loss from repayment of debt (5.2) (2.6) — (19.9) — (27.7)
Loss from disposal of real estate (0.9) (3.8) — — — (4.7)
Other non-operating items — — — (0.1) — (0.1)
Discontinued operations, net of taxes — — — — 5.3 5.3

2012

Net realized investment gains $ 12.5 $ 7.1 $ 1.5 $ 2.5 $ — $ 23.6
Net loss from repayment of debt — — (5.1) — — (5.1)
Other non-operating items — — — (3.0) — (3.0)
Discontinued operations, net of taxes — — — — 9.8 9.8

We manage investment assets for our Commercial
Lines, Personal Lines, and Other segments based on the
requirements of our U.S. combined property and casualty
companies. We allocate the investment income, expenses
and realized gains and losses to our Commercial Lines,
Personal Lines and Other segments based on actuarial
information related to the underlying businesses. We man-
age investment assets separately for our Chaucer segment. 

Net realized gains on investments were $50.1 million,
$33.5 million, and $23.6 million for 2014, 2013, and
2012, respectively. Net realized gains in 2014 were prima-
rily due to $55.4 million of gains recognized from the sale
of equity securities and to a lesser extent, fixed maturities,
partially offset by $5.5 million of OTTI losses. Net realized
gains in 2013 were primarily due to $41.3 million of gains
recognized from the sale of equities and fixed maturities,
partially offset by $6.0 million of OTTI losses. Net realized
gains in 2012 were primarily due to $31.8 million of gains
recognized from the sale of equities and fixed maturities,
partially offset by $7.8 million of OTTI losses. 

During 2014, we provided eligible former employees
with a one-time choice of electing to receive a lump-sum
settlement of their remaining qualified defined pension
benefit. Including this voluntary lump-sum program, we
settled $55.1 million of our pension obligations with an
equal amount paid from plan assets. As a result, we record-

ed settlement losses of $10.8 million, reflecting the accel-
erated recognition of unamortized losses in the plan pro-
portionate to the obligation that was settled. Additionally,
we terminated a small qualified plan resulting in accelerat-
ing recognition of unamortized losses of $1.3 million.

In 2013, through several transactions, we repurchased
senior debentures with a net carrying value of $73.8 mil-
lion at a cost of $93.7 million, resulting in a loss of $19.9
million. Additionally in 2013, we repaid $46.3 million of
our FHLBB advances plus prepayment fees of $7.8 million
for a total payment of $54.1 million. In 2012, we repur-
chased $65.4 million of our subordinated unsecured notes
related to Chaucer at a par value. These notes had a carry-
ing value of $60.3 million, resulting in a net loss of $5.1
million on the repurchases. In addition, we repurchased
$7.0 million of capital securities related to AIX at par
value. 

In 2013, we consolidated our operations in Howell,
Michigan from two buildings into one building. This
resulted in a plan to relocate the employees and pursue the
sale of one of the buildings. During the fourth quarter of
2014 the building was sold. In 2013, we recognized a loss
of $4.7 million in conjunction with the plan to dispose of
the building. This was included in other operating expens-
es in the Consolidated Statements of Income during that
year. 
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY

Operations are subject to risk resulting from interest rate
fluctuations which may adversely impact the valuation of
the investment portfolio. In a rising interest rate environ-
ment, the value of the fixed income sector, which compris-
es 86% of our investment portfolio, may decline as a result
of decreases in the fair value of the securities. Our intent
is to hold securities to maturity and recover the decline in
valuation as prices accrete to par. However, our intent may
change prior to maturity due to changes in the financial
markets, our analysis of an issuer’s credit metrics and
prospects, or as a result of changes in cash flow needs.
Interest rate fluctuations may also reduce net investment
income and as a result, profitability. The portfolio may
realize lower yields and therefore lower net investment

income on securities because the securities with prepay-
ment and call features may prepay at a different rate than
originally projected. Also, funds may not be available to
invest at higher interest rates.

In a declining interest rate environment, prepayments
and calls may increase as issuers exercise their option to
refinance at lower rates. The resulting funds would be
reinvested at lower yields.

The following table illustrates the estimated impact on
the fair value of our fixed maturity portfolio at December
31, 2014 of hypothetical changes in prevailing interest
rates, defined as changes in interest rates on U.S. Treasury
debt. It does not reflect changes in credit spreads, liquidi-
ty spreads and other factors that affect the value of securi-
ties. Since changes in prevailing interest rates are often
accompanied by changes in these other factors, the reader
should not assume that an actual change in interest rates
would result in the values illustrated. 

(dollars in millions)

Investment Type +300bp +200bp +100bp 0 –100bp –200bp –300bp

Residential mortgage-backed securities $ 695 $ 725 $ 755 $ 790 $ 820 $ 830 $ 830
Municipal securities 975 1,025 1,080 1,140 1,195 1,240 1,245
All other fixed income securities 4,850 5,040 5,240 5,450 5,655 5,800 5,815

Total $ 6,520 $ 6,790 $ 7,075 $ 7,380 $ 7,670 $ 7,870 $ 7,890

Our overall investment strategy is intended to balance
investment income with credit and interest rate risk, while
maintaining sufficient liquidity and the opportunity for
capital growth. The asset allocation process takes into con-
sideration the types of business written and the level of
surplus required to support our different businesses and
the risk return profiles of the underlying asset classes. We
look to balance the goals of capital preservation, net invest-
ment income stability, liquidity and total return.

The majority of our assets are invested in the fixed
income markets. Through fundamental research and cred-
it analysis, with a focus on value investing, our investment
professionals seek to identify a portfolio of stable income-
producing higher quality U.S. government, foreign govern-
ment, municipal, corporate, residential and commercial
mortgage-backed securities and asset-backed securities.
We have a general policy of diversifying investments both
within and across major investment and industrial sectors
to mitigate credit and interest rate risk. We monitor the
credit quality of our investments and our exposure to indi-
vidual markets, borrowers, industries, sectors and, in the
case of direct commercial mortgages and commercial
mortgage-backed securities, property types and geographic
locations. In addition, we currently carry debt which is
subject to interest rate risk, which was issued at fixed inter-
est rates between 5.50% and 8.207%. Current market con-

ditions, in light of our risk tolerance, restrict our ability to
invest fixed income assets at similar rates of return; there-
fore, earnings on a similar level of assets are not sufficient
to cover current debt interest costs.

The following tables for the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013 provide information about financial instru-
ments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates. The
tables present principal cash flows and related weighted
average interest rates by expected maturities. Expected
maturities may differ from contractual maturities because
borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations
with or without call or prepayment penalties, or we may
have the right to put or sell the obligations back to the
issuers. Mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities are
included in the category representing their expected matu-
rity. Available-for-sale securities include both U.S. and for-
eign-denominated fixed maturities. Additionally, we have
assumed available-for-sale securities are similar enough to
aggregate those securities for presentation purposes.
Specifically, variable rate available-for-sale securities com-
prise an immaterial portion of the portfolio and do not
have a significant impact on weighted average interest
rates. Therefore, the variable rate investments are not pre-
sented separately; instead they are included in the tables at
their current interest rate. Debt is presented at contractu-
al maturities.
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FAIR
VALUE

DECEMBER 31, 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 THEREAFTER TOTAL 12/31/14

(dollars in millions)

Rate Sensitive Assets:
Available-for-sale securities $ 665.7 $805.2 $ 692.8 $ 713.0 $ 806.4 $3,430.0 $7,113.1 $7,378.1
Average interest rate 3.22% 4.00% 3.80% 3.61% 3.99% 4.00% 3.87%
Mortgage and other loans $ — $ 0.3 $ 1.4 $ — $ — $ 93.2 $ 94.9 $ 99.3
Average interest rate — 8.04% 7.61% — — 3.80% 3.87%

Rate Sensitive Liabilities:
Debt $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 903.5 $ 903.5 $1,021.7
Average interest rate — — — — — 6.70% 6.70%

FAIR
VALUE

DECEMBER 31, 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 THEREAFTER TOTAL 12/31/13

(dollars in millions)

Rate Sensitive Assets:
Available-for-sale securities $ 663.6 $ 768.9 $ 843.3 $ 670.6 $ 607.5 $ 3,248.6 $ 6,802.5 $ 6,970.6
Average interest rate 3.68% 3.83% 4.25% 4.04% 3.75% 4.17% 4.04%

Rate Sensitive Liabilities:
Debt $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 903.9 $ 903.9 $ 961.7
Average interest rate — — — — — 6.70% 6.70%

EQUITY PRICE RISK 

Our equity securities portfolio is exposed to equity price
risk arising from potential volatility in equity market prices.
Portfolio characteristics are analyzed regularly and price
risk is actively managed through a variety of techniques. A
hypothetical increase or decrease of 10% in the market
price of our equity securities would have resulted in an
increase or decrease in the fair value of the equity securi-
ties portfolio of approximately $58 million at December
31, 2014 and approximately $43 million at December 31,
2013. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK 

Chaucer has exposure to foreign currency risk, most
notably in insurance contracts and invested assets. Some
of the insurance contracts provide that ultimate losses may
be payable in foreign currencies depending on the country
of original loss. Foreign currency exchange rate risk exists
to the extent that there is an increase in the exchange rate
of the foreign currency in which losses are ultimately
owed. Thus, Chaucer attempts to manage foreign curren-
cy risk by seeking to match liabilities under insurance and
reinsurance policies that are payable in foreign currencies
with cash and investments that are denominated in such
currencies. We may also utilize foreign currency forward
contracts as part of our investment strategy. The principal
currency creating foreign exchange risk for us is the U.K.
pound sterling, and to a lesser extent, the Euro, Canadian
dollar, Australian dollar and Swiss franc. A hypothetical

10% reduction in the value of foreign denominated invest-
ments would be expected to produce a loss in fair value of
approximately $102 million at December 31, 2014 and
approximately $112 million at December 31, 2013. 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Discontinued operations primarily consist of our former
life insurance businesses which were sold prior to 2009,
and our discontinued accident and health business. 

Our former life insurance businesses include indemnity
obligations for which we have established reserves.

Discontinued operations for the years ended December
31, 2014 and 2013 resulted in losses of $0.3 million and
gains of $5.3 million, respectively, net of tax. The 2013
benefit associated with our former life insurance business-
es was primarily due to an insurance settlement related to
a class action lawsuit.

In addition, discontinued operations for the year ended
December 31, 2012 included a net gain from the sale of
our third party administration subsidiary, Citizens
Management, Inc. (“CMI”), which was completed on April
30, 2012. CMI provided third party workers’ compensation
and disability program administration services (such as
claims administration, loss prevention and medical cost
containment and in-house excess workers’ compensation
coverage) to public entities, self–insured employers and
group programs. This sale resulted in a net gain of $10.8
million after taxes.
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INCOME TAXES 

We are subject to the tax laws and regulations of the U.S.
and foreign countries in which we operate. We file a con-
solidated U.S. federal income tax return that includes the
holding company and its U.S. subsidiaries. Generally, taxes
are accrued at the U.S. statutory tax rate of 35% for
income from the U.S. operations. Our primary non-U.S.
jurisdiction is the U.K. In July 2012, the U.K. statutory
rate decreased from 26% to 24% effective April 1, 2012
and from 24% to 23% effective April 1, 2013. Further
decreases were enacted in July 2013 to reduce the statuto-
ry rate from 23% to 21% effective April 1, 2014 and from
21% to 20% effective April 1, 2015. We accrue taxes on
certain non-U.S. income that is subject to U.S. tax at the
U.S. tax rate. Foreign tax credits, where available, are uti-
lized to offset U.S. tax as permitted. Certain of our non-
U.S. income is not subject to U.S. tax until repatriated.
Foreign taxes on this non-U.S. income are accrued at the
local foreign rate and do not have an accrual for U.S.
deferred taxes since these earnings are intended to be
indefinitely reinvested overseas. 

The provision for income taxes from continuing opera-
tions was an expense of $95.7 million in 2014 and $83.4
million in 2013, compared to a benefit of $17.4 million in
2012. These amounts resulted in consolidated effective tax
rates of 25.3% on pre-tax income for 2014 and 2013, and
a benefit of 60.6% on pre-tax income for 2012. These pro-
visions reflect benefits related to tax planning strategies
implemented in prior years of $16.2 million, $17.5 million
and $14.3 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
The provision for 2014 also included a benefit related to
the reduction of a valuation allowance of $2.9 million, and
a $6.9 million benefit related to foreign exchange loss
deductions on our 2013 and 2014 U.S. tax returns.
Additionally, the provision in 2012 reflects a decrease in
our valuation allowance related to capital loss carryfor-
wards of $7.7 million. Absent these benefits, the provision
for income taxes for 2014, 2013, and 2012 would have
been expenses of $121.7 million or 32.2%, $100.9 million,
or 30.7%, and $4.6 million, or 16.0%, respectively. This
increase in the 2014 effective tax rate is primarily due to a
modest decrease in the proportion of our income from for-
eign operations not subject to U.S. taxes and thus taxed at
the lower U.K. rate. The increase in the 2013 effective tax
rate is primarily due to higher underwriting income. 

The income tax provision on operating income was an
expense of $108.3 million for 2014, compared to an
expense of $100.9 million for 2013 and a benefit of $1.9
million for 2012. These provisions resulted in effective tax
rates for operating income of 31.8%, 30.8% and a benefit
of 14.4% in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The
increase in the 2014 effective tax rate is primarily due to a

modest decrease in the proportion of our income from for-
eign operations not subject to U.S. taxes and thus taxed at
the lower U.K. rate. The tax benefit in 2012 is primarily
due to income from foreign operations not subject to U.S.
tax and to lower domestic underwriting income. 

Included in our deferred tax asset as of December 31,
2014 is an asset of $29.1 million related to operating loss
carryforwards. Our pre-tax operating loss is a qualified
deficit of $81.9 million generated in the U.K. and has no
expiration date. It is our opinion that the U.K. operations
will generate sufficient future taxable income to utilize
these loss carryforwards. Our estimate of the amount and
likely realization of loss carryforwards may change over
time. 

Included in our deferred tax net asset as of December
31, 2014 are assets of $110.0 million related to alternative
minimum tax (“AMT”) credit carryforwards and $15.8 mil-
lion related to foreign tax credit carryforwards. We may uti-
lize these credits to offset future taxable income. The
result of their utilization will be a lower current tax rate
offset by a higher deferred tax provision, and also lower
cash expenditures for federal income taxes during the uti-
lization period. There is no expiration on AMT credit car-
ryforwards and our foreign tax credit carryforwards will
expire beginning in 2022. It is our opinion that there will
be sufficient future U.S. and U.K. taxable income to utilize
these tax credit carryforwards. Our estimate of the amount
and likely realization of tax credit carryforwards may
change over time. 

During 2014, we released the valuation allowance relat-
ed to our deferred tax assets of $2.9 million recorded in
2013. The write off of this valuation allowance resulted
from appreciation in our investment portfolio. We record-
ed the decrease in our valuation allowance of $2.9 million
as an adjustment to income tax expense.

In prior years, we completed several transactions which
resulted in the realization, for tax purposes only, of unreal-
ized gains in our investment portfolio. We realized $69.6
million in 2012 as a result of such transactions. These
transactions enabled us to realize capital loss carryfor-
wards to offset these gains, and resulted in the release of
the valuation allowance we held against the deferred tax
asset related to these capital loss carryforwards. In 2012,
we released $24.4 million of our valuation allowance
which was recorded as a benefit in accumulated other
comprehensive income. During 2014, 2013 and 2012, we
recognized in income from continuing operations, related
to non-operating income, $16.2 million, $17.5 million and
$14.3 million, respectively. The remaining amount of
$91.5 million in accumulated other comprehensive
income will be released into income from continuing oper-
ations in future years, as the investment securities subject
to these transactions are sold or mature. 
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During 2012, we released $35.9 million of our valuation
allowance related to our deferred tax asset held at the
beginning of the year. The release of this valuation
allowance resulted from the aforementioned transaction
which utilized our capital loss carryforwards, unrealized
appreciation in our investment portfolio, and net realized
capital gains in our Consolidated Statements of Income.
Accordingly, we recorded decreases in our valuation
allowance of $25.3 million as an adjustment to accumulat-
ed other comprehensive income, $7.7 million as an adjust-
ment to income tax expense from continuing operations,
and $2.9 million in discontinued operations. 

The IRS audits of the years 2007 through 2010 were
settled in 2014 with no material impact to our financial
position or results of operations.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and
results of operations are based upon the consolidated
financial statements. These statements have been prepared
in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contin-
gent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial state-
ments and the reported amount of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates. The following critical accounting
estimates are those which we believe affect the more sig-
nificant judgments and estimates used in the preparation
of our financial statements. Additional information about
other significant accounting policies and estimates may be
found in Note 1—“Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K. 

RESERVE FOR LOSSES AND LOSS EXPENSES 

See “Results of Operations – Segments - Reserve for
Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses” in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations of this Form 10-K for a discussion of
our critical accounting estimates for loss reserves. 

REINSURANCE RECOVERABLE BALANCES 

We share insurance risk of the primary underlying con-
tracts with various insurance entities through the use of
reinsurance contracts. As a result, when we experience loss
events that are subject to a reinsurance contract, reinsur-
ance recoveries are recorded. The amount of the reinsur-
ance recoverable can vary based on the size of the
individual loss or the aggregate amount of all losses in a

particular line, book of business or an aggregate amount
associated with a particular accident year. The valuation of
losses recoverable depends on whether the underlying loss
is a reported loss, or an incurred but not reported loss. For
reported losses, we value reinsurance recoverables at the
time the underlying loss is recognized, in accordance with
contract terms. For incurred but not reported losses, we
estimate the amount of reinsurance recoverable based on
the terms of the reinsurance contracts and historical rein-
surance recovery information and apply that information
to the gross loss reserve estimates. The most significant
assumption we use is the average size of the individual
losses for those claims that have occurred but have not yet
been recorded by us. The reinsurance recoverable is based
on what we believe are reasonable estimates and is dis-
closed separately on the financial statements. However,
the ultimate amount of the reinsurance recoverable is not
known until all losses are settled. 

Reinsurance recoverables recorded on insurance losses
ceded under reinsurance contracts are subject to judg-
ments and uncertainties similar to those involved in esti-
mating gross loss reserves, as disclosed above. In addition
to these uncertainties, our reinsurance recoverables may
prove uncollectible if the reinsurers are unable or unwill-
ing to perform under the reinsurance contracts. In estab-
lishing our reinsurance allowance for amounts deemed
uncollectible, we evaluate the financial condition of our
reinsurers and monitor concentration of credit risk arising
from our exposure to individual reinsurers. To determine if
an allowance is necessary, we consider, among other fac-
tors, published financial information, reports from rating
agencies, payment history, collateral held and our legal
right to offset balances recoverable against balances we
may owe. Our reinsurance allowance for doubtful
accounts is subject to uncertainty and volatility due to the
time lag involved in collecting amounts recoverable from
reinsurers. Over the period of time that losses occur, rein-
surers are billed and amounts are ultimately collected, eco-
nomic conditions, as well as the operational and financial
performance of particular reinsurers, may change and
these changes may affect the reinsurers’ willingness and
ability to meet their contractual obligation to us. It is also
difficult to fully evaluate the impact of major catastrophic
events on the financial stability of reinsurers, as well as the
access to capital that reinsurers may have when such
events occur. The ceding of insurance does not legally dis-
charge us from our primary liability for the full amount of
the policies, and we will be required to pay the loss and
bear collection risk even if the reinsurers fail to meet their
obligations under the reinsurance contracts. 
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PENSION BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 

General 
We currently have a U.S. qualified defined benefit plan, a
defined benefit pension plan for our international sub-
sidiary, Chaucer, and several smaller non–qualified benefit
plans. In order to measure the liabilities and expense asso-
ciated with these plans, we must make various estimates
and key assumptions, including discount rates used to
value liabilities, assumed rates of return on plan assets,
employee turnover rates and anticipated mortality rates.
Additionally, our Chaucer pension plan also must take into
consideration inflation rates, specifically related to partici-
pant salary increases. These estimates and assumptions are
reviewed at least annually and are based on our historical
experience, as well as current facts and circumstances. In
addition, we use outside actuaries to assist in measuring
the expenses and liabilities associated with our defined
benefit pension plans. 

Two significant assumptions used in the determination
of benefit plan obligations and expenses that are depend-
ent on market factors, which have been subject to a greater
level of volatility over the past few years, are the discount
rate and the return on plan asset assumptions. The dis-
count rate enables us to state expected future cash flows as
a present value on the measurement date. We also use this
discount rate in the determination of our pre-tax pension
expense or benefit. A lower discount rate increases the
present value of benefit obligations and increases pension
expense. To determine the expected long-term return on
plan assets, we generally consider historical mean returns
by asset class for passive indexed strategies, as well as cur-
rent and expected asset allocations, and adjust for certain
factors that we believe will have an impact on future
returns. Actual returns on plan assets in any given year sel-
dom result in the achievement of the expected rate of
return on assets. Actual returns on plan assets in excess of
these expected returns will generally reduce our net actu-
arial losses (or increase actuarial gains) that are reflected
in our accumulated other comprehensive income balance
in shareholders’ equity, whereas actual returns on plan
assets which are less than expected returns will generally
increase our net actuarial losses (or decrease actuarial
gains) that are reflected in accumulated other comprehen-
sive income. These gains or losses are amortized into
expense in future years. 

Expenses related to these plans are generally calculated
based upon information available at the beginning of the
plan year. Our pre-tax expense related to our defined ben-
efit plans was $10.3 million and $12.6 million for 2014
and 2013, respectively. 

U.S. Qualified Defined Benefit Plan 
Prior to 2005, we provided pension retirement benefits to
substantially all of our U.S. employees based on a defined
benefit cash balance formula. In addition to the cash bal-
ance allocation, certain transition group employees, who
had met specified age and service requirements as of
December 31, 1994, were eligible for a grandfathered ben-
efit based primarily on the employees’ years of service and
compensation during their highest five consecutive plan
years of employment. As of January 1, 2005, the defined
benefit pension plans were frozen. 

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we determined our
discount rate utilizing an independent yield curve which
provides for a portfolio of high quality bonds that are
expected to match the cash flows of our pension plan.
Bond information used in the yield curve included only
those rated Aa or better as of December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively, and had been rated by at least two well-
known rating agencies. At December 31, 2014, based upon
our qualified plan liabilities and cash flows in relation to
this discount curve, we decreased our discount rate to
4.375%, from 5.00% at December 31, 2013. 

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the
expected rate of return on our qualified plan assets was
5.50% and 5.25%, respectively. The increase reflects
improvements in the fixed maturities markets in general.
Actual returns of the plan investments generated approxi-
mately $59 million of gains and $3 million of losses during
2014 and 2013, respectively, as compared to expected
returns of approximately $28 million and $30 million,
respectively. The plan assets consisted of 85% fixed matu-
rities and 15% equities at December 31, 2014. 

Mortality assumptions for the participants in our pen-
sion plan are a significant estimate in measuring the
expected payments a participant may receive over their
lifetime. During 2014, the Society of Actuaries released a
series of updated mortality tables resulting from their
recent studies measuring mortality rates for various groups
of individuals. The updated mortality tables, released in
2014, reflect improved trends in longevity and therefore
have the effect of increasing the estimate of benefits to be
received by plan participants, as well as the amount of
expense that will be recognized. In determining the most
appropriate mortality assumptions for our U.S. qualified
defined benefit pensions at December 31, 2014, we con-
sidered the updated mortality tables issued by the Society
of Actuaries, coupled with other mortality information
available from the Social Security Administration and our
outside actuaries that we believe is more closely aligned
with our industry and participant mix to develop assump-
tions that we believe are most representative of the various
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characteristics of our participant populations. The use of
these updated mortality assumptions increased the benefit
obligation for our U.S. qualified defined benefit pension
plan by approximately $23 million at December 31, 2014. 

In 2014, actuarial losses of approximately $53 million
primarily resulting from the decrease in the discount rate
from the prior year and the aforementioned change in mor-
tality assumptions, were partially offset by investment
gains of approximately $31 million. Actuarial gains of
approximately $37 million experienced in 2013 primarily
resulted from the increase in the discount rate from 2012,
and were partially offset by investment losses of approxi-
mately $33 million. The net loss in 2014 of $21.8 million
and the net gain in 2013 of $4.2 million are reflected as
decreases and increases, respectively, to accumulated
other comprehensive income. The change in these actuar-
ial gains and losses is amortized into earnings in future
years. In 2014 and 2013, amortization of actuarial losses
from prior years was $10.6 million and $12.9 million,
respectively. In 2014, we also accelerated recognition of
actuarial losses of $10.8 million resulting from the settle-
ment of pension obligations related to a voluntary settle-
ment program. 

Given the positive effect of our actual investment expe-
rience in 2014 and our voluntary settlement program, and
taking into consideration the decrease in discount rates for
2015 and the new mortality tables, U.S. pension related
expenses are expected to increase slightly from $8 million
in 2014 to approximately $8.5 million in 2015. 

Holding all other assumptions constant, sensitivity to
changes in our key assumptions related to our U.S. quali-
fied defined benefit pension plan is as follows: 

Discount Rate – A 25 basis point increase in the dis-
count rate would decrease our pension expense in 2015
by $1.5 million and decrease our projected benefit obli-
gation by $12.1 million. A 25 basis point reduction in
the discount rate would increase our pension expense
by $1.5 million and increase our projected benefit obli-
gation by $12.6 million. 

Expected Return on Plan Assets – A 25 basis point
increase or decrease in the expected return on plan
assets would decrease or increase our pension expense
in 2015 by $1.2 million. 

Chaucer Pension Plan 
Prior to 2002, Chaucer provided defined benefit pension
retirement benefits to certain of its employees. As of
December 31, 2001, the defined benefit section of the
pension plan was closed to new members. The defined
benefit obligation for this plan is based on the employees’
years of service and final pensionable salary. 

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we determined the
discount rate utilizing an independent yield curve which
provides for a portfolio of high quality bonds that are
expected to match the cash flows of the Chaucer plan. At
December 31, 2014, based upon Chaucer’s plan liabilities
and cash flows in relation to these yield curves, we
decreased the discount rate to 3.75% from 4.50% at
December 31, 2013. 

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the
expected rate of return on plan assets was 6.55% and 6.70%,
respectively. The composition of Chaucer’s plan assets are
57% equities, 32% fixed maturities, and 11% real estate
funds at December 31, 2014. Actual returns of the plan
investments generated approximately $15 million and $17
million of gains during the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively, as compared to expected returns of
approximately $8 million and $6 million, respectively. 

Actuarial losses in 2014 resulting from decreases in the
discount rate from the prior year were partially offset by
benefits from the investment gains experienced during the
year, resulting in net actuarial losses for the Chaucer plan
of approximately $5.9 million. The benefits from the
investment gains experienced in 2013 were partially offset
by decreases in the discount rate from the prior year,
resulting in net actuarial gains for the Chaucer plan of
approximately $7.5 million in 2013. These losses and gains
are reflected as decreases and increases to our accumulat-
ed other comprehensive income in 2014 and 2013, respec-
tively. This balance is amortized into earnings in future
periods. Given the effect of our actual investment experi-
ence in 2014, expected rates of return on investments in
2015 and taking into consideration the decrease in dis-
count rates, pension related benefits for the Chaucer plan
are expected to decrease slightly from a benefit of $0.9 mil-
lion to a benefit of $0.6 million in 2015 (using the
December 31, 2014 GBP to U.S. dollar conversion rate of
1.56). 

Holding all other assumptions constant (using the
December 31, 2014 GBP to U.S. dollar conversion rate of
1.56), sensitivity to changes in our key assumptions relat-
ed to our Chaucer pension plan is as follows: 

Discount Rate – A 25 basis point increase in the dis-
count rate would decrease our pension expense in 2015
by $0.1 million and decrease our projected benefit obli-
gation by $8.1 million. A 25 basis point reduction in the
discount rate would increase our pension expense by
$0.6 million and increase our projected benefit obliga-
tion by $8.7 million. 

Expected Return on Plan Assets – A 25 basis point
increase or decrease in the expected return on plan
assets would decrease or increase our pension expense
in 2015 by $ 0.3 million. 
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OTHER-THAN-TEMPORARY IMPAIRMENTS 

We employ a systematic methodology to evaluate declines
in fair values below amortized cost for all fixed maturity
and equity security investments. The methodology utilizes
a quantitative and qualitative process which seeks to
ensure that available evidence concerning the declines in
fair value below amortized cost is evaluated in a disciplined
manner. In determining whether a decline in fair value
below amortized cost is other-than-temporary, we evaluate
several factors and circumstances, including the issuer’s
overall financial condition; the issuer’s credit and financial
strength ratings; the issuer’s financial performance, includ-
ing earnings trends, dividend payments and asset quality;
any specific events which may influence the operations of
the issuer; the general outlook for market conditions in the
industry or geographic region in which the issuer operates;
and the length of time and the degree to which the fair
value of an issuer’s securities remains below our cost. With
respect to fixed maturity investments, we consider factors
that might raise doubt about the issuer’s ability to make
contractual payments as they become due and whether we
expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the
security. With respect to equity securities, we consider our
ability and intent to hold the investment for a period of
time to allow for a recovery in value. 

We monitor corporate fixed maturity securities with
unrealized losses on a quarterly basis and more frequently
when necessary to identify potential credit deterioration as
evidenced by ratings downgrades, unexpected price vari-
ances, and/or company or industry specific concerns. We
apply consistent standards of credit analysis which
includes determining whether the issuer is current on its
contractual payments and we consider past events, current
conditions and reasonable forecasts to evaluate whether
we expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the
security. We utilize valuation declines as a potential indica-
tor of credit deterioration and apply additional levels of
scrutiny in our analysis as the severity of the decline
increases or duration persists. 

For our impairment review of asset-backed fixed matu-
rity securities, we forecast our best estimate of the
prospective future cash flows of the security to determine
if we expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of
the security. Our analysis includes estimates of underlying
collateral default rates based on historical and projected
delinquency rates and estimates of the amount and timing
of potential recovery. We consider available information
relevant to the collectability of cash flows, including infor-
mation about the payment terms of the security, prepay-

ment speeds, the financial condition of the underlying bor-
rowers, collateral trustee reports, credit ratings analysis
and other market data when developing our estimate of the
expected cash flows. 

When an OTTI of a debt security occurs, and we intend
to sell or more likely than not will be required to sell the
investment before recovery of its amortized cost basis, the
amortized cost of the security is reduced to its fair value,
with a corresponding charge to earnings, which reduces
net income and earnings per share. If we do not intend to
sell the fixed maturity investment or more likely than not
will not be required to sell it, we separate the OTTI into
the amount we estimate represents the credit loss and the
amount related to all other factors. The amount of the esti-
mated loss attributable to credit is recognized in earnings,
which reduces net income and earnings per share. The
amount of the estimated OTTI that is non-credit related is
recognized in other comprehensive income, net of applica-
ble taxes. 

We estimate the amount of the OTTI that relates to
credit by comparing the amortized cost of the debt securi-
ty with the net present value of the debt security’s project-
ed future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest
rate implicit in the investment prior to impairment. The
non-credit portion of the impairment is equal to the differ-
ence between the fair value and the net present value of
the debt security at the impairment measurement date. 

OTTIs of equity securities are recorded as realized loss-
es, which reduce net income and earnings per share. The
new cost basis of an impaired security is not adjusted for
subsequent increases in estimated fair value. 

For equity method investments, we recognize an impair-
ment when evidence demonstrates that a loss in value that
is other-than-temporary has occurred. Evidence of a loss in
value that is other-than-temporary may include the
absence of an ability to recover the carrying amount of the
investment or the inability of the investee to sustain a level
of earnings that would justify the carrying amount of the
investment. During each period, we evaluate whether an
impairment indicator has occurred that may have a signif-
icant adverse effect on the carrying value of the invest-
ment. Impairment indicators may include: lower
expectations of residual value from a limited partnership,
reduced valuations of the investments held by limited part-
nerships, actual recent cash flows that are significantly less
than expected cash flows or any other adverse events since
the last financial statements received that might affect the
value of the investee’s capital. OTTIs of equity method
investments are recorded as realized losses, which reduce
net income and earnings per share. 
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Temporary declines in market value are recorded as
unrealized losses, which do not affect net income and
earnings per share, but reduce accumulated other compre-
hensive income, which is reflected in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. We cannot provide assurance that the
OTTIs will be adequate to cover future losses or that we
will not have substantial additional impairments in the
future. (See “Investments” in Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations of this Form 10-K for further discussion
regarding OTTIs and securities in an unrealized loss
 position). 

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities primarily result from
temporary differences between the amounts recorded in
our consolidated financial statements and the tax basis of
our assets and liabilities and loss and tax credit carryfor-
wards. These temporary differences are measured at the
balance sheet date using enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years the temporary differ-
ences are expected to reverse.

The realization of deferred tax assets depends upon the
existence of sufficient taxable income within the carryback
or carryforward periods under the tax law in the applicable
tax jurisdiction. Consideration is given to available positive
and negative evidence, including reversals of deferred tax
liabilities, projected future taxable income in each tax
jurisdiction, tax planning strategies and recent financial
operations. Valuation allowances are established if, based
on the weight of available information, it is more likely
than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized. The determination of the valuation
allowance for our deferred tax assets requires management
to make certain judgments and assumptions. Our judg-
ments and assumptions are subject to change given the
inherent uncertainty in predicting future performance and
specific industry and investment market conditions.
Changes in valuation allowances are generally reflected in
income tax expense or as an adjustment to other compre-
hensive income depending on the nature of the item for
which the valuation allowance is being recorded.

The following are the components of our deferred tax
assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2014. There were
no valuation allowances required as of December 31, 2014.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) AMOUNT

(in millions)

Tax attributes
Tax credit carryforwards $ 125.8
Operating loss carryforwards 29.1

154.9

Other
Loss, LAE and unearned premium reserves, net 175.9
Deferred acquisition costs (129.6)
Employee benefit plans 45.7
Investments, net (44.4)
Software capitalization (27.3)
Deferred Lloyd’s underwriting income (54.0)
Other, net 10.0

(23.7)

Total $ 131.2

We have $110.0 million of alternative minimum tax
credit carryforwards and $15.8 million of foreign tax cred-
it carryforwards. The alternative minimum tax credit carry-
forwards have no expiration date and may be used to offset
regular federal income taxes due from future income. The
foreign tax credit carryforwards will expire beginning in
2022 and may be used to offset federal income taxes due
from future foreign sourced income. In addition, we have
operating loss carryforwards from our Chaucer segment,
which have no expiration date. Based on our projection of
future economic conditions, taxable income, reversals of
existing taxable temporary liabilities, and our strategic tax
planning strategies, we believe that these tax credit carry-
forwards and operating loss carryforwards will be fully
 realized. 

STATUTORY SURPLUS OF U.S. INSURANCE
SUBSIDIARIES

The following table reflects statutory surplus for our U.S.
insurance subsidiaries:

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)

Total Statutory Capital and 
Surplus - U.S. Insurance Subsidiaries $2,057.1 $ 1,834.3

The statutory capital and surplus for our U.S. insurance
subsidiaries increased $222.8 million during 2014, prima-
rily due to operating results and increases from unrealized
and realized gains on investments. 

The NAIC prescribes an annual calculation regarding
risk based capital (“RBC”). RBC ratios for regulatory pur-
poses, as described in the glossary, are expressed as a per-
centage of the capital required to be above the Authorized
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Control Level (the “Regulatory Scale”); however, in the
insurance industry, RBC ratios are widely expressed as a
percentage of the Company Action Level. The following
table reflects the Company Action Level, the Authorized
Control Level and RBC ratios for Hanover Insurance
(which includes Citizens and other U.S. insurance sub-
sidiaries), as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, expressed
both on the Industry Scale (Total Adjusted Capital divided
by the Company Action Level) and Regulatory Scale (Total
Adjusted Capital divided by Authorized Control Level):

DECEMBER 31, 2014

(dollars in millions)
Company Authorized RBC Ratio RBC Ratio

Action Control Industry Regulatory
Level Level Scale Scale

The Hanover Insurance 
Company $749.2 $374.6 273% 547%

DECEMBER 31, 2013

The Hanover Insurance 
Company $ 709.1 $ 354.5 257% 515%

LLOYD’S CAPITAL REQUIREMENT

Chaucer corporate members operate in the Lloyd’s market,
which requires that these members deposit funds, referred
to as “Funds at Lloyd’s”, to support their underwriting
interests. Lloyd’s sets required capital annually for all par-
ticipating syndicates based on each syndicate’s business
plans, the rating and reserving environment, and discus-
sions with regulatory and rating agencies. Although the
minimum capital levels are set by Lloyd’s, it is the respon-
sibility of Chaucer to continually monitor the risk profiles
of its managed syndicates to ensure that the level of fund-
ing remains appropriate. Such capital is comprised of cash
and cash equivalents, investments, undrawn letters of
credit provided by various banks and other assets. 

We have the following securities, assets and letters of
credit pledged to Lloyd’s to satisfy these capital require-
ments at December 31, 2014. At December 31, 2014, we
are in compliance with the capital requirements. We
expect to be able to meet these capital requirements in the
future. 

DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions)

Letters of credit $ 202.5
Fixed maturities, at fair value 450.1
Cash and cash equivalents 2.4

Total securities, assets and letters of credit 
pledged to Lloyd’s $ 655.0

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to generate sufficient
cash flows to meet the cash requirements of business oper-
ations. As a holding company, our primary ongoing source
of cash is dividends from our insurance subsidiaries.
However, dividend payments to us by our U.S. insurance
subsidiaries are subject to limitations imposed by regula-
tors, such as prior notice periods and the requirement that
dividends in excess of a specified percentage of statutory
surplus or prior year’s statutory earnings receive prior
approval (so called “extraordinary dividends”). No divi-
dends were paid to the holding company by Hanover
Insurance in 2014, 2013 or 2012. 

Dividend payments to the holding company by Chaucer
are regulated by U.K. law. Dividends from Chaucer are
dependent on dividends from its subsidiaries. Annual divi-
dend payments from Chaucer are limited to retained earn-
ings that are not restricted by capital and other
requirements for business at Lloyd’s. Also, Chaucer must
provide advance notice to the U.K.’s Prudential Regulation
Authority (“PRA”) of certain proposed dividends or other
payments from PRA regulated entities. Chaucer paid $68.7
million and $13.9 million in dividends during 2014 and
2013, respectively, to the holding company. No dividends
were paid by Chaucer to the holding company in 2012. 

In connection with an intercompany borrowing arrange-
ment between Chaucer and the holding company, interest
on a $300 million note is paid by Chaucer on a quarterly
basis to the holding company. This interest may be
deferred at the election of the holding company. If
deferred, the interest is added to the principal. Chaucer
paid $22.5 million and $28.1 million of interest during
2014 and 2013, respectively. 

At December 31, 2014, THG, as a holding company,
held approximately $119.7 million of fixed maturities and
cash. We believe our holding company assets will be suffi-
cient to meet our 2015 obligations, which consist primari-
ly of dividends to our shareholders (as and to the extent
declared), the interest on our senior and subordinated
debentures, certain costs associated with benefits due to
our former life employees and agents, and, to the extent
required, payments related to indemnification of liabilities
associated with the sale of various subsidiaries. We do not
expect that it will be necessary to dividend additional funds
from our insurance subsidiaries in order to fund 2015
holding company obligations; however, we may decide to
do so. 

Sources of cash for our insurance subsidiaries primarily
consist of premiums collected, investment income and
maturing investments. Primary cash outflows are paid
claims, losses and loss adjustment expenses, policy and
contract acquisition expenses, other underwriting expens-
es and investment purchases. Cash outflows related to
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losses and loss adjustment expenses can be variable
because of uncertainties surrounding settlement dates for
liabilities for unpaid losses and because of the potential for
large losses either individually or in the aggregate. We peri-
odically adjust our investment policy to respond to changes
in short-term and long-term cash requirements. 

Net cash provided by operating activities was $564.7
million during 2014, as compared to $383.9 million in
2013 and $408.2 million in 2012. The $180.8 million
change in 2014 compared to 2013 primarily resulted from
increased premium collections during 2014, partially off-
set by a slight increase in claims payments. Additionally, in
2013 we made a payment related to the settlement of our
life insurance postretirement benefit obligation which did
not recur in 2014. The $24.3 million decrease in 2013
compared to 2012 is primarily due to the timing of reim-
bursements made to Lloyd’s related to claim payments
made on our behalf, partially offset by lower claims pay-
ments in 2013. 

Net cash used in investing activities was $600.7 million
during 2014, as compared to $358.7 million during 2013
and $562.8 million in 2012. During 2014 and 2013, cash
used in investing activities primarily related to net pur-
chases of fixed maturities, equity securities, and other
investments. During 2012, cash used was primarily related
to net purchases of fixed maturities as we invested cash
from Chaucer and net investments in equity securities.
Cash used to purchase investments was partially offset by
cash received from the sale of a building. See Note 3 –
“Investments” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K. 

Net cash used in financing activities was $71.7 million
during 2014, as compared to, $105.5 million during 2013
and $133.4 million in 2012. During 2014, cash used in
financing activities primarily resulted from the payment of
dividends to shareholders and the repurchase of common
stock, partially offset by cash inflows related to the exercise
of employee stock options. During 2013, cash used in
financing activities primarily resulted from the repayment
of approximately $121 million of debt, repurchases of com-
mon stock and the payment of dividends to shareholders,
partially offset by the proceeds from the issuance, on
March 20, 2013, of $175.0 million of unsecured subordi-
nated debentures. During 2012, cash used in financing
activities primarily resulted from the repayment of $72.4
million of debt, the payment of dividends to shareholders,
and repurchases of our common stock, partially offset by
the proceeds from FHLBB debt borrowings. 

Dividends to common shareholders are subject to quar-
terly board approval and declaration. During 2014, as
declared by the Board, we paid three quarterly dividends of
$0.37 per share and one quarterly dividend of $0.41 per

share to our shareholders totaling $67.0 million. We
believe that our holding company assets are sufficient to
provide for future shareholder dividends should the Board
of Directors declare them. 

We expect to continue to generate sufficient positive
operating cash to meet all short-term and long-term cash
requirements relating to current operations, including the
funding of our qualified defined benefit pension plan and
the Chaucer pension plan. Based upon the current esti-
mate of liabilities and certain assumptions regarding
investment returns and other factors, our qualified defined
benefit pension plans and Chaucer pension plan collec-
tively have plan liabilities in excess of plan assets by
approximately $31 million. The ultimate payment amounts
for our benefit plans are based on several assumptions,
including but not limited to, the rate of return on plan
assets, the discount rate for benefit obligations, mortality
experience, interest crediting rates, inflation and the ulti-
mate valuation and determination of benefit obligations.
Since differences between actual plan experience and our
assumptions are almost certain, changes both positive and
negative to our current funding status and ultimately our
obligations in future periods are likely. 

Our insurance subsidiaries maintain a high degree of
liquidity within their respective investment portfolios in
fixed maturity and short-term investments. We believe that
the quality of the assets we hold will allow us to realize the
long-term economic value of our portfolio, including secu-
rities that are currently in an unrealized loss position. We
do not anticipate the need to sell these securities to meet
our insurance subsidiaries’ cash requirements since we
expect our insurance subsidiaries to generate sufficient
operating cash to meet all short-term and long-term cash
requirements. However, there can be no assurance that
unforeseen business needs or other items will not occur
causing us to have to sell those securities in a loss position
before their values fully recover, thereby causing us to rec-
ognize impairment charges in that time period. 

Since October 2007 and through December 2014, our
Board of Directors has authorized aggregate repurchases of
our common stock of up to $600 million. Repurchases may
be executed using open market purchases, privately nego-
tiated transactions, accelerated repurchase programs or
other transactions. We are not required to purchase any
specific number of shares or to make purchases by any cer-
tain date under this program. During 2014, we repur-
chased approximately 0.3 million shares of our common
stock at a cost of $20.4 million. 

In March 2013, we issued $175 million aggregate prin-
cipal amount of subordinated unsecured debentures due
March 30, 2053. These subordinated debentures pay
interest quarterly. We may redeem these subordinated
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debentures in whole at any time, or in part from time to
time, on or after March 30, 2018, at a redemption price
equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid
interest. 

Additionally, from time to time, we may also repurchase
our debt on an opportunistic basis. During 2013, we repur-
chased senior debentures with a net carrying value of
$73.8 million at a cost of $93.7 million, resulting in a loss
of $19.9 million. Additionally in 2013, we repaid $46.3
million of our FHLBB advances plus prepayment fees of
$7.8 million for a total payment of $54.1 million. In 2012,
we called $65.4 million of our subordinated unsecured
notes related to Chaucer at par value. These notes had a
carrying value of $60.3 million, resulting in a net loss of
$5.1 million on the repayment. Additional information
related to all borrowings is in Note 6 – “Debt and Credit
Arrangements” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K. 

We have a $200.0 million credit agreement which
expires in November 2018, with an option to increase the
facility to $300.0 million assuming no default and satisfac-
tion of certain other conditions. The agreement also
includes a $50 million sub-facility for standby letters of
credit that can be used for general corporate purposes.
Borrowings, if any, under the agreement are unsecured and
incur interest at a rate per annum equal to, the higher of
(a) the prime commercial lending rate of the administra-
tive agent, (b) the Federal Funds Rate plus half of a per-
cent, or (c) the one month Adjusted LIBOR plus one
percent and any applicable margin. The agreement con-
tains financial covenants including, but not limited to,
maintaining at least a certain level of consolidated equity,
maximum consolidated leverage ratios and requires certain
of our subsidiaries to maintain a minimum RBC ratio. We
had no borrowings under this agreement during 2013 and
2014. 

Membership in the FHLBB provides us with access to
additional liquidity based on our stock holdings and
pledged collateral. At December 31, 2014, we had addi-
tional borrowing capacity of $33.7 million. There were no
borrowings outstanding under this agreement at December
31, 2014.

We also have a Standby Letter of Credit Facility (the
“Amended Facility Agreement”) not to exceed £130.0 mil-
lion (or $202.5 million) outstanding at any one time, with
the option to increase the amount available for issuances
of letters of credit to £195.0 million (or $303.8 million) in
the aggregate on one occasion only during the term of the
Amended Facility Agreement (subject to the consent of all
lenders and assuming no default and satisfaction of other
specified conditions). Amounts in U.S. dollars were con-
verted based on the foreign currency exchange rate of 1.56

at December 31, 2014. Prior to the amendment, we had a
Standby Letter of Credit Facility Agreement in place not to
exceed $180.0 million outstanding at any one time, with a
similar option to increase the amount available for
issuances of letters of credit to $270.0 million. The
amended agreement provides certain covenants including,
but not limited to, the syndicates’ financial condition
which were also in place prior to the amendment of the
agreement. The Amended Facility Agreement provides reg-
ulatory capital supporting Chaucer’s underwriting activi-
ties for the 2014 and 2015 years of account and each prior
open year of account and is generally renewed biennially to
support new underwriting years. We may, from time to
time, collateralize a portion of the outstanding letter of
credit. A letter of credit commission fee on outstanding let-
ters of credit and a commitment fee in respect of the uti-
lized commitments under the Amended Facility Agreement
are both payable quarterly. Chaucer is also required to pay
customary agency fees. We paid $4.1 million and $2.7 mil-
lion related to such fees in 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

Simultaneous with the Amended Facility Agreement, we
entered into a Guaranty Agreement (the “Guaranty
Agreement”) with Lloyds Bank plc, as Facility Agent and
Security Agent, pursuant to which, we unconditionally
guarantee the obligations of Chaucer under the Amended
Facility Agreement. The Guaranty Agreement contains cer-
tain customary financial covenants related to our primary
U.S. domiciled property and casualty companies and cer-
tain negative covenants that limit our ability, among other
things, to incur or assume certain debt, grant liens on our
property, merge or consolidate, dispose of assets, material-
ly change the nature or conduct of our business and make
restricted payments (except, in each case, as provided by
certain exceptions). The Guaranty Agreement also con-
tains certain customary representations and warranties. 

At December 31, 2014, we were in compliance with the
covenants of the aforementioned debt agreements.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

Financing obligations generally include repayment of our
senior debentures, subordinated debentures, borrowings
from the FHLBB, and operating lease payments. The fol-
lowing table represents our annual payments related to the
contractual principal and interest payments of these
financing obligations as of December 31, 2014 and oper-
ating lease payments reflect expected cash payments based
upon lease terms. In addition, we also have included our
estimated payments related to our loss and LAE obliga-
tions and our current expectation of payments to be made
to support the obligations of our benefit plans. The follow-
ing table also includes commitments to purchase invest-
ment securities at a future date. Actual payments may
differ from the contractual and/or estimated payments in
the table. 

 Hanover 2014 AR_Layout 1  2/27/15  10:25 AM  Page 76



2014 A N N U A L R E P O R T 77

The Hanover Insurance Group•

DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions)
Maturity Maturity
less than Maturity Maturity in excess

1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years of 5 years Total

Debt(1) $ — $ — $ — $ 903.5 $ 903.5
Interest associated with debt(1) 63.9 127.8 124.5 546.2 862.4
Operating lease commitments(2) 17.3 25.8 18.1 1.5 62.7
Qualified defined benefit pension plan funding obligations(3) 1.3 2.6 2.6 6.4 12.9
Non-qualified defined benefit pension and post-retirement benefit obligation(4) 5.7 9.7 8.9 19.7 44.0
Investment commitments(5) 33.6 32.0 17.9 — 83.5
Loss and LAE obligations(6) 2,048.8 2,064.3 865.7 1,412.9 6,391.7

(1) Debt includes our senior debentures due in 2025, which pay annual interest at a rate of 7 5/8%, our senior debentures due in 2020, which pay annual interest at a rate of
7.50%, our senior debentures due in 2021, which pay annual interest at a rate of 6.375%, our subordinated debentures due in 2053, which pay annual interest at a rate of
6.35%, and our subordinated debentures due in 2027, which pay cumulative dividends at an annual rate of 8.207%. Payments related to the principal amounts of these
agreements represent contractual maturity; therefore, principal and interest associated with these obligations are reflected in the above table based upon the contractual
maturity dates. In addition, we have $125.0 million of borrowings under a collateralized borrowing program with the FHLBB which pays interest monthly at a rate of 5.50%
annually. Such borrowings are available for a twenty-year term or through September 25, 2029. Also, interest includes contractual interest related to the uncollateralized portion
of our £130.0 million Standby Letter of Credit Facility. 

(2) Our U.S. and international subsidiaries are lessees with a number of operating leases. 

(3) Reflects funding associated with the Chaucer plan based upon its current funded status and estimated additional funding required to support future salary increases through
2024. We do not expect to make any significant contributions to our U.S. qualified plan in order to meet our minimum funding requirements. However, additional
contributions may be required in the future to both plans based on the level of pension assets and liabilities in future periods. 

The ultimate payment amount for our pension plans are based on several assumptions, including, but not limited to, the rate of return on plan assets, the discount rate for
benefit obligations, mortality experience, interest crediting rates and the ultimate valuation of benefit obligations. Differences between actual plan experience and our
assumptions are likely and will likely result in changes to our funding obligations in future periods. 

(4) Non-qualified defined benefit pension and postretirement benefit obligations reflect estimated payments to be made through plan year 2024 for pension, postretirement and
postemployment benefits. Estimates of these payments and the payment patterns are based upon historical experience. 

(5) Investment commitments relate primarily to partnerships. 

(6) Unlike many other forms of contractual obligations, loss and LAE reserves do not have definitive due dates and the ultimate payment dates are subject to a number of variables
and uncertainties. As a result, the total loss and LAE reserve payments to be made by period, as shown in the table, are estimates based principally on historical experience. 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

We currently do not have any material off-balance sheet
arrangements that are reasonably likely to have an effect
on our financial position, revenues, expenses, results of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital
resources. 

CONTINGENCIES AND REGULATORY MATTERS 

Information regarding litigation and legal contingencies
appears in Note 18—“Commitments and Contingencies”
in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements includ-
ed in Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of
this Form 10-K. Information related to certain regulatory
and industry developments are contained in “Regulation”
in Part 1 - Item 1 of this Form 10-K and in “Risk Factors”
in Part 1 – Item 1A of this Form 10-K. 

RATING AGENCIES 

Insurance companies are rated by rating agencies to pro-
vide both industry participants and insurance consumers
information on specific insurance companies. Higher rat-
ings generally indicate the rating agencies’ opinion regard-
ing financial stability and a stronger ability to pay claims. 

We believe that strong ratings are important factors in
marketing our products to our agents and customers, since
rating information is broadly disseminated and generally
used throughout the industry. Insurance company finan-
cial strength ratings are assigned to an insurer based upon
factors deemed by the rating agencies to be relevant to pol-
icyholders and are not directed toward protection of
investors. Such ratings are neither a rating of securities nor
a recommendation to buy, hold or sell any security.
Customers typically focus on claims-paying ratings, while
creditors focus on debt ratings. Investors use both to eval-
uate a company’s overall financial strength. 
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RISKS AND FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains “forward-
looking statements” within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. For a discussion
of indicators of forward-looking statements and specific
important factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those contained in forward-looking state-
ments, see “Risk Factors” in Part 1 – Item 1A of this Form
10-K. This Management’s Discussion and Analysis should
be read and interpreted in light of such factors. 

GLOSSARY OF SELECTED INSURANCE TERMS 

Account rounding – The conversion of single policy
customers to accounts with multiple policies and/or addi-
tional coverages. 

Benefit payments – Payments made to an insured or
their beneficiary in accordance with the terms of an insur-
ance policy. 

Capacity – The maximum amount of business which
may be accepted by a syndicate or a corporate member on
a syndicate, expressed in terms of gross premium written,
net of commission. 

Casualty insurance – Insurance that is primarily con-
cerned with the losses caused by injuries to third persons
and their property (other than the policyholder) and the
related legal liability of the insured for such losses. 

Catastrophe – A severe loss, resulting from natural and
manmade events, including, among others, hurricanes,
tornadoes and other windstorms, earthquakes, hail, severe
winter weather, fire, explosions, and terrorism. 

Catastrophe loss – Loss and directly identified loss
adjustment expenses from catastrophes. The Insurance
Services Office (“ISO”) Property Claim Services (“PCS”)
defines a catastrophe loss as an event that causes $25 mil-
lion or more in U.S. industry insured property losses and
affects a significant number of property and casualty poli-
cyholders and insurers. In addition to those catastrophe
events declared by ISO, claims management also generally
includes within the definition of a “catastrophe loss”, a
property loss event that causes approximately $5m interna-
tional business in the Chaucer segment, management uti-
lizes a “catastrophe loss” definition that is substantially
consistent with the ISO definition framework. 

Cede; cedent; ceding company – When a party rein-
sures its liability with another, it “cedes” business and is
referred to as the “cedent” or “ceding company”. 

Corporate member – A company admitted to member-
ship of Lloyd’s and which provides capital in support of a
Lloyd’s syndicate to enable the syndicate to undertake
underwriting risks. 

Credit spread – The difference between the yield on
the debt securities of a particular corporate debt issue
and the yield of a similar maturity of U.S. Treasury debt
securities. 

Current accident year results – A non-GAAP measure
of the estimated earnings impact of current premiums off-
set by estimated loss experience and expenses for the cur-
rent accident year. This measure includes the estimated
increase in revenue associated with higher prices (premi-
ums), including those caused by price inflation and
changes in exposure, partially offset by higher volume driv-
en expenses and inflation of loss costs. Volume driven
expenses include acquisition costs such as commissions
paid to agents, which are typically based on a percentage
of premium dollars. 

Earned premium – The portion of a premium that is
recognized as income, or earned, based on the expired por-
tion of the policy period, that is, the period for which loss
coverage has actually been provided. For example, after six
months, $50 of a $100 annual premium is generally con-
sidered earned premium. The remaining $50 of annual
premium is unearned premium. Net earned premium is
earned premium net of reinsurance. 

Economic interest– The share of syndicate underwrit-
ing capacity supported by capital from Chaucer Holdings
Limited. 

Excess of loss reinsurance – Reinsurance that indem-
nifies the insured against all or a specific portion of losses
under reinsured policies in excess of a specified dollar
amount or “retention”. 

Exposure – As it relates to underwriting, a measure of
the rating units or premium basis of a risk; for example, an
exposure of a number of automobiles. As it relates to loss
events, the maximum value of claims made on an insurer
from an event or events that would result in the total
exhaustion of the cover or indemnity offered by an insur-
ance policy. 

Exposure management actions – Actions that focus on
improving underwriting profitability and/or lessening earn-
ings volatility by reducing our exposures and property con-
centrations in certain geographies and lines that are more
prone to both catastrophe and non-catastrophe losses.
These actions include, but are not limited to, non-renew-
al, rate increases, stricter underwriting standards and high-
er deductible utilization, agency management actions, and
more selective portfolio management by modifying our
business mix. 

Frequency – The number of claims occurring during a
given coverage period. 
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Funds at Lloyd’s – Funds held in trust at Lloyd’s as
security for the policyholders and to support a corporate
member’s overall underwriting activities. The funds must
be in a form approved by Lloyd’s and be maintained at cer-
tain specified levels. 

Inland Marine Insurance – In Commercial Lines, this
is a type of coverage developed for shipments that do not
involve ocean transport. It covers articles in transit by all
forms of land and air transportation as well as bridges, tun-
nels and other means of transportation and communica-
tion. In the context of Personal Lines, this term relates to
floater policies that cover expensive personal items such as
fine art and jewelry. 

Loss adjustment expenses (“LAE”) – Expenses
incurred in the adjusting, recording, and settlement of
claims. These expenses include both internal company
expenses and outside services. Examples of LAE include
claims adjustment services, adjuster salaries and fringe
benefits, legal fees and court costs, investigation fees and
claims processing fees. 

Loss costs – An amount of money paid for an insurance
claim. 

Loss reserves – Liabilities established by insurers to
reflect the estimated cost of claims payments and the relat-
ed expenses that the insurer will ultimately be required to
pay in respect of insurance it has written. Reserves are
established for losses and for LAE. 

Managing agent – An agent that runs the affairs of a
syndicate. 

Peril – A cause of loss. 
Price(ing) increase or decrease (Commercial Lines

and Chaucer) – Represents the average change in premi-
um on renewed policies caused by the estimated net effect
of base rate changes, discretionary pricing, inflation or
changes in policy level exposure or insured risk. 

Price(ing) increase or decrease (Personal Lines) –
The estimated cumulative premium effect of approved rate
actions applied to policies available for renewal, regardless
of whether or not policies are actually renewed. Pricing
changes do not represent actual increases or decreases
realized by the Company. 

Property insurance – Insurance that provides coverage
for tangible property in the event of loss, damage or loss of
use. 

Rate – The estimated pure pricing factor upon which
the policyholder’s premium is based excluding changes in
exposure or risk. 

Ratios: (1)

Catastrophe loss ratio –The ratio of catastrophe losses
incurred to premiums earned. 

Combined ratio – This ratio is the GAAP equivalent of
the statutory ratio that is widely used as a benchmark
for determining an insurer’s underwriting performance.
A ratio below 100% generally indicates profitable under-
writing prior to the consideration of investment income.
A combined ratio over 100% generally indicates unprof-
itable underwriting prior to the consideration of invest-
ment income. The combined ratio is the sum of the loss
and loss adjustment expense ratio and the expense ratio. 

Expense Ratio – The ratio of underwriting expenses
(including the amortization of deferred acquisition
costs), less premium installment fee income and premi-
um charge offs, to premiums earned for a given period. 

Loss and Loss adjustment expense (“LAE”) ratio – The
ratio of loss and loss adjustment expenses to earned pre-
miums for a given period. 

Loss ratio – The ratio of losses to premiums earned for
a given period. 

Reinstatement premium – A pro-rata reinsurance pre-
mium that may be charged for reinstating the amount of
reinsurance coverage reduced as the result of a reinsur-
ance loss payment under a reinsurance treaty. For events
that we are the insured party, the charge would decrease
premiums; for events where we provide reinsurance cover-
age, the charge would increase premiums. For example, in
2005, this premium was required to ensure that our prop-
erty catastrophe occurrence treaty, which was exhausted by
Hurricane Katrina, was available again in the event of
another large catastrophe loss in 2005. 

Reinsurance – An arrangement in which an insurance
company, or a reinsurance company, known as the reinsur-
er, agrees to indemnify another insurance or reinsurance
company, known as the ceding company, against all or a
portion of the insurance or reinsurance risks underwritten
by the ceding company under one or more policies.
Reinsurance can provide a ceding company with several
benefits, including a reduction in net liability on risks and
catastrophe protection from large or multiple losses.
Reinsurance does not legally discharge the primary insurer
from its liability with respect to its obligations to the
insured. 

Risk based capital (“RBC”) – A method of measuring
the minimum amount of capital appropriate for an insur-
ance company to support its overall business operations in
consideration of its size and risk profile. The RBC ratio for
regulatory purposes is calculated as total adjusted capital
divided by required risk based capital. Total adjusted capi-
tal for property and casualty companies is capital and sur-
plus, adjusted for the non-tabular reserve discount
applicable to our assumed discontinued accident and

 Hanover 2014 AR_Layout 1  2/27/15  10:25 AM  Page 79



2014 A N N U A L R E P O R T80

The Hanover Insurance Group •

health insurance business. The Company Action Level is
the first level at which regulatory involvement is specified
based upon the level of capital. 

Regulators may take action for reasons other than trig-
gering various RBC action levels. The various action levels
are summarized as follows: 

• The Company Action Level, which equals 200% of the
Authorized Control Level, requires a company to pre-
pare and submit a RBC plan to the commissioner of
the state of domicile. A RBC plan proposes actions
which a company may take in order to bring statutory
capital above the Company Action Level. After review,
the commissioner will notify the company if the plan
is satisfactory. 

• The Regulatory Action Level, which equals 150% of
the Authorized Control Level, requires the insurer to
submit to the commissioner of the state of domicile an
RBC plan, or if applicable, a revised RBC plan. After
examination or analysis, the commissioner will issue
an order specifying corrective actions to be taken. 

• The Authorized Control Level authorizes the commis-
sioner of the state of domicile to take whatever regu-
latory actions are considered necessary to protect the
best interest of the policyholders and creditors of the
insurer. 

• The Mandatory Control Level, which equals 70% of
the Authorized Control Level, authorizes the commis-
sioner of the state of domicile to take actions neces-
sary to place the company under regulatory control
(i.e., rehabilitation or liquidation). 

Security Lending – We engage our banking provider to
lend securities from our investment portfolio to third par-
ties. These lent securities are fully collateralized by cash.
We monitor the fair value of the securities on a daily basis
to assure that the collateral is maintained at a level of at
least 102% of the fair value of the loaned securities. We
record securities lending collateral as a cash equivalent,
with an offsetting liability in expenses and taxes payable. 

Severity – A monetary increase in the loss costs associ-
ated with the same or similar type of event or coverage. 

Solvency II – European Commission-led fundamental
review of the capital adequacy regime for the European
insurance industry. 

Specialty Lines – A major component of our other com-
mercial lines. There is no accepted industry definition of
“specialty lines”, but for our purpose specialty lines consist
of products such as inland and ocean marine, surety, spe-
cialty property, professional liability, management liability
and various other program businesses. When discussing

net premiums written and other financial measures of our
specialty businesses, we may include non-specialty premi-
ums that are written as part of the entire account. 

Statutory accounting practices – Recording transac-
tions and preparing financial statements in accordance
with the rules and procedures prescribed or permitted by
insurance regulatory authorities including the NAIC,
which in general reflect a liquidating, rather than going
concern, concept of accounting. 

Supranational – An international organization, or
union, whereby member states transcend national bound-
aries or interests to share in the decision-making and vote
on issues pertaining to the wider grouping. European
Investment Bank is an example of a supranational. 

Syndicate – A group of members underwriting insur-
ance at Lloyd’s through the agency of a managing agent, to
whom a particular syndicate number is assigned. 

Underwriting – The process of selecting risks for insur-
ance and determining in what amounts and on what terms
the insurance company will accept risks. 

Underwriting expenses – Expenses incurred in connec-
tion with the acquisition, pricing and administration of a
policy or contract, and other insurance company expenses
unrelated to claims handling or investments. 

Unearned premiums – The portion of a premium rep-
resenting the unexpired amount of the contract term as of
a certain date. 

Written premium – The premium assessed for the
entire coverage period of an insurance policy or contract
without regard to how much of the premium has been
earned. See also earned premium. Net written premium is
written premium net of reinsurance. 

(1) Ratios may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies.

Item 7A — Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk

Reference is made to “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk” in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations of this Form 10-K. 
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Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.: 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements list-
ed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present fair-
ly, in all material respects, the financial position of The
Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries at
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. In addition, in our opin-
ion, the financial statement schedules listed in the index
appearing under Item 15(a)(2) present fairly, in all materi-
al respects, the information set forth therein when read in
conjunction with the related consolidated financial state-
ments. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control over finan-
cial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The
Company’s management is responsible for these financial
statements and financial statement schedules, for main-
taining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal con-
trol over financial reporting, included in Management’s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on these financial statements, on the financial
statement schedules, and on the Company’s internal con-
trol over financial reporting based on our integrated audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material mis-
statement and whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audits of the financial statements included examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and dis-
closures in the financial statements, assessing the account-
ing principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial state-
ment presentation. Our audit of internal control over

financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included per-
forming such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is
a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regard-
ing the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A compa-
ny’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transac-
tions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accept-
ed accounting principles, and that receipts and expendi-
tures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or proce-
dures may deteriorate. 

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Boston, MA 
February 23, 2015 
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THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions, except per share data)

Revenues
Premiums $4,710.3 $4,450.5 $4,239.1
Net investment income 270.3 269.0 276.6
Net realized investment gains (losses):

Net realized gains from sales and other 55.6 39.5 31.4
Net other-than-temporary impairment losses on investments recognized in earnings (5.5) (6.0) (7.8)

Total net realized investment gains 50.1 33.5 23.6

Fees and other income 36.9 40.7 51.4

Total revenues 5,067.6 4,793.7 4,590.7

Losses and expenses
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 2,927.5 2,761.1 2,974.4
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs 1,040.0 971.0 938.1
Interest expense 65.2 65.3 61.9
Other operating expenses 656.9 667.2 587.6

Total losses and expenses 4,689.6 4,464.6 4,562.0

Income before income taxes 378.0 329.1 28.7

Income tax expense (benefit):
Current 27.1 8.6 18.4
Deferred 68.6 74.8 (35.8)

Total income tax expense (benefit) 95.7 83.4 (17.4)

Income from continuing operations 282.3 245.7 46.1
Net (loss) gain from discontinued operations (net of income tax (benefit)

expense of $(0.1), $4.1 and $(0.5) in 2014, 2013 and 2012) (0.3) 5.3 9.8

Net income $ 282.0 $ 251.0 $ 55.9

Earnings per common share:
Basic:

Income from continuing operations $ 6.41 $ 5.58 $ 1.03
Net (loss) gain from discontinued operations — 0.12 0.22

Net income per share $ 6.41 $ 5.70 $ 1.25

Weighted average shares outstanding 44.0 44.1 44.7

Diluted:
Income from continuing operations $ 6.29 $ 5.47 $ 1.02
Net (loss) gain from discontinued operations (0.01) 0.12 0.21

Net income per share $ 6.28 $ 5.59 $ 1.23

Weighted average shares outstanding 44.9 44.9 45.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Net income $ 282.0 $ 251.0 $ 55.9
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Available-for-sale securities and derivative instruments:
Net appreciation (depreciation) during the period 40.0 (167.3) 109.4
Change in other-than-temporary impairment losses recognized in other 

comprehensive income 1.6 0.6 7.9

Total available-for-sale securities and derivative instruments 41.6 (166.7) 117.3

Pension and postretirement benefits:
Net actuarial (loss) gain arising in the period (22.6) 10.8 (15.9)
Amortization recognized as net benefit and postretirement cost 14.4 9.7 6.1

Total pension and postretirement benefits (8.2) 20.5 (9.8)

Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment:
Amount recognized as cumulative foreign currency translation during the period (4.6) (2.0) 7.9

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 28.8 (148.2) 115.4

Comprehensive income $ 310.8 $ 102.8 $ 171.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions, except share data)

Assets
Investments: 

Fixed maturities, at fair value (amortized cost of $7,145.7 and $6,815.2) $ 7,378.1 $ 6,970.6
Equity securities, at fair value (cost of $506.6 and $366.5) 580.8 430.2
Other investments 291.4 192.5

Total investments 8,250.3 7,593.3

Cash and cash equivalents 373.3 486.2
Accrued investment income 66.9 68.0
Premiums and accounts receivable, net 1,360.9 1,324.6
Reinsurance recoverable on paid and unpaid losses and unearned premiums 2,268.2 2,335.0
Deferred acquisition costs 525.7 506.0
Deferred income taxes 131.2 239.7
Goodwill 184.6 184.9
Other assets 486.6 526.1
Assets of discontinued operations 112.0 114.9

Total assets $13,759.7 $13,378.7

Liabilities
Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves $ 6,391.7 $ 6,231.5
Unearned premiums 2,583.9 2,515.8
Expenses and taxes payable 695.4 637.2
Reinsurance premiums payable 226.8 374.7
Debt 903.5 903.9
Liabilities of discontinued operations 114.4 121.1

Total liabilities 10,915.7 10,784.2

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share; 20.0 million shares authorized; none issued — —
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 300.0 million shares authorized; 60.5 million shares issued 0.6 0.6
Additional paid-in capital 1,830.7 1,830.1
Accumulated other comprehensive income 206.4 177.6
Retained earnings 1,558.7 1,349.1
Treasury stock at cost (16.6 and 16.8 million shares) (752.4) (762.9)

Total shareholders’ equity 2,844.0 2,594.5

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $13,759.7 $13,378.7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Preferred Stock
Balance at beginning and end of year $ — $ — $ —

Common Stock
Balance at beginning and end of year 0.6 0.6 0.6

Additional Paid-in Capital
Balance at beginning of year 1,830.1 1,787.1 1,784.8

Employee and director stock-based awards and other 0.6 43.0 2.3

Balance at end of year 1,830.7 1,830.1 1,787.1

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), net of tax 
Net Unrealized Appreciation (Depreciation) on Investments 
and Derivative Instruments:
Balance at beginning of year 259.3 426.0 308.7

Net appreciation (depreciation) on available-for-sale securities and derivative instruments 41.6 (166.7) 117.3

Balance at end of year 300.9 259.3 426.0

Defined Benefit Pension and Postretirement Plans: 
Balance at beginning of year (76.1) (96.6) (86.8)

Net actuarial (loss) gain arising in the period (22.6) 10.8 (15.9)
Net amount recognized as net periodic benefit cost 14.4 9.7 6.1

Balance at end of year (84.3) (76.1) (96.6)

Cumulative Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment: 
Balance at beginning of year (5.6) (3.6) (11.5)

Amount recognized as cumulative foreign currency translation during the year (4.6) (2.0) 7.9

Balance at end of year (10.2) (5.6) (3.6)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income 206.4 177.6 325.8

Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of year 1,349.1 1,211.6 1,211.3

Net income 282.0 251.0 55.9
Dividends to shareholders (67.0) (60.0) (55.1)
Stock-based compensation (5.4) (53.5) (0.5)

Balance at end of year 1,558.7 1,349.1 1,211.6

Treasury Stock
Balance at beginning of year (762.9) (729.7) (723.1)

Shares purchased at cost (20.4) (78.2) (20.0)
Net shares reissued at cost under employee stock-based compensation plans 30.9 45.0 13.4

Balance at end of year (752.4) (762.9) (729.7)

Total shareholders’ equity $2,844.0 $2,594.5 $2,595.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income $ 282.0 $ 251.0 $ 55.9
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Net loss from repurchase of debt 0.1 19.9 5.1
Net realized investment gains (50.2) (33.5) (22.8)
Gain on sale of Citizens Management, Inc. — — (10.8)
Net amortization and depreciation 33.5 35.0 35.6
Stock-based compensation expense 15.1 12.4 12.8
Amortization of defined benefit plan costs 22.1 14.9 9.3
Deferred income taxes expense (benefit) 68.6 74.9 (35.5)
Change in deferred acquisition costs (19.6) (16.3) (30.8)
Change in premiums receivable, net of reinsurance premiums payable (184.1) (107.4) (53.3)
Change in loss, loss adjustment expense and unearned premium reserves 256.3 65.9 598.3
Change in reinsurance recoverable 115.9 148.8 (230.7)
Change in expenses and taxes payable 12.5 (62.9) 87.6
Other, net 12.5 (18.8) (12.5)

Net cash provided by operating activities 564.7 383.9 408.2

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Proceeds from disposals and maturities of fixed maturities 1,323.1 1,394.3 1,684.8
Proceeds from disposals of equity securities and other investments 175.2 217.8 218.2
Purchase of fixed maturities (1,710.1) (1,698.8) (2,170.4)
Purchase of equity securities and other investments (379.7) (249.1) (274.9)
Capital expenditures (11.2) (22.9) (21.3)
Other investing activities 2.0 — 0.8

Net cash used in investing activities (600.7) (358.7) (562.8)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options 12.6 25.0 2.6
Proceeds from debt borrowings, net — 168.6 7.4
Change in cash collateral related to securities lending program 7.4 (15.9) 5.2
Dividends paid to shareholders (67.0) (60.0) (55.1)
Repurchases of debt (0.7) (139.9) (73.1)
Repurchases of common stock (20.4) (78.2) (20.0)
Other financing activities (3.6) (5.1) (0.4)

Net cash used in financing activities (71.7) (105.5) (133.4)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (5.2) 1.6 32.1

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (112.9) (78.7) (255.9)
Net change in cash related to discontinued operations — 0.1 0.3
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 486.2 564.8 820.4

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 373.3 $ 486.2 $ 564.8

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Interest payments $ 64.1 $ 66.1 $ 62.7
Income tax net payments (refunds) $ 8.4 $ 9.5 $ (5.5)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

A. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND PRINCIPLES 
OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements of The Hanover
Insurance Group, Inc. (“THG” or the “Company”), include
the accounts of The Hanover Insurance Company
(“Hanover Insurance”) and Citizens Insurance Company
of America (“Citizens”), THG’s principal U.S. domiciled
property and casualty companies; Chaucer Holdings
Limited (“Chaucer”), a specialist insurance underwriting
group which operates through the Society and Corporation
of Lloyd’s (“Lloyd’s”); and certain other insurance and non-
insurance subsidiaries. These legal entities conduct their
operations through several business segments discussed in
Note 14 – “Segment Information”. The consolidated finan-
cial statements also include the Company’s discontinued
operations, consisting primarily of the Company’s former
life insurance businesses, and its accident and health busi-
ness. All intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated. During 2013, the Company increased
additional paid-in capital and decreased retained earnings
by $34 million to correct the classification of amounts
relating to stock-based compensation in prior periods. This
reclassification within shareholders’ equity had no impact
on net income, assets, liabilities or total shareholders’ equi-
ty of the Company.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires the
Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclo-
sure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amount of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates. In the opinion of the
Company’s management these financial statements reflect
all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring items nec-
essary for a fair presentation of the financial position and
results of operations.

B. VALUATION OF INVESTMENTS

Fixed maturities and equity securities are classified as
available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried
at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of
taxes, reported in accumulated other comprehensive
income, a separate component of shareholders’ equity. The
amortized cost of fixed maturities is adjusted for amortiza-
tion of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity.
Such amortization is included in net investment income.

Participations in commercial mortgage loan originations
(“mortgage participations”) and other mortgage loans,
included in other investments in the Consolidated Balance

Sheets, are stated at unpaid principal balances, net of
reserves. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid princi-
pal balances at the loans’ contractual interest rates.
Reserves on mortgage participations and other mortgage
loans are established and are collectively evaluated based
on losses expected by the Company for loans that may not
be collectible in full. In establishing reserves, the
Company considers, among other things, the estimated
fair value of the underlying collateral.

Fixed maturities, mortgage participations and other
loans that are delinquent are placed on non-accrual status,
and thereafter interest income is recognized only when
cash payments are received.

Realized investment gains and losses are reported as a
component of revenues based upon specific identification
of the investment assets sold. When an other-than-tempo-
rary decline in value of a specific investment is deemed to
have occurred, and a charge to earnings is required, the
Company recognizes a realized investment loss. 

The Company reviews investments in an unrealized loss
position to identify other-than-temporary declines in value.
When it is determined that a decline in value of an equity
security is other-than-temporary, the Company reduces the
cost basis of the security to fair value with a corresponding
charge to earnings. When an other-than-temporary decline
in value of a debt security is deemed to have occurred, the
Company must assess whether it intends to sell the secu-
rity or more likely than not will be required to sell the secu-
rity before recovery of its amortized cost basis. If the debt
security meets either of these two criteria, an other-than-
temporary impairment (“OTTI”) is recognized in earnings
equal to the entire difference between the security’s amor-
tized cost basis and its fair value at the impairment meas-
urement date. If the Company does not intend to sell the
debt security and it is not more likely than not the
Company will be required to sell the security before recov-
ery of its amortized cost basis, the credit loss portion of an
OTTI is recorded through earnings while the portion
attributable to all other factors is recorded separately as a
component of other comprehensive income. The amount
of the OTTI that relates to credit is estimated by compar-
ing the amortized cost of the fixed maturity security with
the net present value of the security’s projected future cash
flows, discounted at the effective interest rate implicit in
the investment prior to impairment. The non-credit por-
tion of the impairment is equal to the difference between
the fair value and the net present value of the security’s
cash flows at the impairment measurement date. Once an
OTTI has been recognized, the new amortized cost basis of
the security is equal to the previous amortized cost less the
amount of OTTI recognized in earnings. For equity
method investments, an impairment is recognized when
evidence demonstrates that an other-than-temporary loss
in value has occurred, including the absence of the ability

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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to recover the carrying amount of the investment or the
inability of the investee to sustain a level of earnings that
would justify the carrying amount of the investment.

C. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In the normal course of business, the Company may enter
into transactions involving various types of financial
instruments, including debt, investments such as fixed
maturities, equity securities and mortgage loans, invest-
ment and loan commitments, swap contracts, option con-
tracts, forward contracts and futures contracts. These
instruments involve credit risk and could also be subject to
risk of loss due to interest rate and foreign currency fluc-
tuation. The Company evaluates and monitors each finan-
cial instrument individually and, when appropriate,
obtains collateral or other security to minimize losses.

D. OTHER INVESTMENTS

Other investments consist primarily of overseas deposits,
mortgage participations and limited partnerships. Overseas
deposits are investments maintained in overseas funds and
managed exclusively by Lloyd’s. These funds are required
in order to protect policyholders in overseas markets and
enable the Company to operate in those markets. Overseas
deposits are carried at fair value. Realized and unrealized
gains and losses on overseas deposits, including the impact
of foreign currency movements, are reflected in the
income statement in the period the gain or loss was
 generated.

Mortgage participations represent interests in invest-
ment grade commercial mortgage loans originated and
serviced by a third party of which the Company shares, on
a pro-rata basis, in all related cash flows of the underlying
mortgage loans. Due to certain reacquisition rights
retained by the third party in the loan participation, these
investments are accounted for as secured borrowings
under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 860,
Transfers and Servicing (“ASC 860”).

E. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
amounts due from banks and highly liquid debt instru-
ments purchased with an original maturity of three months
or less.

F. DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS

Acquisition costs consist of commissions, underwriting
costs and other costs, which vary with, and are primarily
related to, the successful production of premiums.
Acquisition costs are deferred and amortized over the
terms of the insurance policies.

Deferred acquisition costs (“DAC”) for each line of
business are reviewed to determine if the costs are recov-
erable from future income, including investment income.
If such costs are determined to be unrecoverable, they are

expensed at the time of determination. Although recover-
ability of DAC is not assured, the Company believes it is
more likely than not that all of these costs will be recov-
ered. The amount of DAC considered recoverable, howev-
er, could be reduced in the near term if the estimates of
total revenues discussed above are reduced or permanent-
ly impaired as a result of a disposition of a line of business.
The amount of amortization of DAC could be revised in
the near term if any of the estimates discussed above are
revised.

G. REINSURANCE RECOVERABLES

The Company shares certain insurance risks it has under-
written, through the use of reinsurance contracts, with
various insurance entities. Reinsurance accounting is fol-
lowed for ceded transactions when the risk transfer provi-
sions of ASC 944, Financial Services – Insurance (“ASC
944”), have been met. As a result, when the Company
experiences loss or claims events that are subject to a rein-
surance contract, reinsurance recoverables are recorded.
The amount of the reinsurance recoverable can vary based
on the terms of the reinsurance contract, the size of the
individual loss or claim, or the aggregate amount of all
losses or claims in a particular line or book of business or
an aggregate amount associated with a particular accident
year. The valuation of losses or claims recoverable depends
on whether the underlying loss or claim is a reported loss
or claim, or an incurred but not reported loss. For report-
ed losses and claims, the Company values reinsurance
recoverables at the time the underlying loss or claim is rec-
ognized, in accordance with contract terms. For incurred
but not reported losses, the Company estimates the
amount of reinsurance recoverables based on the terms of
the reinsurance contracts and historical reinsurance recov-
ery information and applies that information to the gross
loss reserve. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are esti-
mated in a manner consistent with the claim liability asso-
ciated with the reinsured business and the balance is
disclosed separately in the financial statements. However,
the ultimate amount of the reinsurance recoverable is not
known until all losses and claims are settled. Allowances
are established for amounts deemed uncollectible and
reinsurance recoverables are recorded net of these
allowances. The Company evaluates the financial condi-
tion of its reinsurers and monitors concentration risk to
minimize its exposure to significant credit losses from indi-
vidual reinsurers.

H. PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE

Property, equipment, leasehold improvements and capital-
ized software are recorded at cost, less accumulated depre-
ciation and amortization. Depreciation is generally
provided using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the related assets, which generally range
from 3 to 30 years. The estimated useful life for capitalized
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software is generally 5 to 7 years. Amortization of leasehold
improvements is provided using the straight-line method
over the lesser of the term of the leases or the estimated
useful life of the improvements.

The Company tests for the recoverability of long-lived
assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indi-
cate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
The Company recognizes impairment losses only to the
extent that the carrying amounts of long-lived assets
exceed the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to
result from the use and eventual disposition of the assets.
When an impairment loss occurs, the Company reduces
the carrying value of the asset to fair value and no longer
depreciates the asset. Fair values are estimated using dis-
counted cash flow analysis.

In 2013, the Company consolidated its operations in
Howell, Michigan from two buildings into one building.
This resulted in a plan to relocate the employees and pur-
sue the sale of one of the buildings. During the fourth
quarter of 2014 the building was sold. In 2013, the
Company recognized a loss of $4.7 million in conjunction
with the plan to dispose of the building. This was included
in other operating expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Income during that year.

I. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In accordance with the provisions of ASC 350, Intangibles-
Goodwill and Other, the Company carries its goodwill at
cost, net of amortization prior to January 1, 2002 and net
of impairments. Increases to goodwill are generated
through acquisition and represent the excess of the cost of
an acquisition over the fair value of net assets acquired,
including any intangibles acquired. Since January 1, 2002,
goodwill is no longer amortized but rather, is reviewed for
impairment. Additionally, acquisitions can also produce
intangible assets, which have either a definite or indefinite
life. Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over
that life, whereas those intangible assets determined to
have an indefinite life are reviewed at least annually for
impairment.

The Company tests for the recoverability of goodwill
and intangible assets with indefinite lives annually or
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The
Company recognizes impairment losses only to the extent
that the carrying amounts of reporting units with goodwill
exceed the fair value. The amount of the impairment loss
that is recognized is determined based upon the excess of
the carrying value of goodwill compared to the implied fair
value of the goodwill, as determined with respect to all
assets and liabilities of the reporting unit. The Company
has performed its annual review of goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite lives for impairment in the fourth
quarters of 2014 and 2013 with no impairments recognized.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, Chaucer held intangible
assets with indefinite lives of $76.5 million and $81.3 mil-
lion, respectively, which represents approximately 80% of
the Company’s balance. In addition, at December 31, 2014
and 2013, goodwill held by Chaucer was $5.8 million and
$6.3 million, respectively. The remaining balance relates to
the U.S. Companies. Changes in the value of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives from December 31,
2013 represent foreign exchange differences arising during
2014.

J. LIABILITIES FOR LOSSES, LAE, AND UNEARNED 
PREMIUMS

Liabilities for outstanding claims, losses and loss adjust-
ment expenses (“LAE”) are estimates of payments to be
made for reported losses and LAE and estimates of losses
and LAE incurred but not reported. These liabilities are
determined using case basis evaluations and statistical
analyses of historical loss patterns and represent estimates
of the ultimate cost of all losses incurred but not paid.
These estimates are continually reviewed and adjusted as
necessary; adjustments are reflected in current operations.
Estimated amounts of salvage and subrogation on unpaid
losses are deducted from the liability for unpaid claims.

Premiums for direct and assumed business are reported
as earned on a pro-rata basis over the contract period. The
unexpired portion of these premiums is recorded as
unearned premiums.

All losses, LAE and unearned premium liabilities are
based on the various estimates discussed above. Although
the adequacy of these amounts cannot be assured, the
Company believes that it is more likely than not that these
liabilities and accruals will be sufficient to meet future
obligations of policies in force. The amount of liabilities
and accruals, however, could be revised in the near-term if
the estimates discussed above are revised.

K. DEBT

The Company’s debt at December 31, 2014 includes sen-
ior debentures, subordinated debentures, and collateral-
ized borrowings with the Federal Home Loan Bank of
Boston (“FHLBB”). The senior debentures are carried at
principal amount borrowed, net of any applicable unamor-
tized discounts. The subordinated debentures and borrow-
ings under the FHLBB program are carried at principal
amount borrowed (See Note 6 – “Debt and Credit
Arrangements”).

L. PREMIUM, PREMIUM RECEIVABLE, FEE REVENUE AND
RELATED EXPENSES

Insurance premiums written are generally recorded at the
policy inception and are primarily earned on a pro rata
basis over the terms of the policies for all products.
Premiums written include estimates, primarily in the
Chaucer segment, that are derived from multiple sources,
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which include the historical experience of the underlying
business, similar businesses and available industry infor-
mation. These estimates are regularly reviewed and updat-
ed, and any resulting adjustments are included in the
current year’s results. Unearned premium reserves repre-
sent the portion of premiums written that relates to the
unexpired terms of the underlying in-force insurance poli-
cies and reinsurance contracts. Premium receivables
reflect the unpaid balance of premium written as of the
balance sheet date. Premium receivables are generally
short-term in nature and are reported net of an allowance
for estimated uncollectible premium accounts. The
Company reviews its receivables for collectability at the
balance sheet date. The allowance for uncollectible
accounts was not material as of December 31, 2014 and
2013. Ceded premiums are charged to income over the
applicable term of the various reinsurance contracts with
third party reinsurers. Reinsurance reinstatement premi-
ums, when required, are recognized in the same period as
the loss event that gave rise to the reinstatement premi-
ums. Losses and related expenses are matched with premi-
ums, resulting in their recognition over the lives of the
contracts. This matching is accomplished through estimat-
ed and unpaid losses and amortization of deferred acquisi-
tion costs.

M. INCOME TAXES

The Company is subject to the tax laws and regulations of
the U.S. and foreign countries in which it operates. The
Company files a consolidated U.S. federal income tax
return that includes the holding company and its U.S. sub-
sidiaries. Generally, taxes are accrued at the U.S. statutory
tax rate of 35% for income from the U.S. operations. The
Company’s primary non-U.S. jurisdiction is the United
Kingdom (“U.K.”). In July 2012, the U.K. statutory rate
decreased from 26% to 24% effective April 1, 2012 and
from 24% to 23% effective April 1, 2013. Further decreas-
es were enacted in July 2013 to reduce the statutory rate
from 23% to 21% effective April 1, 2014 and from 21% to
20% effective April 1, 2015. The Company accrues taxes
on certain non-U.S. income that is subject to U.S. tax at
the U.S. tax rate. Foreign tax credits, where available, are
utilized to offset U.S. tax as permitted. Certain of our non-
U.S. income is not subject to U.S. tax until repatriated.
Foreign taxes on this non-U.S. income are accrued at the
local foreign rate and do not have an accrual for U.S.
deferred taxes since these earnings are intended to be
indefinitely reinvested overseas.

The Company’s accounting for income taxes represents
its best estimate of various events and transactions.

Deferred income taxes are generally recognized when
assets and liabilities have different values for financial
statement and tax reporting purposes, and for other tempo-

rary taxable and deductible differences as defined by ASC
740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”). These temporary differ-
ences are measured at the balance sheet date using enact-
ed tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years the temporary differences are expected to reverse.
These differences result primarily from insurance reserves,
deferred acquisition costs, tax credit carryforwards and
deferred Lloyd’s underwriting income.

The realization of deferred tax assets depends upon the
existence of sufficient taxable income within the carryback
or carryforward periods under the tax law in the applicable
tax jurisdiction. Consideration is given to all available pos-
itive and negative evidence, including reversals of deferred
tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax plan-
ning strategies and recent financial operations. Valuation
allowances are established if, based on available informa-
tion, it is determined that it is more likely than not that all
or some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be real-
ized. Changes in valuation allowances are generally reflect-
ed in income tax expense or as an adjustment to other
comprehensive income (loss) depending on the nature of
the item for which the valuation allowance is being
 recorded.

N. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company recognizes the fair value of compensation
costs for all share-based payments, including employee
stock options, in the financial statements. Unvested
awards are generally expensed on a straight line basis, by
tranche, over the vesting period of the award. The
Company’s stock-based compensation plans are discussed
further in Note 11 – “Stock-Based Compensation Plans”.

O. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share (“EPS”) for the years ended December
31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 is based on a weighted average
of the number of shares outstanding during each year.
Basic and diluted EPS is computed by dividing income
available to common stockholders by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding for the period. The weight-
ed average shares outstanding used to calculate basic EPS
differ from the weighted average shares outstanding used
in the calculation of diluted EPS due to the effect of dilu-
tive employee stock options, nonvested stock grants and
other contingently issuable shares. If the effect of such
items is antidilutive, the weighted average shares outstand-
ing used to calculate diluted EPS are equal to those used
to calculate basic EPS.

Options to purchase shares of common stock whose
exercise prices are greater than the average market price of
the common shares are not included in the computation of
diluted earnings per share because the effect would be
antidilutive.
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P. FOREIGN CURRENCY

The Company’s reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. The
functional currencies of the Company’s foreign operations
are the U.K. pound sterling (“GBP”), U.S. dollar, and
Canadian dollar. Assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated into the U.S. dollar using the exchange rates
in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses
of foreign operations are translated using the average
exchange rate for the period. Gains or losses from translat-
ing the financial statements of foreign operations are
recorded in the cumulative translation adjustment, as a
separate component of accumulated other comprehensive
income. Gains and losses arising from transactions denom-
inated in a foreign currency, other than the Company’s
functional currencies, are included in net income (loss),
except for the Company’s foreign currency denominated
available-for-sale investments. The Company’s foreign cur-
rency denominated available-for-sale investments’ change
in exchange rates between the local currency and the func-
tional currency at each balance sheet date represents an
unrealized appreciation or depreciation in value of these
securities, and is included as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income.

The Company manages its exposure to foreign currency
risk primarily by matching assets and liabilities denominat-
ed in the same currency. To the extent that assets and lia-
bilities in foreign currencies are not matched, the
Company is exposed to foreign currency risk. For function-
al currencies, the related exchange rate fluctuations are
reflected in other comprehensive income (loss). The
Company translated Chaucer’s balance sheet at December
31, 2014 and 2013 from GBP to U.S. dollars using a con-
version rate of 1.56 and 1.66, respectively. The Company
recognized $4.2 million, $4.2 million and $6.3 million in
foreign currency transaction gains in the Consolidated
Statements of Income during the years ended December
31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Q. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Recently Implemented Standards
In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued ASC Update No. 2013-11 (Topic 740)
Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net
Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax
Credit Carryforward Exists (a consensus of the FASB
Emerging Issues Task Force). This ASC update clarifies
the applicable guidance for the presentation of an unrec-
ognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward,
a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists. An
unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion of an unrecognized
tax benefit, should be presented in the financial statements
as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for a net operating
loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryfor-
ward as long as it is available, at the reporting date under
the tax law of the applicable jurisdiction, to settle any addi-

tional income taxes that would result from the disal-
lowance of a tax position (with certain exceptions). The
assessment of whether a deferred tax asset is available is
based on the unrecognized tax benefit and deferred tax
asset that exist at the reporting date and should be made
presuming disallowance of the tax position at the reporting
date. This guidance was applicable for reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2013, with early adoption
permitted, and was to be applied prospectively to all unrec-
ognized tax benefits that existed at the effective date.
Retrospective application to all prior periods upon the date
of adoption was permitted. The Company implemented
this guidance effective January 1, 2014. The effect of
implementing this guidance was not material to the
Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In March 2013, the FASB issued ASC Update No.
2013-05 (Topic 830) Foreign Currency Matters-Parent’s
Accounting for the Cumulative Translation Adjustment
upon Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaries or Groups of
Assets within a Foreign Entity or of an Investment in a
Foreign Entity (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues
Task Force). This ASC update clarifies the applicable guid-
ance for the release of the cumulative translation adjust-
ment into net income when a parent either sells all or a
portion of its investment in a foreign entity. This guidance
is also required to be applied when an entity no longer
holds a controlling financial interest in a subsidiary or
group of assets that is a nonprofit activity or a business
within a foreign entity (with certain exceptions).
Additionally, this update clarifies that the sale of an invest-
ment in a foreign entity includes events that result in an
acquirer obtaining control of an acquiree in which it held
an equity interest immediately before the acquisition date
in a business combination achieved in stages. This guid-
ance was applicable for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2013, with early adoption permitted, and
was to be applied prospectively to derecognition events
occurring after the effective date. The Company imple-
mented this guidance effective January 1, 2014. The effect
of implementing this guidance was not material to the
Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASC Update No.
2013-02 (Topic 220) Comprehensive Income Reporting of
Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (“ASC Update No. 2013-02”).
This guidance requires an entity to provide information
about the amounts reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income (“AOCI”) either on the face of the
Statement of Income or in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. Significant amounts reclassified out
of AOCI should be provided by the respective line items of
net income but only if the amount reclassified is required
under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified in its entirety to net
income in the same reporting period. For amounts not
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required to be reclassified in their entirety to net income,
a cross-reference to other disclosures provided for in
accordance with U.S. GAAP is required. This guidance
was applicable for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2012. The Company implemented the guid-
ance effective January 1, 2013. The effect of implementing
the guidance relates to financial statement presentation
and disclosures. (See disclosures in Note 10 – Other
Comprehensive Income.)

Recently Issued Standards
In April 2014, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2014-08
(Topic 205 and Topic 360) Reporting Discontinued
Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of
an Entity. This ASC update modifies the definition of dis-
continued operations by limiting discontinued operations
reporting to disposals of components of an entity that rep-
resent strategic shifts that have (or will have) a major effect
on an entity’s operations and financial results. Also, this
update requires additional financial statement disclosures
about discontinued operations, as well as disposals of an
individually significant component of an entity that do not
qualify for discontinued operations presentation. This ASC
update is effective for all disposals (or classifications as
held for sale) of components of an entity that occur with-
in annual and interim periods beginning on or after
December 15, 2014 and for all businesses that, on acqui-
sition, are classified as held for sale that also occur within
interim and annual periods beginning on or after
December 15, 2014. Early adoption is permitted for dis-
posals (or classifications as held for sale) that have not
been reported in financial statements previously issued or
available for issuance. The Company does not expect the
adoption of ASC Update 2014-08 to have a material
impact on its financial position or results of operations.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2014-
09 (Topic 606) Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
This ASC was issued to clarify the principles for recogniz-
ing revenue. Insurance Contracts and financial instrument
transactions are not within the scope of this updated guid-
ance, and; therefore, only an insignificant amount of the
Company’s revenue is subject to this updated guidance.
The updated guidance is effective for periods beginning
after December 15, 2016 and is not expected to have a
material effect on the Company’s financial position or
results of operations.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASC update No.
2014-15 (Subtopic 205-40) Presentation of Financial
Statements – Going Concern. This ASC update provides
guidance on determining when and how to disclose going
concern uncertainties in the financial statements, and
requires management to perform interim and annual
assessments of an entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern within one year of the date the financial state-
ments are issued. The updated guidance is effective for

annual periods ending after December 15, 2016 and inter-
im periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company does not expect the adoption of ASC update
2014-15 to have a material impact on its financial position
or results of operations.

R. RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to con-
form to the current year presentation.

2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Discontinued operations primarily consist of the
Company’s former life insurance businesses, which were
sold prior to 2009, and its discontinued accident and
health business.

Our former life insurance businesses include indemnity
obligations for which we have established reserves.

During 1999, the Company exited its accident and
health insurance business, consisting of its Employee
Benefit Services business, its Affinity Group Underwriters
business and its accident and health assumed reinsurance
pool business. Prior to 1999, these businesses comprised
substantially all of the former Corporate Risk Management
Services segment. Accordingly, the operating results of the
discontinued segment have been reported in accordance
with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30,
Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting the
Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and
Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events
and Transactions (“APB Opinion No. 30”). On January 2,
2009, Hanover Insurance directly assumed a portion of the
accident and health business; and therefore continues to
apply APB Opinion No. 30 to this business. In addition,
the remainder of the Discontinued First Allmerica
Financial Life Insurance Company (“FAFLIC”) accident
and health business was reinsured by Hanover Insurance
in connection with the sale of FAFLIC to Commonwealth
Annuity, and has been reported in accordance with ASC
205, Presentation of Financial Statements.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the portion of the dis-
continued accident and health business that was directly
assumed had assets of $65.2 million and $66.6 million,
respectively, consisting primarily of invested assets, and lia-
bilities of $49.7 million and $51.3 million, respectively,
consisting primarily of policy liabilities. At December 31,
2014 and 2013, the assets and liabilities of this business,
as well as those of the reinsured portion of the accident
and health business are classified as assets and liabilities of
discontinued operations in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets.

Discontinued operations for the years ended December
31, 2014 and 2013 resulted in losses of $0.3 million and
gains of $5.3 million, respectively, net of tax. The 2013
benefit associated with the Company’s former life insur-
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3. INVESTMENTS

A. FIXED MATURITIES AND EQUITY SECURITIES

The amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale fixed maturities and the cost and fair value of equity securities
were as follows:

DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions)
Gross Gross OTTI 

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost or Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Losses

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ 516.3 $ 7.6 $ 3.5 $ 520.4 $ —
Foreign government 349.4 5.2 0.6 354.0 —
Municipal 1,079.6 62.4 4.0 1,138.0 —
Corporate 3,746.3 166.3 31.8 3,880.8 7.4
Residential mortgage-backed 770.4 21.7 3.0 789.1 0.4
Commercial mortgage-backed 516.7 12.4 1.3 527.8 —
Asset-backed 167.0 1.2 0.2 168.0 —

Total fixed maturities $7,145.7 $ 276.8 $ 44.4 $7,378.1 $ 7.8

Equity securities $ 506.6 $ 76.8 $ 2.6 $ 580.8 $ —

DECEMBER 31, 2013

(in millions)
Gross Gross OTTI 

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost or Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Losses

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ 417.5 $ 3.3 $ 14.2 $ 406.6 $ —
Foreign government 304.5 2.1 1.6 305.0 —
Municipal 1,108.0 37.4 19.1 1,126.3 —
Corporate 3,690.2 171.5 37.5 3,824.2 8.6
Residential mortgage-backed 722.8 20.1 14.1 728.8 1.6
Commercial mortgage-backed 405.9 10.5 4.8 411.6 —
Asset-backed 166.3 2.0 0.2 168.1 —

Total fixed maturities $ 6,815.2 $ 246.9 $ 91.5 $ 6,970.6 $ 10.2

Equity securities $ 366.5 $ 66.9 $ 3.2 $ 430.2 $ —

OTTI unrealized losses in the tables above represent
OTTI recognized in accumulated other comprehensive
income. This amount excludes net unrealized gains on
impaired securities relating to changes in the value of such
securities subsequent to the impairment measurement
date of $12.3 million and $16.4 million as of December
31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The Company participates in a security lending program
for the purpose of enhancing income. Securities on loan to
various counterparties had a fair value of $20.9 million and
$13.6 million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respective-
ly, and were fully collateralized by cash. The fair value of

the loaned securities is monitored on a daily basis, and the
collateral is maintained at a level of at least 102% of the
fair value of the loaned securities. Securities lending col-
lateral is recorded by the Company in cash and cash equiv-
alents, with an offsetting liability included in expenses and
taxes payable.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, fixed maturities with
fair values of $211.2 million and $142.4 million, respec-
tively, and amortized cost of $196.4 million and $135.2
million, respectively, were on deposit with various state and
governmental authorities.

ance businesses was primarily due to an insurance settle-
ment related to a class action lawsuit.

On April 30, 2012, the Company completed the sale of
its third party administration subsidiary, Citizens
Management, Inc. (“CMI”). The Company recognized net

gains of $10.8 million after taxes related to this transaction
during the year ended December 31, 2012. Included in
this amount was a contingent gain with a fair value of $1.7
million that was entirely contributed to the Company’s
charitable foundation.
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In accordance with Lloyd’s operating guidelines, the
Company deposits funds at Lloyd’s to support underwriting
operations. These funds are available only to fund claim
obligations. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, fixed matu-
rities with a fair value of approximately $450 million and
$334 million, respectively, and cash of $2 million and $1
million, respectively, were on deposit with Lloyd’s. 

The Company enters into various agreements that may
require its fixed maturities to be held as collateral by oth-
ers. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, fixed maturities with
a fair value of $208.2 million and $160.9 million, respec-
tively, were held as collateral for collateralized borrowings
and other arrangements. Of these amounts, $195.7 million
and $148.1 million related to the FHLBB collateralized
borrowing program at December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. See Note 6—“Debt and Credit Arrangements”
for additional information related to the Company’s
FHLBB program.

The amortized cost and fair value by maturity periods
for fixed maturities are shown below. Actual maturities
may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers
may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or
without call or prepayment penalties, or the Company may
have the right to put or sell the obligations back to the
issuers.

DECEMBER 31 2014

(in millions)
Amortized Fair

Cost Value

Due in one year or less $ 498.1 $ 502.5
Due after one year through five years 2,300.0 2,388.0
Due after five years through ten years 2,267.3 2,337.5
Due after ten years 626.2 665.2

5,691.6 5,893.2
Mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities 1,454.1 1,484.9

Total fixed maturities $7,145.7 $ 7,378.1

B. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company maintains an overall risk management strat-
egy that incorporates the use of derivative instruments, as
necessary, to manage significant unplanned fluctuations in
earnings that may be caused by foreign currency exchange
and interest rate volatility.

The Company did not use derivative instruments in
2014 or 2013. In 2012, the Company realized a loss of
$5.1 million on futures contracts relating to the realiza-
tion, for tax purposes only, of unrealized gains in its invest-
ment portfolio. Additionally, the Company utilized a
foreign currency forward contract to mitigate changes in
fair value caused by foreign currency fluctuation in con-

verting GBP denominated securities into their U.S. dollar
denominated equivalent. The contract was terminated in
March 2012 and the Company recognized a gain of $0.7
million.

C. UNREALIZED GAINS AND LOSSES

Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale and other
securities are summarized in the following table.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

(in millions)
Equity

Fixed Securities
2014 Maturities and Other Total

Net appreciation, beginning of year $ 212.1 $ 47.2 $ 259.3
Net appreciation on available-

for-sale securities 76.3 10.2 86.5
Change in OTTI losses recognized 

in other comprehensive income 2.4 — 2.4
Provision for deferred income taxes (40.8) (6.5) (47.3)

37.9 3.7 41.6

Net appreciation, end of year $ 250.0 $ 50.9 $ 300.9

2013

Net appreciation, beginning of year $ 410.1 $ 15.9 $ 426.0
Net (depreciation) appreciation on 

available-for-sale securities (273.6) 48.1 (225.5)
Change in OTTI losses recognized 

in other comprehensive income 0.8 — 0.8
Benefit (provision) for deferred 

income taxes 74.8 (16.8) 58.0

(198.0) 31.3 (166.7)

Net appreciation, end of year $ 212.1 $ 47.2 $ 259.3

2012

Net appreciation, beginning of year $ 300.2 $ 8.5 $ 308.7
Net appreciation on available-

for-sale securities and 
derivative instruments 140.7 10.6 151.3

Change in OTTI losses recognized 
in other comprehensive income 12.2 — 12.2

Provision for deferred income taxes (43.0) (3.2) (46.2)

109.9 7.4 117.3

Net appreciation, end of year $ 410.1 $ 15.9 $ 426.0

Equity securities and other balances at December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012 include after-tax net appreciation on
other invested assets of $2.6 million, $2.9 million and $2.1
million, respectively.
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D. SECURITIES IN AN UNREALIZED LOSS POSITION

The following tables provide information about the Company’s fixed maturities and equity securities that were in an
unrealized loss position at December 31, 2014 and 2013 including the length of time the securities have been in an
unrealized loss position:

DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions)
12 months or less Greater than 12 months Total

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized 
Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value

Fixed maturities:
Investment grade:

U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ — $ 52.2 $ 3.5 $ 137.9 $ 3.5 $ 190.1
Foreign governments 0.4 20.8 0.2 24.2 0.6 45.0
Municipal 0.3 57.1 3.7 140.2 4.0 197.3
Corporate 7.8 393.3 9.3 217.4 17.1 610.7
Residential mortgage-backed 0.2 36.4 2.8 98.0 3.0 134.4
Commercial mortgage-backed 0.4 90.4 0.9 60.8 1.3 151.2
Asset-backed 0.1 46.6 0.1 13.2 0.2 59.8

Total investment grade 9.2 696.8 20.5 691.7 29.7 1,388.5
Below investment grade:

Corporate 12.2 114.9 2.5 28.3 14.7 143.2

Total fixed maturities 21.4 811.7 23.0 720.0 44.4 1,531.7
Equity securities 2.2 130.2 0.4 3.9 2.6 134.1

Total $ 23.6 $ 941.9 $ 23.4 $ 723.9 $ 47.0 $1,665.8

DECEMBER 31, 2013

(in millions)
12 months or less Greater than 12 months Total

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized 
Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value

Fixed maturities:
Investment grade:

U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ 12.3 $ 247.9 $ 1.9 $ 18.8 $ 14.2 $ 266.7
Foreign governments 1.5 129.0 0.1 17.3 1.6 146.3
Municipal 14.8 345.3 4.3 39.9 19.1 385.2
Corporate 21.4 872.7 11.6 87.7 33.0 960.4
Residential mortgage-backed 10.3 321.1 3.4 29.5 13.7 350.6
Commercial mortgage-backed 4.2 155.4 0.6 10.2 4.8 165.6
Asset-backed 0.2 31.0 — 0.3 0.2 31.3

Total investment grade 64.7 2,102.4 21.9 203.7 86.6 2,306.1

Below investment grade:
Corporate 2.9 71.9 1.6 21.4 4.5 93.3
Residential mortgage-backed 0.1 2.0 0.3 1.5 0.4 3.5

Total below investment grade 3.0 73.9 1.9 22.9 4.9 96.8

Total fixed maturities 67.7 2,176.3 23.8 226.6 91.5 2,402.9
Equity securities 2.8 45.2 0.4 0.7 3.2 45.9

Total $ 70.5 $ 2,221.5 $ 24.2 $ 227.3 $ 94.7 $ 2,448.8
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The Company views gross unrealized losses on fixed
maturities and equity securities as being temporary since it
is its assessment that these securities will recover in the
near term, allowing the Company to realize the anticipat-
ed long-term economic value. The Company employs a sys-
tematic methodology to evaluate declines in fair value
below amortized cost for fixed maturity securities or cost
for equity securities. In determining OTTI of fixed maturi-
ty and equity securities, the Company evaluates several
factors and circumstances, including the issuer’s overall
financial condition; the issuer’s credit and financial
strength ratings; the issuer’s financial performance, includ-
ing earnings trends, dividend payments and asset quality;
any specific events which may influence the operations of
the issuer; the general outlook for market conditions in the
industry or geographic region in which the issuer operates;
and the length of time and the degree to which the fair
value of an issuer’s securities remains below the
Company’s cost. With respect to fixed maturity invest-
ments, the Company considers any factors that might raise
doubt about the issuer’s ability to make contractual pay-
ments as they come due and whether the Company expects
to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security.
With respect to equity securities, the Company considers
its ability and intent to hold the investment for a period of
time to allow for a recovery in value.

E. OTHER INVESTMENTS

The Company’s mortgage participations and other mort-
gage loans were $94.9 million and $2.5 million at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

In 2014, the Company purchased $93.4 million of par-
ticipating interests in investment grade commercial mort-
gage loans originated and serviced by a third party. The
Company shares, on a pro-rata basis, in all related cash
flows of the underlying mortgages. Due to certain reacqui-
sition rights retained by the third party in the loan partici-
pation arrangement, the Company accounts for its
participating interests in mortgage loans as secured bor-
rowings under ASC 860.

Mortgage participations and other mortgage loans
included the following property type and geographic loca-
tions. These investments are reflected in other investments
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

DECEMBER 31, 2014 CARRYING VALUE

(in millions)

Property Type:
Office $ 40.0
Apartments 33.4
Retail and other 21.7
Valuation allowance (0.2)

Total $ 94.9

DECEMBER 31, 2014 CARRYING VALUE

(in millions)

Geographic Region:
South Atlantic $ 30.0
West South Central 25.0
Pacific 20.0
East North Central 11.4
Mid-Atlantic 8.7
Valuation allowance (0.2)

Total $ 94.9

At December 31, 2014, scheduled maturities of mort-
gage participations and other mortgage loans were as fol-
lows: due in one year - $0.3 million; two years - $1.4
million; five to ten years - $73.4 million; and thereafter -
$19.8 million. Actual maturities could differ from contrac-
tual maturities because borrowers may have the right to
prepay obligations with or without the prepayment penal-
ties and loans may be refinanced.

During 2014, the Company did not refinance any loans
based on terms that differed from current market rates.

The Company held overseas deposits of $132.6 million
and $149.6 million at December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively, which are investments held in overseas funds
and managed exclusively by Lloyd’s. These investments are
also reflected in other investments in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

F. OTHER

The Company had no concentration of investments in a
single investee that exceeded 10% of shareholders’ equity
except for fixed maturities invested in Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corp. (“FHLMC”) and Federal National
Mortgage Association (“FNMA”). At December 31, 2014,
the Company held FHLMC and FNMA with fair values of
$394.4 million and $315.8 million, respectively. At
December 31, 2013, the Company held FHLMC and
FNMA with fair values of $341.8 million and $253.2 mil-
lion, respectively.
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In 2012, the Company sold an office building and adja-
cent garage that it had developed for $75.9 million, and
recognized an estimated gain of $3.3 million. In 2013,
upon receipt of final construction costs, the gain was
adjusted by $(0.9) million, to $2.4 million. The project was
financed, in part, with $46.3 million of FHLBB advances
through the Company’s membership in the FHLBB, which
was repaid in January 2013.

At December 31, 2014, there were contractual invest-
ment commitments of up to $83.5 million.

4. INVESTMENT INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES

A. NET INVESTMENT INCOME

The components of net investment income were as follows:

YYEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Fixed maturities $ 255.8 $ 254.8 $ 264.2
Equity securities 16.5 15.6 15.3
Other investments 9.0 8.8 7.0

Gross investment income 281.3 279.2 286.5
Less investment expenses (11.0) (10.2) (9.9)

Net investment income $ 270.3 $ 269.0 $ 276.6

The carrying values of fixed maturity securities on non-
accrual status at December 31, 2014 and 2013 were not
material. The effects of non-accruals for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, compared with
amounts of net investment income that would have been
recognized in accordance with the original terms of the
fixed maturities, were reductions of $2.1 million, $2.3 mil-
lion and $2.5 million, respectively.

B. NET REALIZED INVESTMENT GAINS AND LOSSES

Net realized gains (losses) on investments were as follows:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Equity securities $ 45.8 $ 26.7 $ 15.5
Fixed maturities 4.5 8.6 9.7
Real estate — (0.9) 3.3
Derivative instruments — — (4.4)
Other investments (0.2) (0.9) (0.5)

Net realized investment gains $ 50.1 $ 33.5 $ 23.6

Included in the net realized investment gains (losses)
were OTTI of investment securities recognized in earnings
totaling $5.5 million, $6.0 million and $7.8 million in
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Other-than-temporary-impairments
For 2014, total OTTI was $5.4 million. Of this amount,
$5.5 million was recognized in earnings including $0.1
million which was transferred from unrealized losses in
accumulated other comprehensive income. The $5.5 mil-
lion of OTTI recognized in earnings was related to fixed
maturity securities that the Company intended to sell.

For 2013, total OTTI was $7.0 million. Of this amount,
$6.0 million was recognized in earnings and $1.0 million
was recorded as unrealized losses in accumulated other
comprehensive income.

For 2012, total OTTI was $7.3 million. Of this amount,
$7.8 million was recognized in earnings, including $0.5
million that was transferred from unrealized losses in accu-
mulated other comprehensive income.

There were no credit impairments in 2014. The
methodology and significant inputs used to measure the
amount of credit losses on fixed maturities in 2013 and
2012 were as follows:

Corporate bonds - the Company utilized a financial
model that derives expected cash flows based on proba-
bility-of-default factors by credit rating and asset dura-
tion and loss-given-default factors based on security
type. These factors are based on historical data provid-
ed by an independent third-party rating agency.

Asset-backed securities, including commercial and resi-
dential mortgage-backed securities - the Company uti-
lized cash flow estimates based on bond specific facts
and circumstances that include collateral characteris-
tics, expectations of delinquency and default rates, loss
severity, prepayment speeds and structural support,
including subordination and guarantees.

Municipals - the Company utilized cash flow estimates
based on bond specific facts and circumstances that
may include the political subdivision’s taxing authority,
the issuer’s ability to adjust user fees or other sources of
revenue to satisfy its debt obligations and the ability to
access insurance or guarantees.

The following table provides rollforwards of the cumu-
lative amounts related to the Company’s credit loss portion
of the OTTI losses on fixed maturity securities for which
the non-credit portion of the loss is included in other com-
prehensive income.
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YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Credit losses as of the beginning 
of the year $ 7.8 $ 8.6 $ 14.5

Credit losses for which an OTTI 
was not previously recognized — 1.1 0.6

Additional credit losses on securities 
for which an OTTI was 
previously recognized — 0.3 0.6

Reductions for securities sold, 
matured or called (3.2) (2.2) (6.9)

Reductions for securities reclassified 
as intend to sell (0.4) — (0.2)

Credit losses as of the end of the year $ 4.2 $ 7.8 $ 8.6

The proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities
and the gross realized gains and gross realized losses on
those sales, were as follows:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

(in millions)
Proceeds Gross Gross

2014 from Sales Gains Losses

Fixed maturities $ 349.5 $ 5.8 $ 2.6
Equity securities $ 156.1 $ 46.2 $ 0.8

2013

Fixed maturities $ 450.4 $ 6.0 $ 4.0
Equity securities $ 193.5 $ 31.2 $ 0.4

2012

Fixed maturities $ 616.3 $ 12.1 $ 2.0
Equity securities $ 141.3 $ 17.5 $ 0.7

5. FAIR VALUE

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability, i.e., exit price, in
an orderly transaction between market participants. The
Company emphasizes the use of observable market data
whenever available in determining fair value. Fair values
presented for certain financial instruments are estimates
which, in many cases, may differ significantly from the
amounts that could be realized upon immediate liquida-
tion. A hierarchy of the three broad levels of fair value are
as follows, with the highest priority given to Level 1 as
these are the most observable, and the lowest priority given
to Level 3:

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in
active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar
assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated
by observable market data, including model-derived
 valuations.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by lit-
tle or no market activity.

When more than one level of input is used to determine
fair value, the financial instrument is classified as Level 2
or 3 according to the lowest level input that has a signifi-
cant impact on the fair value measurement.

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair value of each class of financial instru-
ments and have not changed since last year.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The carrying amount approximates fair value. Cash equiv-
alents primarily consist of money market instruments,
which are generally valued using unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets that are accessible for identical assets
and are classified as Level 1.

FIXED MATURITIES

Level 1 securities generally include U.S. Treasury issues
and other securities that are highly liquid and for which
quoted market prices are available. Level 2 securities are
valued using pricing for similar securities and pricing mod-
els that incorporate observable inputs including, but not
limited to yield curves and issuer spreads. Level 3 securi-
ties include issues for which little observable data can be
obtained, primarily due to the illiquid nature of the securi-
ties, and for which significant inputs used to determine
fair value are based on the Company’s own assumptions.
Non-binding broker quotes are also included in Level 3.

The Company utilizes a third party pricing service for
the valuation of the majority of its fixed maturity securities
and receives one quote per security. When quoted market
prices in an active market are available, they are provided
by the pricing service as the fair value and such values are
classified as Level 1. Since fixed maturities other than U.S.
Treasury securities generally do not trade on a daily basis,
the pricing service prepares estimates of fair value for
those securities using pricing applications based on a mar-
ket approach. Inputs into the fair value pricing common to
all asset classes include: benchmark U.S. Treasury securi-
ty yield curves; reported trades of identical or similar fixed
maturity securities; broker/dealer quotes of identical or
similar fixed maturity securities and structural characteris-
tics such as maturity date, coupon, mandatory principal
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payment dates, frequency of interest and principal pay-
ments, and optional redemption features. Inputs into the
fair value applications that are unique by asset class
include, but are not limited to:
• U.S. government agencies – determination of direct ver-

sus indirect government support and whether any con-
tingencies exist with respect to the timely payment of
principal and interest.

• Foreign government – estimates of appropriate market
spread versus underlying related sovereign treasury
curve(s) dependent on liquidity and direct or contingent
support.

• Municipals – overall credit quality, including assess-
ments of the level and variability of: sources of payment
such as income, sales or property taxes, levies or user
fees; credit support such as insurance; state or local
economic and political base; natural resource availabil-
ity; and susceptibility to natural or man-made cata-
strophic events such as hurricanes, earthquakes or acts
of terrorism.

• Corporate fixed maturities – overall credit quality,
including assessments of the level and variability of:
economic sensitivity; liquidity; corporate financial poli-
cies; management quality; regulatory environment;
competitive position; ownership; restrictive covenants;
and security or collateral.

• Residential mortgage-backed securities – estimates of
prepayment speeds based upon: historical prepayment
rate trends; underlying collateral interest rates; geo-
graphic concentration; vintage year; borrower credit
quality characteristics; interest rate and yield curve
forecasts; government or monetary authority support
programs; tax policies; delinquency/default trends; and,
in the case of non-agency collateralized mortgage obli-
gations, severity of loss upon default and length of time
to recover proceeds following default.

• Commercial mortgage-backed securities – overall credit
quality, including assessments of the value and
supply/demand characteristics of: collateral type such as
office, retail, residential, lodging, or other; geographic
concentration by region, state, metropolitan statistical
area and locale; vintage year; historical collateral per-
formance including defeasance, delinquency, default
and special servicer trends; and capital structure sup-
port features.

• Asset-backed securities – overall credit quality, includ-
ing assessments of the underlying collateral type such as
credit card receivables, auto loan receivables and equip-
ment lease receivables; geographic diversification; vin-
tage year; historical collateral performance including
delinquency, default and casualty trends; economic con-
ditions influencing use rates and resale values; and con-
tract structural support features.

Generally, all prices provided by the pricing service,
except actively traded securities with quoted market prices,
are reported as Level 2.

The Company holds privately placed fixed maturity
securities and certain other fixed maturity securities that
do not have an active market and for which the pricing
service cannot provide fair values. The Company deter-
mines fair values for these securities using either matrix
pricing utilizing the market approach or broker quotes.
The Company will use observable market data as inputs
into the fair value applications, as discussed in the deter-
mination of Level 2 fair values, to the extent it is available,
but is also required to use a certain amount of unobserv-
able judgment due to the illiquid nature of the securities
involved. Unobservable judgment reflected in the
Company’s matrix model accounts for estimates of addi-
tional spread required by market participants for factors
such as issue size, structural complexity, high bond
coupon, long maturity term or other unique features.
These matrix-priced securities are reported as Level 2 or
Level 3, depending on the significance of the impact of
unobservable judgment on the security’s value.
Additionally, the Company may obtain non-binding broker
quotes which are reported as Level 3.

EQUITY SECURITIES

Level 1 consists of publicly traded securities, including
exchange traded funds, valued at quoted market prices.
Level 2 includes securities that are valued using pricing for
similar securities and pricing models that incorporate
observable inputs. Level 3 consists of common or preferred
stock of private companies for which observable inputs are
not available. Non-binding broker quotes are also included
in Level 3.

The Company utilizes a third party pricing service for
the valuation of the majority of its equity securities and
receives one quote for each equity security. When quoted
market prices in an active market are available, they are
provided by the pricing service as the fair value and such
values are classified as Level 1. The Company holds cer-
tain equity securities that have been issued by privately-
held entities that do not have an active market and for
which the pricing service cannot provide fair values.
Generally, the Company estimates fair value for these
securities based on the issuer’s book value and market mul-
tiples. These securities are reported as Level 2 or Level 3
depending on the significance of the impact of unobserv-
able judgment on the security’s value.
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OTHER INVESTMENTS

Other investments consist primarily of overseas trust
funds, for which fair values are provided by the investment
manager based on quoted prices for similar instruments in
active markets and are reported as Level 2. Also included
in other investments are mortgage participations and other
mortgage loans as well as cost basis limited partnerships.
Fair values of mortgage participations and other mortgage
loans are estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows using the current rates at which similar loans
would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and
are reported as Level 3. The fair values of cost basis limit-
ed partnerships are based on the net asset value provided
by the general partner and recent financial information
and are reported as Level 3.

DEBT

The fair value of debt is estimated based on quoted market
prices. If a quoted market price is not available, fair values
are estimated using discounted cash flows that are based
on current interest rates and yield curves for debt
issuances with maturities and credit risks consistent with
the debt being valued. Debt is reported as Level 2.

The estimated fair value of the financial instruments
were as follows:

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Value Value Value Value

Financial Assets
Cash and cash 

equivalents $ 373.3 $ 373.3 $ 486.2 $ 486.2
Fixed maturities 7,378.1 7,378.1 6,970.6 $6,970.6
Equity securities 580.8 580.8 430.2 430.2
Other investments 267.4 272.2 173.1 173.7

Total financial assets $8,599.6 $8,604.4 $ 8,060.1 $ 8,060.7

Financial Liabilities
Debt $ 903.5 $1,021.7 $ 903.9 $ 961.7

The Company has processes designed to ensure that the
values received from its third party pricing service are
accurately recorded, that the data inputs and valuation
techniques utilized are appropriate and consistently
applied and that the assumptions are reasonable and con-
sistent with the objective of determining fair value. The
Company performs a review of the fair value hierarchy
classifications and of prices received from its pricing serv-
ice on a quarterly basis. The Company reviews the pricing
services’ policies describing its methodology, processes,
practices and inputs, including various financial models
used to value securities. Also, the Company reviews the
portfolio pricing, including securities with changes in
prices that exceed a defined threshold are verified to inde-
pendent sources, if available. If upon review, the Company
is not satisfied with the validity of a given price, a pricing
challenge would be submitted to the pricing service along
with supporting documentation for its review. The
Company does not adjust quotes or prices obtained from
the pricing service unless the pricing service agrees with
the Company’s challenge. During 2014 and 2013, the
Company did not adjust any prices received from brokers
or its pricing service.

Changes in the observability of valuation inputs may
result in a reclassification of certain financial assets or lia-
bilities within the fair value hierarchy. Reclassifications
between levels of the fair value hierarchy are reported as of
the beginning of the period in which the reclassification
occurs. As previously discussed, the Company utilizes a
third party pricing service for the valuation of the majority
of its fixed maturities and equity securities. The pricing
service has indicated that it will only produce an estimate
of fair value if there is objectively verifiable information to
produce a valuation. If the pricing service discontinues
pricing an investment, the Company will use observable
market data to the extent it is available, but may also be
required to make assumptions for market based inputs that
are unavailable due to market conditions.

The following tables provide, for each hierarchy level,
the Company’s assets that were measured at fair value on
a recurring basis.
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DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions)
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ 520.4 $ 233.5 $ 286.9 $ —
Foreign government 354.0 43.3 310.7 —
Municipal 1,138.0 — 1,112.3 25.7
Corporate 3,880.8 — 3,871.2 9.6
Residential mortgage-backed, U.S. agency backed 689.2 — 689.2 —
Residential mortgage-backed, non-agency 99.9 — 99.9 —
Commercial mortgage-backed 527.8 — 506.4 21.4
Asset backed 168.0 — 168.0 —

Total fixed maturities 7,378.1 276.8 7,044.6 56.7
Equity securities 571.5 570.3 — 1.2
Other investments 136.4 — 132.6 3.8

Total investment assets at fair value $8,086.0 $ 847.1 $7,177.2 $ 61.7

DECEMBER 31, 2013

(in millions)
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ 406.6 $ 167.2 $ 239.4 $ —
Foreign government 305.0 45.6 259.4 —
Municipal 1,126.3 — 1,100.7 25.6
Corporate 3,824.2 — 3,811.2 13.0
Residential mortgage-backed, U.S. agency backed 573.2 — 573.2 —
Residential mortgage-backed, non-agency 155.6 — 155.1 0.5
Commercial mortgage-backed 411.6 — 388.7 22.9
Asset backed 168.1 — 168.1 —

Total fixed maturities 6,970.6 212.8 6,695.8 62.0
Equity securities 420.9 382.3 — 38.6
Other investments 153.2 — 149.6 3.6

Total investment assets at fair value $ 7,544.7 $ 595.1 $ 6,845.4 $ 104.2

The following tables provide, for each hierarchy level,
the Company’s estimated fair values of financial instru-
ments that were not carried at fair value.

DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions)
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:
Cash and cash 

equivalents $ 373.3 $ 373.3 $ — $ —
Equity securities 9.3 — 9.3 —
Other investments 135.8 — — 135.8

Liabilities:
Debt $ 1,021.7 $ — $1,021.7 $ —

DECEMBER 31, 2013

(in millions)
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:
Cash and cash 

equivalents $ 486.2 $ 486.2 $ — $ —
Equity securities 9.3 — 9.3 —
Other investments 20.5 — 2.7 17.8

Liabilities:
Debt $ 961.7 $ — $ 961.7 $ —
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The tables below provide a reconciliation for all assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3).

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions)
Fixed Maturities

Residential
mortgage- Commercial

backed, mortgage- Asset- Equity
Municipal Corporate non-agency backed backed Total and Other Total Assets

Balance at beginning of year $ 25.6 $ 13.0 $ 0.5 $ 22.9 $ — $ 62.0 $ 42.2 $104.2
Transfers into Level 3 2.2 2.2 — — — 4.4 — 4.4
Transfers out of Level 3 (2.6) (5.3) — — — (7.9) — (7.9)
Total gains (losses): — —

Included in earnings — 0.1 — — — 0.1 — 0.1
Included in other comprehensive income - 

net appreciation (depreciation) on 
available-for-sale securities 0.8 (0.2) — 0.4 — 1.0 0.2 1.2

Purchases and sales:
Purchases 2.5 — — — — 2.5 — 2.5
Sales (2.8) (0.2) (0.5) (1.9) — (5.4) (37.4) (42.8)

Balance at end of year $ 25.7 $ 9.6 $ — $ 21.4 $ — $ 56.7 $ 5.0 $ 61.7

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

(in millions)
Fixed Maturities

Residential
mortgage- Commercial

backed, mortgage- Asset- Equity
Municipal Corporate non-agency backed backed Total and Other Total Assets

Balance at beginning of year $ 19.4 $ 26.4 $ 0.7 $ 26.7 $ 1.5 $ 74.7 $ 28.0 $ 102.7
Transfers into Level 3 9.7 0.2 — — — 9.9 — 9.9
Transfers out of Level 3 — (2.2) — — (1.5) (3.7) (0.9) (4.6)
Total gains (losses):

Included in earnings — 1.5 — — — 1.5 — 1.5
Included in other comprehensive income - 

net appreciation (depreciation) on 
available-for-sale securities (0.8) (1.6) — (1.3) — (3.7) 15.1 11.4

Sales (2.7) (11.3) (0.2) (2.5) — (16.7) — (16.7)

Balance at end of year $ 25.6 $ 13.0 $ 0.5 $ 22.9 $ — $ 62.0 $ 42.2 $ 104.2

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
the Company transferred fixed maturities between Level 2
and Level 3 primarily as a result of assessing the signifi-
cance of unobservable inputs on the fair value measure-
ment. There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level
2 during 2014 or 2013.

Net realized investment gains and losses due to changes
in fair value that are recorded in net income for Level 3
assets were $0.1 million and $1.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

There were no Level 3 liabilities held by the Company
for years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

The following table provides quantitative information
about the significant unobservable inputs used by the
Company in the fair value measurements of Level 3 assets.
Where discounted cash flows were used in the valuation of
fixed maturities, the internally-developed discount rate was
adjusted by the significant unobservable inputs shown in
the table. Valuations for securities based on broker quotes
for which there was a lack of transparency as to inputs
used to develop the valuations have been excluded.
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DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)
Fair Range Fair Range

Valuation Technique Significant Unobservable Inputs Value (Wtd Average) Value (Wtd Average)

Fixed maturities:
Municipal Discounted cash flow Discount for: $ 25.7 $ 25.6

Small issue size 0.6-4.5% (2.0%) 1.0-4.0% (2.3%)
Above-market coupon 0.3-1.0% (0.4%) 0.3-1.0% (0.5%)

Corporate Discounted cash flow Discount for: 9.4 12.8
Small issue size 0.5-1.0% (0.7%) 0.3-1.0% (0.5%)
Above-market coupon 0.3-0.8% (0.6%) 0.3-0.8% (0.6%)

Residential mortgage- Discounted cash flow Discount for: — 0.5
backed, non-agency Small issue size N/A 0.5% (0.5%)

Commercial mortgage- Discounted cash flow Discount for: 21.4 22.9
backed Above-market coupon 0.5-0.8% (0.5%) 0.5-0.8% (0.6%)

Credit stress 0.5% (0.5%) 0.5% (0.5%)
Small issue size 0.5% (0.5%) 0.5% (0.5%)
Lease structure 0.3% (0.3%) 0.3% (0.3%)

Equity securities Market comparables Net tangible asset 1.1 38.5
market multiples 1.0X (1.0X) 1.3X (1.3X)

Other Discounted cash flow Discount rate 3.8 18.0% (18.0%) 3.6 18.0% (18.0%)

Significant increases (decreases) in any of the above
inputs in isolation would result in a significantly lower
(higher) fair value measurement. There were no interrela-
tionships between these inputs which might magnify or
mitigate the effect of changes in unobservable inputs on
the fair value measurement.

6. DEBT AND CREDIT ARRANGEMENTS

Debt consists of the following:

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)

Senior debentures maturing June 15, 2021 $300.0 $ 300.0
Senior debentures maturing March 1, 2020 164.6 165.1
Senior debentures maturing October 15, 2025 81.1 81.2
Subordinated debentures maturing 

March 30, 2053 175.0 175.0
Subordinated debentures maturing 

February 3, 2027 59.7 59.7
FHLBB borrowings (secured) 125.0 125.0

Total principal debt $905.4 $ 906.0
Unamortized debt discount (1.9) (2.1)

Total $903.5 $ 903.9

On March 20, 2013, the Company issued $175.0 mil-
lion aggregate principal amount of 6.35% subordinated
unsecured debentures due March 30, 2053. These deben-
tures pay interest quarterly. The Company may redeem
these debentures in whole at any time, or in part from time

to time, on or after March 30, 2018, at a redemption
price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and
unpaid interest.

On June 17, 2011, the Company issued $300.0 mil-
lion aggregate principal amount of 6.375% senior unse-
cured debentures due June 15, 2021. Additionally, on
February 23, 2010, the Company issued $200.0 million
aggregate principal amount of 7.50% senior unsecured
debentures. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the
remaining 7.50% senior debentures have a par value of
$164.6 million and $165.1 million, respectively, and
mature on March 1, 2020. The Company also issued
7.625% senior unsecured debentures with a par value of
$200.0 million on October 16, 1995. As of December 31,
2014 and 2013, the remaining 7.625% senior debentures
have a par value of $81.1 million and $81.2 million,
respectively, and mature on October 15, 2025. All of the
Company’s senior debentures are subject to certain
restrictive covenants, including limitations on the
issuance or disposition of stock of restricted subsidiaries
and limitations on liens. These debentures pay interest
semi-annually. In addition, the Company’s subordinated
debentures maturing February 3, 2027 have a par value
of $59.7 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 and
pay cumulative dividends semi-annually at 8.207%.

In 2013, the Company repurchased senior debentures
maturing October 15, 2025, with a net carrying value of
$39.2 million at a cost of $50.5 million, resulting in a loss
of $11.3 million. Also in 2013, the Company repurchased
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senior debentures maturing March 1, 2020, with a net car-
rying value of $34.6 million at a cost of $43.2 million,
resulting in a loss of $8.6 million.

In 2009, Hanover Insurance received a $125.0 million
FHLBB advance through its membership in the FHLBB.
This collateralized advance bears interest at a fixed rate of
5.50% per annum over a twenty-year term. In July 2010,
Hanover Insurance committed to an additional $46.3 mil-
lion of FHLBB advances. These advances were drawn in
several increments from July 2010 to January 2012 and
carried fixed interest rates with a weighted average of
3.88%. In January 2013, Hanover Insurance repaid the
$46.3 million of FHLBB advances plus prepayment fees of
$7.8 million for a total payment of $54.1 million. These
advances would have matured on July 30, 2020.

As collateral to FHLBB, Hanover Insurance pledged
government agency securities with a fair value of $195.7
million and $148.1 million, for the aggregate borrowings of
$125.0 million as of December 31, 2014 and December
31, 2013, respectively. The fair value of the collateral
pledged must be maintained at certain specified levels of
the borrowed amount, which can vary depending on the
type of assets pledged. If the fair value of this collateral
declines below these specified levels, Hanover Insurance
would be required to pledge additional collateral or repay
outstanding borrowings. Hanover Insurance is permitted
to voluntarily repay the outstanding borrowings at any
time, subject to a repayment fee. As a requirement of mem-
bership in the FHLBB, Hanover Insurance maintains a
certain level of investment in FHLBB stock. Total holdings
of FHLBB stock were $9.3 million at December 31, 2014
and 2013.

At December 31, 2014, the Company had a $200.0 mil-
lion credit agreement which expires in November 2018.
The Company had no borrowings under this agreement.
Additionally, the Company had a Standby Letter of Credit
Facility not to exceed £130.0 million (or $202.8 million
based on the foreign currency exchange rate of 1.56 at
December 31, 2014). This Letter of Credit Facility pro-
vides regulatory capital supporting Chaucer’s underwriting
activities for the 2014 and 2015 years of account and each
prior open year of account. Simultaneous with this agree-
ment, THG entered into a Guaranty Agreement with
Lloyds Bank plc, as Facility Agent and Security Agent, pur-
suant to which, THG unconditionally guarantees the obli-
gations of Chaucer under the Letter of Credit Facility.

Interest expense was $65.2 million, $65.3 million, and
$61.9 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. At
December 31, 2014, the Company was in compliance with
the covenants associated with all of its debt indentures and
credit arrangements.

7. INCOME TAXES

Provisions for income taxes have been calculated in accor-
dance with the provisions of ASC 740. A summary of the
components of income before income taxes and income tax
expense (benefit) in the Consolidated Statements of
Income are shown below:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Income (loss) before income taxes:
U.S. $ 185.6 $ 183.5 $ (99.1)
Non-U.S. 192.4 145.6 127.8

$ 378.0 $ 329.1 $ 28.7

Income tax expense (benefit) includes the following
components:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Current:
U.S. $ 4.5 $ 8.0 $ 2.3
Non-U.S. 22.6 0.6 16.1

Total current 27.1 8.6 18.4

Deferred:
U.S. 51.1 52.9 (42.7)
Non-U.S. 17.5 21.9 6.9

Total deferred 68.6 74.8 (35.8)

Total income tax expense (benefit) $ 95.7 $ 83.4 $ (17.4)

The income tax expense attributable to the consolidated
results of continuing operations is different from the
amount determined by multiplying income from continu-
ing operations before income taxes by the U.S. statutory
federal income tax rate of 35%. The sources of the differ-
ence and the tax effects of each were as follows:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Expected income tax expense $ 132.3 $ 115.2 $ 10.0
Tax difference related to investment 

disposals and maturities (16.2) (17.5) (14.3)
Effect of foreign operations (8.1) (10.8) (3.5)
Foreign exchange losses (6.9) — —
Dividend received deduction (2.6) (2.5) (2.8)
Tax-exempt interest (1.7) (1.7) (1.5)
Nondeductible expenses 1.8 1.1 2.8
Change in foreign tax rate — (0.7) (0.4)
Change in valuation allowance (2.9) — (7.7)
Other, net — 0.3 —

Income tax expense (benefit) $ 95.7 $ 83.4 $ (17.4)

Effective tax rate 25.3% 25.3% (60.6)%
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The following are the components of the Company’s
deferred tax assets and liabilities (excluding those associat-
ed with its discontinued operations).

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)

Deferred tax assets:
Loss, LAE and unearned premium reserves, net $ 175.9 $ 185.0
Tax credit carryforwards 125.8 123.1
Employee benefit plans 45.7 38.2
Operating loss carryforwards 29.1 64.5
Other 10.6 74.9

387.1 485.7

Less: Valuation allowance — 2.9

387.1 482.8

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred acquisition costs 129.6 123.5
Deferred Lloyd’s underwriting income 54.0 13.8
Investments, net 44.4 8.4
Software capitalization 27.3 30.1
Other 0.6 67.3

255.9 243.1

Net deferred tax asset $ 131.2 $ 239.7

Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance
if it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Included in the Company’s deferred tax asset as of
December 31, 2014 is an asset of $29.1 million related to
operating loss carryforwards. The pre-tax operating loss of
$81.9 million was generated in the U.K. and has no expi-
ration date. It is the Company’s opinion that the U.K. oper-
ations will generate sufficient future taxable income to
utilize these loss carryforwards. The Company’s estimate of
the amount and likely realization of loss carryforwards may
change over time.

The Company’s deferred tax asset as of December 31,
2014 also included assets of $110.0 million related to
alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards and $15.8
million related to foreign tax credit carryforwards. The
alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards have no expi-
ration date and the foreign tax credit carryforwards will
expire beginning in 2022. The Company may utilize the
credits to offset regular federal income taxes due from
future income, and although the Company believes that
these assets are fully recoverable, there can be no certain-
ty that future events will not affect their recoverability. The
Company believes, based on objective evidence, it is more
likely than not that the remaining deferred tax assets will
be realized.

During 2014, the Company released the valuation
allowance related to its deferred tax assets of $2.9 million
which was recorded in 2013. The write off of this valuation
allowance resulted from appreciation in the Company’s
investment portfolio. The Company recorded the decrease
to its valuation allowance of $2.9 million as an adjustment
to income tax expense.

In prior years, the Company completed several transac-
tions which resulted in the realization, for tax purposes
only, of unrealized gains in its investment portfolio. The
Company realized $69.6 million in 2012 as a result of such
transactions. These transactions enabled the Company to
realize capital loss carryforwards to offset these gains, and
resulted in the release of the valuation allowance the
Company held against the deferred tax asset related to
these capital loss carryforwards. In 2012, the Company
released $24.4 million of its valuation allowance which
was recorded as a benefit in accumulated other compre-
hensive income. During 2014, 2013 and 2012, the
Company recognized in income from continuing opera-
tions, related to non-operating income, $16.2 million,
$17.5 million and $14.3 million, respectively. The remain-
ing amount of $91.5 million in accumulated other compre-
hensive income will be released into income from
continuing operations in future years, as the investment
securities subject to these transactions are sold or mature.
During 2012, the Company released $35.9 million of its
valuation allowance related to its deferred tax asset held at
the beginning of the year. The release of this valuation
allowance resulted from the aforementioned transaction
which utilized capital loss carryforwards, unrealized appre-
ciation in its investment portfolio, and net realized capital
gains in its Consolidated Statements of Income.
Accordingly, the Company recorded decreases in its valua-
tion allowance of $25.3 million as an adjustment to accu-
mulated other comprehensive income, $7.7 million as an
adjustment to income tax expense from continuing opera-
tions, and $2.9 million in discontinued operations.

Although most of the Company’s non – U.S. income is
subject to U.S. federal income tax, certain of its non-U.S.
income is not subject to U.S. federal income tax until repa-
triated. Foreign taxes on this non – U.S. income are
accrued at the local foreign tax rate, as opposed to the
higher U.S. statutory tax rate, since these earnings cur-
rently are expected to be indefinitely reinvested overseas.
This assumption could change, as a result of a sale of the
subsidiaries, the receipt of dividends from the subsidiaries,
a change in management’s intentions, or as a result of var-
ious other events. The Company has not made a provision
for U.S. taxes on $23.3 million, $20.3 million and $10.0
million of non-U.S. income for 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. However, in the future, if such earnings were
distributed to the Company, taxes of $21.1 million would
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be payable on such undistributed earnings and would be
reflected in the tax provision for the year in which these
earnings are no longer intended to be indefinitely reinvest-
ed overseas, assuming all foreign tax credits are realized.

The table below provides a reconciliation of the begin-
ning and ending liability for uncertain tax positions as
 follows:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Liability at beginning of year, net $ 1.4 $ 0.8 $ 0.8
Additions for tax positions 

of prior years (0.1) 5.4 —
Settlements (4.8) — —
Deferred deductions 4.8 (4.8) —

Liability at end of year, net $ 1.3 $ 1.4 $ 0.8

In 2014, the IRS audits of the years 2007 through 2010
were settled with no material impact to the Company’s
financial position or results of operations.

There are no tax positions at December 31, 2014 and
2012 for which the ultimate deductibility is highly certain,
but for which there is uncertainty about the timing of such
deductibility. At December 31, 2013, the ultimate
deductibility of a $4.8 million liability was highly certain,
but there was uncertainty about the timing of such
deductibility. Because of the impact of deferred tax
accounting, other than interest and penalties, a change in
the timing of deductions would not impact the annual
effective tax rate.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related
to unrecognized tax benefits in federal income tax expense.
The Company had accrued interest of $0.5 million and
$1.2 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respec-
tively. For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012 the Company recognized interest expense of $0.5
million, $0.8 million and $0.1 million, respectively. The
Company has not recognized any penalties associated with
unrecognized tax benefits.

The Company or its subsidiaries files income tax returns
in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state jurisdic-
tions, as well as foreign jurisdictions. The Company and its
subsidiaries are subject to U.S. federal income tax exami-
nations by tax authorities for years after 2010, U.S. state
income tax examinations for years after 2006 and foreign
examinations for years after 2011.

8. PENSION PLANS

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

The Company recognizes the funded status of its defined
benefit plans in its Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
funded status is measured as the difference between the
fair value of plan assets and the projected benefit obliga-
tion of the Company’s defined benefit plans. The Company
is required to aggregate separately all overfunded plans
from all underfunded plans.

U.S. Defined Benefit Plans

Prior to 2005, THG provided retirement benefits to sub-
stantially all of its employees under defined benefit pen-
sion plans. These plans were based on a defined benefit
cash balance formula, whereby the Company annually pro-
vided an allocation to each covered employee based on a
percentage of that employee’s eligible salary, similar to a
defined contribution plan arrangement. In addition to the
cash balance allocation, certain transition group employ-
ees who had met specified age and service requirements as
of December 31, 1994 were eligible for a grandfathered
benefit based primarily on the employees’ years of service
and compensation during their highest five consecutive
plan years of employment. The Company’s policy for the
plans is to fund at least the minimum amount required by
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974
(“ERISA”).

As of January 1, 2005, the defined benefit pension plans
were frozen and since that date, no further cash balance
allocations have been credited to participants. Participants’
accounts are credited with interest daily, based upon the
General Agreement of Trades and Tariffs. In addition, the
grandfathered benefits for the transition group were also
frozen at January 1, 2005 levels with an annual transition
pension adjustment calculated at an interest rate equal to
5% per year up to 35 years of completed service, and 3%
thereafter. As of December 31, 2014, based on current
estimates of plan liabilities and other assumptions, the pro-
jected benefit obligation of the qualified defined benefit
pension plans exceeds plan assets by approximately $25
million.

Chaucer Pension Plan

Prior to 2002, the Chaucer segment provided defined ben-
efit pension retirement benefits to certain of its employees.
As of December 31, 2001, the defined benefit pension
plan was closed to new members. The defined benefit obli-
gation for this plan is based on the employees’ years of
service and final pensionable salary. Contributions are
made at least annually to this plan by both the Company
and by employees. As of December 31, 2014, based on cur-
rent estimates of plan liabilities and other assumptions, the
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projected benefit obligation of the qualified defined bene-
fit pension plan exceeds plan assets by approximately $6
million.

Assumptions
In order to measure the expense associated with these
plans, management must make various estimates and
assumptions, including discount rates used to value liabil-
ities, assumed rates of return on plan assets, employee
turnover rates and anticipated mortality rates, for example.
The estimates used by management are based on the
Company’s historical experience, as well as current facts
and circumstances. In addition, the Company uses outside
actuaries to assist in measuring the expense and liability
associated with these plans.

The Company measures the funded status of its plans as
of the date of its year-end statement of financial position.
The Company utilizes a measurement date of December
31st to determine its benefit obligations, consistent with
the date of its Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Weighted average assumptions used to determine pen-
sion benefit obligations are as follows:

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

U.S.
Discount rate – qualified plan 4.38% 5.00% 4.25%
Discount rate – non-qualified plan 4.25% 5.00% 4.13%
Cash balance interest crediting rate 3.50% 3.50% 3.50%

Chaucer
Discount rate 3.75% 4.50% 4.80%
Rate of increase in future compensation 3.00% 3.15% 4.20%

The Company utilizes a measurement date of January
1st to determine its periodic pension costs. Weighted aver-
age assumptions used to determine net periodic pension
costs for the defined benefit plans are as follows:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

U.S.:
Qualified plan

Discount rate 5.00% 4.25% 5.13%
Expected return on plan assets 5.50% 5.25% 6.00%
Cash balance interest crediting rate 3.50% 3.50% 4.00%

Non-qualified plan
Discount rate 5.00% 4.13% 5.00%

Chaucer:
Discount rate 4.50% 4.80% 4.90%
Rate of increase in future compensation 3.15% 4.20% 4.30%
Expected return on plan assets 6.55% 6.70% 7.50%

The expected rates of return were determined by using
historical mean returns for each asset class, adjusted for
certain factors believed to have an impact on future
returns. These returns are generally weighted to the plan’s
actual asset allocation. For the U.S. defined benefit plans,
expectations with respect to the interest rate market result-
ed in a slight increase in the expected return on plan assets
for 2014 to 5.50%. Regarding the Chaucer defined benefit
plan, because the Company began shifting the allocation
of assets between equities and fixed maturities, the histor-
ical mean returns were adjusted downward slightly to
reflect the plan’s asset mix. Due to the shift in asset com-
position, the adjusted mean returns were weighted to the
plan’s expected target asset allocation at December 31,
2014, resulting in an expected rate of return on plan assets
for 2014 of 6.55%. The Company reviews and updates, at
least annually, its expected return on plan assets based on
changes in the actual assets held by the plans.

Plan Assets
U.S. Qualified Defined Benefit Plans

The Company utilizes a target allocation strategy, which
focuses on creating a mix of assets that will generate mod-
est growth from equity securities while minimizing volatil-
ity in the Company’s earnings from changes in the markets
and economic environment. Various factors are taken into
consideration in determining the appropriate asset mix,
such as census data, actuarial valuation information and
capital market assumptions. During 2014 and 2013, the
plan assets were invested 85% and 84% in fixed income
securities and 15% and 16% in equity securities, respec-
tively. The Company reviews and updates, at least annual-
ly, the target allocation and makes changes periodically.

The following table provides 2014 target allocations and
actual invested asset allocations for 2014 and 2013.

2014
TARGET

DECEMBER 31 LEVELS 2014 2013

Fixed income securities:
Fixed maturities 83% 84% 83%
Money market funds 2% 1% 1%

Total fixed income securities 85% 85% 84%

Equity securities:
Domestic 12% 12% 12%
International 3% 3% 4%

Total equity securities 15% 15% 16%

Total plan assets 100% 100% 100%
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The following tables present for each hierarchy level the U.S. qualified defined benefit plan’s investment assets that
are measured at fair value at December 31, 2014 and 2013. (Refer to Note 5 – “Fair Value” for a description of the dif-
ferent levels in the Fair Value Hierarchy).

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fixed income securities:
Fixed maturities $ 432.5 $ 1.3 $ 400.5 $ 30.7 $ 449.6 $ 2.1 $ 447.5 $ —
Money market funds 3.9 3.9 — — 5.3 5.3 — —

Total fixed income securities 436.4 5.2 400.5 30.7 454.9 7.4 447.5 —

Equity securities:
Domestic 60.6 — 60.6 — 67.8 0.2 67.6 —
International 16.4 — 16.4 — 19.3 0.1 19.2 —

Total equity securities 77.0 — 77.0 — 87.1 0.3 86.8 —

Total investments at fair value $ 513.4 $ 5.2 $ 477.5 $ 30.7 $ 542.0 $ 7.7 $ 534.3 $ —

Fixed Income Securities

Securities classified as Level 1 at December 31, 2014 and
2013 include actively traded mutual funds and publicly
traded securities, which are valued at quoted market
prices. Securities classified as Level 2 at December 31,
2014 and 2013 include a separate investment account,
which is invested entirely in the Vanguard Total Bond
Market Index Fund, a mutual fund that in turn invests in
investment grade fixed maturities, as well as commingled
pools and investment grade fixed income securities that are
held in a custom fund. The fair value of each of the Level
2 investments is determined daily as the Net Asset Value
(“NAV”) based on the value of the underlying investments,
which is determined independently by the investment
manager. The daily NAV, which is not published as a quot-
ed market price for these investments, is used as the basis
for transactions. Redemption of these funds is not subject
to restriction. Securities classified as Level 3 at December
31, 2014 include assets held in a fixed account of an insur-
ance company. The fair value of the investment is estimat-
ed using a comparable public market financial institution
derived fair value curve that uses non-observable inputs for
market liquidity and unique credit characteristics of its
underlying securities.

Equity Securities

Securities classified as Level 1 at December 31, 2014 and
2013 include actively traded mutual funds that are pub-
licly traded and which primarily invest in equity securities
that are valued at quoted market prices. Securities classi-
fied as Level 2 include investments in commingled pools
that primarily invest in publicly traded common stocks and
international equity securities. The fair value of each of
the Level 2 investments is determined daily as the NAV

based on the value of the underlying investments, which is
determined independently by the investment manager. The
daily NAV, which is not published as a quoted market price
for these investments, is used as the basis for transactions.
Redemption of these funds is not subject to restriction.

The table below provides a reconciliation for all assets
measured at fair value on a recurring basis using signifi-
cant unobservable inputs (Level 3).

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014

(in millions)

Balance at beginning of period $ —
Purchases 30.0
Actual return on plan assets related 

to assets still held 0.7

Balance at end of year $ 30.7

Chaucer Pension Plan

The investment strategy of the Chaucer defined benefit
pension plan is to invest primarily in growth assets in the
form of equity funds which are expected to provide a posi-
tive return that exceeds inflation over the longer term in
order to protect the existing and future liabilities of the
pension plan. In order to reduce volatility and diversify the
portfolio, the target allocation includes an exposure to cor-
porate bond and commercial property funds. In 2013, the
Company modified its investment allocation strategy and
began shifting assets from equity securities into fixed
maturities. The Company shifted assets in 2014 to essen-
tially achieve its current ultimate target level of 60% equi-
ties, 30% fixed maturities and 10% real estate funds. This
allocation plan is reviewed annually and target allocation
changes are made as appropriate.

The following table provides 2014 target allocations and
actual invested asset allocations for 2014 and 2013.
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2014
TARGET

DECEMBER 31 LEVELS 2014 2013

Fixed income securities:
Fixed maturities 30% 32% 19%

Equity securities:
Domestic (United Kingdom) 15% 14% 26%
International 45% 43% 48%

Total equity securities 60% 57% 74%

Real estate funds 10% 11% 7%

Total plan assets 100% 100% 100%

Included in total plan assets of $131.8 million at
December 31, 2014 were $130.3 million of invested assets
carried at fair value and $1.5 million of cash and equiva-
lents. Total plan assets at December 31, 2013 of $120.2
million included $119.9 million of invested assets carried
at fair value and $0.3 million of cash and equivalents.

The following table presents for each hierarchy level the
Chaucer defined benefit plan’s investment assets that are
measured at fair value at December 31, 2014 and 2013.

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fixed income securities:
Fixed maturities $ 40.9 $ — $ 40.9 $ — $ 22.8 $ — $ 22.8 $ —

Equity securities:
Domestic (United Kingdom) 18.5 — 18.5 — 30.5 — 30.5 —
International 56.9 — 56.9 — 57.8 — 57.8 —

Total equity securities 75.4 — 75.4 — 88.3 — 88.3 —

Real estate funds 14.0 — — 14.0 8.8 — — 8.8

Total investments at fair value $ 130.3 $ — $ 116.3 $ 14.0 $ 119.9 $ — $ 111.1 $ 8.8

Fixed Income and Equity Securities

Securities classified as Level 2 at December 31, 2014 and
2013 include pooled funds which are valued at the close of
business using a third party pricing service. These values
are adjusted by the fund manager to reflect outstanding
dividends, taxes and investment fees and other expenses to
calculate the NAV.

Real Estate Funds

Real estate fund investments classified as Level 3 at
December 31, 2014 and 2013 are valued based upon the
values of the net assets of the fund. Although the NAV is
calculated daily, transactions also consider cash inflows
and outflows of the fund. The price where units are trans-
acted includes the NAV, which is adjusted for investment
charges and other estimated acquisition costs such as legal
fees, taxes, planning and architect fees, survey and agent
fees, among others.

The table below provides a reconciliation for all assets
measured at fair value on a recurring basis using signifi-
cant unobservable inputs (Level 3).

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)

Balance at beginning of period $ 8.8 $ 8.2
Purchases 4.2 —
Actual return on plan assets related 

to assets still held 1.9 0.5
Foreign currency translation (0.9) 0.1

Balance at end of year $ 14.0 $ 8.8

Obligations and Funded Status
The Company recognizes the current net underfunded sta-
tus of its plans in its Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Changes in the funded status of the plans are reflected as
components of accumulated other comprehensive loss or
income. The components of accumulated other compre-
hensive loss or income are reflected as either a net actuar-
ial gain or loss or a net prior service cost.
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The following table reflects the benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets and funded status of the plans at
December 31, 2014 and 2013.

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

(in millions)
U.S. Qualified U.S. Non-Qualified Chaucer 
Pension Plans Pension Plans Pension Plan

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 538.5 $ 548.8 $ 40.6 $ 37.4 $ 134.1 $ 126.4

Change in benefit obligation:
Projected benefit obligation, beginning of period 548.8 607.0 37.4 41.2 128.5 116.6
Employee contributions — — — — 0.4 0.4
Service cost - benefits earned during the period — — — — 1.5 1.5
Interest cost 26.0 24.8 1.8 1.6 5.9 5.4
Actuarial losses (gains) 53.0 (36.5) 4.6 (2.3) 12.4 3.6
Benefits paid(1) (89.3) (46.5) (3.2) (3.1) (2.6) (1.5)
Foreign currency translation — — — — (8.6) 2.5

Projected benefit obligation, end of year 538.5 548.8 40.6 37.4 137.5 128.5

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of period 542.0 591.6 — — 120.2 90.9
Actual return on plan assets 59.4 (3.1) — — 14.8 17.1
Contributions 1.3 — 3.2 3.1 7.7 10.6
Benefits paid(1) (89.3) (46.5) (3.2) (3.1) (2.6) (1.5)
Foreign currency translation — — — — (8.3) 3.1

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 513.4 542.0 — — 131.8 120.2

Funded status of the plans $ (25.1) $ (6.8) $ (40.6) $ (37.4) $ (5.7) $ (8.3)

(1) Includes $59.0 million paid to participants in 2014 in settlement of their pension obligations, essentially as a result of a voluntary lump-sum pension payout program and the
termination of a small qualified defined benefit plan.

Contributions include $0.4 million of Chaucer employ-
ee contributions during 2014 and 2013. All other contribu-
tions for all plans were made by the Company.

Components of Net Periodic Pension Cost
The components of total net periodic pension cost are as
follows:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Service cost - benefits earned 
during the period $ 1.5 $ 1.5 $ 1.6

Interest cost 33.7 31.9 35.2
Expected return on plan assets (36.6) (35.9) (38.7)
Recognized net actuarial loss 11.7 14.7 12.8
Amortization of prior service cost 0.1 — 0.1
Settlement loss 12.1 0.4 —

Net periodic pension cost $ 22.5 $ 12.6 $ 11.0

During 2014, the Company announced a program to
offer voluntary lump-sum pension payout options to eligi-
ble former employees that, if accepted, would settle the
Company’s obligation to them. The program provided par-
ticipants with a one-time choice of electing to receive a
lump-sum settlement of their remaining pension benefit.
As part of this voluntary lump-sum program, the Company

settled $55.1 million of its pension obligations with an
equal amount paid from plan assets. As a result, the
Company recorded settlement losses of $10.8 million,
reflecting the accelerated recognition of unamortized loss-
es in the plan proportionate to the obligation that was set-
tled. These settlement charges were recorded in other
operating expenses with a corresponding balance sheet
reduction in accumulated other comprehensive income.
Additionally, the Company terminated another of its small
qualified plans, accelerating the recognition of unamor-
tized losses of $1.3 million.

The following table reflects the total amounts recog-
nized in accumulated other comprehensive income relat-
ing to both the U.S. defined benefit pension plans and the
Chaucer pension plan as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)

Net actuarial loss $ 126.9 $ 118.7
Net prior service cost — 0.1

$ 126.9 $ 118.8

The unrecognized net actuarial gains (losses) which
exceed 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obliga-
tion or the fair value of plan assets are amortized as a com-
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ponent of net periodic pension cost over the next five
years. The following table reflects the total estimated
amount of actuarial losses that will be amortized from
accumulated other comprehensive income into net
 periodic pension cost in 2014:

ESTIMATED AMORITZATION IN 2015 EXPENSE

(in millions)

Net actuarial loss $ 12.0

Contributions
In accordance with ERISA guidelines, the Company is not
required to fund its U.S. qualified benefit plan in 2015.
The Company expects to contribute $3.5 million to its U.S.
non-qualified pension plan to fund 2015 benefit payments
and $1.3 million to the Chaucer pension plan. At this time,
no additional discretionary contributions are expected to
be made to the plans during 2015 and the Company does
not expect that any funds will be returned from the plans
to the Company during 2015.

Benefit Payments
The Company estimates that benefit payments over the
next 10 years will be as follows:

YEARS ENDED 2020-
DECEMBER 31 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2024

(in millions)

U.S. qualified 
pension plan $ 38.7 $ 38.4 $ 39.4 $ 38.6 $ 38.3 $186.5

U.S. non-qualified 
pension plans $ 3.5 $ 3.2 $ 3.1 $ 3.1 $ 3.0 $ 14.2

Chaucer pension 
plan $ 2.7 $ 1.6 $ 1.7 $ 1.7 $ 1.8 $ 9.7

The benefit payments are based on the same assump-
tions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligations at
the end of 2014. Benefit payments related to the U.S.
qualified plan and the Chaucer plan will be made from
plan assets, whereas those payments related to the non-
qualified plans will be provided for by the Company.
Expected benefits related to the Chaucer pension plan
were converted to U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of 1.56.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

In addition to the defined benefit plans, THG provides a
defined contribution 401(k) plan for its U.S. employees,
whereby the Company matches employee elective 401(k)
contributions, up to a maximum of 6% of eligible compen-
sation in 2014, 2013, and 2012. The Company’s expense
for this matching provision was $19.9 million, $18.3 mil-
lion and $17.9 million for 2014, 2013 and 2012, respec-
tively. In addition to this matching provision, the Company

can elect to make an annual contribution to employees’
accounts. Additional contributions amounted to $2.1 mil-
lion and $2.8 million for the 2014 and 2013 plan years,
respectively. There were no additional contributions in
2012.

Chaucer also provides a defined contribution plan for
its employees which provides for employer provided contri-
butions. The Company’s expense for 2014, 2013 and 2012
was $6.1 million, $5.0 million and $4.8 million, respec-
tively.

9. OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

In addition to the Company’s pension plans, the Company
also has postretirement medical benefits that it provides to
former agents and retirees and their dependents, and a
limited number of full-time employees. The medical plans
provide benefits including hospital and major medical,
with certain limits, and have varying co-payments and
deductibles, depending on the plan. Generally, employees
who were actively employed on December 31, 1995
became eligible with at least 15 years of service after the
age of 40. Effective January 1, 1996, the Company revised
these benefits so as to establish limits on future benefit
payments to beneficiaries of retired participants and to
restrict eligibility to then current employees. In 2009, the
Company changed the postretirement medical benefits,
only as they relate to current employees who still qualified
for participation in the plan under the above formula. For
these participants, the plan now provides for only post age
65 benefits. The population of agents receiving postretire-
ment benefits was frozen as of December 31, 2002, when
the Company ceased its distribution of proprietary life and
annuity products. This plan is unfunded.

Prior to June 2013, the Company also had postretire-
ment death benefits providing for payment at death up to
the retirees’ final annual salary. In May 2013, the
Company settled and defeased the life insurance portion of
its postretirement benefits by decreasing the level of death
benefits and concurrently fully funding the remaining ben-
efits through the purchase of life insurance policies for the
plan beneficiaries from an unaffiliated life insurer, result-
ing in a net settlement gain. This plan was also unfunded.

The Company has recognized the funded status of its
postretirement benefit plans in its Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Since the plans are unfunded, the amount recog-
nized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets is equal to the
accumulated benefit obligation of the plans. The compo-
nents of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss
are reflected as either a net actuarial gain or loss or a net
prior service cost.
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Obligation and Funded Status
The following table reflects the funded status of these
plans:

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)

Change in benefit obligation:
Accumulated postretirement benefit 

obligation, beginning of year $ 17.1 $ 45.2
Service cost 0.1 0.1
Interest cost 0.8 1.2
Net actuarial loss (gain) 1.5 (1.0)
Benefits paid (2.5) (2.8)
Plan amendment — (8.4)
Settlement of death benefits — (17.2)

Accumulated postretirement benefit 
obligation, end of year 17.0 17.1

Fair value of plan assets, end of year — —

Funded status of plans $ (17.0) $ (17.1)

Benefit Payments
The Company estimates that benefit payments over the
next 10 years will be as follows:

YEARS ENDING DECEMBER 31

(in millions)

2015 $ 2.1
2016 1.8
2017 1.7
2018 1.5
2019 1.3
2020-2024 5.4

The benefit payments are based on the same assump-
tions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligation at
the end of 2014 and reflect benefits attributable to esti-
mated future service.

Components of Net Periodic Postretirement Expense
(Benefit)
The components of net periodic postretirement expense
(benefit) were as follows:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Service cost $ 0.1 $ 0.1 $ 0.1
Interest cost 0.8 1.2 2.1
Recognized net actuarial loss 0.1 0.2 0.2
Amortization of prior service cost (1.9) (3.7) (3.8)
Net settlement gain — (1.6) —

Net periodic postretirement benefit $ (0.9) $ (3.8) $ (1.4)

The following table reflects the balances in accumulat-
ed other comprehensive income relating to the Company’s
postretirement benefit plans:

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)

Net actuarial loss $ 3.4 $ 1.9
Net prior service cost (1.7) (3.5)

$ 1.7 $ (1.6)

The following table reflects the estimated amortization
to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost in 2015:

ESTIMATED AMORTIZATION IN 2015 EXPENSE (BENEFIT)

(in millions)

Net actuarial loss $ 0.2
Net prior service cost (0.6)

$ (0.4)

Assumptions
Employers are required to measure the funded status of
their plans as of the date of their year-end statement of
financial position. As such, the Company has utilized a
measurement date of December 31, 2014 and 2013, to
determine its postretirement benefit obligations, consis-
tent with the date of its Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Weighted average discount rate assumptions used to deter-
mine postretirement benefit obligations and periodic
postretirement costs are as follows:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

Postretirement benefit obligations discount rate 4.38% 5.00%
Postretirement benefit cost discount rate 5.00% 4.25%

Assumed health care cost trend rates are as follows:

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 7.00% 7.00%
Rate to which the cost trend is assumed to 

decline (ultimate trend rate) 5.00% 5.00%
Year the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2020 2020

A one-percentage point change in assumed health care
cost trend rates in each year would have an immaterial
effect on net periodic benefit cost during 2014 and accu-
mulated postretirement benefit obligation at December 31,
2014.
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10. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The following table provides changes in other comprehensive income.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)
Tax Benefit Tax Benefit Tax Benefit

Pre-Tax (Expense) Net of Tax Pre-Tax (Expense) Net of Tax Pre-Tax (Expense) Net of Tax

Unrealized gains (losses) on
available-for-sale securities 
and derivative instruments:
Unrealized gains (losses) arising 
during period (net of pre-tax, ceded 
unrealized gains (losses) of $0.8 
million and ($1.2) million for the 
years ended December 31, 2014 
and 2013) $ 138.7 $ (45.7) $ 93.0 $ (189.4) $ 63.1 $ (126.3) $ 186.4 $ (40.2) $ 146.2

Amount of realized gains from
sales and other (55.3) 0.3 (55.0) (41.3) (3.0) (44.3) (31.8) (3.3) (35.1)

Portion of other-than-temporary 
impairment losses recognized 
in earnings 5.5 (1.9) 3.6 6.0 (2.1) 3.9 8.9 (2.7) 6.2

Net unrealized gains (losses) 88.9 (47.3) 41.6 (224.7) 58.0 (166.7) 163.5 (46.2) 117.3
Pension and postretirement benefits:

Net actuarial (loss) gain arising in
the period (33.6) 11.0 (22.6) 15.0 (4.2) 10.8 (24.9) 9.0 (15.9)

Loss on settlement of
pension obligation 12.1 (4.2) 7.9 — — — — — —

Amortization of net actuarial loss and 
prior service cost recognized as 
net periodic benefit cost 10.0 (3.5) 6.5 14.9 (5.2) 9.7 9.3 (3.2) 6.1

Cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustment:
Foreign currency translation

recognized during the period (7.1) 2.5 (4.6) (3.1) 1.1 (2.0) 12.2 (4.3) 7.9

Other comprehensive income (loss) $ 70.3 $ (41.5) $ 28.8 $ (197.9) $ 49.7 $ (148.2) $ 160.1 $ (44.7) $ 115.4

Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income were as follows:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Details about Accumulated Other Amount Reclassified from Accumulated Affected Line Item in the Statement
Comprehensive Income Components Other Comprehensive Income Where Net Income is Presented

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-
sale securities and derivative instruments $ 55.2 $ 41.3 $ 31.8 Net realized gains from sales and other

Net other-than-temporary impairment losses
(5.5) (6.0) (7.8) on investments recognized in earnings

49.7 35.3 24.0 Total before tax
1.6 5.1 6.0 Tax benefit

51.3 40.4 30.0
0.1 — (0.9) Discontinued operations, net of tax

51.4 40.4 29.1 Net of tax
Amortization of defined benefit pension Loss adjustment expenses and other

and postretirement plans (22.1) (14.9) (9.3) operating expenses
7.7 5.2 3.2 Tax benefit

(14.4) (9.7) (6.1) Net of tax

Total reclassifications for the period $ 37.0 $ 30.7 $ 23.0 Net of tax
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The amount reclassified from accumulated other com-
prehensive income for the pension and postretirement
benefits was allocated approximately 40% to loss adjust-
ment expenses and 60% to other operating expenses for
each of the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012. In 2014, $12.1 million of this amount represented
the accelerated recognition of unamortized losses due to
the settlement of pension plan obligations.

11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

On May 20, 2014 the shareholders approved The Hanover
Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the
“2014 Stock Plan”). With respect to new share-based
award issuances, the 2014 Stock Plan replaced The
Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (the “2006 Stock Plan”) and authorized the issuance
of 6,100,000 shares in a new share pool plus any shares
subject to outstanding awards under the 2006 Stock Plan
that may become available for reissuance as a result of the
cash settlement, forfeiture, expiration or cancellation of
such awards. The 2014 Stock Plan provides for the grant-
ing of the same types of awards as the 2006 Stock Plan,
which includes stock options and stock appreciation rights
(“SARS”), restricted and unrestricted stock, stock units,
performance and market-based stock awards, and cash
awards. In accordance with the 2014 Stock Plan, the
issuance of one share of common stock in the form of an
option or SAR will reduce the share pool by one share,
whereas the issuance of one share of common stock for the
other types of stock awards provided by the plan will

reduce the pool by 3.8 shares. As of December 31, 2014,
there were 6,138,403 shares available for grants under the
2014 Stock Plan.

Additionally, on May 20, 2014, the shareholders
approved The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP Plan”) and the Chaucer
Share Incentive Plan (the “SIP Plan”), authorizing the
issuance of 2,500,000 and 750,000 shares, respectively,
under such plans. As of December 31, 2014, 32,681
shares and 18,778 shares have been issued under the
ESPP Plan and the SIP Plan, respectively.

Compensation cost for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013, and 2012 totaled $15.1 million, $12.4 million
and $12.8 million, respectively. Related tax benefits were
$5.3 million, $4.3 million and $4.5 million, respectively.

STOCK OPTIONS

Under the 2014 Stock Plan, options may be granted to eli-
gible employees, directors or consultants at an exercise
price equal to the market price of the Company’s common
stock on the date of grant. Option shares may be exercised
subject to the terms prescribed by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) at
the time of grant. Options granted in 2014 and 2013 gen-
erally vest over 3 years with 33 1/3% vesting in each year,
whereas options granted in 2012 generally vest over 4
years with a 50% vesting rate in the third year and a 50%
vesting rate in the fourth year. Options must be exercised
not later than ten years from the date of grant.

Information on the Company’s stock options is summa-
rized below.

Cash received for options exercised for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $10.9 million,
$24.4 million and $2.3 million, respectively. The intrinsic
value of options exercised for the years ended December
31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $10.6 million, $19.9 million
and $1.2 million, respectively.

The excess tax expense realized from options exercised
for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
was $5.9 million, $9.0 million, and $0.4 million, respec-
tively. The aggregate intrinsic value at December 31, 2014
for shares outstanding and shares exercisable was $55.2
million and $20.2 million, respectively. At December 31,
2014, the weighted average remaining contractual life for
shares outstanding and shares exercisable was 6.9 years
and 4.4 years, respectively. 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in whole shares and dollars)

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average

Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding, beginning of year 2,049,173 $ 41.18 2,892,882 $ 38.28 2,715,430 $ 38.57
Granted 687,700 58.06 537,800 42.53 529,500 36.84
Exercised (444,200) 39.33 (1,192,134) 34.70 (90,624) 25.47
Forfeited or cancelled (56,053) 45.99 (189,375) 41.54 (101,574) 41.45
Expired — — — — (159,850) 44.05

Outstanding, end of year 2,236,620 $ 46.61 2,049,173 $ 41.18 2,892,882 $ 38.28

Exercisable, end of year 726,321 $ 43.55 783,873 $ 41.16 1,630,382 $ 37.18
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Additional information about employee options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2014 is included in the
following table:

Options 
Options Outstanding Currently Exercisable

Weighted Average
Remaining Weighted Average Weighted Average

Range of Exercise Prices Number Contractual Lives Exercise Price Number Exercise Price

$ 34.19 to $36.50 114,500 3.84 $ 34.37 114,500 $ 34.37
$ 36.81 422,500 7.06 36.81 — —
$ 37.77 to $42.15 126,300 5.15 42.14 126,300 42.14
$ 42.49 417,683 8.16 42.49 109,452 42.49
$ 45.21 to $46.28 120,000 1.97 45.83 120,000 45.83
$ 46.47 to $47.41 215,500 6.15 46.57 106,250 46.67
$ 48.46 to $54.41 151,487 2.23 48.48 149,819 48.47
$ 57.99 to $73.30 668,650 9.15 58.06 — —

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. For all
options granted through December 31, 2014, the exercise
price equaled the market price on the grant date.
Compensation cost related to options is based upon the
grant date fair value and expensed on a straight-line basis

over the service period for each separately vesting portion
of the option as if the option was, in substance, multiple
awards.

The weighted average grant date fair value of options
granted during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012 was $8.96, $7.69 and $8.87, respectively.

The following significant assumptions were used to determine the fair value for options granted in the years indicated.

2014 2013 2012

Dividend yield 2.07% to 2.55% 2.43% to 3.11% 3.13% to 3.26%
Expected volatility 18.07% to 24.38% 21.77% to 32.02% 32.86% to 35.27%
Weighted average expected volatility 23.00% 27.53% 34.05%
Risk-free interest rate 0.53% - 1.92% 0.29% - 2.02% 0.61% - 1.06%
Expected term, in years 2.5 to 5.5 3.0 to 6.0 4.5 to 5.5

The expected dividend yield is based on the Company’s
dividend payout rate(s), in the year noted. Expected volatil-
ity is based generally on the Company’s historical daily
stock price volatility. The risk-free rate for periods within
the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S.
Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. The
expected term of options granted represents the period of
time that options are expected to be outstanding and is
derived primarily using historical exercise, forfeit and can-
cellation behavior, along with certain other factors expect-
ed to differ from historical data.

The fair value of shares that vested during the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $7.8 million and
$2.3 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2014, the
Company had unrecognized compensation expense of $4.8
million related to unvested stock options that is expected
to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.4
years.

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

Stock grants may be awarded to eligible employees at a
price established by the Committee (which may be zero).
Under the 2014 Stock Plan, the Company may award
shares of restricted stock, restricted stock units, as well as
shares of unrestricted stock. Restricted stock grants may
vest based upon performance criteria, market criteria or
continued employment and be in the form of shares or
units. Vesting periods are established by the Committee.

The Company granted market-based restricted share
units in 2014, 2013 and 2012 and performance-based
restricted share units in 2011 to certain employees. Share
units granted in 2014 and 2013 generally vest after 3 years
of continued employment and after the achievement of
certain stock performance targets and share units granted
in 2012 and 2011 vest after the achievement of certain
performance targets at a rate of 50% after 3 years and the
remaining 50% after 4 years of continued employment.
The Company also granted restricted stock units to eligible
employees in 2014 and 2013 that generally vest after 3
years of continued employment. For those restricted stock
units granted in 2012, vesting is at a rate of 50% after 3
years and the remaining 50% after 4 years of continued
employment. 
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The following table summarizes information about employee restricted stock units:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Grant Average Grant Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value Shares Date Fair Value Shares Date Fair Value

Time-based restricted stock units:
Outstanding, beginning of year 525,980 $41.20 750,837 $ 40.15 768,529 $ 40.17

Granted 102,131 58.78 141,073 43.31 174,841 37.01
Vested (231,078) 41.45 (298,388) 39.51 (137,194) 36.19
Forfeited (12,110) 43.67 (67,542) 41.33 (55,339) 40.47

Outstanding, end of year 384,923 $45.63 525,980 $ 41.20 750,837 $ 40.15

Performance and market-based restricted stock units:
Outstanding, beginning of year 184,626 $40.42 132,775 $ 39.97 69,500 $ 45.37

Granted 60,338 55.73 82,795 41.85 96,150 36.91
Vested (22,826) 44.78 — — — —
Forfeited (3,800) 37.90 (30,944) 42.33 (32,875) 43.28

Outstanding, end of year 218,338 $44.24 184,626 $ 40.42 132,775 $ 39.97

the threshold achievement level for shares granted in
2010. The weighted average grant date fair value for these
awards was $42.15.

The intrinsic value, which is equal to the fair value for
restricted stock and for restricted stock units that vested
during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012 was $4.2 million, $1.8 million and $1.7 million,
respectively. The intrinsic value for performance-based
restricted stock units that vested in 2014 was $0.3 million.
For performance-based restricted stock units that would
have vested in 2013 and 2012, there was no intrinsic value
since these awards were forfeited due to the aforemen-
tioned completion levels of less than threshold. Forfeitures
in 2014 related to the above mentioned market-based
restricted stock units.

At December 31, 2014, the aggregate intrinsic value of
restricted stock and restricted stock units was $27.5 mil-
lion and the weighted average remaining contractual life
was 1.2 years. The aggregate intrinsic value of perform-
ance and market-based restricted stock units was $15.6
million and the weighted average remaining contractual
life was 1.3 years. As of December 31, 2014, there was
$11.9 million of total unrecognized compensation cost
related to unvested restricted stock units and performance
and market-based restricted stock units, assuming per-
formance and market-based restricted stock units are
achieved at 100% of the performance metric. The cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period
of 1.7 years. Compensation cost associated with restricted
stock, restricted stock units and performance and market-
based restricted stock units is generally calculated based
upon grant date fair value, which is determined using cur-
rent market prices.

In 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company granted mar-
ket-based awards totaling 56,625, 76,175, and 92,400,
respectively, to certain members of senior management,
which are included in the table above as performance and
market-based restricted stock activity. The vesting of
these stock units is based on the relative total sharehold-
er return (“TSR”) of the Company. This metric is gener-
ally based on relative TSR for a three year period as
compared to a Property and Casualty Index of peer com-
panies. The fair value of market based awards was esti-
mated at the date of grant using a valuation model. These
units have the potential to range from 0% to 150% of the
shares disclosed. Performance-based restricted stock
units are based upon the achievement of the performance
metric at 100%. These units have the potential to range
from 0% to 200% of the shares disclosed, which varies
based on grant year and individual participation level.
Increases above the 100% target level are reflected as
granted in the period in which performance-based stock
unit goals are achieved. Decreases below the 100% target
level are reflected as forfeited.

In 2014, performance and market-based stock units of
2,888 were included as granted due to completion levels
in excess of 100% for units granted in 2012. The weight-
ed average grant date fair value of these awards was
$43.31. In 2013, performance-based stock units of 8,244
were included as forfeited due to completion levels less
than 100% for units granted in 2011. The weighted aver-
age grant date fair value for these awards was $46.47. In
2012, performance-based stock units of 31,750 were
included as forfeited due to completion levels of less than
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE AND SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY TRANSACTIONS

The following table provides weighted average share infor-
mation used in the calculation of the Company’s basic and
diluted earnings per share:

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions, except per share data)

Basic shares used in the calculation 
of earnings per share 44.0 44.1 44.7

Dilutive effect of securities:
Employee stock options 0.5 0.3 0.2
Non-vested stock grants 0.4 0.5 0.4

Diluted shares used in the 
calculation of earnings per share 44.9 44.9 45.3

Per share effect of dilutive 
securities on income from 
continuing operations $(0.12) $ (0.11) $ (0.01)

Per share effect of dilutive 
securities on net income $(0.13) $ (0.11) $ (0.02)

Diluted earnings per share during 2014, 2013 and 2012
excludes 0.7 million, 0.1 million and 1.8 million, respec-
tively, of common shares issuable under the Company’s
stock compensation plans, because their effect would be
antidilutive.

The Company’s Board of Directors has authorized
aggregate repurchases of the Company’s common stock of
up to $600 million. As of December 31, 2014, the
Company has $116.5 million available for repurchases
under these repurchase authorizations. Repurchases may
be executed using open market purchases, privately nego-
tiated transactions, accelerated repurchase programs or
other transactions. The Company is not required to pur-
chase any specific number of shares or to make purchases
by any certain date under this program. During 2014, the
Company purchased 0.3 million shares of the Company’s
common stock at a cost of $20.4 million.

13. DIVIDEND RESTRICTIONS

U.S. INSURANCE SUBSIDIARIES

The individual law of all states, including New Hampshire
and Michigan, where Hanover Insurance and Citizens are
domiciled, respectively, restrict the payment of dividends
to stockholders by insurers. These laws affect the dividend
paying ability of Hanover Insurance and Citizens.

Pursuant to New Hampshire’s statute, the maximum
dividends and other distributions that an insurer may pay
in any twelve month period, without prior approval of the
New Hampshire Insurance Commissioner, is limited to
10% of such insurer’s statutory policyholder surplus as of

the preceding December 31. No dividends were declared
by Hanover Insurance in 2014, 2013 or 2012. During
2015, the maximum dividend payable without prior
approval is $205.2 million.

Pursuant to Michigan’s statute, the maximum dividends
and other distributions that an insurer may pay in any
twelve month period, without prior approval of the
Michigan Insurance Commissioner, is limited to the
greater of 10% of policyholders’ surplus as of December 31
of the immediately preceding year or the statutory net
income less net realized gains, for the immediately preced-
ing calendar year. Citizens declared dividends to its parent,
Hanover Insurance, totaling $66.0 million, $68.0 million
and $70.0 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Citizens cannot pay a further dividend to its parent with-
out prior approval until December 2015, at which time the
maximum dividend payable without prior approval would
be $63.4 million.

The statutes in both New Hampshire and Michigan
require that prior notice to the respective Insurance
Commissioner of any proposed dividend be provided and
such Commissioner may, in certain circumstances, prohib-
it the payment of the proposed dividend.

CHAUCER

Dividend payments from Chaucer to its parent are regulat-
ed by U.K. law. Dividends from Chaucer are dependent on
dividends from its subsidiaries. Annual dividend payments
from Chaucer are limited to retained earnings that are not
restricted by capital and other requirements for business at
Lloyd’s. Also, Chaucer must provide advance notice to the
U.K.’s Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA”), one of the
successors to the Financial Services Authority, of certain
proposed dividends or other payments from PRA regulated
entities. Dividend payments to THG from Chaucer entities
totaled $68.7 million and $13.9 million in 2014 and 2013,
respectively. No dividends were declared by Chaucer in
2012.

14. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company’s primary business operations include insur-
ance products and services provided through four operat-
ing segments. The domestic operating segments are
Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and Other, and the
Company’s international operating segment is Chaucer.
Commercial Lines includes commercial multiple peril,
commercial automobile, workers’ compensation, and other
commercial coverages, such as specialty program business,
inland marine, management and professional liability and
surety. Personal Lines includes personal automobile,
homeowners and other personal coverages. Chaucer
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includes marine and aviation, energy, property, U.K. motor,
and casualty and other coverages (which includes interna-
tional liability, specialist coverages, and syndicate partici-
pations). Included in Other are Opus Investment
Management, Inc., which markets investment manage-
ment services to institutions, pension funds and other
organizations; earnings on holding company assets; and, a
discontinued voluntary pools business. The separate finan-
cial information is presented consistent with the way
results are regularly evaluated by the chief operating deci-
sion maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in
assessing performance.

The Company reports interest expense related to debt
separately from the earnings of its operating segments.
This consists of interest on the Company’s senior deben-
tures, subordinated debentures, collateralized borrowings
with the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston, and letter of
credit facility. Management evaluates the results of the
aforementioned segments based on operating income
before taxes which also excludes interest expense on debt.
Operating income before taxes excludes certain items
which are included in net income, such as net realized
investment gains and losses (including net gains and loss-
es on certain derivative instruments). Such gains and loss-
es are excluded since they are determined by interest rates,
financial markets and the timing of sales. Also, operating
income before taxes excludes net gains and losses on dis-
posals of businesses and real estate assets, gains and loss-
es related to the repayment of debt, discontinued
operations, costs to acquire businesses, restructuring
costs, the cumulative effect of accounting changes and
certain other items. Although the items excluded from
operating income before taxes may be important compo-
nents in understanding and assessing the Company’s over-
all financial performance, management believes that the
presentation of operating income before taxes enhances an
investor’s understanding of the Company’s results of oper-
ations by highlighting net income attributable to the core
operations of the business. However, operating income
before taxes should not be construed as a substitute for
income before income taxes and operating income should
not be construed as a substitute for net income.

Summarized below is financial information with respect
to the Company’s business segments.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Operating revenues:
Commercial Lines $2,239.0 $ 2,109.5 $ 1,966.2
Personal Lines 1,491.0 1,542.5 1,560.0
Chaucer 1,279.7 1,098.2 1,030.0
Other 7.8 10.0 10.9

Total 5,017.5 4,760.2 4,567.1
Net realized investment gains 50.1 33.5 23.6

Total revenues $5,067.6 $ 4,793.7 $ 4,590.7

Operating income (loss) before 
interest expense and income taxes:
Commercial Lines:

GAAP underwriting loss $ (8.3) $ (11.0) $ (224.2)
Net investment income 149.4 143.5 142.4
Other (expense) income (1.2) (0.1) 1.5

Commercial Lines operating 
income (loss) 139.9 132.4 (80.3)

Personal Lines:
GAAP underwriting income (loss) 22.1 37.6 (67.3)
Net investment income 71.9 75.8 86.5
Other income 5.0 5.2 6.3

Personal Lines operating income 99.0 118.6 25.5

Chaucer:
GAAP underwriting income 122.5 107.7 93.5
Net investment income 44.2 42.7 40.2
Other income 10.9 — 3.1

Chaucer operating income 177.6 150.4 136.8

Other:
GAAP underwriting loss (3.1) (3.4) (3.5)
Net investment income 4.8 7.0 7.2
Other net expenses (12.0) (11.6) (10.6)

Other operating loss (10.3) (8.0) (6.9)

Operating income before interest 
expense and income taxes 406.2 393.4 75.1

Interest on debt (65.2) (65.3) (61.9)

Operating income before 
income taxes 341.0 328.1 13.2

Non-operating income items:
Net realized investment gains 50.1 33.5 23.6
Loss from settlement of 

pension obligation (12.1) — —
Net loss from repayment of debt (0.1) (27.7) (5.1)
Loss from disposal of real estate — (4.7) —
Other non-operating items (0.9) (0.1) (3.0)

Income before income taxes $ 378.0 $ 329.1 $ 28.7
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The following table provides identifiable assets for the
Company’s business segments and discontinued operations:

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions)
Identifiable Assets

U.S. Companies $ 9,418.4 $ 8,962.6
Chaucer 4,229.3 4,301.2
Discontinued operations 112.0 114.9

Total $13,759.7 $13,378.7

The Company reviews the assets of its U.S. Companies
collectively and does not allocate them among the
Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and Other segments.

GEOGRAPHIC CONCENTRATIONS

The following table presents the Company’s gross premi-
ums written (“GPW”) based on the location of the risk:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

% of Total GPW

United States 78% 78% 76%
United Kingdom 6% 6% 6%
Worldwide and other 16% 16% 18%

Total 100% 100% 100%

The worldwide and other category includes insured risks
that move across multiple geographic areas, including the
U.S. and U.K., due to their mobile nature or insured risks
that are fixed in locations that span more than one geo-
graphic area, and risks located in a single country outside
the U.S. and U.K. These contracts include, for example,
marine and aviation, hull, satellite, offshore energy explo-
ration and production risks that can move across multiple
geographic areas and assumed risks where the cedant
insures risks in two or more geographic zones. These risks
may include U.S. and U.K. insured risks.

Long-lived assets located outside the U.S. were not
material for the years ended December 31, 2014 or 2013.
The Company does not have revenue from transactions
with a single agent or broker amounting to 10 percent or
more of its consolidated revenue.

15. LEASE COMMITMENTS

Rental expenses for operating leases amounted to $21.4
million, $21.6 million and $22.4 million in 2014, 2013
and 2012, respectively. These expenses relate primarily to
building leases of the Company. At December 31, 2014,
future minimum rental payments under non-cancelable
operating leases were $62.7 million, payable as follows:
2015 - $17.3 million; 2016 - $14.3 million; 2017 - $11.5
million; 2018 - $8.0 million and 2019 and thereafter -
$11.6 million. It is expected that in the normal course of
business, leases that expire may be renewed or replaced by
leases on other property and equipment.

16. REINSURANCE

In the normal course of business, the Company seeks to
reduce the losses that may arise from catastrophes or other
events that cause unfavorable underwriting results by rein-
suring certain levels of risk in various areas of exposure
with other insurance enterprises or reinsurers.
Reinsurance transactions are accounted for in accordance
with the provisions of ASC 944.

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a
manner consistent with the claim liability associated with
the reinsured policy. Reinsurance contracts do not relieve
the Company from its obligations to policyholders. Failure
of reinsurers to honor their obligations could result in loss-
es to the Company; consequently, allowances are estab-
lished for amounts deemed uncollectible. The Company
determines the appropriate amount of reinsurance based
on evaluations of the risks accepted and analyses prepared
by consultants and on market conditions (including the
availability and pricing of reinsurance). The Company also
believes that the terms of its reinsurance contracts are con-
sistent with industry practice in that they contain standard
terms with respect to lines of business covered, limit and
retention, arbitration and occurrence. The Company
believes that its reinsurers are financially sound. This
belief is based upon an ongoing review of its reinsurers’
financial statements, reported financial strength ratings
from rating agencies, reputations in the marketplace, and
the analysis and guidance of THG’s reinsurance advisors.

As a condition to conduct certain business in various
states, the Company is required to participate in residual
market mechanisms, facilities and pooling arrangements
such as the Michigan Catastrophic Claims Association
(“MCCA”). The Company is subject to concentration of
risk with respect to reinsurance ceded to the MCCA.
Funding for MCCA comes from assessments against auto-
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mobile insurers based upon their share of insured automo-
biles in the state. Insurers are allowed to pass along this
cost to Michigan automobile policyholders. The Company
ceded to the MCCA premiums earned and losses and LAE
incurred of $73.4 million and $99.2 million in 2014, $72.2
million and $76.6 million in 2013 and $74.0 million and
$99.9 million in 2012, respectively. MCCA, which repre-
sented 39.7% of the total reinsurance receivable balance at
December 31, 2014, is the Company’s only reinsurer rep-
resenting at least 10% of its reinsurance assets.
Reinsurance recoverables related to MCCA were $899.5
million and $867.0 million at December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively. Because the MCCA is supported by
assessments permitted by statute, and there have been no
significant uncollectible balances from MCCA identified
during the three years ending December 31, 2014, the
Company believes that it has no significant exposure to
uncollectible reinsurance balances from this entity.

The following table provides the effects of reinsurance.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Premiums written:
Direct $4,777.3 $ 4,599.2 $ 4,515.1
Assumed(1) 688.1 602.5 689.1
Ceded(2) (655.3) (649.0) (835.8)

Net premiums written $4,810.1 $ 4,552.7 $ 4,368.4

Premiums earned:
Direct $4,679.8 $ 4,546.3 $ 4,352.9
Assumed(1) 696.4 617.7 687.0
Ceded(2) (665.9) (713.5) (800.8)

Net premiums earned $4,710.3 $ 4,450.5 $ 4,239.1

Percentage of assumed to net 
premiums earned 14.78% 13.88% 16.21%

Losses and LAE:
Direct $3,019.4 $ 2,939.4 $ 3,251.4
Assumed(1) 266.1 172.3 311.4
Ceded(2) (358.0) (350.6) (588.4)

Net losses and LAE $2,927.5 $ 2,761.1 $ 2,974.4

(1) Assumed reinsurance activity primarily relates to the Chaucer segment.

(2) In 2013, we did not renew the capital provision reinsurance treaty with Flagstone
Re. This reduced ceded premiums written, premiums earned and losses and LAE
for the year ended December 31, 2013.

17. LIABILITIES FOR OUTSTANDING CLAIMS,
LOSSES AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES

The Company regularly updates its reserve estimates as
new information becomes available and further events
occur which may impact the resolution of unsettled
claims. Reserve adjustments are reflected in results of
operations as adjustments to losses and LAE. Often these
adjustments are recognized in periods subsequent to the
period in which the underlying policy was written and loss
event occurred. These types of subsequent adjustments are
described as “prior years’ loss reserves”. Such development
can be either favorable or unfavorable to the Company’s
financial results and may vary by line of business.

The table below provides a reconciliation of the gross
beginning and ending reserve for unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Gross loss and LAE reserves, 
beginning of year $6,231.5 $ 6,197.0 $ 5,760.3

Reinsurance recoverable 
on unpaid losses 2,030.4 2,074.3 1,931.8

Net loss and LAE reserves, 
beginning of year 4,201.1 4,122.7 3,828.5

Net incurred losses and LAE in 
respect of losses occurring in:

Current year 3,026.6 2,837.4 2,990.2
Prior years (99.1) (76.3) (15.8)

Total incurred losses and LAE 2,927.5 2,761.1 2,974.4

Net payments of losses and LAE 
in respect of losses occurring in:

Current year 1,328.7 1,213.5 1,317.6
Prior years 1,398.9 1,469.8 1,396.5

Total payments 2,727.6 2,683.3 2,714.1

Commutation of Chaucer 
Flagstone reinsurance agreement 85.7 — —

Effect of foreign exchange 
rate changes (78.0) 0.6 33.9

Net reserve for losses and LAE, 
end of year 4,408.7 4,201.1 4,122.7

Reinsurance recoverable on 
unpaid losses 1,983.0 2,030.4 2,074.3

Gross reserve for losses and LAE, 
end of year $6,391.7 $ 6,231.5 $ 6,197.0
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As part of an ongoing process, reserves have been re-
estimated for all prior accident years and were decreased
by $99.1 million, $76.3 million and $15.8 million in 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively. For the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, these amounts
include favorable loss and LAE reserve development of
$104.6 million, $94.6 million and $72.6 million, respec-
tively for Chaucer. Chaucer’s favorable development dur-
ing 2014 was primarily the result of lower than expected
losses in the marine and aviation lines, primarily in the
2011 through 2013 accident years, within casualty and
other lines, specialty liability lines, primarily in the 2010
and 2013 accident years, and the property line, primarily
in the 2010 through 2013 accident years. Chaucer’s favor-
able development was also partially attributable to the
favorable impact of foreign exchange rate movements on
prior years’ loss reserves. For Commercial and Personal
Lines, the unfavorable loss and LAE development during
2014 was primarily the result of higher than expected large
losses within the commercial automobile coverages, which
includes the AIX Holdings, Inc. (“AIX”) program business,
primarily related to liability coverage in the 2009 through
2012 accident years. Partially offsetting the unfavorable
development was lower than expected losses within the
personal automobile line, primarily related to the 2013
accident year, lower than expected losses within the work-
ers’ compensation line, primarily related to the 2007
through 2012 accident years, and lower than expected
losses within the commercial multiple peril line, primarily
related to the 2012 and 2013 accident years.

The $76.3 million favorable loss and LAE reserve devel-
opment during the year ended December 31, 2013 includ-
ed favorable loss and LAE reserve development of $94.6
million for Chaucer. Chaucer’s favorable development dur-
ing 2013 was primarily the result of lower than expected
losses in the energy line, primarily in the 2009 through
2012 accident years, property line, primarily in the 2011
and 2012 accident years, within casualty and other lines,
specialty liability lines, primarily in the 2008 accident year,
and the marine and aviation line, primarily in the 2010
through 2012 accident years. For Commercial and
Personal Lines, the unfavorable loss and LAE development
during 2013 was primarily the result of higher than expect-
ed losses within the personal automobile line, due to sever-
ity in bodily injury coverage in the 2010 through 2012
accident years, higher than expected large losses in the
commercial automobile line, primarily related to liability
coverage in the 2009 through 2011 accident years, and
higher than expected losses within other commercial lines,
primarily in the 2010 through 2012 accident years.
Partially offsetting the unfavorable development was lower
than expected losses within the workers’ compensation
line, primarily in the 2006 through 2011 accident years

and lower involuntary pool losses, including a $3.2 million
benefit from the settlement of a legal proceeding, and
lower than expected losses within the commercial multi-
peril line, primarily in the 2012 accident year.

The $15.8 million favorable loss and LAE reserve devel-
opment during the year ended December 31, 2012 includ-
ed favorable loss and LAE reserve development of $72.6
million for Chaucer. Chaucer’s favorable development dur-
ing 2012 was primarily the result of lower than expected
losses in the energy line, primarily in the 2008 through
2011 accident years, marine and aviation lines, primarily
in the 2007 through 2011 accident years, casualty lines,
primarily in the 2010 and 2011 accident years, and the
property lines, primarily in the 2009 through 2011 acci-
dent years. For Commercial and Personal Lines, the unfa-
vorable loss and LAE development during 2012 was
primarily the result of higher than expected losses within
other commercial lines, primarily in the contract surety
line due to the challenging macroeconomic environment
for contractors, and to a lesser extent, the AIX program
business, primarily related to unexpected severity in com-
mercial automobile liability, commercial multiple peril and
general liability in a limited number of programs, and from
higher than expected large losses within the commercial
automobile line, primarily related to liability coverage in
the 2011 accident year. In addition, the Company experi-
enced higher than expected losses within the personal
automobile line, primarily related to bodily injury severity
in the 2010 and 2011 accident years, and higher than
expected homeowners property losses from non-catastro-
phe weather related activity in the 2011 accident year.
Partially offsetting the unfavorable development was lower
than expected losses within the commercial multiple peril
line, related to the 2008 through 2011 accident years.

Loss and LAE reserves related to asbestos and environ-
mental damage liability, primarily in other commercial
lines, were $60.6 million, $61.9 million and $60.5 million
as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Ending loss and LAE reserves for all direct business writ-
ten by the Company related to asbestos and environmental
damage liability, included in the reserve for losses and
LAE, were $10.1 million, $11.5 million and $9.8 million,
net of reinsurance of $21.4 million, $20.6 million and
$20.4 million as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. As a result of the Company’s historical direct
underwriting mix of Commercial Lines policies toward
smaller and middle market risks, past asbestos and envi-
ronmental damage liability loss experience has remained
minimal in relation to the Company’s total loss and LAE
incurred experience. In addition, the Company has estab-
lished gross loss and LAE reserves for its run-off voluntary
assumed reinsurance pool business with asbestos and envi-
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ronmental damage liability of $29.1 million, $29.8 million
and $30.3 million at December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. These reserves relate to pools in which the
Company has terminated its participation; however, the
Company continues to be subject to claims related to years
in which it was a participant. Because of the inherent
uncertainty regarding the types of claims in these pools,
the Company cannot provide assurance that its reserves
will be sufficient.

The Company estimates its ultimate liability for
asbestos, environmental and toxic tort liability claims,
whether resulting from direct business, or assumed rein-
surance and pool business, based upon currently known
facts, reasonable assumptions where the facts are not
known, current law and methodologies currently available.
Although these outstanding claims are not significant,
their existence gives rise to uncertainty and are discussed
because of the possibility that they may become signifi-
cant. The Company believes that, notwithstanding the evo-
lution of case law expanding liability in asbestos and
environmental claims, recorded reserves related to these
claims are adequate. The asbestos, environmental and
toxic tort liability could be revised in the near term if the
estimates used in determining the liability are revised, and
any such revisions could have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s results of operations for a particular quar-
terly or annual period or its financial position.

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Durand Litigation
On March 12, 2007, a putative class action suit captioned
Jennifer A. Durand v. The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.,
and The Allmerica Financial Cash Balance Pension Plan
was filed in the United States District Court for the
Western District of Kentucky. The named plaintiff, a for-
mer employee who received a lump sum distribution from
the Company’s Cash Balance Plan (the “Plan”) at or about
the time of her termination, claims that she and others
similarly situated did not receive the appropriate lump sum
distribution because in computing the lump sum, the
Company and the Plan understated the accrued benefit in
the calculation. The plaintiff claims that the Plan under-
paid her distributions and those of similarly situated par-
ticipants by failing to pay an additional so-called “whipsaw”
amount reflecting the present value of an estimate of
future interest credits from the date of the lump sum dis-
tribution to each participant’s retirement age of 65.

The plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint adding two
new named plaintiffs and additional claims on December

11, 2009. In response, the Company filed a Motion to
Dismiss on January 30, 2010. In addition to the pending
claim challenging the calculation of lump sum distribu-
tions, the Amended Complaint included: (a) a claim that
the Plan failed to calculate participants’ account balances
and lump sum payments properly because interest credits
were based solely upon the performance of each partici-
pant’s selection from among various hypothetical invest-
ment options (as the Plan provided) rather than crediting
the greater of that performance or the 30 year Treasury
rate; (b) a claim that the 2004 Plan amendment, which
changed interest crediting for all participants from the per-
formance of participant’s investment selections to the 30
year Treasury rate, reduced benefits in violation of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974
(“ERISA”) for participants who had account balances as of
the amendment date by not continuing to provide them
performance-based interest crediting on those balances;
and (c) claims against the Company for breach of fiduciary
duty and ERISA notice requirements arising from the var-
ious interest crediting and lump sum distribution matters
of which plaintiffs complain. On March 31, 2011, the
District Court granted the Company and the Plan’s Motion
to Dismiss on statute of limitations grounds the additional
claims set forth in (a) and (b) above, however, in response
to a motion for reconsideration, the Court allowed the new
breach of fiduciary duty claim to stand, but only as to
plaintiffs’ “whipsaw” claim that remained in the case. On
June 22, 2012, the Company and the Plan filed a Partial
Motion for Summary Judgment to dismiss the “whipsaw”
claim of one of the named plaintiffs who received his lump
sum distribution after December 31, 2003. On October 2,
2013, the Court granted the Company and the Plan’s
Partial Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed with
prejudice the “whipsaw” claim of the named plaintiff who
received a lump sum distribution after December 31, 2003
and the similar claims of the putative class members he
sought to represent. On December 17, 2013, the Court
entered an order certifying a class to bring “whipsaw” and
related breach of fiduciary duty claims consisting of all
persons who received a lump sum distribution between
March 1, 1997 and December 31, 2003, and a subclass to
bring such claims consisting of all persons who received
lump sum distributions between March 1, 1997 and
March 12, 2002. On December 17, 2013, the Court also
granted plaintiffs’ motion for entry of a final order allowing
an immediate appeal by the two named plaintiffs added in
the Amended Complaint of their dismissed claims that the
2004 Plan amendment reduced benefits in violation of
ERISA, and for one of them, that his post-2003 lump sum
distribution should have been greater. On January 14,
2014, the Company filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the
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Court’s December 17, 2013 Order requesting that the
Court reverse its order making the dismissed claims final
and appealable or, in the alternative, stay merits discovery
on the claims remaining in the district court pending reso-
lution of the dismissed plaintiffs’ appeal. The Court denied
this motion on April 30, 2014. The appeal of the dismissal
of the claims of the two named plaintiffs added in the
Amended Complaint was filed on May 30, 2014 and is
pending. The Company recently filed a Summary
Judgment motion to dismiss another class of plaintiffs that
were added with the Amended Complaint. Plaintiffs have
objected to this motion pending the outcome of the fore-
going appeal.

At this time, the Company is unable to provide a reason-
able estimate of the potential range of ultimate liability if
the outcome of the suit is unfavorable. The extent to which
any of the plaintiffs’ multiple theories of liability, some of
which are overlapping and others of which are quite com-
plex and novel, are accepted and upheld on appeal will sig-
nificantly affect the Plan’s or the Company’s potential
liability. The statute of limitations applicable to the class
has not yet been finally determined and the extent of
potential liability, if any, will depend on this final determi-
nation. In addition, assuming for these purposes that the
plaintiffs prevail with respect to claims that benefits
accrued or payable under the Plan were understated, then
there are numerous possible theories and other variables
upon which any revised calculation of benefits as request-
ed under plaintiffs’ claims could be based. Any adverse
judgment in this case against the Plan would be expected
to create a liability for the Plan, with resulting effects on
the Plan’s assets available to pay benefits. The Company’s
future required funding of the Plan could also be impact-
ed by such a liability.

OTHER MATTERS

The Company has been named a defendant in various
other legal proceedings arising in the normal course of
business. In addition, the Company is involved, from time
to time, in examinations, investigations and proceedings by
governmental and self-regulatory agencies. The potential
outcome of any such action or regulatory proceedings in
which the Company has been named a defendant or the
subject of an inquiry or investigation, and its ultimate lia-
bility, if any, from such action or regulatory proceedings, is
difficult to predict at this time. The ultimate resolutions of
such proceedings are not expected to have a material effect
on its financial position, although they could have a mate-
rial effect on the results of operations for a particular quar-
ter or annual period.

RESIDUAL MARKETS

The Company is required to participate in residual markets
in various states, which generally pertain to high risk
insureds, disrupted markets or lines of business or geo-
graphic areas where rates are regarded as excessive. The
results of the residual markets are not subject to the pre-
dictability associated with the Company’s own managed
business, and are significant to both the personal and com-
mercial automobile lines of business, the workers’ compen-
sation line of business, and the homeowners line of
business.

19. STATUTORY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Company’s U.S. insurance subsidiaries are required to
file annual statements with state regulatory authorities
prepared on an accounting basis prescribed or permitted
by such authorities (statutory basis), as codified by the
National Association of Insurance Commissioners.
Permitted statutory accounting practices encompass all
accounting practices that are not prescribed; such prac-
tices differ from state to state, may differ from company to
company within a state, and may change in the future. The
Company’s U.S. insurance subsidiaries did not have any
permitted practices as of or for the years ended December
31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Statutory capital and surplus differs from shareholders’
equity reported in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles primarily because under the statuto-
ry basis of accounting, deferred acquisition costs are
expensed when incurred, the recognition of deferred tax
assets is based on different recoverability assumptions and
prior to 2013, postretirement benefit costs were based on
different participant assumptions.

The following table provides statutory net income for
the year ended December 31 and statutory capital and sur-
plus as of December 31 for the periods indicated:

2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Statutory Net Income (Loss)
U.S. Insurance Subsidiaries $ 204.3 $ 193.2 $ (47.3)

Statutory Capital and Surplus
U.S. Insurance Subsidiaries $2,057.1 $ 1,834.3 $ 1,523.4

The minimum statutory capital and surplus necessary to
satisfy the Company’s regulatory requirements was $374.6
million, $354.5 million and $329.0 million, which equals
the Authorized Control Level at December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012, respectively.
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20. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(UNAUDITED)

The quarterly results of operations for 2014 and 2013 are
summarized below.

THREE MONTHS ENDED

(in millions, except per share data)

2014 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

Total revenues $1,243.9 $1,273.0 $1,265.6 $1,285.1
Income from 

continuing operations $ 54.7 $ 82.5 $ 55.0 $ 90.1
Net income $ 54.6 $ 82.6 $ 54.9 $ 89.9
Income from 

continuing operations 
per share:

Basic $ 1.25 $ 1.87 $ 1.25 $ 2.05
Diluted $ 1.22 $ 1.84 $ 1.22 $ 2.01

Net income per share:
Basic $ 1.24 $ 1.88 $ 1.25 $ 2.04
Diluted $ 1.22 $ 1.84 $ 1.22 $ 2.00

Dividends declared 
per share $ 0.37 $ 0.37 $ 0.37 $ 0.41

THREE MONTHS ENDED

(in millions, except per share data)

2013 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

Total revenues $ 1,180.3 $ 1,182.6 $ 1,201.8 $ 1,229.0
Income from 

continuing operations $ 66.4 $ 53.1 $ 61.3 $ 64.9
Net income $ 66.2 $ 53.4 $ 61.3 $ 70.1
Income from 

continuing operations 
per share:

Basic $ 1.49 $ 1.21 $ 1.40 $ 1.48
Diluted $ 1.47 $ 1.19 $ 1.37 $ 1.45

Net income per share:
Basic $ 1.49 $ 1.21 $ 1.40 $ 1.60
Diluted $ 1.46 $ 1.19 $ 1.37 $ 1.57

Dividends declared 
per share $ 0.33 $ 0.33 $ 0.33 $ 0.37

Due to the use of weighted average shares outstanding
when calculating earnings per common share, the sum of
the quarterly per common share data may not equal the
per common share data for the year.

21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no subsequent events requiring adjustment to
the financial statements and no additional disclosures
required in the notes to the consolidated financial
 statements.

Item 9 — Changes in and Disagreements
with Accountants on Accounting
and Financial Disclosure 

None. 

Item 9A — Controls and Procedures 
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
EVALUATION 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined
under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). 

LIMITATIONS ON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF CONTROLS 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our dis-
closure controls over financial reporting will prevent all
error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives
will be met. Further, the design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their
costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control sys-
tems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assur-
ance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,
have been detected. These inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty
and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or
mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individ-
ual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more peo-
ple, or by management override of the controls. The design
of any system of controls is based in part on certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and
there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in
achieving its stated goals under all potential future condi-
tions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures. Because of the
inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, mis-
statements due to error or fraud may occur and not be
detected. 
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CONCLUSION REGARDING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Based on our controls evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of
the end of the period covered by this annual report, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to pro-
vide reasonable assurance that (i) the information required
to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms and (ii) material information is accumulat-
ed and communicated to our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. 

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING 

Our management is responsible for establishing and main-
taining adequate internal control over financial reporting,
as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f).
Under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial report-
ing based on the updated Internal Control – Integrated
Framework issued in 2013 by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
Based on our evaluation under the updated framework in
Internal Control – Integrated Framework, our management
concluded that our internal control over financial report-
ing was effective as of December 31, 2014. 

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2014 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is
included herein. 

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL 

Our management, including the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation
of the internal control over financial reporting, as required
by Rule 13a-15(d) of the Exchange Act, to determine
whether any changes occurred during the period covered
by this Annual Report on Form 10-K that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting. Based on that
evaluation, the Chief Executive and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that there was no such change during
the last quarter of the fiscal year covered by this Annual
Report on Form 10-K that has materially affected, or is rea-
sonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting. 

Item 9B — Other Information 
None.
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Item 10 — Directors, Executive Officers
and Corporate Governance 

DIRECTORS OF THE REGISTRANT 

Except for the portion about executive officers and our
Code of Conduct which is set forth below, this information
is incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
held on May 19, 2015 to be filed pursuant to Regulation
14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 

Set forth below is biographical information concerning our
executive officers. 

Mark L. Berthiaume, 58 
Senior Vice President
Chief Administration Officer

Mr. Berthiaume joined THG in 2014 as Senior Vice
President, Chief Administration Officer. Prior to joining
the Company, from 2001 to 2014, Mr. Berthiaume held a
number of senior roles with The Chubb Corporation, last
serving as Senior Vice President, International Chief
Information Officer. Previously, Mr. Berthiaume was Vice
President, Specialty Insurance Chief Information Officer
of Orion Capital/Royal and Sunalliance Insurance Group,
from 1995 to 2001, and prior to that he held a number of
systems development and support positions with several
insurance companies, including THG.

Christine Bilotti-Peterson, 44
Senior Vice President, Chief Human Resources Officer

Ms. Bilotti-Peterson has led Human Resources since
June 2014. From January 2013 to June 2014 she served as
Vice President, Human Resources for our Commercial,
Specialty and Personal Lines Division. Prior to joining
THG, Ms. Bilotti-Peterson spent 15 years in a variety of
positions at The Hartford Financial Services Group, Inc.,
last serving as Vice President, Human Resources. Ms.
Bilotti-Peterson started her career with Korn Ferry
International, where she placed C-level executives primari-
ly in Insurance, Financial Services and Technology. 

Frederick H. Eppinger, Jr., 56 
Director 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

Mr. Eppinger has been Director, President and Chief
Executive Officer of THG since joining the Company in
2003. Before joining the Company, Mr. Eppinger was
Executive Vice President of Property and Casualty Field
and Service Operations for The Hartford Financial
Services Group, Inc. Prior to that, he was Senior Vice
President of Strategic Marketing from 2000 to 2001 for

ChannelPoint, Inc., a firm that provided business-to-busi-
ness technology for insurance and financial service compa-
nies, and was a senior partner at the international
consulting firm of McKinsey & Company. Mr. Eppinger led
the insurance practice at McKinsey, where he worked
closely with chief executive officers of many leading insur-
ers over a period of 15 years, beginning in 1985. Mr.
Eppinger began his career as an accountant with the firm
then known as Coopers & Lybrand. He is a director of
Centene Corporation, a publicly traded, multi-line health-
care company. Mr. Eppinger is an employee of THG, and
therefore is not an independent director. Mr. Eppinger’s
term of office as a director of THG expires in 2016. 

David B. Greenfield, 52 
Executive Vice President 
Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer 

Mr. Greenfield has served as Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer
since March 2011. Prior to that, from December 2010 to
March 2011, he served as Executive Vice President, Senior
Finance Officer. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Greenfield served as the Chief Financial Officer of Axis
Capital Holdings Limited from 2006 until 2010. From
1984 to 2006, Mr. Greenfield worked for KPMG LLP,
where he advanced to partnership serving as KPMG’s
Global Sector Chair for Insurance and a member of
KPMG’s Global Financial Services Leadership Team. 

J. Kendall Huber, 60 
Executive Vice President 
General Counsel and Assistant Secretary 

Mr. Huber has been General Counsel and Assistant
Secretary since joining THG in 2000. Prior to joining
THG, Mr. Huber was Executive Vice President, General
Counsel and Secretary of Promus Hotel Corporation from
1999 to 2000. Previously, Mr. Huber was Vice President
and Deputy General Counsel of Legg Mason, Inc. from
1998 to 1999, and of USF&G Corporation, where he was
employed from 1990 to 1998. Mr. Huber was previously
with the law firm now known as DLA Piper and a
Lieutenant, U.S. Navy Judge Advocate General’s Corps. 

Richard W. Lavey, 47 
Executive Vice President
President, Personal Lines and Chief Marketing Officer

Mr. Lavey has been President, Personal Lines of THG
since November 2014 and Chief Marketing Officer since
2011. Mr. Lavey joined THG in 2004 and during this time
has also served in the following roles: Chief Distribution
Officer, Senior Vice President, Operations and Marketing;
Regional President, Northeast; and Vice President, Field
Operations and Marketing & Distribution. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Lavey worked for The Hartford
Financial Services Group, Inc. and The Travelers Corp. 

PART III 
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Andrew S. Robinson, 49 
Executive Vice President, Corporate Development 
President, Specialty Insurance 

Mr. Robinson has been President, Specialty Insurance
since November 2011, Chief Risk Officer since 2010 and
has led THG’s Corporate Development Department since
joining the Company in 2006. From 2009 to 2011, Mr.
Robinson was President, Specialty Casualty. Prior to join-
ing the Company, from 1996 until 2006, Mr. Robinson
held a variety of positions at Diamond Consultants, last
serving as Managing Director, Global Insurance Practice. 

John C. Roche, 51 
Executive Vice President 
President, Business Insurance and Field Operations

Mr. Roche has been Executive Vice President, President
Business Insurance since 2013 and was appointed to lead
Field Operations in November 2014. Prior to that he
served as Senior Vice President, President Business
Insurance from 2009 to 2013. From 2007 to 2009, Mr.
Roche served as Vice President, Field Operations and from
2006 to 2007, Mr. Roche was Vice President,
Underwriting and Product Management, Commercial
Lines. From 1994 to 2006, Mr. Roche served in a variety
of leadership positions at St. Paul Travelers Companies,
Inc., last serving as Vice President, Commercial Accounts.
Previously, Mr. Roche served in a variety of underwriting
and management positions at Fireman’s Fund Insurance
Company and Atlantic Mutual Insurance Company. 

Robert Stuchbery, 58 
President of International Operations 
Chief Executive Officer, Chaucer 

Mr. Stuchbery has been Chief Executive Officer of
Chaucer since January 2010. Prior to his appointment as
CEO, Mr. Stuchbery served as Chaucer’s Chief
Underwriting Officer from 2005 to 2009, and as Group
Underwriting Director from 2000 to 2005. He was Active
Underwriter for Syndicate 1096 from 1996 to 2000 and
prior to that was Deputy Underwriter of Syndicate 1096
from 1988 to 1996. Before joining Chaucer in 1988, Mr.
Stuchbery served in various positions with the U.K. sub-
sidiary of CNA Reinsurance of London Limited from 1976
to 1987. Mr. Stuchbery is a Fellow of the Chartered
Insurance Institute and a member of the Lloyd’s Market
Association Board where he currently serves as Deputy
Chairman. 

Mark Welzenbach, 55 
Senior Vice President, Chief Claims Officer 

Mr. Welzenbach has been Chief Claims Officer of THG
since joining the Company in 2005. Before joining the
Company, Mr. Welzenbach was Senior Vice President,
Claims for The Hartford Financial Services Group, Inc.

from 1995 to 2005. Prior to that, he was Director of
Claims from 1991 to 1995 for Travelers Insurance
Company. Mr. Welzenbach began his career as a practicing
attorney. 

OTHER SENIOR CORPORATE OFFICERS 
OF THE REGISTRANT 

Bruce P. Bartell, 57
Chief Underwriting Officer, Chaucer

Mr. Bartell has been Chief Underwriting Officer of
Chaucer since January 2010. Prior to his appointment as
CUO, Mr. Bartell served as Active Underwriter of Chaucer
Syndicate 1084 from 2006 to 2009. He was Active
Underwriter for Syndicate 1096 from 2000 to 2005 and
prior to that was Deputy Underwriter of Syndicate 1096
from 1993 to 2000. Mr. Bartell was Active Underwriter of
Syndicate 1117 from 1989 to 1993. Before joining
Chaucer in 1988, Mr. Bartell served in a variety of under-
writing and management positions at companies within the
London Company Insurance Market.

Ann K. Tripp, 56 
Senior Vice President, Chief Investment Officer 
President, Opus Investment Management, Inc. 

Ms. Tripp has been Chief Investment Officer and
President of Opus Investment Management, Inc. since
2006. She joined the Company in 1987, and prior to becom-
ing our Chief Investment Officer, served in a variety of
increasingly senior roles within our investment department.

Pursuant to section 4.4 of the Company’s by-laws, each
officer shall hold office until the first meeting of the Board
of Directors following the next annual meeting of the
shareholders and until his or her respective successor is
chosen and qualified unless a shorter period shall have
been specified by the terms of his or her election or
appointment, or in each case until such officer sooner
dies, resigns, is removed or becomes disqualified. 

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

The Board of Directors of THG has scheduled the 2015
Annual Meeting of Shareholders for May 19, 2015. The
record date for determining the shareholders of the
Company entitled to notice of and to vote at such Annual
Meeting is March 24, 2015. 
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CODE OF CONDUCT 

Our Code of Conduct is available, free of charge, on our
website at www.hanover.com under “About Us - Corporate
Governance”. The Code of Conduct applies to our direc-
tors, officers and employees, including our Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Controller. While we
do not expect to grant waivers to our Code of Conduct, any
such waivers to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer or Controller will be posted on our web-
site at www.hanover.com, as required by applicable law or
New York Stock Exchange requirements. A printed copy of
the Code of Conduct will be provided free of charge by
contacting the Company’s Corporate Secretary at the
Company’s headquarters, 440 Lincoln Street, Worcester,
MA 01653. 

Item 11 — Executive Compensation 
Incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
held May 19, 2015, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

Item 12 — Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related
Stockholder Matters 

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under 
Equity Compensation Plans 
The following table sets forth information as of December
31, 2014 with respect to compensation plans under which
equity securities of the Company are authorized for
issuance. 

Additional information related to Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management is incorporat-
ed herein by reference from the Proxy Statement for the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 19, 2015,
to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

Item 13 — Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions, and
Director Independence 

Incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
held May 19, 2015, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

Item 14 — Principal Accounting Fees 
and Services 

Incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
held May 19, 2015, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

Number of securities to Number of securities 
be issued upon exercise Weighted average exercise remaining available for
of outstanding options, price of outstanding future issuance under

Plan Category warrants and rights(1) options, warrants and rights equity compensation plans(2)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 2,951,595 $ 46.61 9,336,944
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —

Total 2,951,595 $ 46.61 9,336,944

(1) Includes 714,975 shares of Common Stock which may be issued upon vesting of outstanding restricted stock units, performance-based restricted stock units (assuming the
maximum award amount), or market-based restricted stock units (assuming the maximum award amount). The weighted average exercise price does not take these awards into
account. 

(2) On May 20, 2014, shareholders approved The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2014 Stock Plan”). With respect to new share-based award
issuances, the 2014 Stock Plan replaced The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2006 Stock Plan”) and authorized the issuance of
6,100,000 shares in a new share pool plus any shares subject to outstanding awards under the 2006 Stock Plan that may become available for reissuance as a result of the cash
settlement, forfeiture, expiration or cancellation of such awards. In accordance with the 2014 Stock Plan, the issuance of one share of common stock in the form of an option
or SAR will reduce the share pool by one share, whereas the issuance of one share of common stock for the other types of stock awards provided by the plan will reduce the
pool by 3.8 shares. Additionally, on May 20, 2014, the shareholders approved The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Employee Stock Purchase plan and the Chaucer Share
Incentive Plan, authorizing the issuance of 2,500,000 and 750,000 shares, respectively, under such plans.
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PART IV 
Item 15–Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 

(A)(1) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes thereto are included on pages 81 to 124 of this Form
10-K. 

Page No. in 
this Report

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 81

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 82

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012. . . . . 83

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 84

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 . . . . . . . 85

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 86

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87

(A)(2) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULES

Page No. in 
this Report

I Summary of Investments - Other than Investments in Related Parties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 136

II Condensed Financial Information of Registrant . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 137

III Supplementary Insurance Information . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 140

IV Reinsurance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 141

V Valuation and Qualifying Accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 142

VI Supplemental Information Concerning Property and Casualty Insurance Operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 143
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(A)(3) EXHIBIT INDEX

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 22,
2005, between The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.,
as Buyer, and Registrant, as Seller (the schedules
and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item
601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K), previously filed as
Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August
24, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.

2.2 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated July 30, 2008,
by and between the Registrant and Common -
wealth Annuity and Life Insurance Company (the
schedules and exhibits have been omitted pur-
suant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K), previ-
ously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on August 4, 2008 and incorporated
herein by reference.

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, pre-
viously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
Commission on March 16, 2006 and incorporated
herein by reference.

3.2 Amended By-Laws of the Registrant, previously
filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
November 21, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.1 Specimen Certificate of Common Stock, previous-
ly filed as Exhibit 4 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission
on March 16, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.2 Form of Indenture relating to the Debentures
between the Registrant and State Street Bank &
Trust Company, as trustee, previously filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-96764) filed with
the Commission on September 11, 1995 and
incorporated herein by reference.

4.3 Form of Global Debenture, previously filed as
Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March
16, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference.

4.4 Indenture dated February 3, 1997 relating to the
Junior Subordinated Debentures of the
Registrant, previously filed as Exhibit 3 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on February 5, 1997 and
incorporated herein by reference.

4.5 First Supplemental Indenture dated July 30, 2009
amending the indenture dated February 3, 1997
relating to the Junior Subordinated Debentures of
the Registrant, previously filed as Exhibit 4.5 to
the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the Commission on March 1, 2010 and
incorporated herein by reference.

4.6 Form of Global Security representing
$300,000,000 principal amount of Junior
Subordinated Debentures of the Registrant, previ-
ously filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
Commission on March 1, 2010 and incorporated
herein by reference.

4.7 Indenture dated January 21, 2010, between the
Registrant and U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3
ASR (No. 333-164446) filed with the Commission
on January 21, 2010 and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.8 First Supplemental Indenture and Form of Global
Note dated February 23, 2010, related to the
Notes of the Registrant, between the Registrant
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee,
previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on February 23, 2010 and incorpo-
rated herein by reference.

4.9 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of June
17, 2011, between the Registrant and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee, including the
form of Global Note attached as Annex A thereto,
supplementing the Indenture dated as of January
21, 2010, previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on June 17, 2011 and incor-
porated herein by reference.

4.10 Indenture, dated as of March 20, 2013, by and
between the Registrant and U.S. Bank National
Association, previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3
(No: 333-187373) filed with the Commission on
March 20, 2013 and incorporated herein by
 reference.
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4.11 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of March
27, 2013, between the Registrant and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee, supplementing
the Indenture dated as of March 20, 2013, previ-
ously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on March 27, 2013 and incorporated
herein by reference.

4.12 Form of Security Certificate representing the
6.35% Subordinated Debentures due 2053, previ-
ously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on March 27, 2013 and incorporated
herein by reference.

Management agrees to furnish the Securities and
Exchange Commission, upon request, a copy of
any other agreements or instruments of the
Registrant and its subsidiaries defining the rights
of holders of any non-registered debt whose
authorized principal amount does not exceed 10%
of Registrant’s total consolidated assets.

+10.1 State Mutual Life Assurance Company of America
Excess Benefit Retirement Plan, previously filed
as Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-91766) filed with
the Commission on May 1, 1995 and incorporat-
ed herein by reference.

+10.2 The Hanover Insurance Group Cash Balance
Pension Plan, as amended.

+10.3 The Hanover Insurance Group Retirement Savings
Plan, as amended.

+10.4 The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. Amended and
Restated Non-Qualified Retirement Savings Plan,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.30 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the Commission on February 24, 2011 and
incorporated herein by reference.

+10.5 The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. Amended
Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan previously filed
as Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on April
1, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.6 Form of Amended and Restated Non-Qualified
Stock Option Agreement under The Hanover
Insurance Group, Inc. Amended Long-Term Stock
Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.7 to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on February 21, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference.

+10.7 Amendment to Outstanding Stock Options Issued
under the Registrant’s 2006 Long-Term Incentive
Plan and Amended Long-Term Stock Incentive
Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the Commission on November 8, 2011 and
incorporated herein by reference.

+10.8 The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006 Long-
Term Incentive Plan, as amended, previously filed
as Annex I to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the
Commission on March 29, 2012 and incorporated
herein by reference.

+10.9 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement
under The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006
Long-Term Incentive Plan, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on February
21, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.10 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement
under The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006
Long-Term Incentive Plan, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.33 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the Commission on February
27, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.11 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement
under The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006
Long-Term Incentive Plan, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on
November 8, 2011 and incorporated herein by
 reference.

+10.12 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement
under The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006
Long-Term Incentive Plan, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.38 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the Commission on February
26, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.13 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006 Long-
Term Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit
10.31 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K filed with the Commission on February 27,
2009 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.14 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006 Long-
Term Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit
10.40 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K filed with the Commission on February 26,
2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
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+10.15 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group,
Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, previously
filed as Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission
on February 27, 2009 and incorporated herein by
reference.

+10.16 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group,
Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan previously
filed as Exhibit 10.39 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission
on February 26, 2013 and incorporated herein by
reference.

+10.17 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the
2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan previously filed as
Exhibit 10.40 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the Commission on February
29, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.18 The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term
Incentive Plan, previously filed as Annex I to the
Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A filed with the Commission on April
3, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.19 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement
under The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-
Term Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit
10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the Commission on May 20, 2014
and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.20 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group
2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan, previously filed
as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May
20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.21 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under
The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term
Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on May 20, 2014 and incor-
porated herein by reference.

+10.22 The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2009 Short-
Term Incentive Compensation Plan, previously
filed as Annex 2 to the Registrant’s Definitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the
Commission on March 27, 2009 and incorporated
herein by reference.

+10.23 The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Executive
Short-Term Incentive Compensation Plan, previ-
ously filed as Annex IV to the Registrant’s
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed
with the Commission on April 3, 2014 and incor-
porated herein by reference.

+10.24 The Hanover Insurance Group Amended and
Restated Employment Continuity Plan, previously
filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission
on August 11, 2008 and incorporated herein by
reference.

+10.25 Letter Agreement between David Greenfield and
the Registrant dated January 20, 2011 regarding
his participation in The Hanover Insurance Group
Amended and Restated Employment Continuity
Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.31 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the Commission on February 24, 2011 and
incorporated herein by reference.

+10.26 Letter Agreement between Andrew Robinson and
the Registrant dated October 15, 2012 regarding
his participation in The Hanover Insurance Group
Amended and Restated Employment Continuity
Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on October 19, 2012 and
incorporated herein by reference.

+10.27 Description of 2013— 2014 Non-Employee
Director Compensation, previously filed as Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed with the Commission on August 1,
2013 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.28 Description of 2014— 2015 Non-Employee
Director Compensation, previously filed as Exhibit
10.8 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed with the Commission on August 1,
2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.29 The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. Non-
Employee Director Deferral Plan, previously filed
as Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrant’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on
February 27, 2009 and incorporated herein by
 reference.

+10.30 Offer Letter, dated August 14, 2003, between the
Registrant and Frederick H. Eppinger, Jr., as
amended December 10, 2008, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the Commission on February
27, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.
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+10.31 Description of 2013 Named Executive Officer
Short-Term Incentive Compensation Program
Awards, 2014 Named Executive Officer Short-
Term Incentive Compensation Programs and 2014
Named Executive Officer Long-Term Incentive
Compensation Programs, previously filed as Item
5.02 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the Commission on February 21,
2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.32 IRC Section 162(m) Deferral Letter for Certain
Executive Officers of the Registrant, previously
filed as Exhibit 10.34 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission
on February 27, 2009 and incorporated herein by
reference.

+10.33 Service Agreement dated January 20, 2010 by and
between Robert Stuchbery and Chaucer Holdings
plc, previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the Commission on August 9, 2011 and
incorporated herein by reference.

+10.34 Chaucer Pension Scheme, as amended, previously
filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission
on August 9, 2011 and incorporated herein by
 reference.

+10.35 Robert Stuchbery Retention Agreement dated
August 23, 2011, previously filed as Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q filed with the Commission on November 8,
2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.36 The Chaucer Share Incentive Plan, previously
filed as Annex II to the Registrant’s Definitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the
Commission on April 3, 2014 and incorporated
herein by reference.

+10.37 Description of 2012 Chaucer Annual Bonus
Scheme, previously filed as Exhibit 10.35 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the Commission on February 26, 2013 and
incorporated herein by reference.

+10.38 Description of Robert Stuchbery’s 2012 Long-
Term Incentive Award, previously filed as Exhibit
10.36 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K filed with the Commission on February 26,
2013 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.39 2011 Chaucer Long-Term Incentive Plan, previ-
ously filed as Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
Commission on February 26, 2013 and incorpo-
rated herein by reference.

+10.40 The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Amended
and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan, pre-
viously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No.
333-196107) filed with the Commission on May
20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.41 Standby Letter of Credit Facility Agreement, dated
November 28, 2011, among Chaucer Holdings
plc, as Account Party (as defined therein), 440
Tessera Limited and certain subsidiaries of the
Account Party, as Guarantors (as defined therein),
the Lenders (as defined therein) party thereto
from time to time, Lloyds TSB Bank plc, Barclays
Bank plc and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc as
mandated lead arrangers and Lloyds TSB Bank plc
as bookrunner, overdraft provider, facility agent of
the other Finance Parties (as defined therein) and
security agent to the Secured Parties (as defined
therein) previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on December 1, 2011 and
incorporated herein by reference.

10.42 Guaranty Agreement, dated November 28, 2011,
among the Registrant and Lloyds TSB Bank plc, as
Facility Agent and Security Agent (each as defined
therein), previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on December 1, 2011 and
incorporated herein by reference.

10.43 Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston Agreement
for Advances, Collateral Pledge, and Security
Agreement dated September 11, 2009, previously
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission
on November 4, 2009 and incorporated herein by
reference.

10.44 Form of Accident and Health Coinsurance
Agreement between The Hanover Insurance
Company, as Reinsurer, and First Allmerica
Financial Life Insurance Company (the schedules
and certain exhibits have been omitted pursuant
to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K), previously
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
August 4, 2008 and incorporated by reference
herein.
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10.45 Credit Agreement, dated August 2, 2011, among
the Registrant, as Borrower, Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as administrative agent, and
various other lender parties, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 3,
2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.46 Credit Agreement, dated November 12, 2013,
among the Registrant, as Borrower, JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and
various other lender parties, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
November 18, 2013 and incorporated herein by
reference.

10.47 Amendment and Restatement Agreement with
Amended and Restated Standby Letter of Credit
Facility Agreement, dated November 15, 2013,
among Chaucer Holdings plc and the lenders
party thereto from time to time, Lloyds Bank plc,
Barclays Bank PLC and The Royal Bank of
Scotland plc as mandated lead arrangers and
Lloyds Bank plc as bookrunner, overdraft provider,
facility agent of the other Finance Parties (as
defined therein) and security agent to the Secured
Parties (as defined therein), previously filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
November 18, 2013 and incorporated herein by
reference.

10.48 Guaranty Agreement, dated November 15, 2013,
among the Registrant and Lloyds Bank plc, as
Facility Agent and Security Agent (each as defined
therein), previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on November 18, 2013 and
incorporated herein by reference.

12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed
Charges

21 Subsidiaries of THG

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

24 Power of Attorney

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pur-
suant to 15 U.S.C. 78m, 78o(d), as adopted pur-
suant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pur-
suant to 15 U.S.C. 78m, 78o(d), as adopted pur-
suant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pur-
suant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pur-
suant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pur-
suant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pur-
suant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

99.1 Internal Revenue Service Ruling dated April 15,
1995 previously filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 33-91766) filed with the Commission on
May 1, 1995 and incorporated herein by reference.

101 The following materials from The Hanover
Insurance Group, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 for-
matted in eXtensible Business Reporting
Language (“XBRL”): (i) Consolidated Statements
of Income for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012; (ii) Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012;
(iii) Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31,
2014 and 2013; (iv) Consolidated Statements of
Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012; (v)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012;
(vi) related notes to these consolidated financial
statements; and (vii) Financial Statement
Schedules.

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or
 arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC.
Registrant 

Date: February 23, 2015 By: /S/ FREDERICK H. EPPINGER, JR.
Frederick H. Eppinger, Jr., 

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: February 23, 2015 By: /S/ FREDERICK H. EPPINGER, JR.
Frederick H. Eppinger, Jr., 

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 

Date: February 23, 2015 By: /S/ DAVID B. GREENFIELD
David B. Greenfield,

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer 
and Principal Accounting Officer

Date: February 23, 2015 By: *
Michael P. Angelini,

Chairman of the Board

Date: February 23, 2015 By: *
Richard H. Booth,

Director

Date: February 23, 2015 By: *
P. Kevin Condron,

Director

Date: February 23, 2015 By: *
Neal F. Finnegan,

Director

Date: February 23, 2015 By: *
Karen C. Francis,

Director

Date: February 23, 2015 By: *
Daniel T. Henry,

Director

Date: February 23, 2015 By: *
Wendell J. Knox,

Director

Date: February 23, 2015 By: *
Robert J. Murray,

Director

Date: February 23, 2015 By: *
Joseph R. Ramrath,

Director

Date: February 23, 2015 By: *
Harriet Tee Taggart,

Director

Date: February 23, 2015 *By: /S/ DAVID B. GREENFIELD
David B. Greenfield,

Attorney-in-fact

 Hanover 2014 AR_Layout 1  2/27/15  10:25 AM  Page 135



2014 A N N U A L R E P O R T136

The Hanover Insurance Group •

Schedule I 
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS – OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES

DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions)
Amount
at which

shown in the
Type of investment Cost(1) Value balance sheet

Fixed maturities:
Bonds:

United States Government and agencies and authorities $1,137.4 $1,154.9 $1,154.9
States, municipalities and political subdivisions 1,078.7 1,137.1 1,137.1
Foreign governments 339.2 343.8 343.8
Public utilities 348.5 372.0 372.0
All other corporate bonds 4,158.8 4,287.2 4,287.2

Total fixed maturities 7,062.6 7,295.0 7,295.0

Equity securities:
Common stocks:

Public utilities 92.7 116.4 116.4
Banks, trusts and insurance companies 10.3 10.6 10.6
Industrial, miscellaneous and all other 393.5 435.0 435.0

Nonredeemable preferred stocks 10.1 18.8 18.8

Total equity securities 506.6 580.8 580.8

Mortgage loans on real estate(2) 94.9 XXXXX 94.9
Real estate 10.0 XXXXX 10.0
Other long-term investments(3) 182.9 XXXXX 186.5
Short-term investments 83.1 XXXXX 83.1

Total investments $7,940.1 XXXXX $8,250.3

(1) For equity securities, represents original cost, and for fixed maturities, original cost reduced by repayments and adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of
discounts.

(2) Includes $93.4 million of participating interests in investment grade commercial mortgage loans originated and serviced by a third party. The Company shares, on a pro rata
basis, in all related cash flows of the underlying mortgages. Due to certain reacquisition rights retained by the third party in the loan participation arrangement, the Company
accounted for its participatory interest in mortgage loans as secured borrowings.

(3) The cost of other long-term investments differs from the carrying value due to market value changes in the Company’s equity ownership of limited partnership investments.
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Schedule II
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
PARENT COMPANY ONLY
STATEMENTS OF INCOME

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Revenues
Net investment income $ 3.9 $ 5.5 $ 6.6
Net realized gains from sales and other — 0.8 2.5
Interest income from loan to subsidiary 22.5 22.5 22.5
Other income 0.1 0.1 0.1

Total revenues 26.5 28.9 31.7

Expenses
Interest expense 54.1 55.3 48.6
Loss from retirement of debt 0.1 19.9 —
Employee benefit related expenses 11.1 6.2 5.3
Costs (benefit) related to acquired businesses — (6.4) 2.6
Other operating expenses 8.1 8.0 8.0

Total expenses 73.4 83.0 64.5

Net loss before income taxes and equity in income of unconsolidated subsidiaries (46.9) (54.1) (32.8)
Income tax benefit 52.1 37.3 40.5
Equity in income of unconsolidated subsidiaries 277.4 262.5 47.5

Income from continuing operations 282.6 245.7 55.2
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (net of income tax (benefit) expense 

of $(0.2), $4.1 and $(0.1) in 2014, 2013 and 2012) (0.6) 5.3 0.7

Net income $ 282.0 $ 251.0 $ 55.9

The condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto.
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Schedule II (continued)

The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
PARENT COMPANY ONLY
BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31 2014 2013

(in millions, except per share data)

Assets
Fixed maturities - at fair value (amortized cost of $102.1 and $98.5) $ 105.2 $ 101.7
Equity securities - at fair value (cost of $1.0) 1.1 1.1
Cash and cash equivalents 14.5 20.7
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries 3,129.8 2,876.0
Net receivable from subsidiaries 20.4 23.0
Deferred income tax receivable 62.8 49.1
Current income tax receivable — 8.3
Loan receivable from subsidiary 300.0 300.0
Other assets 14.0 17.6

Total assets $3,647.8 $ 3,397.5

Liabilities
Expenses and state taxes payable $ 15.0 $ 16.0
Current income tax payable 2.2 —
Interest payable 8.1 8.1
Debt 778.5 778.9

Total liabilities 803.8 803.0

Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, 20.0 million shares authorized, none issued — —
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 300.0 million shares authorized, 60.5 million shares issued 0.6 0.6
Additional paid-in-capital 1,830.7 1,830.1
Accumulated other comprehensive income 206.4 177.6
Retained earnings 1,558.7 1,349.1
Treasury stock at cost (16.6 and 16.8 million) (752.4) (762.9)

Total shareholders’ equity 2,844.0 2,594.5

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $3,647.8 $ 3,397.5

The condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto.
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Schedule II (continued)

The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
PARENT COMPANY ONLY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2014 2013 2012

(in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 282.0 $ 251.0 $ 55.9
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Loss (gain) from discontinued operations 0.6 2.5 (0.7)
Loss from retirement of debt 0.1 19.9 0.1
Equity in net income of unconsolidated subsidiaries (277.4) (262.5) (47.5)
Net realized investment gains — (0.8) (2.5)
Dividends received from unconsolidated subsidiaries 70.2 12.5 1.0
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (29.9) (32.3) 3.9
Change in expenses and taxes payable 11.4 0.1 6.2
Change in net payable from subsidiaries 16.9 16.5 30.7
Other, net 4.3 3.4 2.8

Net cash provided by operating activities 78.2 10.3 49.9

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposals and maturities of fixed maturities 25.6 122.9 44.2
Purchase of fixed maturities (28.6) (90.8) (2.2)
Net cash used for business acquisitions (2.3) (2.2) (3.4)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (5.3) 29.9 38.6

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from debt borrowings — 168.6 —
Repurchases of debt (0.7) (93.6) (0.7)
Dividends paid to shareholders (67.0) (60.0) (55.1)
Repurchase of common stock (20.4) (78.2) (20.0)
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options 12.6 25.0 2.6
Other financing activities (3.6) (5.1) (0.4)

Net cash used in financing activities (79.1) (43.3) (73.6)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (6.2) (3.1) 14.9
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 20.7 23.8 8.9

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 14.5 $ 20.7 $ 23.8

Included in other operating cash flows was the cash portion of dividends received from unconsolidated subsidiaries.
Cash payments of $70.2 million, $12.5 million and $1.0 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, and investment assets of $1.0
million and $17.9 million were transferred to the parent company in 2014 and 2012, respectively, to settle dividend and
other intercompany balances. There were no assets transferred to the parent company from its subsidiaries in 2013 to
settle balances.

The condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto.
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Schedule III 
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 

SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION

DECEMBER 31, 2014

(in millions)
Future
policy

benefits, Other Benefits,
losses, policy claims, Amortization

Deferred claims claims and Net losses and of deferred Other
acquisition and loss Unearned benefits Premium investment settlement acquisition operating Premiums

Segments costs expenses premiums payable revenue income expenses costs expenses written 

Commercial, Personal 
and Other $370.3 $3,960.8 $1,815.8 $ 5.1 $ 3,488.5 $226.1 $2,293.8 $ 748.5 $481.0 $3,578.7

Chaucer 155.4 2,425.8 768.1 — 1,221.8 44.2 633.7 291.5 182.9 1,231.4
Interest on Debt — — — — — — — — 65.2 —
Eliminations — — — — — — — — (7.0) —

Total $525.7 $6,386.6 $2,583.9 $ 5.1 $ 4,710.3 $270.3 $2,927.5 $1,040.0 $722.1 $4,810.1

DECEMBER 31, 2013

(in millions)
Future
policy

benefits, Other Benefits,
losses, policy claims, Amortization

Deferred claims claims and Net losses and of deferred Other
acquisition and loss Unearned benefits Premium investment settlement acquisition operating Premiums

Segments costs expenses premiums payable revenue income expenses costs expenses written 

Commercial, Personal 
and Other $ 354.2 $ 3,845.9 $ 1,727.1 $ 4.1 $ 3,412.6 $ 226.3 $ 2,222.9 $ 729.8 $ 503.0 $ 3,435.2

Chaucer 151.8 2,381.5 788.7 — 1,037.9 42.7 538.2 241.2 170.8 1,117.5
Interest on Debt — — — — — — — — 65.3 —
Eliminations — — — — — — — — (6.6) —

Total $ 506.0 $ 6,227.4 $ 2,515.8 $ 4.1 $ 4,450.5 $ 269.0 $ 2,761.1 $ 971.0 $ 732.5 $ 4,552.7

DECEMBER 31, 2012

(in millions)
Future
policy

benefits, Other Benefits,
losses, policy claims, Amortization

Deferred claims claims and Net losses and of deferred Other
acquisition and loss Unearned benefits Premium investment settlement acquisition operating Premiums

Segments costs expenses premiums payable revenue income expenses costs expenses written 

Commercial, Personal 
and Other $ 346.6 $ 3,784.9 $ 1,711.1 $ 4.1 $ 3,272.3 $ 236.1 $ 2,467.2 $ 704.2 $ 436.5 $ 3,377.9

Chaucer 142.9 2,408.0 763.7 — 966.8 40.2 507.2 233.9 157.6 990.5
Interest on Debt — — — — — — — — 61.9 —
Eliminations — — — — — 0.3 — — (6.5) —

Total $ 489.5 $ 6,192.9 $ 2,474.8 $ 4.1 $ 4,239.1 $ 276.6 $ 2,974.4 $ 938.1 $ 649.5 $ 4,368.4
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SCHEDULE IV
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.

REINSURANCE

Incorporated herein by reference to Note 16 — “Reinsurance” in the Notes of the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Financial Statements and Supplemental Data of this Form 10-K.
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Schedule V 
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

DECEMBER 31

(in millions)
Additions 

Description Balance at Charged to Charged Balance
beginning costs and to other at end 

2014 of period expenses accounts(1) Deductions of period

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 3.1 $ 9.4 $ — $ (9.3) $ 3.2
Allowance for uncollectible reinsurance recoverables 20.7 0.9 (0.3) (5.4) 15.9

$ 23.8 $ 10.3 $ (0.3) $ (14.7) $ 19.1

2013

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 2.8 $ 8.1 $ — $ (7.8) $ 3.1
Allowance for uncollectible reinsurance recoverables 16.9 3.6 0.5 (0.3) 20.7

$ 19.7 $ 11.7 $ 0.5 $ (8.1) $ 23.8

2012

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 2.3 $ 8.1 $ — $ (7.6) $ 2.8
Allowance for uncollectible reinsurance recoverables 16.4 0.4 0.9 (0.8) 16.9

$ 18.7 $ 8.5 $ 0.9 $ (8.4) $ 19.7

(1) Amount charged to other accounts includes foreign exchange gains and losses.
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Schedule VI 

The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION CONCERNING PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE OPERATIONS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

(in millions)
Reserves for Discount, if

unpaid claims any, deducted
Deferred and claim from Net

acquisition adjustment previous Unearned Earned investment
Affiliation with Registrant costs expenses(1) column(2) premiums(1) premiums income

Consolidated Property and Casualty
Subsidiaries

2014 $ 525.7 $6,391.7 $ — $2,583.9 $4,710.3 $ 270.3

2013 $ 506.0 $ 6,231.5 $ — $ 2,515.8 $ 4,450.5 $ 269.0

2012 $ 489.5 $ 6,197.0 $ — $ 2,474.8 $ 4,239.1 $ 276.6

Claims and claim Amortization Paid claims
adjustment expenses of deferred and claim
incurred related to acquisition adjustment Premiums

Current year Prior years costs expenses written

2014 $3,026.6 $ (99.1) $1,040.0 $2,727.6 $4,810.1

2013 $ 2,837.4 $ (76.3) $ 971.0 $ 2,683.3 $ 4,552.7

2012 $ 2,990.2 $ (15.8) $ 938.1 $ 2,714.1 $ 4,368.4

(1) Reserves for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses are shown gross of $1,983.0 million, $2,030.4 million and $2,074.3 million of reinsurance recoverable on unpaid
losses in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Unearned premiums are shown gross of prepaid premiums of $197.8 million, $219.0 million and $275.4 million in 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively. Reserves for unpaid claims and claims adjustment expense also include policyholder dividends.

(2) The Company does not use discounting techniques.
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Investor Information
Call our toll-free investor information line, 800-407-5222, to  
receive additional printed information, including our Form 10-Ks and 
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, and for access to fax-on-demand services, shareholder 
services, pre-recorded messages and other services. In addition, the 
company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission are 
available on our website at www.hanover.com, under “ Investors.”  
Alternatively, investors may address questions to:

Ms. Oksana Lukasheva 
Vice President 
Investor Relations 
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 
t. 508-855-2063 / f. 508-926-1541 
olukasheva@hanover.com

Registrar and Stock  
Transfer Agent
Computershare Investor Services 
PO Box 30170 
College Station, TX 77842-3170 
800-317-4454

Independent Accountants
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
125 High Street 
Boston, MA 02110

Corporate Offices &  
Principal Subsidiaries
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 
440 Lincoln Street 
Worcester, MA 01653

The Hanover Insurance Company 
440 Lincoln Street 
Worcester, MA 01653

Citizens Insurance Company of America 
808 North Highlander Way 
Howell, MI 48843

Chaucer Holdings Limited 
Plantation Place, 30 Fenchurch Street 
London, England EC3M3AD
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Company Ratings

FINANCIAL STRENGTH RATINGS

The Hanover 
Insurance Company A A A3

Citizens Insurance  
Company of America A A –

DEBT RATINGS

The Hanover Insurance Group

Senior Debt bbb BBB Baa3

Subordinated Debentures bb+ BB+ Ba1
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About The Hanover

The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc., (THG) based in Worcester, Mass., is the holding 
company for several property and casualty insurance companies, which together  
constitute one of the largest insurance businesses in the United States. For more than 
160 years, The Hanover has provided a wide range of property and casualty products 
and services to businesses, individuals, and families. The Hanover distributes its  
products through a select group of independent agents and brokers. Together with its 
agents, the company offers specialized coverages for small and mid-sized businesses, 
as well as insurance protection for homes, automobiles, and other personal items. 
Through its international member company, Chaucer, The Hanover also underwrites 
business at Lloyd’s of London in several major insurance and reinsurance classes,  
including marine, property and energy. For more information, please visit hanover.com.

Different The Hanover is a different kind of company. 

We are driven by our vision to become a world 

class property and casualty insurance company — one that generates top returns 

through the cycle, delivers top-quartile products and services, and is a place 

where outstanding professionals want to work. To achieve our goal, we developed 

a business strategy enabled by a unique value proposition for independent agents, 

and a distributed operating model that provides us deep market insights into 

business opportunities. 

Common Stock
The common stock of The Hanover 
Insurance Group, Inc. is traded on  
the New York Stock Exchange under 
the symbol “THG.” As of the close  
of business on February 20, 2015,  
the company had 20,496 shareholders 
of record. On the same date, the  
closing price of the company’s 
common stock was $71.48 per share.

  The Hanover Insurance Group 

 S&P 500

 S&P P&C Insurance Index

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return10

Among The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc., the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Property & Casualty Insurance Index

FIVE-YEAR TOTAL RETURN PERFORMANCE
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2014 High Low

First Quarter $61.51 $52.86

Second Quarter $64.36 $56.88

Third Quarter $64.42 $57.80

Fourth Quarter $73.59 $59.73

2013 High Low

First Quarter $49.85 $38.88

Second Quarter $52.55 $45.81

Third Quarter $56.80 $48.24

Fourth Quarter $61.72 $54.54

Common Stock Prices

Annual Meeting of Shareholders

The management and Board of Directors of The Hanover Insurance 
Group, Inc. invite you to attend the company’s Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders. The meeting will be held on May 19, 2015, at 9:00 a.m.  
at The Hanover, 440 Lincoln Street, Worcester, Massachusetts.

Corporate Governance
Our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Board Committee Charters, 
Code of Conduct, and other information are available on our website  
at www.hanover.com under “About Us.” For a printed copy of any of 
these documents, shareholders may contact the company’s secretary  
at our corporate offices.

The company has filed its CEO and CFO Section 302 certifications  
as exhibits to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended  
December 31, 2014. The company also has submitted its annual  
CEO certification to the New York Stock Exchange, a copy of which  
is available on the company’s website, www.hanover.com, under  
“About Us – Corporate Governance.”

10  The graph to the left compares the performance of 
the company’s common stock since December 31, 
2009 with the performance of the S&P 500 Index 
and the S&P Property & Casualty Insurance Index.

Assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2009 in  
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.’s common stock 
or applicable index — including reinvestment of 
dividends. Fiscal year ended December 31.

Copyright © 2015, SNL Financial LC, Charlottesville, 
VA. All rights reserved. www.snl.com.
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